
2003 Annual Report

Our success is
dependent on our
being accountable



www.nedcor.com

2003 Annual Report

Registration number 1966/010630/06

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Table of contents
Nedcor profile 1

Financial highlights 2 – 3

Five-year review 4

Group structure 5

Chairman’s statement 6 – 9

Chief Executive’s review 10 – 15

Economic review 16 – 17

Review of operations 18 – 63

Corporate governance report 64 – 77

Board of directors 78 – 81

Sustainability report 82 – 85

Remuneration report 86 – 95

Risk management report 96 – 107

Basel II report 108 – 113

Group Financial Officer’s review 114 – 123

Annual financial statements 124 – 195

Additional information 196 – 213

Notice of 2004 annual general meeting 214 – 226



ANNUAL REPORT 03

1

Our vision is that Nedcor will be widely

respected as a leading, truly South African

company that has transformed itself to reflect

the realities of South African society.

Nedcor profile

Nedcor Limited is a bank holding company that, through its principal banking

subsidiary, Nedbank, together with the other members of the group, operates as the

fourth-largest banking group by assets in South Africa. As of 31 December 2003, Nedcor

had total assets of R312,6 billion. 

The group offers a wide range of wholesale and retail banking services through three

principal business clusters: Nedbank Corporate; Nedbank Capital; and Retail and Wealth

Management. The principal services offered by the group comprise corporate and retail

banking, property and asset finance, investment banking, private banking, and foreign

exchange and securities trading. Nedcor also generates revenue from private equity,

credit card issuing and processing services, custodial services, asset management

services, bancassurance services, and legal services.

Nedcor’s headquarters are in Sandton, Johannesburg, with large operational centres in

Durban and Cape Town, which are complemented by a regional network of 775 banking

facilities, including 535 retail bank branches, located primarily in South Africa’s urban and

suburban areas and 240 Go Banking outlets. In addition to the 535 retail bank branches,

Nedcor has 50 non-retail banking facilities located primarily in southern Africa that are

supported by Nedcor’s Group Operations. These facilities are operated through Nedcor’s

nine subsidiary and/or affiliated banks, as well as through branches and representative

offices in certain key global financial centres that serve to support the international banking

requirements of the group’s South African-based multinational clients. The company’s

ordinary shares have been listed on the JSE since 1969.



Financial highlights
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2002
2003 Restated

Headline earnings reconciliation (Rm)
(Loss)/Income attributable to ordinary shareholders (1 600) 875
Less: Non-headline-earnings items (1 655) (1 601)

Exceptional items (1 693) (1 793)
Taxation on exceptional items 38 192

Headline earnings 55 2 476

Selected returns
Headline earnings per share (cents) 20 979
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 0,32 14,05
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) (excluding foreign currency translation losses) 8,49 20,95
Return on total assets (%) 0,02 0,84
Non-interest revenue to total income (%) 49,0 48,5
Efficiency ratio (%) 77,5 65,4
Efficiency ratio (%) (excluding foreign currency translation losses) 70,1 59,2
Net interest income to interest-earning assets (%) 2,95 2,95
Impairments to total advances (%) 3,4 3,3

Balance sheet
Total shareholders’ equity (Rm) 15 101 19 536
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors (Rm) 250 329 236 526
Advances (Rm) 210 096 194 862
Total assets (Rm) 312 584 324 767

Share statistics
Number of shares in issue (m) 274,7 270,6
Weighted average number of shares (m) 271,5 253,0
Earnings per share (cents) (589) 346
Fully diluted weighted average number of shares (m) 271,9 254,9
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 20 971
Dividends per share (cents) 240 515
Dividend cover (times) 0,1 1,9
Net asset value per share at book value (cents) 4 240 6 300
Share price (cents) 6 203 11 110
Price earnings ratio (historical) 305,2 11,4
Market capitalisation (Rbn) 17,0 30,1
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Five-year review

ANNUAL REPORT 03

4

2002 2001
2003 Restated Restated 2000 1999

Earnings
Headline earnings Rm 55 2 476 3 551 3 012 2 406
(Loss)/Income attributable to ordinary shareholders Rm (1 600) 875 (225) 6 355 2 406

Share statistics
Headline earnings per share cents 20 979 1 475 1 260 1 024
Earnings per share cents (589) 346 (93) 2 659 1 024
Diluted earnings per share cents (588) 343 (93) 2 659 1 024
Ordinary shareholders’ return per share cents (4 667) (795) (4 180) 3 800 4 000
Net asset value per share at book value cents 4 240 6 300 6 136 6 423 4 118
Number of shares in issue m 275 271 244 242 237
Weighted average number of shares m 272 253 241 239 235
Fully diluted weighted average number of shares m 272 254 243 239 235

Key ratios
Return on shareholders’ equity % 0,34 14,89 22,43 23,26 25,07
Return on total assets % 0,02 0,84 1,67 2,09 1,95
Non-interest revenue to total income % 49,0 48,5 55,8 47,6 44,4
Efficiency ratio % 77,5 65,4 48,4 50,3 51,7
Net interest income to interest-earning assets % 2,95 2,95 3,30 3,54 3,67
Impairments to total advances % 3,4 3,3 3,6 3,3 2,7
Non-performing loans to total advances % 3,9 4,0 4,8 4,7 3,3
Effective taxation rate % 55 5 21 24 23
Dividend cover times 0,1 1,9 2,9 3,2 3,2
Group capital adequacy ratio % 10,1 11,0 11,4 13,2 12,0
Group capital adequacy ratio – Tier 1 % 5,0 7,0 8,6 11,5 10,5

Balance sheet
Total shareholders’ equity Rm 15 101 19 536 15 820 15 838 10 066
Deposit, current accounts and other creditors Rm 250 329 236 526 174 051 140 831 118 225
Advances Rm 210 096 194 862 146 235 119 774 103 783
Total assets Rm 312 584 324 767 266 426 158 259 129 844
Total assets under management Rm 102 090 124 343 38 924 10 581 34 079

Market statistics
Price earnings ratio (historical) 305,2 11,4 8,4 13,6 13,4
Price to book times 1,46 1,76 2,02 2,66 3,33
Market capitalisation Rbn 17,0 30,1 30,3 41,4 32,5
Market price premium to net asset value % 46,3 76,3 102,4 166,2 232,7
Earnings yield % 0,9 22,3 28,6 17,6 17,6
Dividend yield % 3,9 4,6 4,0 2,3 2,3

Employees
Number of employees 24 273 25 240 19 178 18 664 17 311
Headline earnings per average number of employees R 2 222 111 486 187 675 167 450 133 544
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Nedcor Group structure

Support areas
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Property and 
Asset Finance

Old Mutual Bank
(50%)

Equity Capital
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Debt Capital
Markets

Edward Nathan 
& Friedland

Nedcor
Securities

International Go Banking
50% (Pick ’n Pay)

Wealth Management
BoE Pvt Clients (50%)

Gerrard Pvt Bank (70%)

Capital One/Amex
(50%)

Africa

Brian KennedyGraham Dempster Pete Backwell

Ivan Mzimela

Financial
Sector Charter

Nolitha Fakude
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Unit
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Nedcor Group

Tom Boardman

Finance, ALCO, 
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Management

Bob Head
(Acting CFO) 

Peoples Bank

Lot Ndlovu

Imperial Bank*
(50,1%)

Alliances
Capital One (50%)
JD Group (50%)

* For financial reporting purposes.



The year 2003 has been an eventful one for both the South African economy and for

Nedcor. Interest rates declined dramatically during the second half of the year, while the

rand showed a strong recovery, particularly against the US dollar. Nedcor focused on the

merger and reorganisation process following the BoE acquisition, and initiated a recovery

plan under the new executive team to restore Nedcor to its status as a highly respected

financial institution.

The economy
The relative value and volatility of the currency, as well as the reversal of the interest rate

cycle, were the dominating influences on the recent performance of the South African

economy.

Unemployment remains our biggest economic challenge and it is difficult to see how this

can be effectively addressed in the medium term on the back of a reasonably strong

currency. Over the past few years many businesses were enticed into the export market

by a rapidly depreciating currency, but the rand’s strong and sudden pullback since 2002

placed the sustainability of some export activities in doubt. This is further compounded by

the fact that some South African businesses were lulled into the ever-depreciating

currency syndrome and as a result have not as yet taken the necessary steps, or fully

considered how, to remain competitive in a sustained weak dollar and relatively strong

rand environment. Although the changed trading environment is politically uncomfortable

and may lead to increased unemployment and other economic and social costs in the

short term, we need the discipline not to allow our sound economic policies to be

influenced by short-term fluctuations and circumstances.

Because of the benefits of the virtuous cycle (strong rand, declining inflation, low interest

rates) we remain supportive of a relatively strong currency over the longer term, but it is

really the volatility rather than the level of our currency values that is playing havoc with

long-term strategic planning and short-term results. One of the consequences of this

volatility is that it imposes a capital requirement on businesses higher than would

otherwise have been necessary. Coupled with this additional capital burden, is the

relatively high cost of capital in this country, which remains a disincentive for sustainable

direct investment and competitiveness. Therefore, a stable, but competitive, currency

and further significant interest rate reductions – when possible – are required. We

acknowledge that the lower inflation and interest rate cycles are indeed steps in the right

direction and our compliments must go to both the Minister of Finance and the Governor

of the Reserve Bank for their efforts in this regard.

Chairman’s statement
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A message to our shareholders



In line with the declining inflation rate, the interest rate cycle has now reversed. Nominal interest rates have dropped by 550 basis

points since the peak in 2002 and real interest rates have also started to ease. The substantial reduction in interest rates has

significantly benefited consumers and has had a positive impact on debt under stress. However, the challenge for the authorities

remains not to allow the hard-won benefits of lower inflation and lower interest rates, as well as the stronger currency

environment, to be dissipated through uncontrolled consumer demand and a widening current account deficit.

What I do find somewhat perplexing is that, against the backdrop of weak international economic fundamentals (both

European and American), the global and domestic consumer economic outlooks are surprisingly optimistic for 2004, as at

the time of writing.

The banking industry
The decline in the number of registered banks in South Africa through consolidation and forfeiting of banking licences that

started during 2002 has probably not run its full course and further consolidation among the smaller and medium-sized banks is

bound to continue. The number of registered banks declined from 51 (31 local and 20 foreign) in 2002 to the present 38 (18 local

and 20 foreign). This process, together with the entrance of some international majors, has intensified the competitiveness within

the industry, especially in the corporate, private banking and wealth management markets. Interestingly, only one foreign player

has entered the retail banking market through an electronic banking suite.

On the other hand a new avenue for banking finance and expertise has been created with the considerable demand for black

economic empowerment (‘BEE’) structuring and financing – an area in which Nedcor plays a significant role through its

investment banking channels.

However, apart from the introduction of the accounting standard AC133, the most significant event for the industry over the past

year has been the successful negotiation and adoption of an industry-driven Financial Sector Charter. As an organisation and a

leading supporter of the process and principles of the charter, we are totally committed to being compliant within the stipulated

time frames. As a consequence, aspects such as employment equity and economic empowerment have taken on even more

significance in our strategic visions. Delivering meaningful banking services to the underbanked market remains the biggest

single unresolved challenge, also in terms of the charter requirements. 

With regard to Nedcor specifically, a few other signal events occurred over the past year that had a significant impact on the

short-term operations and longer-term planning of the organisation.

The Chief Executive, Richard Laubscher, stepped down from his post after a 32-year career with the bank and, following

an extensive international executive search and evaluation process, Executive Director Tom Boardman was appointed to

head the group. Supported by the board, Mr Boardman and his newly appointed executive team started with a five-point

recovery plan that incorporates the reevaluation of group strategy, balance sheet valuations and consequential income

statement adjustments.
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A young and enthusiastic management team
is setting about with purpose to create a solid base
for the recovery and future expansion of the group.

Back on track



While the operational progress made on the merger and reorganisation process is in line
with our original planning, the overall trading results for the past year have been a major
disappointment to the board and all stakeholders. These poor trading results, coupled
with the once-off balance sheet and income statement adjustments, initiated by the new
management team and aggravated by the impact of the volatile currency, moved the
board, with the full support of the major shareholder, Old Mutual plc, to address the
recapitalisation of the bank earlier than originally anticipated.

The Nedcor/Old Mutual relationship
In our 2002 annual report we highlighted the closer working relationship being developed
with our parent, Old Mutual plc. Over the past year this relationship has been further
cemented. The benefits of this relationship for Nedcor stakeholders were clearly
illustrated by Old Mutual seconding a temporary Chief Financial Officer with international
banking experience to Nedcor and further by the prompt and constructive response to
the request for a strengthening of the capital base.

Results
The decline in headline earnings from R2 476 million to R55 million characterised a highly
disappointing financial performance for the group. The investment community had been
conditioned for the poor performance through regular trading updates in the last quarter
of the year. So, while the results were clearly not favourably received, they were in line
with market expectations.

The results were influenced by an unacceptable increase in expenses of some R2,7 billion,
which saw our cost-to-income ratio, excluding foreign currency translation losses, move
out to 70%. It is a corporate imperative to reduce costs and increase revenue to improve
this ratio and make the group more competitive.

The continued strengthening of the rand also had a profound impact on performance,
resulting in a R1 416 million unrealised foreign currency translation loss. The interest
rate mismatches on the funding of the BoE acquisition further dampened our
performance.

Outlook
In our 2002 annual report it was anticipated that the past year would have been one of
reorganisation, leading to the delivery of the anticipated merger benefits. Unfortunately
events and the poor results overtook our planning and, following the changes in
executive management, led to a major reorganisation with a young and enthusiastic
management team that set about with purpose to create a solid base for the recovery
and future expansion of the group. In the short term the focus is on stabilising the
organisation and creating the infrastructure and earnings potential that would enable us
to regain our position as the premier bank, on the one hand. On the other hand, the
emphasis is on the shaping of the organisation not only to be compliant with the Financial
Sector Charter, but also to be sensitive and fully responsive to all evolving banking needs
and, therefore, the economic and social future of this country and the region. In this
regard the executive team has made a sound start.

Chairman’s statement
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Against this background we anticipate solid improvements in the quality and scope of earnings. However, it is almost impossible
to forecast headline earnings under the AC133 regime, especially in the current environment of a volatile reporting currency.

Board changes and appreciation
After a 50-year career with the Nedcor Group, I have now reached the retirement age for non-executive directors and the time
has come for me to pass the baton to my successor, Mr Warren Clewlow. This will occur at the annual general meeting in May.

While the size of our board has been an issue for comment – being larger than generally found with other South African
institutions – the wisdom of establishing continuity at board level during a very complex merger and reorganisation process has
been proven. As we indicated at the time, the size of the board will be reduced to become more in line with accepted norms.
The board will be reduced to 17 following my forthcoming retirement. At that stage it will consist of nine independent non-
executives, six non-executives and two executive directors.

Since our last annual report we took leave of PG Joubert, RCM Laubscher, AA Routledge, SG Morris and IJ Botha. Our
appreciation is expressed to these directors for the many years of loyal and dedicated service to the organisation. My special
thanks go to Peter Joubert, my then Deputy Chairman, for his support and wisdom over the years.

On behalf of the board my congratulations and thanks also go to Tom Boardman, his executive team and their families for the
manner in which they all responded with commitment and purpose to the tasks at hand during a very challenging period.

In a highly regulated industry such as financial services the attitude and quality of the regulatory infrastructure has a significant
influence on the operations, the cost of governance and the confidence levels in the industry. The past year has seen a change
in personnel at the regulator level as well as the need for addressing major issues such as Basel II. We are impressed with the
succession that has taken place and the depth of management at the regulatory office. We remain committed to continue our
cooperative and open relationship with the regulator’s office, which is mutually beneficial in understanding and addressing the
major issues affecting our industry.

To the board I wish to convey my personal appreciation for its support and guidance during what turned out to be a very
challenging period in our history. My special thanks go to Warren Clewlow and Michael Katz, my Deputy Chairman and Vice-
Chairman respectively, for their support and cooperation in the execution of my responsibilities.

Finally, on behalf of the board, thanks to all our staff for their loyal support, commitment and dedication with which they serve
our stakeholders. We express our deep appreciation to all our stakeholders and assure them that we are very mindful of the fact
that it is their loyal support that provides the wherewithal for us to function effectively.

Chris F Liebenberg
Chairman
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A watershed year
2003 was undoubtedly a watershed year for Nedcor.

Merger-related activity dominated the early stages of the year as the group integrated the

businesses of BoE, Nedcor Investment Bank (‘NIB’) and Cape of Good Hope Bank

(‘COGHB’) into the Nedcor structure.

Disappointing half-year results announced in July were followed by statements to the

market in September, November and December, advising shareholders of the steadily

declining financial position of the group. Market sentiment was reflected in the group’s

share price performance, which declined by 44% over the year, retreating from a high of

R118,50 in January to close the year at R62,03. This was in sharp contrast to the Banks

Index, which rose by 18% over the same period. 

Financial performance
The group’s headline earnings declined from R2 476 million to R55 million for the year,

while earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders moved from a profit of R875 million

in 2002 to a loss of R1 600 million in 2003.

The biggest factor impacting the group’s headline earnings was the strengthening of the

rand, resulting in a foreign exchange translation loss of R1 416 million. Other influences

were interest rate mismatches on fixed-rate funding, growth in expenses at a higher rate

than revenues, and the cleanup of the balance sheet, which impacted both headline and

attributable earnings.

At the time of releasing the preliminary results in February the group also announced

plans for a rights offer to raise R5 125 million of additional ordinary share capital. The

capital will be used to repay loans of some R2,5 billion that qualify as secondary capital

and the balance to bolster the group’s capital adequacy ratio to over 11%. This will place

the group in a strong position and allow sufficient capital for future growth.

Our parent company, Old Mutual plc, will take up its rights and the balance of the new

shares to be issued has been fully underwritten. This capital raising, together with more

active balance sheet management, is expected to enable the group to meet the

proposed 7,5% regulatory minimum for primary capital by 31 December 2004. 

Chief Executive’s review
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Strategic recovery programme
At the time of my appointment as Chief Executive designate in October the board endorsed a five-point plan to address the

issues facing the group and to restore the business on a sustainable growth path.

Before commenting on the five-point plan, I should like to address a question that has been asked by many investors since

my assuming office: How could Nedcor have fallen so rapidly from its position as one of the country’s premier financial institutions?

It is important to emphasise that there was no single issue or event that created the problems. An accumulation of several

strategic decisions and policies over the past few years has collectively contributed to our plight. Many of the decisions taken

by the board and the executive, which are now being criticised, were appropriate at the time.

The principal issues can be summarised as follows:

• Nedcor anticipated a convergence of technology and banking and acquired strategic stakes in technology companies.

The group also invested heavily in technology to enhance systems capability. When the ‘tech stock bubble’ burst and share

prices in technology companies plummeted, Nedcor not only gave up its gains, but also suffered heavy losses.

• The decision to focus Nedcor’s retail banking strategy on the upper-income market limited growth opportunities for

this business. A strategy to form alliances and joint ventures, to enlarge the retail footprint, has met with mixed results, and is

being reviewed.

• The decision to invest a disproportionate amount of the group’s capital offshore at a time when the currency was weakening

has proved, with hindsight, not to be prudent. The strengthening of the rand resulted in translation losses of some R1,2 billion

in 2002 and R1,4 billion in 2003. 

• A lack of accountability in the group has been one of the single biggest causes of poor performance. The operational structure

was not aligned with the needs of the business, while inadequate management information systems resulted in an inability to

measure the performance of individual business units. 

• Related to the lack of accountability was a culture of ‘blaming and shaming’ that evolved in the group. This inevitably placed

a strain on relationships. 

Five-point plan
While many shareholders may be familiar with the five-point plan that forms the basis of our recovery strategy, it is important to

outline the plan in the annual report and commit ourselves to being evaluated against these criteria in the future:

1. the appointment of a new executive team;

2. a strategic review of the business;

3. the successful completion of the merger;

4. improved transparency with a responsible approach to stakeholder reporting; and

5. client service excellence.
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The recovery programme is gaining momentum
which, together with the strong franchises and
quality people in the group, indicates that we have
started to turn the corner on the road to recovery.

Now is the time



Business review
My immediate priority was to align the structure of the group with the strategy and

reconstitute the Group Executive Committee. The group now comprises three main

business clusters, namely Nedbank Corporate, Nedbank Capital and Retail and

Wealth Management. Nedbank Corporate comprises the Corporate Banking, Business

Banking, Property and Asset Finance, International and Africa Divisions, as well as Imperial

Bank, and Nedbank Capital comprises Project Finance, Investment Banking, Equity Capital

Markets, Debt Capital Markets, Treasury, Edward Nathan & Friedland and Nedcor Securities.

The former Technology and Operations functions of the group have been split into Group

Business Innovation and Group Operations.

The retail banking interests are being aligned, and Nedcor is in the process of integrating

Peoples Bank under the Nedbank Retail banner. 

The Group Finance function is being reviewed to improve financial management and

management information systems. This includes the introduction of appropriate

allocation policies around funds transfer pricing and cost transfer pricing, as well as

ensuring that capital is consistently applied between divisions. This will help to ensure

appropriate measurement of divisional profitability and is expected to lead to greater

accuracy and accountability of divisional management.

Nedcor has initiated a project to realise its non-core assets, including certain technology

investments, non-core foreign operations in Nedcor Wealth Management, and its

property investments. 

New executive committee
Seven new members were added to the executive team in November. They are

Pete Backwell (Retail and Wealth Management), Graham Dempster (Nedbank

Corporate), Len de Villiers (Group Operations), Brian Kennedy (Nedbank Capital),

Ivan Mzimela (Group Human Resources), Rob Shuter (Group Strategy and Corporate

Affairs) and Nolitha Fakude, formerly chairperson of the Black Management Forum, who

was recruited externally to coordinate BEE and the implementation of the requirements

of the Financial Sector Charter in the group.

We are also thankful to Old Mutual for seconding Bob Head to Nedcor as acting Chief

Financial Officer, as we look to address critically the shortcomings in our financial

reporting, capital management and asset and liability management. The board is

continuing its search for a permanent candidate, who will hopefully be appointed soon.

Merger and reorganisation process
The merger and reorganisation process is proceeding according to a well-

defined plan and most synergy benefits are being realised earlier than originally projected.

Chief Executive’s review

ANNUAL REPORT 03

12



The full annual benefit of R700 million is expected to be realised from 2006 onwards. The total merger cost to achieve these

benefits is still expected to be R868 million and we have every confidence that the merger will be completed on deadline.

The major migration of the Business Banking Division’s corporate clients was completed in February 2004, and the last client

migration project is the transfer of NBS clients to the Nedbank Retail Division during 2004. It then remains to consolidate certain

data centres, general ledgers and other backoffice functions for the merger to be completed.

Transparency and stakeholder reporting
Transparency is an ongoing priority, and management is committed to adopting a responsible approach to stakeholder reporting

and accounting. 

Following the warning to shareholders in November that earnings would be materially lower than the market consensus, we fast-

tracked a review of the balance sheet to ensure that the group would exceed its minimum capital adequacy requirement.

Old Mutual provided R2 billion subordinated debt in late December, which enabled a thorough review of all assets and advances

on the balance sheet.

There is now greater transparency on the financial position of the group following the comprehensive review of the balance

sheet, the ongoing derisking of its balance sheet through interest rate and foreign exchange risk management and the solid

AC133 credit risk impairments against non-performing advances. 

Client service
A key strategy of the group is to increase the number of clients for whom it is the primary banker, in both the corporate 

and retail markets. To achieve this goal the group is focusing on providing enhanced client service through the following:

• a major client-service-related initiative involving comprehensive staff training over the next six months;

• systems being reviewed and functionality being improved to ensure that products are client-focused;

• client research being intensified; and

• the implementation of staff incentive schemes to align rewards with client service excellence.

In a competitive industry that allows limited differentiation in products we believe that we can regain lost ground by once again

focusing on traditional service where the interests of clients are paramount. 

Transformation
The Chairman has addressed the strategic importance of BEE and the Financial Sector Charter, and I echo his sentiments.

Operationally the group has embraced the charter and we are making progress towards meeting, and hopefully exceeding, the

prescribed targets. 

Our vision is that Nedcor will be widely respected as a leading, truly South African company that has transformed itself to reflect

the realities of South African society. We want the group to be seen as an example of a business that has significantly advanced

the development of black people across all our stakeholder groups: our management; our staff; our shareholders; our clients;

and the community in which we operate.

We realistically see this as a three- to five-year journey that has already started, and one that will involve a major culture change

within Nedcor.
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Our transformation progress has regrettably been hampered by the merger

and the unfolding events of the past year. During this time of uncertainty it has

been difficult to initiate plans with potential empowerment partners, while our

ability to recruit and retain black professionals has also been limited. We remain

determined to meet our targets and will pursue our transformation goals with vigour

in the year ahead.

Nedcor was acknowledged as ‘the most empowered group in the sector’ among the four

major banks by economic empowerment rating agency, Empowerdex. The group was

also recognised as leading the sector in BEE control and in internal transformation

relating to employment equity.

As a group we are also proud of the role we have played in backing emerging black

entrepreneurs in startup businesses that have now grown into some of the country’s

leading companies. Two notable examples are Mvelaphanda and ARMGold.

Prospects
As we close the 2003 chapter and look to the year ahead, I believe the recovery

programme is gaining momentum, we are delivering greater transparency, and the

relationship with Old Mutual continues to strengthen. These factors, together with the

strong franchises and quality people in the group, indicate that we have started to turn

the corner on the long road to recovery.

As part of this recovery programme the balance sheet has been thoroughly analysed and

the group is now focused on the implementation of aggressive cost reduction measures

and the central management of the group’s interest rate risk and foreign exchange

exposure. Management is now being held accountable for performance delivery, and will

be rewarded on an RoE-based incentive system. A key focus will be improving client

service, and further leveraging Nedcor’s solid core businesses to grow revenues.

These core businesses are solid and attractive, with strong market shares in the business

banking and corporate banking sectors in particular. Retail banking has a broad footprint

for the implementation of its strategy, and the attractive growth rates of the local banking

market also bode well for the group’s prospects.

Chief Executive’s review
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Thanks
Banking is about relationships and we are particularly proud of the relationships we enjoy with our major stakeholders. I would

like to thank our clients, shareholders, investment analysts, the media, the regulators and suppliers for their support during a

difficult time.

My personal thanks go to the shareholders and directors for the confidence they have shown in appointing me as Chief

Executive. A particular word of thanks is due to Old Mutual for the supportive role it has played during my tenure to date. 

At the same time I should like to express my gratitude to the retiring executive directors, Tony Routledge, Stuart Morris and Izak

Botha, for their contribution to the group over several years.

Constant change and uncertainty place incredible pressure on people within a company. I should like to thank the people of

Nedcor for their ongoing commitment and for the willingness to turn this company around. The unwavering support from the

new executive committee has been most encouraging, and, together with the board, management and staff, we shall ensure

that Nedcor once again becomes a great place to bank, a great place to invest and a great place to work.

Tom Boardman

Chief Executive



Overview
South African economic growth slowed to around 2% in 2003, following a relatively
robust expansion of 3,6% in 2002. For the second consecutive year exports performed
poorly, held back by weak global demand in the first half of the year and the rand’s
extraordinary pullback. In contrast, domestic spending was buoyant, again rising by
between 4% and 5% during the year.

The rand’s strength dominated the economic and financial climate. The currency
strengthened by 16,2% on the Reserve Bank’s trade-weighted basis following the 24,2%
rise in 2002. However, against the ailing US dollar it rose by a further 30,3% after 2002’s
39,1% rise. In an international environment, where many investors were looking for
higher yields and avoiding the US dollar, South Africa appeared attractive. An improved
sovereign rating and rising commodity prices helped to attract short-term capital inflows
and boosted the currency. Although this meant a return to levels seen as recently as in
2000, export and import-replacement industries were put under pressure because of
higher relative domestic inflation and costs over the period. The rand’s extreme volatility
also made planning and even hedging difficult, resulting in the postponement of some
fixed investment plans in these sectors. The tourism industry was also affected by the
currency as growth in foreign arrivals slowed and local residents took advantage of
improved prices abroad.

The improvement in the rand did, however, have some positive spinoffs. Inflation
eased significantly as imported prices declined. The Reserve Bank’s targeted measure of
inflation, CPIX, fell from 11,3% in November 2002 to 4,0% by the end of 2003. This
enabled the authorities to ease monetary policy aggressively in the second half of the
year. Prime lending rates fell by 550 basis points to 11,5% from June to December 2003.

Consumer spending was supported by lower interest rates and inflation, as well as good
growth in personal disposable incomes. Consumers were more willing to increase debt
to fund purchases of durable goods in particular. Motor cars, furniture, clothing and
appliance sales all did well in the more favourable climate.

Economic review
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Outlook
Economic growth should improve in the year ahead. Export prices and volumes will be helped by the more established policy-
induced recovery in the global economy. Certain commodity prices have already risen strongly in non-dollar terms, helping to
offset rand strength. However, the sustainability of the global upswing is also questionable, given the structural difficulties that the
major economies still have to resolve. The legacy of high debt levels and asset price bubbles from the 1990s are not likely to affect
the momentum of the real economy in the short term, but could have an effect on forward-looking markets later in the year.

The rand’s movements will again play an important role. Unfortunately, the currency has started the year in its characteristically
volatile fashion, moving in a 12% range within the first few weeks of the year and making predictions hazardous. If the rand
weakens gradually, this will further help exports. The depreciation so far this year – if sustained – should help exports. However,
the uncertainty around the currency’s future path will reduce this potential benefit as exporters of manufactured goods, in
particular, will be hesitant to commit to foreign markets. Import-replacement industries will also take time to recover, with many
still uncompetitive at current levels.

The direction of the rand will also help to determine the direction and extent of interest rate movements and therefore, consumer
spending and capital formation decisions. At present it seems as though interest rates will bottom out in the first half of the year
before rising modestly in the second half. Higher consumer spending and credit demand, combined with higher energy and
food prices, have worsened the inflation outlook. Inflation could quite possibly rise above the 6% target in the second half
of 2004 and in 2005.

Domestic spending will remain strong, supported by rising disposable incomes, expansionary fiscal policy and increased capital
spending, particularly on infrastructure. Overall gross domestic product growth of around 2,5% should be achievable for 2004,
rising to 3% in 2005.

Dennis Dykes
Group Chief Economist

Internationally many investors were looking for
higher yields and avoiding the US dollar. An
improved sovereign rating for South Africa and
rising commodity prices helped to attract short-term
capital inflows and boosted the rand.
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate

Nedbank Corporate was formed through the integration of the corporate and investment
banking activities of the enlarged Nedcor Group, following the merger. It was the largest
revenue contributor for the group in the financial year.

The merger was a complex process within Nedbank Corporate and was well-managed,
both internally and externally. The integration of the people, systems, infrastructure and
the appointment of new management teams were completed by March. Certain divisions
posed interesting challenges, such as Treasury, where the treasuries of Nedbank, BoE
and NIB were integrated early in 2003, and Business Banking, where over 115 000 clients
from BoE are being migrated on to the Nedbank system.

Client service of the highest order was imperative during this process, and it is
pleasing to report that both client retention and client satisfaction levels have been
particularly positive.

Several strategic objectives were identified at the start of 2003, including:
• establishing the Nedbank Corporate brand to position the business against the major

players in the market after the integration of BoE and NIB;
• creating a strong regional presence in areas where Nedbank was traditionally under-

represented;
• developing a leadership position in promoting and financing BEE and contributing to

the transformation of the economy;
• growing our market share in public sector business; and
• renewing the focus on our African banking operations.

Sound progress has been made with these ongoing strategies, and the issues are
covered in more detail in the divisional reviews that follow.

Late in the year a decision was taken to restructure the division into two units by
amalgamating complementary businesses. The more capital-intensive, corporate lending
and transactional businesses have been grouped together under Nedbank Corporate,
while the advisory, capital markets and trading units have been merged to form Nedbank
Capital.

Derek Muller

Derek Muller (51)
BCom, CA (SA)
Director: Chief Executive’s Office
18 years’ service
Derek Muller is responsible for corporate
client relations, the human resources
function, and oversight and monitoring of
the Financial Sector Charter as it applies to
Nedcor. He also represents Nedcor on the
Banking Council of South Africa. In 2003 he
was responsible for merging and integrating
the corporate and investment banking
activities of Nedbank, NIB, BoE and
Cape of Good Hope Bank.
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Graham Dempster (47)
BCom (CTA), CA (SA),
AMP (Harvard and Insead)
Managing Director:
Nedbank Corporate
24 years’ service
Graham joined the group in 1980 in the
Corporate Finance Division of UAL Merchant
Bank. He was promoted to General Manager
of the division in 1991, and was appointed
as Joint Head of the Special Finance
Division. In 1992 he moved to Nedcor Bank,
initially in a general management role on
strategy, and was appointed as Head of the
International Division in 1998. He assumed
responsibility for the Corporate Banking
Division in 1999.

Strategy and outlook
The newly created Nedbank Corporate consists of businesses that focus mainly on
providing lending, deposit-taking and transactional banking execution services to the
wholesale banking client base of Nedbank. These businesses are Corporate Banking,
Business Banking, Property and Asset Finance, Nedbank Africa and International.

The commonality of senior debt-lending activities across Nedbank Corporate enables a
consistent set of principles to be introduced in terms of efficient deployment of capital,
risk propensity, pricing, marketing and reward systems.

Specialist sales and sales support responsibilities for the full suite of transactional
banking products (current accounts, payments and electronic banking) have been
consolidated into one substantive unit to market to and service clients across
Nedbank Corporate. The objective is to increase the level of cross-sell and market share
in non-risk-based annuity fee income.

Nedbank Corporate is looking to generate efficiencies through streamlining credit,
operational and support systems to deliver on the objectives of the Financial Sector
Charter and to increase its presence in the market through focused high-level client
marketing.

We are also looking to refocus our business through client value management disciplines
to enhance our level of client penetration and return on economic capital employed.

The opportunity for multifaceted and diverse career growth is attractive by virtue of the
range of activities undertaken in the cluster.

Financial highlights and statistics
2002 2003

Headline earnings (Rm) 1 532 1 931
Total average advances (Rbn) 112 125
Impairment of advances as a % of net advances (%) 1,3 1,8
Efficiency ratio (%) 45,8 48,8
Number of employees 4 725 4 534
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate

Financial performance
Nedbank Corporate had R133 billion average external assets in 2003, consuming
R10,6 billion of allocated statutory capital, and provided a net average R14 billion of
surplus funding to the bank.

Nedbank Corporate’s headline earnings increased 26% to R1 931 million. The results are
not directly comparable as:
• BoE is only included for six months in 2002;
• capital is not fully included in the business units both for Business Banking and

Property and Asset Finance;
• the shareholding in Commercial Bank of Namibia increased to 93% in the second half

of 2003 and is consolidated from that date; and
• AC133 is used for the first time in the compilation of 2003 numbers.

In general, Nedbank Corporate has shown acceptable earnings and balance sheet
growth, although the strong rand negatively impacted foreign lending and exchange
commissions.

The lower interest rate environment reduced the endowment effect on capital and
compressed margins on low-interest-bearing liabilities. 

The focus in 2004 will be on improving returns on equity in respect of new business, and
at the same time restructuring through reorganisation of the support structures of the
business units, to give rise to reduced costs, while the alignment of client segments will
eliminate any unnecessary overlaps. 

Graham Dempster

Ingrid Johnson (37)
BCom, BAcc, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Corporate Banking 
10 years’ service

Mike Brown (37)
BCom, Dip Acc, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Property and Asset
Finance
10 years’ service

Richard Buchholz (45)
BCom, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Business Banking
7 years’ service

Rocco Rossouw (56)
BCom, AMP (Harvard)
Managing Director: International
2 years’ service

Colin Drew (40)
BCom, LLM, CA (SA)
General Manager: Nedbank Africa
3 years’ service
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Ingrid Johnson (37)
BCom, BAcc, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Corporate
Banking
10 years’ service
Ingrid has been employed with Nedbank
Limited since completing her articles at
PWC, and has been a member of the
general management of Nedbank Limited
since 1999. Ingrid’s previous exposure to the
bank’s wholesale and international banking
activities included international taxation
matters, asset and liability management,
banking regulations and as a director of the
offshore business providing foreign currency
finance to corporate clients.

Her more recent experience as Divisional
Director of Corporate Banking included
specific responsibility for Corporate
Banking’s business in the KwaZulu-Natal
and Cape regions, the Domestic Financial
Institution clients countrywide, as well as
the division’s margin management, capital
allocation and asset pricing methodologies.

Corporate Banking
Target market and activities
Corporate Banking is a client-focused, relationship- and client-value-management-
driven business providing wholesale banking solutions, services and products to
corporate clients. Corporate Banking provides wholesale banking services to medium
and large domestic and multinational businesses and institutions and to the South
African government and parastatal organisations. Additionally, Corporate Banking is
actively involved in funding BEE initiatives across all sectors of the economy.

Business is generated for the group through lending, transactional banking, structuring
and advisory fee-income opportunities, significant wholesale funding, treasury execution,
custodial services and global trade activities.

An integral part of managing client relationships is the development of strategic account
plans for each client. These plans allow the corporate banker to formulate definitive
marketing strategies for both the division’s products and the products of the group. This
integrated approach leads to innovative solutions for its clients and is a differentiator of
the division in the South African market.

Review of the year
The direct impact of the merger on Corporate Banking was limited in terms of any major
integration of people and systems. The challenges centred around the alignment of the
skills and services of the new business units into an effective, integrated, professional
team. The management team flourished during 2003, leading to improved client service
and new business levels relative to the last five years.

The division’s enhanced service offering resulted in notable successes in high-profile
deals, including transactions for Unilever/Lever Ponds, Total/Tosaco, the funding of the
delisting of Coronation Holdings and the new Tsogo Sun Holdings, and the introduction
of the MTN management team as major shareholders in the group.

The level of activity in the funding of black economic empowerment shareholders was
particularly pleasing.

The strengthening of the rand impacted clients in both the export and manufacturing
sectors and has delayed capital expenditure projects until greater certainty arises. This,
together with the effect on hard currency lending activities and the associated earnings
converted into rand, impacted on the division’s results.

The employment equity profile of the division has improved, with black representation at
44% of the total staff complement and 23% of management.
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Review of operations 

Information technology systems for both risk management and electronic corporate
payment systems were developed and introduced in the second part of the year and will
be core to generating improved risk decisionmaking and integrated transactional banking
client offerings.

Financial performance
In line with the objective of improving the return on capital and deploying capital more
efficiently the division adopted a strategy of targeting return-enhancing growth in asset
creation. As a result, although assets have been reduced from their peak levels during the
second half of the year, they still show moderate growth year-on-year. Consequently,
better balance has been struck between interest income and non-interest income, while
an improved return was earned on capital. Non-interest revenue decreased slightly due to
reduced volumes and rand strength.

Headline earnings increased in line with asset growth and were impacted by the
reduction in income in rand terms arising from the foreign currency lending activities,
an increase in technology-related costs and an increase in the effective tax rate of the
Corporate Banking Division. Expenses were well-contained, despite major expenditure
on the new credit risk management system.

The quality of the advances portfolio has again been demonstrated by the limited level
of provisioning required, which is a reflection of the modern risk assessment
methodologies practised by the credit management team and the disciplined approach
to credit extension.

Strategy and outlook
The division’s objective is to enhance its status and market share as primary banker to
major corporate clients, and this should lead to growth in quality recurring income with
an emphasis on non-interest revenue.

Significant effort is being directed towards growing market share in transactional banking
activities, in line with the lending and deposit-taking market shares.

The adoption of capital optimisation strategies through modern pricing methodologies
will further improve the return on economic capital.

The major reduction in interest rates, although positive for economic growth, will
adversely impact the interest income on capital deployed.

The joint activities in the institutional bancassurance area with Old Mutual South Africa is
a key initiative for the division.

Nedbank Corporate
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Property and Asset Finance
Target market and activities
The division specialises in commercial and industrial property and asset finance in the
middle to large corporate market.

Services include commercial, industrial and residential property development finance,
asset-based finance, specialised finance, property equity investments, and the provision
of electronic funds management solutions to the attorney and accountant market.

Review of the year
The merger of the property assets of the four businesses across the enlarged Nedcor
group has been completed and the division is now the largest financier in the commercial
property market in the country, with a 37% share of the market. The division also has an
enhanced regional footprint across South Africa, based on the strengths of the four
previously independent businesses.

While the integration of the property and asset finance operations of BoE Corporate,
Cape of Good Hope Bank, Nedbank Property Finance and Nedcor Investment Bank
Property Finance has been successful, the full merger efficiencies will be achieved only
once the four operating systems are converted on to a single platform by mid-2004.

The reduction in interest rates has positively impacted the property market, while the
market for diversified products, such as listed property funds, has also been buoyant and
created numerous debt and equity opportunities.

Financial performance 
The Property and Asset Finance Division delivered headline earnings growth in 2003.
However, comparisons with 2002 are impacted by the inclusion of former BoE divisions
for the full 12 months. Including the BoE divisions for the full 12 months of 2002, and after
the AC133 adjustments in 2003, growth in headline earnings was 6%. Net interest
income increased strongly, driven by positive volume and rate variance on the funding
side of the business and reduced levels of non-performing assets. 

Non-interest revenue benefited from a better than expected performance by the newly
formed mortgage originator, Bond Choice, as well as from positive mark-to-market
adjustments in the listed property portfolio. 

Operating expenses were well-controlled, but were impacted by commissions paid on
the higher volumes of business in Bond Choice as well as by the achievement of targeted
merger synergies.

Mike Brown (37)
BCom, Dip Acc, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Property
and Asset Finance
10 years’ service
Mike has been with the group for the past
ten years. After joining the NBS Treasury
Department in 1993 he moved to NBS
Corporate (later BoE Corporate) where he
held the positions of General Manager:
Specialised Finance and Deputy Managing
Director before being appointed Managing
Director in 1999. He was appointed a
director of BoE Limited in October 2001 and
was appointed to his current position after
the merger.



The higher tax rate arose from a reduction in the dividend component of non-interest
revenue.

Overall asset growth was slow, but this was impacted by good reductions in the pay-
down books (ie non-core business being reduced in the legacy NBS and FBC
environments). If these are excluded, the remaining books achieved growth in line with
our positioning as a dominant market player in commercial and industrial property.
Growth has been generated in a controlled manner, with the emphasis on quality and not
quantity.

Excellent progress was made on reducing the levels of non-performing debt and
properties in possession across the portfolio.

Strategy and outlook
Following the completion of the integration process, Property and Asset Finance will be
focusing on developing key working relationships across the group and leveraging off the
balance sheet of Nedbank Corporate.

The lower interest rate environment will contribute positively to the cash flows of clients
and this should allow for continued growth in the property market, coupled with
reductions in both bad and non-performing advances.

The division aims to improve both the return on assets and return on equity through
controlled growth in quality assets and deposits, as well as sound margin management.
A renewed focus on growing non-interest revenue, together with tight cost controls and
further reduction in bad debts through rigorous credit processes, is expected to result in
improved continued growth of earnings in 2004.
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate
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Richard Buchholz (45)
BCom, CA (SA)
Managing Director: Business
Banking
7 years’ service
Richard was a partner at KPMG for six
years, where he worked in their forensic,
professional practice and financial services
groups. He authored several publications on
subjects such as insurance and small
business. He joined Nedbank in March 1997
and, prior to joining Business Banking, he
had responsibility for risk and more recently
corporate credit.

Business Banking
Target market and activities
Business Banking is a client-centric, relationship-management-focused division
targeting small to medium-sized companies with annual turnovers ranging up to
R400 million. The client base consists primarily of mid-market corporate clients that bank
solely with Nedbank.

The division offers the full spectrum of commercial banking products and related services
through its relationship management teams spread across 17 regions throughout the
country. Regions have a high degree of autonomy in decisionmaking to respond rapidly
to client needs, with each region having at least one area of sectoral or industry
specialisation.

Nedbank Professional Banking is a specialist unit within the division providing custom-
designed solutions to the accounting and auditing, medical, legal and other professional
service providers in South Africa.

Business Banking has a market share of some 23%, which it aims to grow through increased
current account acquisition among quality clients and within targeted industries.

Review of the year
The merger programme has been a success both internally and externally, with the
migration of the complementary businesses of Nedbank Commercial and BoE Business
Division to Nedbank Corporate proceeding according to plan. This involved the migration
of some 115 000 accountholders from the BoE to the Nedbank platform, and by year-end
65 000 clients had been transferred, with the process due for completion in March 2004.

Business Banking has further strengthened its relationship management proposition with
a formalised strategy of developing indepth knowledge of specific sectors, including the
agricultural, wine, printing and diamond industries, to serve its diverse client base.

The transformation of the country has seen a steady increase in the number of BEE
companies in the bank’s target market, which has provided new growth opportunities,
and the division has been actively funding these businesses through a dedicated BEE
team and a comprehensive BEE strategy.

In line with the requirements of Basel II, the entire credit risk management and monitoring
system and related processes are being redesigned with implementation planned for
June 2004. This will enhance credit processes and increase turnaround times in credit
applications, providing a quantitative basis for risk-based pricing and capital allocation.
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate

Financial performance
The Business Banking Division performed strongly, with headline earnings increasing
owing to the inclusion of BoE Business Division for a full year, but also due to lower bad-
debt levels than experienced previously. On a normalised earnings basis the division’s
performance improved by 15% compared with 2002. However, margins decreased over
the second half of 2003 owing to the reduced impact on ‘free’ funds, in a lower rate
environment. Although non-interest revenue showed good growth in 2003, it included
some once-off benefits through the sale of non-core investments. 

Expenses (adjusted for impacts of, among others, BoE for the full year) increased only
slightly above the staff salary increase percentage, which is notable when considering
the impact of the merger on this division’s focus in 2003.

Total external assets, excluding non-performing loans, grew by 11% driven by strong
growth in loans and overdrafts, with a healthy pipeline in place. Non-performing loans
were reduced by lower capital inflows as well as writeoffs in 2003. Total liabilities
continued to increase in accordance with the bank’s requirements and the division’s
ability to raise funds in the call and term markets.

Strategy and outlook
A strategic review of the business model has been undertaken with an international
consultancy, which will result in a more intensive relationship management strategy, with
several staff being reassigned from administrative functions to relationship management
positions.

While the integration process is on target, the division has identified the need for
managing client expectations in a postmerger environment to ensure a high level of client
retention and a stable client base.

Following the completion of the merger-related client migration, the two key focus areas
of Business Banking will be the growth in transactional or non-interest revenue and a
reduction in bad debts, with the overriding strategic goal of providing client service
excellence.

Owing to the structure of the funding book there will be compression of interest income,
as the rate environment in 2004 will be significantly lower on average than in 2003.
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International
Target market and activities
The International Division serves the international needs of Nedbank’s domestic client
base in the corporate, commercial and private banking sectors. It is also active in
international trade finance and treasury services. Nedbank is not active in the retail
banking market offshore. 

Nedbank has branches in London, the Isle of Man, Hong Kong and Singapore, with
representative offices in Beijing and Taipei.

The division maintains a low-risk profile and acts as a strategic presence in the United
Kingdom and Asian markets.

Review of the year
In the UK the uncertain lending environment resulted in a conscious decision to curtail
new client loan growth. However, the new client sales effort has now been increased. The
strength of the rand also caused the growth in the personal banking deposit base to slow
dramatically.

In Asia, difficult macroeconomic conditions, which included the effect of Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome, resulted in subdued loan demand, narrowing margins and low
and declining interest rates. Nedbank Asia continues to emphasise new client
relationship development and sourcing on high-quality credit assets. Further, developing
new fee-income products is diversifying the income stream.

Financial performance
The International Division delivered headline earnings reduced year-on-year, mainly due
to the strong rand. Overall, expense growth was in line with revenue growth, resulting in
the efficiency ratio remaining unchanged.

Strategy and outlook
In 2004 the group anticipates that International Banking’s Beijing and Taipei
representative offices will be converted to Old Mutual group offices, and will undertake
a strategic review of the balance of the Asian operations. 

In the UK margins should continue to improve as the Treasury continues with its
strategy to reduce funding costs and focus on increasing loan margins as well as the
elimination of non-target-market clients. In Asia 2004 growth is coming off a low
base due to depressed macroeconomic conditions and the effect of Severe Acute
Respiratory Syndrome. 

Rocco Rossouw (56)
BCom, AMP (Harvard)
Managing Director: International
2 years' service
Rocco Rossouw spent 37 years with the
Standard Bank Group, the last five years of
which were as Managing Director of Stanbic
Africa. Prior to that he spent 20 years in the
international and corporate banking
environments. He joined Nedcor in April
2002 to focus on the group’s international
operations.
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate

Africa
Target market and activities
Nedbank Africa’s strategy is to give Nedbank representation in the neighbouring
countries and key strategic regions in sub-Saharan Africa. At present Nedbank has
representation in:

% effective 
Country Subsidiaries shareholding

Lesotho Nedbank (Lesotho) Limited 100
Malawi Nedbank (Malawi) Limited 91
Namibia Commercial Bank of Namibia (‘CBON’) 93
Namibia NIB Namibia Limited 65
Swaziland Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited* 67

Associates
Mauritius – onshore State Bank of Mauritius* 20
Mauritius – offshore SBM Nedbank International Limited 50
Madagascar Banque SBM Madagascar 20
Zimbabwe Merchant Bank of 

Central Africa Limited (‘MBCA’) 28

* Listed on the regional stock exchange.

Products vary according to region, but Nedbank’s African operations aim to offer
universal banking products (retail and wholesale) in each of our regions of representation.
Zimbabwe is the only region in southern Africa in which we do not have a universal
banking product offering. Where possible, our regional operations leverage off the South
African divisions for skills and systems platforms.

Review of the year
The Africa Division showed strong growth in profits as a result of consolidating CBON for
the first time (further shares were acquired in September 2003) which also resulted in
lower associate income.

The business operations in Namibia are being restructured to introduce:
• a unitary ownership structure; and
• a greater level of Namibian ownership than the current level.

Colin Drew (40)
BCom, LLM (Mercantile), CA (SA)
General Manager: Nedbank Africa
3 years’ service
Colin is both an admitted attorney and a
chartered accountant. He completed his
accounting and legal articles at Ernst &
Young and Webber Wentzel respectively. He
has nine years’ experience in banking, most
of it in corporate finance. Colin worked
closely with Nedbank Africa during the last
three years, advising the division on
acquisitions and strategic issues, before
taking management responsibility for it in
September 2003. 
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Financial performance
The Africa Division showed strong growth in net profit before tax, particularly driven
by exceptional growth in subsidiaries in Lesotho and Swaziland. Expenses grew at a
slower pace than revenue, resulting in a 5% improvement in the efficiency ratio. However,
a 15% increase in the tax rate and lower associate income (predominantly caused by
consolidating CBON for the first time, the strong rand and increased bad-debt
provisions) left headline earnings in line with last year.

Strategy and outlook
The strategy of Nedbank Africa is to:
• have a network of strategically positioned banks in neighbouring countries and key

sub-Saharan economies; and
• show superior earnings and return on equity (‘RoE’) growth to that being achieved by

Nedbank in its domestic market.

In 2004 and 2005 the group plans to review the operations of the Africa banking business
to align them with group targets and so ensure adequate RoEs are achieved once the
additional risk in such locations has been discounted.
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Review of operations 

Nedbank Corporate

Imperial Bank
Target market and activities
Imperial Bank is a niche, asset-based finance bank focusing on motor vehicles and
transportation assets, fixed property, aircraft, medical and industrial equipment. It also
offers specialised treasury products and financial structuring for large transportation
assets, as well as debt collection services for third parties.

The bank was formed in 1996 as part of the Imperial Group and Nedbank has owned a
50,1% interest in the bank since 2001.

Review of the year
The interest rate environment caused a sharp decline in the lending margin as the prime rate
declined much faster than the funding rate. The Motor Finance Division responded by
improving its lending margin to prime and favouring the used-car market over new cars.

The strong rand caused serious problems in the general aviation market where aircraft
values and income are generally US dollar-based.

The Specialised Finance Division received the Euromoney award for the best aviation
finance transaction in the Africa and Middle East sector, and was nominated for the
worldwide Euromoney Deal of the Year for 2003. The transaction was for the funding of
five Boeing 737-800s for Safair against a 10-year lease from South African Airways.

The Medical Finance Division was established with six branches in major cities and wrote
R307 million in advances in its first four months of operation.

Financial performance
Both net interest income (‘NII’) and non-interest revenue (‘NIR’) grew by an impressive
55% in 2003, driving headline earnings growth of 41%. Expenses increased by 80% to
accommodate the increase in the scale of operations, including the establishment cost
of a new medical finance division. 

Headline earnings were significantly boosted by New Republic Bank, which contributed
the majority of attributable income, while its advances represented less than 10% of total
consolidated advances.

The Property Division also performed well owing to the level of activity in residential
property development and stable conditions in the commercial mortgage market. 

Financial highlights and statistics
2002 2003

Headline earnings (Rm) 82 116
Total average advances (Rbn) 6 9
Impairment of advances as a % of net advances (%) 3,9 13,7
Efficiency ratio (%) 35,7 41,5
Number of employees 501 643

Tak Hiemstra (47)
BCompt (Hons), CA (SA)
Chief Executive: Imperial Bank
7 years’ service
Tak joined Imperial Holdings in 1991 after
seven years in merchant banking and
stockbroking. A director of Imperial Bank
since its formation in 1996, he was
appointed Chief Executive in 1999. He is
an executive director of Imperial Holdings
and a non-executive director of Kagiso
Media and DAWN.
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Profitability in the bank’s other divisions suffered as a result of a severe margin squeeze
during the second half of the year, a bad-debt charge of R100 million in the Aviation
Finance Division, and the investment in infrastructure for the Medical Finance Division.

The bank’s assets grew by over 40% during the year. While most of this was accounted
for by organic growth in existing markets, the Motor Finance Division (which operates
under the MFC brand) expanded its footprint from 300 to more than 650 motor dealers.

The focus for 2004 is to grow profitability through asset growth, good credit quality, cost
control and margin management. 

Risk management
The main areas of risk are credit, counterparty and operational risks.

Credit risk is managed by a credit scorecard in MFC, and by credit committees with tiered
mandate levels in the other divisions. Apart from the bad experience in the Aviation Finance
Division, where credit losses arose primarily from the unexpected and severe strengthening
of the rand, the bank’s credit performance has been good. The areas where a higher charge
occurred had a higher lending rate to compensate for the portfolio risk.

Operational risk is well-managed as measured by a low incidence of related losses
despite the high growth in advances. An operational risk management framework was
designed during the year.

Liquidity risk is low due to Nedcor’s commitment, in terms of a shareholders’ agreement,
to fund the growth of the bank. As the bulk of the bank’s funding is sourced from Nedcor,
it is dependent on Nedcor’s interest rate risk management process.

Strategy and outlook
The bank’s strategy is to grow its core businesses as well as to broaden its income base.

Motor vehicle finance is a core activity of the bank and MFC’s current market share of
10% of dealer-based car finance leaves significant room for growth. The division’s cost
structure is currently high, as the conversion rate from applications to booked deals
remains too low.

The Property Finance Division capitalised on a strong residential property development
market during 2003, but will tread cautiously in the year ahead. Nevertheless, a high level
of activity is expected around well-hedged risk positions. The product base has been
expanded and further high asset growth and profit growth are anticipated.

The smaller divisions in the bank, namely Aviation Finance, Corporate Asset Finance and
Medical Finance, are well-positioned to grow profit from relatively low bases.

The employment equity target is to have 40% black staff by the end of 2004, which will
require a 6% increase in black employees overall. However, the focus remains on
increasing representativity at management levels.
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Nedbank Capital

Nedbank Capital comprises the group’s investment banking business. The cluster is
aligned along its structuring, lending, underwriting and trading businesses, where
appropriate, and comprises Project Finance, Investment Banking, Treasury, Equity
Capital Markets, Debt Capital Markets, Edward Nathan & Friedland (‘ENF’) and Nedcor
Securities (Pty) Limited.

As one of South Africa’s leading investment banking franchises, Nedbank Capital has a
particularly strong presence in the project finance, mergers and acquisitions (‘M&A’),
treasury and domestic institutional equity markets in South Africa. These activities are
complemented by the legal services provided by ENF. In addition, Nedbank Capital has
a well-developed private equity franchise, which includes several BEE partnerships, and
has extensive experience in providing structuring advice and financing for BEE initiatives
in the mining, telecommunications and petroleum industries. Nedbank Capital’s full-
service Treasury has a regional presence in Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town.

Nedbank Capital’s core strengths include its strong treasury and structured finance
teams, and its highly ranked M&A business and equity research analyst team.

Nedbank Capital’s principal clients across its divisions include the top 200 domestic
corporates, as well as parastatals, leading financial institutions, non-South African
multinational corporates and clients undertaking major infrastructure and mining projects
in Africa, and emerging BEE consortiums.

Nedbank Capital has been structured fundamentally to move away from a standalone
business to a cohesive and integrated investment bank to achieve a coordinated
approach to client service. Its objectives are to create a single house view and to achieve
a deeper understanding of its clients’ businesses, which will ultimately result in increased
product sales per client and facilitate organic market growth. Nedbank Capital seeks to
develop further and strengthen its sectoral expertise through increased industry focus, as
well as to develop innovative client solutions across all of the divisions, originate,
underwrite and execute transactions through Nedcor’s distribution channels and continue
to participate in transactions that it underwrites through its balance sheet, while making a
significant contribution to the economic development of southern Africa as a whole.

Financial highlights and statistics
2002 2003

Headline earnings (Rm) 542 359
Total average advances (Rbn) 58 114
Impairment of advances as a % of net advances (%) 0,2 0,1
Efficiency ratio (%) 45,8 51,2
Number of employees 759 785

Brian Kennedy (43)
BSc (Eng), MSc (Eng), MBA,
AMP (Harvard)
Managing Director:
Nedbank Capital
8 years’ service
Brian started his career in engineering before
joining FirstCorp Merchant Bank where he
was Head of Structured and Project Finance.
In 1996 he joined BoE Merchant Bank in a
similar capacity and was promoted to
Managing Director in 1998. He was
appointed an executive director of BoE in
2001 and Managing Director of Capital
Markets at the time of the merger. 

In November 2003 he was appointed to the
Group Executive Committee of Nedcor and
now heads the newly formed Nedbank
Capital cluster.
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Financial performance
The majority of Nedbank Capital’s contribution to the group’s total operating income after
foreign exchange translation gains/(losses) is attributable to the operations of its
Treasury, Investment Banking, Project Finance, Debt Capital Markets and Equity Capital
Markets Divisions.

Nedbank Capital had a difficult year, with headline earnings falling 34% to R359 million,
mainly due to net interest income (‘NII’) falling from a R91 million profit in 2002 to a
R147 million loss in 2003. Non-interest revenue increased 32% to R1 658 million, despite
declines in commission and fee income, driven by strong growth in trading income in the
Treasury Division. Expenses increased 25%, mainly in the Treasury Division, and the
efficiency ratio rose from 45,8% to 51,2%.

The dramatic fall in NII was mainly due to an effort at improving the group’s liquidity
during the merger and repaying funders with increased fixed-rate negotiable certificates
of deposit (‘NCDs’) in issue. Due to lengthening the term of the funding book and not
hedging interest rate risk, its yield deteriorated significantly. The impact of this action was
reflected in the Treasury Division. The bulk of this funding will mature by April 2004.

Brian Kennedy

Anton Taljaard (37)
BCom (Hons), CA 
Managing Director: Project Finance
7 years’ service 

Brandon Doyle (35)
BCompt (Hons), CA (SA)
Managing Director: Investment Banking
3 years’ service

Peter Lane (47)
BCom, FIFM, CAIB
Head: Debt Capital Markets and Treasury
13 years’ service

Peter Jackson (50)
BA LLB, LLM (Cambridge), HDip Tax
Managing Director: Equity Capital Markets
6 years’ service

Coenraad Jonker (34)
BJuris, LLB, MBA
Chief Executive: ENF
7 years’ service

Jean du Plessis (55)
BCom (Hons), MBL
Managing Director: Nedcor Securities
13 years’ service

Mark Weston (40)
BCA, CA (New Zealand)
Chief Operating Officer
14 years’ service
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Nedbank Capital

Project Finance
Target market and activities
The Project Finance Division competes in the southern African merchant and investment
banking markets, providing specialised debt-financing solutions to its predominantly
South African client base. The division targets the country’s top 200 corporates, leading
institutions, parastatals, as well as major infrastructure and mining projects in Africa.

Its portfolio of services include resource and infrastructure finance and structured
financial solutions.

Review of the year
Project Finance is particularly active in the resource and infrastructure finance sectors.
During 2003 Nedbank Capital was involved in some of the year’s major domestic deals.
The resource and project finance team played a role as joint adviser to both African
Rainbow Minerals and Exploration Investments (Proprietary) Limited (‘ARMi’) in the ARMi,
Harmony Gold Mine Company Limited (‘Harmony’) and Anglovaal Mining Limited
transaction, which was placed first in the Dealmakers 2003 top 10 deals of the year.
Changes in the regulatory framework have led to a slowdown in tax-based structured
finance transactions. The group’s structured finance teams have therefore been
repositioned to focus on credit enhancement and disintermediation.

Financial performance
For the year ended 31 December 2003 the Project Finance Division was responsible for
a substantial part of Nedbank Capital’s total operating income after foreign exchange
translation gains/(losses), of which resource and project finance and structured finance
were the principal contributors.

Project Finance had a disappointing year, with headline earnings decreasing by 64% in
2003 as it contended with difficult debt markets and a challenging regulatory
environment. Earnings were reduced by R150 million as a result of the writeoff of a
portion of the Nedbank Africa portfolio, which was transferred to Project Finance as part
of the merger and reorganisation process. Foreign and domestic competition was intense
and fewer expansion projects were undertaken. However, expenses were kept under
control and the efficiency ratio improved marginally in 2003.

Significant achievements include a R580 million medium-term (six-year) amortising loan
to De Beers Marine Namibia, a US$16 million limited-recourse project finance loan to
Zambian Railways and a mandate to act as an adviser in ARMi’s action to secure control
of Avmin in a R10 billion landmark empowerment mining deal.

Anton Taljaard (37)
BCom (Hons), CA (SA)
Managing Director: Project Finance
7 years’ service
Anton spent four years at the Industrial
Development Corporation of South Africa
where he gained experience across a broad
range of commercial, industrial and project
finance transactions. 

He joined BoE Merchant Bank at the
beginning of 1997 to establish Project
Finance and two years later was made
responsible for all the term debt business of
BoE Merchant Bank. Anton was recently
appointed to the Nedbank Capital Executive
Committee, where he leads the Project
Finance team. 
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Strategy and outlook
2003 has been a year of consolidation following the merger, and the developing pipeline
is most encouraging. Merger activity in the mining sector is expected to increase
following continued rand strength, which should lead to an improved deal flow.

Project Finance has developed leading-edge BEE-financing structures that have been
combined with industry-leading specialist capabilities in the mining and resources sector,
infrastructural development and private/public partnerships. The division is expanding its
capability into retail, healthcare and diversified industrials.
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Nedbank Capital

Investment Banking
Target markets and activities
The Investment Banking Division houses the group’s Corporate Finance and Private
Equity Divisions as well as the sector-focused investment bankers who originate
transactions across the entire Nedbank Capital product spectrum. Investment Banking’s
primary services are advisory, focusing on corporate restructuring, BEE initiatives, stock
exchange listings, disposals, privatisations and capital raisings. The division includes a
dedicated research team and a unit providing JSE sponsor services to companies
relating to their continuing regulatory obligations.

Nedbank Capital’s private equity activities entail the selection, as principal, of
opportunistic investments in South African companies. The private equity team applies
its extensive knowledge of the South African market, together with risk management
techniques, to its investment analysis when making its investment decisions. The group
is currently in the process of aggregating its private equity portfolio into Nedbank Capital.
At 31 December 2003 Nedcor’s private equity portfolio had an aggregate book value of
approximately R873 million.

The Corporate Finance Division has a 45% interest in Tirelo, a majority black-owned
advisory boutique. The partners work closely together on South African government,
parastatal and BEE-related transactions.

Review of the year
Corporate Finance’s leadership role in its sector was acknowledged by authoritative,
independent surveys. The division was ranked as the top domestic merchant bank in the
Ernst & Young mergers and acquisitions survey, based on both the value and volume of
transactions during the previous year. It was also ranked as the leading sponsor by
number of transactions. The Dealmakers 2003 survey ranked Corporate Finance as
number two investment adviser by value of deals, and third in terms of deal flow.

The sponsor unit, formed out of the merger of the sponsor services of NIB, BoE and ENF,
now represents 43 companies listed on the JSE. The offering to sponsor clients has been
expanded to include investor relations consulting.

The private equity team manages a portfolio in excess of R600 million, which includes
some 70 investments. The portfolio was reviewed following the merger of the three
private equity portfolios, and 19 underperforming investments were disposed of to meet
targeted internal rates of return. Investments that have generated strong returns over the
past year include DataPro, Business Connexion and Corobrik.

BEE remains an area of specialisation and several transactions were concluded. The
division was also involved in drafting sections of the Financial Sector Charter relating to
ownership and control.

Brandon Doyle (35)
BCompt (Hons), CA (SA)
Managing Director: Corporate
Finance
3 years’ service
Brandon spent five years in the Corporate
Finance Division of Anglo American before
being appointed Head of Corporate Finance
of FBC Fidelity Investment Bank. Three years
later he joined Nedcor Investment Bank as
Joint Head of Corporate Finance. Brandon
was recently appointed to the Nedbank
Capital Executive Committee where he leads
the Investment Banking team.
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Financial performance
In 2003 the division advised on 64 transactions, which constituted a significant increase
from the 41 transactions concluded in the year ended 31 December 2002 by the
predecessor businesses of NIB and BoE taken together. The value of transactions
advised on, however, declined from a combined aggregate of R39 000 million in the year
ended 31 December 2002 to R24 000 million in the year ended 31 December 2003. This
was largely due to an unusually large transaction concluded in 2002 and the BoE merger,
on which both NIB and BoE Merchant Bank advised.

At 31 December 2003 the sponsor unit had acted as sponsor to 43 companies listed
on the JSE in respect of 63 transactions with an aggregate transaction value of
R19 billion, compared with 34 transactions the prior year with an aggregate transaction
value of R31 billion. 

The realignment and consolidation of the private equity portfolio resulted in a bottomline
loss of R52 million arising on revaluation and disposal.

Strategy and outlook
Traditional corporate finance activity is expected to increase in the year ahead as equity
markets remain buoyant and BEE continues to gather momentum, with further
empowerment transactions expected to be driven by the requirements of additional
sector charters.

The integration of the corporate finance business into Investment Banking is highly
positive, as it will enhance the strategic role of the division and create further
opportunities for consultancy and advisory business. This will also allow for a more
focused strategy on generating additional business from the existing client base.
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Nedbank Capital

Treasury
Target markets and activities
Treasury is the group’s interface with local and international financial and investment
markets. The Treasury’s primary role is the management of market-related risk for clients
as well as the group. These risks include currency, interest rate and equity-related
exposures that are managed on a principal basis within a treasury risk framework
applicable to the trading book. It is also responsible for implementing the ALCO balance
sheet management strategy relating to the group’s banking book, including repricing
mismatches and managing liquidity.

Review of the year
Treasury was one of the first divisions in the group to be fully integrated after the merger,
and was operational from January 2003 after the consolidation of the four treasuries and
10 dealing rooms across the enlarged group. The merger synergies are ahead of
schedule and should be fully realised in 2004. Synergies realised over the period totalled
R40,5 million, against a budget of R37,5 million.

Treasury has been increasingly active in the debt origination market and has broken new
ground in corporate bond issues. The unit is also a primary dealer and a top supporter
of the government’s weekly bond auction.

The Asset Management Division, formed out of the merger of NIB Quants with the cash
management business of NIB Treasury, has made steady inroads and currently manages
assets of over R12 billion under specialised mandates. The quality of the unit’s innovative
research reports has proved a differentiator in these competitive markets.

Financial performance
The Treasury Division grew headline earnings by 24,5% in 2003. Although the overall
performance was negatively affected by the decrease in net interest income outlined on
page 37, non-interest revenue growth was exceptional. Trading income showed a strong
increase, compared with 2002’s combined performance, despite the merger of the
various treasuries.

Nedbank became the largest participant in the bond auctions in 2003 and Treasury’s debt
origination team participated in a large number of placements, including Lever Ponds,
Sasol and Barloworld. Trading in other new issues as well as secondary market activity
also increased.

Treasury Asset Management increased assets under management by over R4 billion and
Treasury Management Services achieved good results in its first year of operations, with
a number of outsourcing mandates secured.

Peter Lane (47)
BCom, FIFM, CAIB
Head: Treasury and Debt Capital
Markets
13 years’ service
Peter started his career with First National
Bank in 1979 and at the time of leaving
11 years later was a chief dealer in the
treasury. He joined UAL Merchant Bank in
1990 and became an executive director in
1996. He was later an executive director of
Nedcor Investment Bank and, following the
merger with Nedbank, was appointed
Nedbank Group Treasurer in January 2003.
In March 2004 he was appointed to the
Nedbank Capital Executive Committee.
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Strategy and outlook
Treasury has adopted a trading house model, which offers a full suite of products, with
the exception of commodities trading. As a result of its position Treasury has sight of all
of the markets in which the group’s businesses are operating. This provides Treasury with
a high level of information flow and interaction between the group’s trading desks,
allowing the division to diversify the group’s risk and income sources.

As part of Treasury’s commitment to BEE and the Financial Sector Charter it has
announced its intention to introduce BEE consortiums into three of its divisions: Taquanta
Asset Management; Taquanta Securities; and Taquanta Treasury Solutions, a treasury
outsourcing business. In each case the BEE consortiums will purchase a 30% interest in
these divisions. These transactions are subject to regulatory approval, which is being
sought and is considered imminent.
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Nedbank Capital

Equity Capital Markets
Target markets and activities
The Equity Capital Markets Division has been newly formed to capture the synergies
between the cluster’s trading activities and structured finance products. It includes an
alliance between Nedbank Limited and Macquarie Bank Limited. Formed in March 2003,
the aim of the business is to create one of the leading South African equity derivatives
operations, by providing hedging and structuring services to corporate, institutional and
retail clients.

Review of the year
The equity derivatives business has performed well and, with the introduction of
additional products, including warrants, this unit is set to play a leading role in the
burgeoning equity derivatives industry.

Financial performance
The equity derivatives joint venture with Macquarie Bank Limited performed above
expectations, and a number of large hedging transactions were concluded, in particular
the hedging of the MTN Newshelf transaction.

Strategy and outlook
Nedcor believes the alliance with Macquarie Bank will allow Nedbank Capital to enhance
the reputation and profitability of its equity services through increased market profile and
cross-selling opportunities. Through the alliance it is also able to offer equity derivatives
products to the clients of other Nedcor businesses, and it undertakes some arbitrage
dealing on a proprietary basis.

Patrick Jackson (50)
BA LLB, LLM (Cambridge),
HDip Tax
Managing Director: Equity Capital
Markets
6 years’ service
Patrick started his career in law. He was a
partner at Deneys Reitz Attorneys in the
Corporate and Tax Division for 10 years. He
joined BoE Merchant Bank in 1998 in the
Structured Finance Division and was
subsequently appointed Head of Financial
Engineering. In March 2004 he was
appointed Head of Equity Capital Markets in
Nedbank Capital as well as a member of the
Nedbank Capital Executive Committee.
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Debt Capital Markets
Target markets and activities
This new division has been developed to focus on the increased disintermediation
activities in the South African banking market. It includes securitisation and bond
origination businesses, as well as interest rate solutions.

Review of the year
The recent successes of Debt Capital Markets include acting as joint lead managers
for the R2 000 million Sasol Limited bond issue and as initial dealer and arranger for the
R1 500 million Lever Ponds issue, both in September 2003. The platform was laid for
several securitisation initiatives that will benefit the group.

Strategy and outlook
This new grouping is well-positioned to benefit from the increased disintermediation in the
market. In addition, it will contribute to improved efficiencies in the group balance sheet.

Peter Lane (47)
BCom, FIFM, CAIB
Head: Treasury and Debt Capital
Markets
13 years’ service
Peter started his career with First National
Bank in 1979 and at the time of leaving
11 years later was a chief dealer in the
treasury. He joined UAL Merchant Bank in
1990 and became an executive director in
1996. He was later an executive director of
Nedcor Investment Bank and, following the
merger with Nedbank, was appointed
Nedbank Group Treasurer in January 2003.
In March 2004 he was appointed to the
Nedbank Capital Executive Committee.
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Edward Nathan & Friedland
Target market and activities
Edward Nathan & Friedland (‘ENF’) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Nedcor Limited. It is
a corporate law consultancy business that provides general corporate law, M&A and tax
advisory services. In addition, ENF provides advice in the areas of antitrust and
competition, banking, capital markets, corporate governance, information technology,
environmental law, employee benefits and employment law, finance, intellectual property,
projects and project finance, and public/private partnerships. It has sector expertise in
the areas of telecommunications and technology, e-commerce, mining, sports and
entertainment, property finance and energy. ENF also provides independent legal
consultancy services and deal flow opportunities to the group, working particularly
closely with the various divisions within Nedbank Capital.

Review of the year
In 2003 it was ranked first among South African legal advisers in the corporate finance
category by deal volume, second in this category by deal value and second by deal volume
in the mergers and acquisitions category in the Dealmakers 2003 rankings.

Financial performance
Corporate activity remained depressed in 2003. Despite this, fee income increased
marginally.

Increased corporate activity across all specialisation areas is expected to result in an
increase in fee income for ENF in 2004.

Coenraad Jonker (34)
BJuris, LLB, MBA
Chief Executive: ENF
7 years’ service
Coenraad entered the legal profession in
1994 and was admitted as an attorney the
following year. He joined Edward Nathan &
Friedland in 1996 and was appointed as a
partner and Head of the Labour Department
in 1998. He was promoted to the position of
Chief Executive in August 2000.
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Nedcor Securities (Pty) Limited
Target market and activities
Nedcor Securities (Pty) Limited (‘Nedcor Securities’) is the institutional equities business
of the group. It provides research, sales and trading to the major institutions.

Review of the year
Nedcor Securities was independently ranked as the number one domestic equity
research house in South Africa and number four among all competitors in South Africa
according to the May 2003 Financial Mail survey. The research arm of Nedcor Securities
focuses on the mining and industrial sectors and has the number one ranked analysts in
the platinum, other mineral extractors and mining finance sectors, the transport sector,
and the healthcare and pharmaceutical sectors in South Africa, as reported by the
May 2003 Financial Mail survey. In addition, Nedcor Securities was ranked first in both
the resources and industrial categories for small and medium capital companies in the
same survey.

Financial performance
The financial performance of this business improved significantly. This was due to its
improved market position as well as more buoyant equity markets in the second half of
the year.

Strategy and outlook
Strengthening equity markets will boost Nedcor Securities and this business is well-
positioned to increase its share in the institutional broking market.

Jean du Plessis (55)
BCom (Hons), MBL
Managing Director: Nedcor
Securities
13 years’ service
Jean began his career in the Corporate
Finance Department of the Bank of
Johannesburg. Thereafter he joined the
equity sales team at George Huysamer &
Partners. He later joined the Senekal,
Mouton & Kitshoff (‘SMK’) Equity Sales
Division where he was a senior partner. SMK
merged with BoE Securities in 1998, and
Jean became Director of Institutional Sales.
In 2000 Jean was appointed Managing
Director of BoE Securities. Since the merger
in 2002 Jean has been Managing Director of
Nedcor Securities. 
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The Retail and Wealth Management Cluster, under the leadership of Tom Boardman, was
created following the Nedcor-BoE merger. The Retail Division consisted primarily of
Nedcor businesses and Wealth Management predominantly of businesses from the
former BoE and NIB.

Following the appointment of Tom Boardman as Chief Executive of Nedcor and the
resultant restructuring of the group, Pete Backwell assumed responsibility for the cluster.

While no structural changes have yet taken place, the strategy is to align the Wealth
Management and Retail operations more closely in 2004.

These businesses serve the financial needs of individuals in South Africa and abroad,
providing credit, savings, investment, insurance and transactional products. Products
and services are marketed through different brands to attract clients across the
economic and social spectrum.

The private client and investment offerings are expected to continue to prosper, with the
main sources of growth in the years ahead being the expansion of the mid-market
strategy and a more focused approach to the mass market.

Business efficiency will be improved through the alignment of similar businesses in the
cluster, and synergies will be achieved through the integration of common back-office
and support structures.

Financial highlights and statistics
2002 2003

Headline earnings (Rm) 719 564
Total average advances (Rbn) 61 67
Impairment of advances as a % of net advances (%) 1,9 2,0
Efficiency ratio (%) 72,0 77,4
Number of employees 5 664 5 240

Pete Backwell (44)
BCom, BAcc, MCom, CA (SA),
HDip BDP, AMP (Harvard and
Insead), FIBSA
Managing Director: Retail and
Wealth Management
12 years’ service
A chartered accountant by profession,
Pete was a tax partner at Deloitte & Touche
before joining Nedbank in 1991 as Assistant
General Manager in the Tax Department.
He was appointed General Manager of the
Corporate Banking Division in 1997 and
moved to Retail Banking in 1999. He was
appointed Head of the Retail Banking
Division in 2001, and in November 2003
became Head of the Retail and Wealth
Management Cluster and joined the Group
Executive Committee.

Retail and
Wealth Management
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Lorienne Barnard (39)
BA, EDP 
Divisional Director: Strategy 
4 years’ service 

Seamus Casserly (49)
FCII (UK), ACII (UK), AMP (Insead)
Divisional Director: Nedcor Group Insurance
Brokers
4 years’ service

Anton de Souza (39)
BCompt (Hons), CA (SA), MBA, EDP (Insead)
Managing Director: Nedbank Retail
13 years’ service

Dennis Jackson (42)
BCom, MBL, CAIB (SA), SMP
General Manager: Retail Human Resources
2 years’ service

Andrew Lumsden (48)
BCom, CAIB (SA)
Managing Director: Go Banking
2 years’ service

Alistair Pearce (46)
BCom, BAcc, Dip Adv Banking, CA (SA), IEP
(Insead)
Chief Financial Officer 
7 years’ service 

June Tudhope (46)
BAcc (Wits), CA (SA) 
Divisional Director: Credit and Risk 
Joined March 2004

August van Heerden (42)
BCompt (Hons), CA (SA), Dip Adv Banking,
IEP (Insead)
General Manager: Finance
2 years’ service

Financial performance
Retail and Wealth Management’s 22% decline in headline earnings was driven by a
number of factors, including significant differences in business configurations, making
2002 and 2003 not easily comparable. 

In the Retail Division there was the inclusion of the Manager Direct (‘SME’) business in 2002
and its subsequent restructuring in 2003, the inclusion of the Cape of Good Hope Bank
(‘COGHB’) retail clients, and the inclusion of the BoE card business. Included in the 2002
figures was a substantial once-off profit (R32 million) arising from the inclusion of the
Nedcor Financial Planning business in the Old Mutual bancassurance joint venture.
From 1 January 2003 Nedcor held only 50% of what was the former Permanent Bank
business, as it was merged with Old Mutual’s banking activities to form Old Mutual Bank. 

In Wealth Management there was the closure of a large portion of the BoE Life business
and the creation of a joint venture with Old Mutual in the BoE Private Clients business.
The sale of significant asset management businesses and the restructure of the unit trust
management companies as well as of the underlying funds substantially changed the
shape of the Wealth Management Division. It should be noted that the proceeds from the
various sales did not remain in the division, with the result that there were substantial
changes to the capital structure of the division. 

There was an increase in the efficiency ratio from 72% in 2002 to an unacceptable 77%
in 2003. This was due to the 16% growth in expenses (mainly arising from strong growth
in transfer pricing expenses and Old Mutual Bank), while gross operating income
increased by only 8%. 

Pete Backwell
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Retail and
Wealth Management

Retail Banking
Target market and activities
Retail Banking is a client-centric business that provides the full spectrum of products and
services to individuals, from personalised banking services to the high-income segment,
to entry-level transactional banking. Target markets are clearly identified and the
appropriate products and services are delivered to each segment.

Each of the businesses in Retail Banking focuses on a specific client need, including
private banking, personal banking, financial planning, insurance broking and credit
management. Joint ventures are utilised to broaden the distribution network and extend
access to the client bases of alliance partners.

Review of the year
The division is mid-way through the implementation of a five-year strategic plan, which
was adopted in 2001, and is currently in a transitionary phase as it moves to complete
the plan by 2006.

Nedbank has good penetration of the upper-end of the retail market. However, the share
of the high-value transactional banking market, which generally reflects the size of the
branch network, is below that of the major competitors as the strategy has been to focus
on branch distribution in the major urban areas. The division’s share of current account
business is underweight, and this presents a growth opportunity.

Client satisfaction, which is closely monitored and assessed by an independent research
house, showed an encouraging improvement over the year. The client satisfaction
measurement increased from 62,6 in 2002 to 65,2 this year, and the target has been set
at 70 for next year.

Sales-based productivity levels in the branch network have doubled over the past year.

Merger-related activity was completed, with the COGHB having been integrated into
Retail. Manager Direct, the call centre business serving the small and medium enterprise
segment, was integrated into Retail Banking and significantly restructured.

A fully integrated credit application scorecard system was introduced for credit cards,
which resulted in improved service levels. This client-centric scoring model will be
extended to current account and homeloan products during 2004.
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Retail Banking was accredited with the highest standards in staff development in the
annual Investors in People awards. Particular focus has been placed on organisational
transformation and people development, with substantial investment in staff training
during the year. A balanced scorecard performance measurement system has been
introduced to align remuneration with performance.

Two awards were received from the Office of the Banking Adjudicator for excellence in
client communication. Local and international awards were received for staff
communication, specifically related to the organisational transformation referred to above.

The changing governance and compliance environment necessitated extensive staff
training and client education as the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act, the
Financial Intelligence Centre Act and the Money Laundering Act were introduced.

Financial performance
The Retail Division had a disappointing year, with headline earnings decreasing by 21%
in 2003. Net interest income (‘NII’) was in line with 2002, while the margin reduced by
0,75% in 2003 mainly due to the substantial growth in fixed deposits raised to provide
the group with liquidity over the 2002 year-end period and well into 2003. The interest
rate risk associated with these deposits was not hedged and the interest rate risk was
the reason for the NII remaining flat on good balance sheet growth. Non-interest revenue
growth of 17% was inflated by about R86 million due to the migration of the BoE card
book, which was included only for six months in 2002. Increased exchange commission,
strong growth of Nedcor Group Insurance Brokers and current account pricing increases
were the major drivers of NIR.

Expense increases in the core business were well contained, with lower than expected
marketing costs and a 4% reduction in headcount. The overall growth in expenses was
mainly due to growth in expenses transferred from other divisions of 16,5%, driven by
the substantial growth in the cost of technology projects and the funding of the projects.
This resulted in a 4% increase in the division’s efficiency ratio.

The bad-debt expense decreased by 8,8% and adjusted provisions (after removing the
Edcon book effect of R46 million and the annual charge for BoE Card) increased slightly.

The average balance sheet grew by 12%, driven by a 16% increase in mortgage loan
growth. Although small in the asset mix, credit cards declined by 23% (mainly due to the
Edcon book being terminated in the third quarter of 2002). Client liabilities grew at 14%,
with a small increase in current account growth (due to the low growth in the
transactional banking base) and strong growth of fixed deposits (including R1,8 billion of
COGHB migrated funds).



All aspects of the merger and reconstruction project were completed on schedule and
the merger synergies, although not substantial in Retail, met expectations. There has
been continued investment in the alliances, particularly Pick ’n Pay Go Banking.

Strategy and outlook
The banking sector will need to adapt to the changing environment of low interest rates
and low inflation, and this will have a distinct impact on how business is transacted.
Expense management and profitability monitoring will be key in this environment.

The integration of Peoples Bank and NBS into Retail Banking will facilitate the
implementation of a single, coherent strategy across the group’s retail banking brands.

Retail Banking has developed a strong client service and productivity platform which,
together with the integration of the other retail businesses, positions the division to
reduce the cost-to-income ratio substantially of the combined businesses.

Retail alliances
Go Banking
This alliance between Nedbank and Pick ’n Pay offers convenient and value-for-money
financial services to the middle-income market. This is achieved by combining the bank’s
expertise and technology with Pick ’n Pay’s customer-friendly brand, loyal customer
base and national store footprint.

Go Banking continued to grow its account base in 2003, increasing the number of
accounts by 23% and total deposits by 25%. Total transactions increased by 60%. The
quality of the book has also improved, with non-interest revenue per account increasing
by 14%. Total account revenue – margin income and transaction revenue – grew by 94%
for the year.

The aim is to grow this business to achieve critical mass. There are a number of customer
acquisition and usage initiatives in place which, together with Pick ’n Pay’s positive
growth trends, provide a positive outlook for Go Banking.

Old Mutual Bank
Old Mutual Bank, a joint venture between Nedcor and Old Mutual Finance Limited, a
subsidiary of Old Mutual South Africa, has a national network of 46 branches and attracts
business from some 4 000 Old Mutual-accredited insurance intermediaries. The target
client base is the more than three million Old Mutual clients in the middle-income market
who already have a relationship with Old Mutual Bank, but who are not existing
Nedcor clients.
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A comprehensive retail product range, including savings accounts, deposits, homeloans,
vehicle finance and credit cards, is offered by Old Mutual Bank, while selected Old Mutual
insurance and investment products have also been added to the range.

The 46 branches were rebranded from Permanent Bank, and client retention among the
former Permanent Bank clients has been high. Old Mutual Bank has built on the high
service levels of the former Permanent Bank and boasts an exceptional service record,
measured independently against top performers globally.

Old Mutual Bank has seen strong growth on both the asset and liability side of the
balance sheet. Deposits grew by 12,3% and retail assets by 51%. Sales generated
by intermediaries have been increasing monthly, but need to grow more rapidly in the
year ahead.

The combination of a small, low-cost, and well-positioned branch network, together with
a market-dominant intermediary force and access to a client base of several million,
places Old Mutual Bank in a favourable position to grow earnings strongly in 2004.



Jacqui Bennett (36)
BCom (Hons), CAIB
Head of Finance and Strategy
10 years’ service

Andrew Culbert (43)
CFA®, FILPA, APFPP
BoE Life Assurance, Head of BoE Private
Clients (KwaZulu-Natal)
16 years’ service

David Macready (44)
BCom (Hons), CA (SA), SEP (Harvard)
Nedcor Retail Investments
6 years’ service

Clive van Horen (37)
BCom, CA (SA), PhD (Economics)
BoE Private Clients
4 years’ service

Mark Smith (39)
BA (Hons), HDE, SMP
Head of Human Resources
6 years’ service
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Nedcor Wealth Management
Target market and activities
Nedcor Wealth Management has been restructured into three business units that cater
for the financial planning needs of individuals: 
• BoE Private Clients specialises in private banking services, investment management,

stockbroking and fiduciary services for high-net-worth individuals. Holistic solutions
are offered by skilled private bankers, allowing clients to receive a personalised solution
through a single source. Internationally, these services are provided by Gerrard Private
Bank, and the division also operates a fiduciary services business offshore, Fairbairn
Trust Company.

• Nedcor Retail Investments offers a range of collective investment schemes, with a
‘best-of-breed’ approach to fund management. Internationally, investment products
are also managed according to a multimanager approach.

• BoE Life Assurance provides credit protection products to individuals for homeloans,
overdrafts, credit cards and movable assets.

Review of the year
2003 was a year of consolidation as the division focused on merger-related integration.

BoE Private Clients successfully merged BoE Private Bank, Syfrets Trust Company,
Nedbank Syfrets Private Bank Wealth Management, Old Mutual Trust, FTNIB Private
Client Asset Management and BoE Personal Stockbrokers into one business. The
consolidated unit has a common infrastructure, a high service and advice platform, and
a growing balance sheet. BoE Private Clients is now the largest private client asset
manager in the country, with funds of more than R18 billion under management.

Following the acquisition of African Harvest Management Company in May 2003 Nedcor
Retail Investments merged this business with the group’s four unit trust companies – BoE
Unit Trusts, NIBi Unit Trusts, FTNIB Unit Trusts and Nedbank Unit Trusts – to form Nedcor
Collective Investments. A consolidated range of 24 funds was launched in November,
comprising actively managed, passively managed and managed solution ranges.

BoE Life Assurance shifted its focus in line with a joint venture agreement with Old
Mutual, and now provides comprehensive credit protection primarily through the Nedcor
retail distribution platform.

Gerrard Private Bank remains at the core of the division’s international growth strategy in
targeting high-net-worth individuals. Gerrard was voted the Best Offshore Private Bank
by International Investment (in association with Standard & Poor’s) in the Offshore Fund
& Product Awards for the second consecutive year. Following the sale by Old Mutual plc
of UK-based Gerrard Limited, it is likely that Gerrard Private Bank will be rebranded in
the near future.
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NIBi International Trust Company and BoE Trust Company were redomiciled from the Isle
of Man to Guernsey and 100% of Fairbairn Trust Company was acquired in November
2003. It has been a tough year for the offshore trust businesses, with the tax changes
and amnesty resulting in a loss of business.

The attractiveness of offshore jurisdictions has come under review during the past year,
and new legislation has had a strategic impact on a number of our offshore entities. This
includes legislation on exchange control and tax amnesty, as well as European tax law
changes, making the historic sheltering of profits in offshore structures less appealing,
and the tightening of the regulations and greater international intolerance to non-
disclosure have resulted in client uncertainty.

There are negotiations under way for the sale of Chiswell Associates and Stenham
Gestinor.

Financial performance
Nedcor Wealth Management increased headline earnings by 2,6%. Net interest income
grew strongly, but non-interest revenue was below expectations, as depressed local and
international equity markets in the earlier part of the year impacted negatively on
management fees on investment products. The growth in the international operations
was in line with expectations, but the 24% strengthening in the rand/sterling exchange
rate diluted international earnings on translation. 

The efficiency ratio was unchanged, as expenses were tightly controlled and benefited
from merger savings. The merger generated synergy savings of R84 million – 130% of
the target for 2003 – while on the income side the division benefited from utilising the
distribution channels of the enlarged group. 

Strategy and outlook
Once the strategic review and restructuring of the international operations have been
finalised, Nedcor Wealth Management will clearly be focused on high-net-worth
individuals and the collective investment schemes markets.

Compliance remains key to providing clients with confidence in the people, products and
services, and the division will place particular emphasis on complying with the
requirements of the Financial Intelligence Centre Act (‘FICA’) and the Financial Advisers
and Intermediary Services Act (‘FAIS’).

With the integration of the past year now complete, the division plans to capitalise on
the value of the group’s distribution capability in 2004, and will aggressively promote the
restructured business in the market. Should equity markets continue to strengthen,
the division is well-placed to deliver strong earnings growth.
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Peoples Bank
Target market and activities
Peoples Bank is 70% owned by Nedcor and the balance of the equity is held by black
empowerment shareholder groups. The bank focuses primarily on the middle- to lower-
income segments of the retail market and the SME market. Products include
transactional products, such as savings and transmission accounts, investment
accounts, homeloans and microloans. In addition to this, Peoples Business Division
provides a full suite of products to its SME business banking clients.

Review of the year
The integration of the component businesses into Peoples Bank is proceeding well, and
all merger targets and synergy benefits have been achieved. The migration of the NBS
clients is scheduled for completion during the second half of 2004. The retention of
the NBS deposit base has exceeded expectations, with the liability book growing from
R6,3 billion to R7,2 billion over the past year.

Peoples Bank became the first bank in South Africa to be awarded the Investors in
People standard for the entire organisation, rather than specific divisions only.

Financial performance
Peoples Bank headline earnings decreased by 93% from R302 million to R20 million. Net
interest income increased by 45% to R1 149 million and non-interest revenue increased
by a substantial 82% to R515 million. However, expenses increased by 108% to
R1 159 million (of which R401 million relates to costs of the new businesses included in
the bank for the first time), resulting in the efficiency ratio softening from 51,8% to 69,7%
in 2003. The main contributory factors to the expense increase were costs incurred to
enhance risk management, to maintain the value of the properties-in-possession portfolio,
to increase brand awareness, and to set up governance and corporate structures.

Although bad debts as a percentage of advances have remained consistent, the bad
debt charge for the year has increased by 58% compared to 2002.

Non-margin income to gross income has improved from 25% to 31% following the
merger. The structure of the deposit book of the merged entities has limited the reduction
in margin following the interest rate cuts to 0,4%. 

Financial highlights and statistics
2002 2003

Headline earnings (Rm) 302 20
Total average advances (Rbn) 9 13
Impairment of advances as a % of net advances (%) 14,3 6,7
Efficiency ratio (%) 51,7 69,6
Number of employees 1 345 2 027

Maduke Lot Ndlovu (52)
DipLR, MAP, EDP, AMP (Harvard)
Chief Executive: Peoples Bank
11 years’ service
Lot is Non-executive Chairman of
Community Growth Management Company
Limited, Lafarge South Africa (Proprietary)
Limited, Dudula Resources Investments,
Vunguza Investments and NestLife
Assurance Corporation Limited. He is also a
non-executive director of Nampak Limited,
the South African National Roads Agency,
and Mutual and Federal Insurance Company
Limited. Lot is a member and Vice-chairman
of the Council of the Technikon
Witwatersrand and a member and trustee of
the Business Trust (Job Creation), November
Ten Charities, Hope In Victory for HIV/Aids
Patients and the Independent Commission
for Remuneration of Public Office-bearers.
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Hassim Akoob (46)
BCom, ADP (UCT)
Head of Retail Banking
20 years’ service

Lindiwe Kubheka (45)
BCom, SGP, YMP (Insead)
Head of Inmarket Banking
3 years’ service

Alan Mukoki (43)
CAIB, SEP (Wits), SEP (Harvard),
EDP (New York)
Executive Director: Risk Management
and Monitoring
10 years’ service

Dumisani Ncala (54)
BA (SocSci), PMP, MAP, SEP (Wits)
Head of Human Resources
17 years’ service

Craig Nelson (39)
Dip Acc, CA (SA), EDP, SEP (Harvard)
Head of Finance
12 years’ service

Lora Rossler (45)
BA
Head of Corporate Affairs
4 years’ service

Victor Sandamela (53)
BCom (Hons), CAIB, MAP, SMDP, EDP (GIBS)
Head of Product and Channel
15 years’ service

Strategy and outlook
The ongoing strategy is to reposition the bank into the middle market, while at the same
time renewing the focus on the lower-income market. The core areas of focus in the year
ahead will be: 

Retail
• Aligning joint ventures with strategy.
• Extending distribution and reach of multipurpose branches.
• Diversifying product offering (including smartcards) and enhancing cross-selling.
• Refining the inmarket strategy.

Business
• Pursuing specific niches within target segments: 

– BEE deals.
– Procurement funding.
– Infrastructure financing.
– Vehicle finance.
– Deposits from major institutions, government and parastatals, based on

differentiation and Nedcor Group support.

The shareholders of Peoples Bank have agreed to the integration of Peoples Bank into
the Retail Division. Through the integration, Nedcor seeks to achieve greater critical
mass, cost efficiencies and enhanced returns to shareholders. Based on the agreement
entered into between Nedcor and the BEE consortia that owns 30% of Peoples Bank,
which is pending regulatory approval, the banking licences will be consolidated and the
minority shareholders moved up to group level. This will have a direct impact on the
strategy of Peoples Bank, which the group is currently reformulating. 
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Capital One/Peoples Bank
lending alliance
The alliance has continued to focus on building a responsible, yet profitable, lending
business serving the country’s underbanked segment. The aim is to serve the emerging
middle-class market by improving access to credit and offering value-based products.

The microlending market has started to show signs of improvement following the turmoil
of the past two years that has hampered growth and dented the credibility of the industry.
The introduction of the National Loans Register and affordability calculated by the Micro
Finance Regulatory Council (‘MFRC’) will improve credit risk management and should
prevent overindebtedness in future.

Focus areas in the year ahead include controlled growth in new accounts, capitalising on
the enhanced credit scoring ability as well as on opportunities among the existing client
base, and a renewed emphasis on collections.

Financial performance
The bank adopted a conscious strategy to reduce its exposure to the high-risk
microlending market. While this has resulted in improved risk metrics, it has had an
impact on the levels of non-margin as well as margin income. 

The Capital One/Peoples Bank lending alliance, although still loss-making, has delivered
a year-on-year improvement in pretax income. The alliance is now profitable on a monthly
basis, and is expected to produce a profit in 2004.



JD Group/Peoples Bank alliance
Banking products are distributed through a network of Peoples Bank-branded points
of presence in 143 stores of the JD Group, including Joshua Doore, Bradlows and
Russells. The JD Group has over 1,2 million active debtor customers in the middle- to
lower-income market segments.

The alliance provides unsecured short-term loans, which are administered by Capital One
through its lending alliance with Peoples Bank.

Financial performance
The past year proved challenging for the alliance as the channel was negatively impacted
by the tightening of the credit policy associated with the Peoples Bank term lending
product in the aftermath of the near collapse of the microlending market in 2002. Sales
volumes were further affected by the withdrawal of a debit order loan product in the
previous financial year.

Operating expenses have been reduced by 12,5% and underperforming sites have been
closed. The business has been consolidated over the past year, is currently trading
cautiously and will look to rebuild its client base in a controlled manner.

The alliance will leverage more effectively off the JD Group’s infrastructure of over
900 stores countrywide.
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As part of the restructuring of the group that took place late in 2003, the former
Technology and Operations Division was split into Group Business Innovation (‘GBI’) and
Group Operations.

In 2003 the delivery of technology-related projects continued apace, with a substantial and
increasing portion of the division’s innovation capacity being dedicated to the merger and
reorganisation (‘M&R’) process. More than 390 000 hours were spent on this project.

Notable milestones were the migration of COGHB and 65 000 BoE Business Bank clients,
together with the consolidation of BoE point-of-sale, ATM and cash centre operations, plus
consolidation of the overall network. Innovation achievements included migration-enabling
homeloan system changes, the establishment of a dedicated testing environment, SAP
integration, migration of Cashbank and NBS insurance policies and the completion of Pep
Dual infrastructure and Market Trader.

2003 saw the commissioning of Nedcor’s multicurrency and multilanguage card-issuing
platform in Switzerland. This integrated VISA, American Express and MasterCard Europe
card solution was deployed at Swisscard, and successfully commissioned in the middle of
the year. Some 1,3 million cards were converted.

Barry Hore (43)
BCom, AMP (Harvard)
Managing Director: Group
Business Innovation
21 years’ service
Barry joined Nedcor in 1983 and spent the
next eight years in the Corporate Division,
where he pioneered Nedbank’s Corporate
Electronic Banking business. In 1991 he was
appointed Head of the Information
Technology (IT) Division. Seven years ago the
Processing Division was combined with the
IT Division to form Technology and
Operations (‘T&O’). Barry now heads Group
Business Innovation.
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Overview
Group Business Innovation (‘GBI’) was established in January 2004 to maximise the
competitiveness, growth and profitability of the group’s products, processes and
technological solutions. Its main business streams are Innovation Management, Project
Management and IT Investments.

Innovation Management consists of Product, Process, and Technology Innovation as well
as International Card Processing. Innovation provides mission-critical technology
solutions to the group to ensure the health of its information systems and technology
infrastructures and that they are managed in line with the stated strategic direction and
the agreed migration plans. Product focuses on increasing the competitiveness and
profitability of the group’s products within local and international markets. Process drives
productivity improvements throughout the group by continually analysing and
reengineering processes. International Card Processing’s first international business
process outsourcing to Swisscard (a joint venture between Credit Suisse and American
Express in Switzerland) is now in full production. A number of new international
opportunities are being explored.

Project Management includes Programme Management, which manages the execution
of all programmes and projects within GBI and across business clusters. It also provides
oversight of the bank’s recovery programme and the M&R project. GBI is also
responsible for managing Nedcor’s properties by providing property management
services to the group to ensure the efficient allocation of its capital with regard to fixed
assets as well as for procurement to optimise the group’s third-party spending to ensure
efficiency and effectiveness and to enable BEE procurement in line with the Financial
Sector Charter. A review of our property portfolio is under way, as is a review of our
procurement policies and practices.

Objectives for 2004
• Delivering on the merger commitments.
• Focusing on product profitability.
• Improving innovation project delivery capability.
• Further progressing our international card-processing strategy.

John Cruickshank (47)
CA (Aberdeen, Scotland)
Director: Programme Management and
GBI Communications
20 years’ service

André Meyer (53)
BCom, AEP
Director: Technology Innovation
11 years’ service

Harry Wilson (50)
CA (SA), BCom, CISA
Director: Group Process
8 years’ service

Sydney Gericke (45)
BCom (Hons), MCom, CISA, EDP (Insead)
Director: Group Product
15 years’ service

Jerome Frey (44)
BSc and Certificate of Merit (Neuchatel,
Switzerland)
BSc (Civil Engineering), BSc (Hons) (Project
Management) (Swiss Federal Institute of
Technology, Zurich, Switzerland),
SFMP (Insead)
General Manager: Bank Recovery Programme
12 years’ service

Glenn Smith (46)
BSoc Science
General Manager: International Card
Processing
7 years’ service

Ingrid Hindle (39)
CA (SA)
General Manager: GBI Finance and
Measurement
14 years’ service

Hendrik Swanepoel (41)
CA (SA)
General Manager: GBI Risk
10 years’ service

Tony Macrae (41)
BA (Psychology), BA Hons (Industrial
Relations), MBA
General Manager: GBI Human Resources
2 years’ service

Justin Kretzschmar (33)
BEcon
General Manager: IT Investments,
Procurement and Property
3 years’ service
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Overview
Group Operations provides information technology and operational and administrative
processing services to the Nedcor Group, its brands and alliances throughout southern
Africa, as well as computer operations services and support to Swisscard in Zurich,
Switzerland. Group Operations employs over 8 800 staff and consists of seven main
components: Computer Operations; Call Centre Operations; Central Operations;
Technical Operations; Branch Operations; Human Resources and Communications; and
Finance, Risk and Compliance.

Group Operations provides branch management and administrative support in four
regional business units: East Gauteng; West Gauteng; Western Cape; and KwaZulu-
Natal. These four business units are made up of a total of 27 geographical regions across
southern Africa, which contain 585 branches across all of the group’s brands. Nedcor
operates a sales/service business model in its branches whereby Retail is responsible for
sales and Group Operations for the service component in branches.

Group Operations provides direct services to end-clients, eg tellers, enquiries and call
centres, based on service level agreements between Group Operations and the internal
divisions/clusters of Nedcor. Swisscard is supported offshore in Zurich by an IBM-outsourced
agreement, while software and applications support is provided from South Africa.

Call Centre Operations provides support for client queries, product information,
outbound telephone sales and a remote client transaction platform. This is accomplished
through the group’s Nedcor Client Care Centre (‘NCCC’) based at Braampark,
Johannesburg and Kingsmead, Durban. Group Telephony Operations also falls under
Call Centre Operations and handles, monitors and routes all internal and external
telephone calls throughout the group.

There are four main payment processing areas within Central Operations: transaction
and cheque processing; securities and custodial services operations; credit card and
payments operations, together with credit card authorisations; and the administration of
global payments and settlements, which includes electronic settlements and SWIFT
operations and settlements.

Technical Operations supports the group’s software in terms of its technology infrastructure
and includes technical support, support and maintenance, systems security, business
support, deployment of software, information centre and distributed system support.

Len de Villiers (48)
BA, SAIM, MAP (Harvard),
Dipl EDP, GITI (Insead)
Managing Director: Group
Operations
11 years’ service
Len has 28 years' experience in the IT
industry, having begun his career in 1976
with IT general management positions at BP,
Metro Cash & Carry and Gencor (Kanhym).
He joined First National Bank as General
Manager: IT Division, in 1985, followed
by three years as Managing Director of
Microdata and an executive director at
Datakor Limited. In 1993 he joined Nedcor
as General Manager: IT Division, and
progressed to General Manager: Central
and Branch Operations in 1996. Len was
appointed Managing Director of Group
Operations in 2003.
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Computer Operations is responsible for all the hardware components of the group's
technology infrastructure. These include data centres, front-end delivery services
(workstations), networks, servers and IT change and problem management. Also included are
all self-service channels, ATMs, SSTs, corporate electronic banking, internet banking, point-
of-sale devices as well as the management and distribution of cash to and from branches.

Group Operations was responsible for the majority of merger and reorganisation (‘M&R’)
benefits and savings that were realised in 2003.

Objectives for 2004
The following are the objectives of Group Operations:
• closer alignment and operational integration with Retail and Wealth Management,

Nedbank Corporate and Nedbank Capital clusters;
• assisting with client retention during the critical M&R process;
• continued emphasis on ensuring the stability of our processing environment during the

integration;
• greater use of local and international benchmarks to better gauge the quality of

services delivered;
• exploring rationalisation opportunities with Old Mutual in South Africa;
• integrating 585 branches across five brands into a reduced branch footprint under one

brand;
• consolidating multiple data centres into two data centres following the merger; and
• implementing effective business continuity infrastructure, systems and processes for

call centres and Treasury.

Ernest Davidson (49)
MDP and AEP
Divisional Director: Branch Operations
17 years’ service

Trevor Howcroft (47)
EDP, SEP (Harvard)
Divisional Director: Technical Operations
14 years’ service

Murray Stocks (37)
BCom
Divisional Director: Central Operations
13 years’ service

Colin Wheater (50)
BCom, Dip Market Management, AMP
(Insead)
Divisional Director: Human Resources and
Communication
13 years’ service

Fred Swanepoel (40)
BCom (Hons), MCom, CISA, EDP (Insead)
Divisional Director: Finance, Risk and
Compliance
8 years’ service

Brian Kanyangarara (46)
BSc Hons (Eng), MBA
Divisional Director: Call Centre Operations
5 years’ service

Willie Scholtz (54)
National Diploma in Business Administration
Divisional Director: Computer Operations
3 years’ service
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Group Strategy and Corporate Affairs
The newly established Group Strategy and Corporate Affairs Division incorporates Group
Strategic Planning, Group Marketing and Communications, Investor Relations and Group
Mergers and Acquisitions (‘M&A’).

Group Strategic Planning is responsible for coordinating the group and divisional
strategies in order to ensure alignment and develop a competitive advantage. Through
an understanding of the markets in which Nedcor and its competitors operate, this
business unit assists in the planning, design and implementation of strategic projects to
help maximise potential opportunities and minimise future risks.

All the marketing and communications activities across the group have been integrated
into Group Marketing and Communications to align the group’s reputation and image
management, brand building and business unit marketing.

Investor Relations has assumed a more strategic role as the group moves to enhance
transparency and openness with investors and analysts. The function has recently been
outsourced to an external investor relations consultancy.

Finally, Group M&A coordinates all corporate finance activity relating to the group’s own
assets, and ensures that these processes are managed in line with best practice,
including optimisation of capital utilisation.

The amalgamation of these disciplines will ensure consistent messaging to all stakeholders,
including staff, clients, shareholders and the broader investment community.

Rob Shuter (36)
BCom, CA (SA)
Director: Group Strategy and
Corporate Affairs
4 years’ service
After completing his articles at Deloitte &
Touche, Rob joined BoE Merchant Bank.
In 1994 he joined the Corporate Finance
Division of Standard Corporate and
Merchant Bank (‘SCMB’), and was promoted
to Joint Head of Corporate Finance in
January 1997. In April 1998 he was
appointed Head of Investment Banking at
SCMB. After a brief stint at Computer
Configurations Holdings Limited, a client of
SCMB, he joined the Nedcor Group as Head
of Corporate Finance in early 2000. Rob was
appointed Director: Group Strategy and
Corporate Affairs in November 2003,
responsible for Group Strategic Planning,
Group Marketing and Communications,
Group Mergers and Acquisitions, and
Investor Relations. He is a member of the
Nedcor Group Executive Committee.
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Chief Executive’s Office
The Chief Executive’s Office oversees Group Human Resources, the Client Retention
Unit and the Financial Sector Charter Unit. The Client Retention Unit has been
established to ensure the drafting and implementation of a client-retention strategy for
Nedcor, which will monitor and drive the retention of Nedcor’s key clients. The Financial
Sector Charter Unit is responsible to ensure that the group achieves its objectives and
meets its requirements under the Financial Sector Charter.

Group Risk Monitoring
Group Risk Monitoring is responsible for managing and monitoring the key daily risks
faced by the group, including credit, market and operational risks. It is responsible for
monitoring the trading risks of the various treasuries under the M&R process. Group Risk
Monitoring aims to improve group credit risk reporting and monitoring, and is responsible
for implementing Basel II requirements. Group Risk Monitoring reports directly to the
Chief Executive’s Office.

Group Human Resources
The Group Human Resources Division is primarily involved in determining best practice,
initiating change, managing risks and developing the human resources (‘HR’) strategy
across the group.

This is managed through the following specialist functions:
• Specialised Solutions, including employee relations, employee benefit funds

administration, learning and development and learnerships;
• Risk Management, incorporating process management, risk management, compliance;
• People Analytics and Systems: comprising an HR online web-based system, management

information systems, people measurement, activity-based costing and finance;
• Reward and HR Strategy, covering remuneration services and benefits, recognition,

performance management, employment branding and HR strategy.

The team-based HR model implemented last year supports the philosophy that the
policy and process owners are housed in Group HR, and customisation and
implementation takes place in the line HR environments.

Strategic focus areas for 2004 include talent management, transformation and
organisational development, reward management, manpower planning, leveraging HR
technology, HR measurement and top leadership.

Derek Muller (51)
BCom, CA (SA)
Director: Chief Executive’s Office
18 years’ service
Derek Muller is responsible for corporate
client relations, the human resources
function, and oversight and monitoring of
the Financial Sector Charter as it applies to
Nedcor.  He also represents Nedcor on the
Banking Council of South Africa. In 2003 he
was responsible for merging and integrating
the corporate and investment banking
activities of Nedbank, NIB, BoE and
Cape of Good Hope Bank.

Ivan Mzimela (42) 
MA (Canada), Strategic Planning
Certificate (Singapore)
Director: Group Human Resources 
6 years’ service
Ivan joined Nedcor in 1998 as Assistant
General Manager responsible for Group
Human Resources Development. 
In 2001 he became General Manager,
responsible for Human Resources Strategy 
and Transformation. In December 2002 he was
appointed Director: Group Human Resources
which was followed by an appointment to the
Nedcor Group Executive Committee in
November 2003, in a similar capacity. 
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Review of operations 

Group Support Services

Transformation/Financial Sector
Charter Unit
Following the release of the Financial Sector Charter (‘the charter’) in October 2003,
Nedcor established a specialist unit to ensure that the group achieves its objectives and
meets its requirements under the charter. The charter came into effect on 1 January 2004
and the first reporting date will be 31 March 2005, in relation to the year ending
31 December 2004.

Nolitha Fakude, the Non-executive President of the Black Management Forum, was
appointed in January 2004 to head the Financial Sector Charter Unit and to coordinate
the implementation and compliance with the charter.

The group has undertaken several transformation and BEE-related initiatives, including
the formation of the Black Economic Empowerment Policy Committee (‘BEEPCO’), a
committee consisting of representatives from all divisions, to assist with the development
and management of the integrated BEE strategy. BEEPCO has formulated a set of
guiding principles for Nedcor’s participation in transformation.

Nedcor has also been actively involved through its foundation in empowerment activities,
including the support of the Black Business Council and the South African Graduates
Development Association.

Nolitha Fakude (39)
BA (Hons), Senior Executive
Programme (SEP) certificate
(Harvard/Wits Business Schools)
Director: Business Transformation
Joined January 2004
Nolitha Fakude has been President of the
Black Management Forum (‘BMF’) since
October 2003 and is the Non-executive
Chairman of the BMF Board. She previously
worked for Woolworths in various capacities
before joining the BMF as its Managing
Director in 2000. Nolitha sits on various
boards including: BMF Investment
Company; Harmony Gold Mines; Business
Partners; as well as WHEAT TRUST. She is
also a member of Council at Business Unity
South Africa (BUSA) and one of the
rainmakers for the Blue IQ project, Gauteng
province’s Department of Economic Affairs’
key technology project. 
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Group Finance
Finance has been reorganised under the Chief Financial Officer and comprises Group
Finance, the ALM Department and Capital Management. The newly integrated division will
allow management to proactively manage the business, identify and eliminate risks and to
introduce rigorous financial disciplines, which is expected to lead to greater accuracy and
accountability of divisional management and drive profitability through the group.

Group Finance will maintain responsibility for financial reporting of group results and the
implementation of financial accounting projects, such as the introduction of AC133. This
also includes the execution and monitoring of the group’s revised allocation policies of
funds transfer pricing and activity-based costing, and consistent application of risk-
based capital within the divisions.

Nedcor has restructured its ALM Department to ensure an increased level of
sophistication of modelling of the balance sheet, to understand the group’s risk profiles,
to analyse all elements of the group’s margin, and to develop and execute strategies to
achieve the objectives set by Group ALCO. In addition, the group intends to move its
interest rate and foreign currency management from the divisions where it has historically
resided into Group ALCO in order to ensure that decisions that impact upon the capital
and performance of the group are taken on an enterprise-wide basis.

The Capital Management Department has historically been responsible for the
management of non-core and non-performing large group assets that had over time
been held centrally for strategic and historical reasons and for the raising of new group
capital. Under the new structure, Capital Management will be responsible for all aspects
of group capital, including the raising of external funds, the proactive management and
reporting of the current and future capital position of the group and improving the
efficiency of the various balance sheets.

Bob Head (45)
MA (Oxon), ACA (England
and Wales)
Acting Chief Financial Officer



Corporate governance
Corporate governance philosophy, strategy and objectives
‘It is clear that good corporate governance makes good sense. The name of the game in
the 21st century will be conform while it performs.’ Mervyn King, Financial Mail

Nedcor recognises that good governance practices form an integral part of developing
and sustaining any successful business, and is committed to infusing best-practice
governance processes into all its operations going forward.

Nedcor has taken a step back to review its corporate governance regime. It is doing this
not only because of past events, internally and externally, but also in line with its intent
to embark on the road back to the top.

Nedcor’s governance strategy, objectives and structures have been designed to ensure
that the group complies with the myriad of codes and legislation, while at the same time
moving beyond conformance to governance performance.

Enhanced corporate governance strategy
During 2003 a dedicated corporate governance division, headed by Adv Selby Baqwa
SC, was established to coordinate corporate governance and sustainability
considerations for the Nedcor Group. This new team has been working closely together
with the Company Secretary and various risk management functions in promoting a
culture of good governance in the group. Nedcor is committed to complying with
regulations, legislation and supervisory codes of conduct, not only on a local level, but
also internationally, in respect of its relationship with Old Mutual, and as part of its
progress in implementing best practice. A relationship of mutual learning has been
established with Old Mutual, whereby the best aspects of each organisation are shared
in an effort at strengthening the governance processes of both companies.

Adv Baqwa has been reporting directly to the Chairman of the Nedcor Board of Directors
on all aspects related to corporate governance. He is also an official invitee to all board
and board committee meetings. In line with internal restructuring and to ensure that the
Corporate Governance Division is constantly aware of management governance and
control issues, Adv Baqwa will in future report directly to the Chief Executive, and will be
an invitee to Exco meetings.

The Group Corporate Governance Committee was also constituted during 2003 to take
responsibility for the alignment of governance and business unit functions at an
executive management level.

The division’s other responsibilities include:
• interacting with and actively supporting other key roleplayers in the group championing

corporate governance, eg the new Group Risk Division responsible for inter alia
championing enterprise-wide risk management implementation and providing audit
and compliance assurance, and the investor relations and group communications units
addressing stakeholder engagement and rising disclosure and reporting standards;
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• in conjunction with the Company Secretary, placing a strong focus on the corporate governance role, duties and responsibilities

of the board and individual directors, from both an advisory perspective, as well as compliance with best practice;

• championing and driving, with the guidance and support of the board and board committees, the principles of sustainability

and measurement of the group’s non-financial performance, resulting in the achievement of a balanced and integrated

economic, social and environmental performance (‘triple bottomline’);

• reviewing and consulting on the corporate governance practices and processes in Nedcor’s alliances, and reporting on these

to the board;

• ensuring that the Nedcor Board of Directors retains control over the strategic and business direction of the bank, while enabling

its executives to manage the bank’s operations and the achievement of the agreed strategic and business objectives;

• ensuring compliance with the strategic framework and guidelines established for the bank;

• ensuring commitment by the executive officers of the bank to adhering to corporate behaviour that is universally recognised

and accepted as correct and proper;

• ensuring a balance of interests of shareholders and other interested persons who may be affected by the conduct of directors

or executive officers of the bank within a framework of effective accountability;

• ensuring that mechanisms and procedures are established and maintained to minimise or avoid conflicts between the

business interests of the bank and the personal interests of directors and executive officers of the bank;

• ensuring the achievement of the maximum level of efficiency and profitability of the bank within an acceptable risk profile for

the bank;

• ensuring the timely, accurate and meaningful disclosure of matters that are material to the business of the bank or the interests

of the shareholders of or other persons having an interest in the bank; and

• ensuring compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Risk management strategy
Nedcor’s risk management strategy is based on the following:

• Regulation 1 of the Banks Act states that the objective of the regulations ‘. . . is to provide for the establishment of basic

principles relating to the maintenance of effective risk management’.

• Regulation 38 of the Banks Act states that the ‘. . . process of corporate governance includes the maintenance of effective

risk management’.

• Section 3 of the King Report on Corporate Governance 2002 (‘King II’ or ‘the code’) addresses and details a board’s

responsibility for designing, implementing and monitoring the process of risk management and setting risk appetite limits or

tolerance.

• The proposed new Basel Capital Accord (‘Basel II’) will enforce a significant increase in risk management sophistication and

reporting internationally.

Risk management in the financial services industry is now accepted as of fundamental strategic importance to profitability,

growth and long-term sustainability. It is a dynamic process that is constantly evolving.

The Nedcor Board acknowledges its responsibility for the entire process of risk management, as well as for forming an opinion

on the effectiveness of this process. Management is accountable to the board for designing, implementing and monitoring the

process of risk management, and integrating it with the day-to-day activities of the group. The Group Audit, Risk and

Compliance (‘ARC’) Committee is responsible for assisting the board in reviewing the risk management process and the

significant risks facing the group. Nedcor has adopted a comprehensive risk management strategy and

methodology, enterprise-wide risk management, which has the principles of corporate governance best practice embedded

in its foundation.
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The Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework, approved by the board, formalises
the management of risk throughout the group. The implementation of this in 2003 has
progressed successfully.

A Red Risk Report has been developed as a tool to assist in achieving good governance.
It represents a focused view of the issues that require attention, raising concerns around
these, as well as the steps being taken to address them. This form of risk reporting
strongly supports the move towards greater transparency in reporting and will assist in
the resolution of management governance issues. The content of the report bears
testimony to the fact that the Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework is working,
and that a culture change towards enterprise-wide risk management is permeating
throughout the organisation.

The Basel II requirements are being dealt with by way of a comprehensive Basel II
compliance plan, which will further enhance the risk management process. Groupwide
roadshows and workshops have been held to explain the practical implications of
Basel II to staff. A team of experts from the United States, the United Kingdom and
continental Europe has been contracted to ensure that the rollout takes place in
conformance with international best practice.

See the risk management section of this report for a more detailed discussion.

Enhanced internal audit and compliance governance functions
Two key roleplayers within the corporate governance framework of the bank are Group
Internal Audit and Group Compliance.

Group Internal Audit
Group Internal Audit supports the activities of Group Risk. A formal charter is in place to
regulate the functions of the Internal Audit Division. Internal Audit plays an essential
independent assurance and monitoring role. A direct reporting line to the Chairman of
ARC, access to the Chairman of the Board as well as the Chief Executive, and regular
reporting to board and committee meetings ensures the effectiveness of the internal
audit process. On an operational level, there is a reporting line to the Group Chief Risk
Officer to ensure the integration of risk management and audit functions. An audit plan
for internal audit is also in place, which is based on the risk assessments and issues
raised at board and committee meetings that are being addressed. Integration of the
Nedcor and BoE Internal Audit Divisions has been completed successfully. Internal Audit
has responsibility for coordinating the implementation of the risk identification and
assessment methodology (‘Barnowl’) throughout the group, and for the control risk self-
assessment process.

Internal Audit has dedicated teams that perform the internal audit functions for Nedcor’s
subsidiaries and joint ventures. Audits are conducted throughout the various business
units at 12-, 18- or 24-month intervals, depending on the risk profile of the business unit,
with high-risk areas being audited on an annual basis.

Internal Audit is working closely with the Corporate Governance Division to ensure that
any audit issues of an ethical or governance nature are made known to that division
for follow-up.
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Group Compliance
The compliance function is an essential part of the internal control structure, having responsibility for the management of

regulatory and reputational risk. A comprehensive enterprise-wide compliance framework has been developed in line with the

requirements stipulated in section 60A of the Banks Act, read with the provisions of Regulation 47, and is being rolled out.

The Group Compliance Department is a fully independent function that has been strategically disseminated into various

geographical areas to ensure optimal levels of compliance within the business operations of the group on both a local and

international level. The function works very closely with all group and divisional compliance functions that have been established

within the group’s business operations.

While the divisionally dedicated Group Compliance Officers have direct reporting responsibilities to the Chief Compliance

Officer, the respective dedicated compliance officers within the business operations of the group have dual reporting lines to the

heads of their respective business divisions and the Group Compliance Function for purposes of ensuring independence and

objectivity in managing potential and realised compliance risks.

The Chief Compliance Officer reports formally to the ARC on a regular basis and has unrestricted access to the Chairman of the

ARC and meets on a monthly basis with the Chief Executive, as well as reporting on an ongoing basis to regulatory bodies such

as the South African Reserve Bank. The department ensures compliance with all applicable laws, codes and internationally

accepted best practices in the compliance arena, including taking responsibility for monitoring new developments in this regard.

Internal control
An essential part of the board’s responsibility is reviewing the effectiveness of internal control, making use of the monitoring

processes within the company. This is carried out through the risk committee structure within the Nedcor Group. This, together

with the associated responsibility for reviewing periodically the effectiveness of such internal control, is formally acknowledged

by the head of each business unit once a year. Regulation 39(4) of the Banks Act requires that a board of directors annually

reports to the Registrar of Banks on the adequacy of internal controls, adherence to these, maintenance of ethical standards,

any material malfunctions and whether a bank will continue as a going concern.

Relationship with Old Mutual plc
The relationship between Nedcor and its parent company, Old Mutual plc, has strengthened over the past year, as evidenced

by Old Mutual’s support for the recovery programme, the granting of the R2 billion loan, the secondment of Bob Head as acting

Finance Director, and its commitment to take up rights in the forthcoming rights issue. The relationship has now been formalised

through an agreement that outlines the manner in which the two companies will conduct their relationship. This agreement can

be obtained from both companies and is available online at www.nedcor.co.za.

Nedcor’s King II implementation plan
Nedcor fully subscribes to and supports the code and has developed a comprehensive implementation and monitoring plan to

meet its requirements and recommendations. This plan incorporates the corporate governance requirements of the Regulations to

the Banks Act, the recommendations of the Myburgh Report and the combined code on corporate governance. The plan has been

approved by the board and its implementation is monitored by the Directors’ Affairs Committee.

The Nedcor Group is already in substantial compliance with the code. The main area of work in progress during 2003

was integrated sustainability reporting. Although not fully compliant, significant progress has been made in this regard

(a separate Sustainability Report is available) and this will continue to be a major focus for 2004, coordinated by the Corporate

Governance Division.
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The Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework referred to earlier was designed to

incorporate all relevant aspects of the code. The only areas of anticipated non-

compliance with the code in Nedcor, which the board is satisfied do not impair the

governance system or perceptions of it, are as follows:
• Both the current Chairman of the Nedcor Board, and the Chairman designate, Warren

Clewlow, are non-executive directors, but are not independent directors, as defined by
the code, by virtue of the fact that they also serve on the board of the group’s holding
company, Old Mutual plc.

• Chairmen of the following board committees are non-executive, but not independent
directors, as defined by the code:
– Group Market Risk Committee (Michael Katz); and
– Directors’ Affairs Committee (Warren Clewlow).

Myburgh Report on Corporate Governance in the Banking Industry
The Myburgh Report found that South African banks were committed to adherence to
and application of high standards of corporate governance, and that the corporate
governance of the banks was sound. Nedcor is generally in compliance with the Myburgh
recommendations, and has integrated these into its King II implementation plan to ensure
compliance is monitored by the Directors’ Affairs Committee and Nedcor Board on an
ongoing basis. The one area where the recommendations were not previously met is
board size, but this has now been addressed – please refer to the board of directors
section.

Corporate governance framework
Nedcor’s corporate governance framework incorporates a full range of governance
objectives, a delineation of responsibilities at board, board committee, group executive
committee and management level, and the identification of champions and key functions
for corporate governance integration into all Nedcor’s operations. The interaction
between executive management and non-executive directors, and the significant
emphasis, resources and structure given to independent executive management
functions to champion corporate governance on a day-to-day basis and proactively
assist the board, board committees and individual non-executive directors with
corporate governance responsibilities are key features of achieving an effective
governance process.

Formalised corporate governance objectives
The board has formalised its corporate governance objectives going forward, which are
listed below.

The board annually assesses and documents whether the process of corporate
governance implemented by the group successfully achieves these objectives,
measured as part of the Regulation 38(5) Report on the State of Corporate Governance
at Nedcor.
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The board’s corporate governance objectives are:
• maximum level of efficiency and profitability of the group within an acceptable risk profile;
• implementation of the group’s strategy and compliance with the strategic framework of the group;
• commitment by executive officers of the group to adhere to corporate behaviour that is universally recognised and accepted

as correct and proper;
• balancing the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders, who may be affected by the conduct of directors or executive

officers of the group, within a framework of accountability;
• establishing and maintaining mechanisms to minimise or avoid potential conflicts of interest between the business interests

of the group and personal interests of directors or executive officers;
• timely and accurate disclosure of matters that are material to the business of the group or the interests of stakeholders;
• finding the correct balance between conforming with governance constraints and performing in an entrepreneurial way;
• achievement of a balanced economic, social and environmental performance and implementation of a best-practice corporate

citizenship framework;
• efficient and effective functioning of the Enterprise-wide Risk Management Framework; and
• compliance, in substance, with the provisions of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct of the King Report on

Corporate Governance (‘King II’), the Banks Act Regulations, other sources of corporate governance best practice and
requirements of Nedcor’s holding company, Old Mutual plc.

The board of directors
Role and composition
Nedcor has a unitary board structure comprising 20 directors. Of these, nine are considered to be independent non-executive,
as defined by King II, seven non-executive and four executive directors. Twenty seven per cent of the directors are black generic
in terms of the Financial Sector Charter definitions.

The Chairman of Nedcor, Chris Liebenberg, who will reach the mandatory retirement age this year, will be retiring, after more than
50 years’ service with the group, at the time of the annual general meeting (‘AGM’) of shareholders in May. Warren Clewlow,
currently the Deputy Chairman, will succeed Mr Liebenberg.

It is the group’s intention that in future only the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer will be executive directors on
the board.

In line with this policy, Executive Directors Barry Hore and Derek Muller, who retire by rotation and are eligible for reelection as
directors at the AGM, will not be making themselves available for reelection. Executive Directors Izak Botha and Stuart Morris
have both elected to take early retirement with effect from 31 May 2004, and stepped down from the board on 23 February 2004.

In accordance with the review process referred to above and in line with recommendations made by the Corporate Governance
Division in its Regulation 38(5) Report of 2003 the board will be reduced from 20 to 17, which aligns the group more closely with
the governance requirements of King II and the recommendations of the Myburgh Report. The board will then consist of nine
independent non-executive directors, six non-executive and two executive directors. Thirty five per cent of the directors will be
black generic in terms of the Financial Sector Charter definitions.
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Of the seven current non-executive directors, six, including the Chairman and Chairman
designate, are disqualified as independent by virtue of the fact that they also serve as
directors on the board of the group’s holding company, Old Mutual plc. The non-
executive directors all have a high degree of integrity and credibility, and the strong
independent composition of the board provides for independent and objective input into
the decisionmaking process, thereby ensuring no one director has unfettered
decisionmaking powers.

The directors come from diverse backgrounds and bring to the board a wide range of
experience in commerce, industry and banking. The directors have access to
management, whenever required.

Board appointment
During 2003 a board appointment policy was approved to formalise the procedures
for appointment of directors to the Nedcor Limited and Nedbank Limited Boards,
in line with the recommendations of King II, The Banks Amendment Act, and the
amendment to the JSE listing requirements, as part of Nedcor’s commitment to following
high standards of corporate governance in all its operations and management structures.

Board appointments are conducted in a formal and transparent manner by the board as
a whole, assisted by the Nedcor Directors’ Affairs Committee. Any appointments to the
Nedcor Board are made taking into account the need for ensuring that the board is large
enough to provide a wide range of skills, knowledge and expertise, the necessity of
achieving a balance between skills and expertise and the professional and industry
knowledge necessary to meet the group’s strategic objectives, and the need for ensuring
demographic representativity in terms of race and gender.

In general, directors are given no fixed term of appointment, while executive directors are
subject to short-term notice periods. A service contract has been agreed for the
Chief Executive, the terms of which are considered to provide a proper balance of duties.
Mr Boardman’s service contract is with effect from 10 December 2003 and requires a notice
period of six months under most circumstances. An executive director is required to retire
from the board at age 60, while a non-executive director is required to retire at age 70.
Reappointment of non-executive directors is not automatic. Executive directors are
discouraged from holding more than one directorship outside the group.

Board charter
The board has a formal written charter that has been updated in respect of legislative
requirements, local and international codes of conduct, including King II, and best
practice.

The main functions of the board covered by the charter are:
• determining the overall objectives for the company;
• developing strategies to meet those objectives in conjunction with management;
• formulating company policies;
• rating the company’s own performance;
• appointing a chief executive for the company; and
• evaluating the performance of the company’s directors.
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The charter also formalises the policies regarding board membership and composition, board procedures, the conduct of
directors, risk management, remuneration, board evaluation and induction.

Strategy
The board is responsible to the shareholders for setting the strategic direction of the group through defining objectives and key
policies together with top management, which are then cascaded throughout the organisation. Stringent investment and
performance criteria are determined and defined by the board. These are regularly monitored through business plan reviews,
key operational and management performance indicators, economic policies and trends, annual budgets and major capital
expenditure programmes, significant acquisitions, disposals and other transactions, as well as criteria important to Nedcor’s
relations with its primary stakeholders and its reputation and conduct as a good corporate citizen.

This is supported by a schedule of matters reserved for the board to try to ensure that the directors maintain full and effective
control over the group of companies, specifically regarding significant strategic, financial, organisational and compliance
matters. The board is accountable to Nedcor’s shareholders for exercising leadership, enterprise, integrity and judgement in
directing the organisation to achieve prosperity in the interests of all the group’s stakeholders.

Board committees
The board committees listed below have been operating successfully during 2003 to assist the board in the discharge of its
duties and responsibilities.
• Group ARC Committee
• Group Remuneration Committee
• Group Credit Committee
• Group Market Risk Committee
• Directors’ Affairs Committee
• Social and Environment Committee
• Strategic Innovation Management Committee

The Nomination, Chairman’s and Corporate Governance Committees were merged to form a Directors’ Affairs Committee, in
line with the new Banks Act amendments and recommendations of various best-practice codes. Consideration is now being
given to merging the Social and Environment Committee with the Directors’ Affairs Committee. This process of rationalisation
will ensure that the non-executive directors are not stretched beyond their means, and that they are able to utilise their time
more effectively, not only at board, but also at committee level.

Each of the board committees has formal written terms of reference that are reviewed on an annual basis and effectively
delegates certain of the board’s responsibilities, which are monitored by the board to ensure it retains effective control over the
operations of the organisation.

Details of the composition, meetings and key terms of reference, as well as the key risk areas for the monitoring of which the
board is responsible, are addressed in the corporate governance framework and second layer of the Enterprise-wide Risk
Management Framework.

During 2003 a formal board evaluation process commenced to assess the effectiveness of the board, as well as that of the
various committees. Questionnaires were completed by the directors and their comments were collated and reported to the
board and the committees to ensure constant refinement of the governance structure and responsibilities. The board is satisfied
that the board committees have effectively discharged their duties and responsibilities in 2003. The board committee structure
is also supported by a structure of group executive management committees.
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Chairman and Chief Executive
In line with the requirements of a myriad of best-practice codes, the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive are separate. The board is presently led by the Chairman, Chris
Liebenberg, and the executive management of the group is the responsibility of the Chief
Executive, Tom Boardman.

This clearly accepted division of responsibilities at the helm of the company ensures a
balance of authority and power, so that no one individual has unrestricted
decisionmaking powers.

Company Secretary and director development
All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, as well
as the Corporate Governance Division, who are responsible for ensuring that board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are fully observed. Moreover, the board
has agreed and established a procedure in furtherance of its duties whereby directors
may obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the company.

New directors are informed of their duties and responsibilities by way of an induction
course that is run by the Company Secretary and other experts on board effectiveness,
corporate governance and banking/technical information. The induction also ensures
that the directors are familiar with the bank’s senior management and strategies. Briefing
of the board takes place on an ongoing basis to ensure that members are kept up to date
with local and international developments, technology issues, risk management and
corporate governance.

Succession planning
Considerable emphasis is being placed on succession planning at executive and senior
management level by the board. Detailed and intensive planning is conducted through
the Chairman’s Office in consultation with the Directors’ Affairs and Remuneration
Committees. The Chief Executive is required to report regularly to the board on the
group’s management development and employment equity programmes.

Remuneration
The board’s Group Remuneration Committee consists of non-executive directors only. In
addition, the Chairman and four of the other five members are independent, as defined
by King II.

A separate remuneration report, commencing on page 86, covers all the corporate
governance aspects and disclosure with respect to remuneration of executive directors.

Corporate governance report

ANNUAL REPORT 03

72



Personal share dealings
Nedcor has adopted a formal policy and set of rules for personal-account trading, which are based on current legislation and
international best practice. These rules prohibit directors and employees from dealing in Nedcor shares during defined closed
periods prior to the announcement of interim and final results or in any other period considered sensitive.

All personal-account trading is subject to authorisation by the independent group compliance function. Such dealings also
require the prior approval of an individual’s senior. Any non-compliance with policy is reported to the Group ARC Committee by
the Group Chief Compliance Officer, and disciplinary action is taken.

All dealings by directors in Nedcor shares are advised to the Listings Division of the JSE, as dictated by the JSE listing
requirements, and such information is published through the Securities Exchange News Service (‘SENS’). These dealings are
also reported at the quarterly board meetings.

The group has an insider-trading policy to assist directors and affected employees with their commitment towards maintaining
a culture of integrity, adhering to legislative requirements and enforcing zero tolerance of crime.

Financial statements and external review
Going concern
The directors of Nedcor confirm that they are satisfied that the group has adequate resources to continue business
for the foreseeable future. These assumptions are recorded at the time of the approval of the annual financial statements by the
board. For this reason the Nedcor Board continues to adopt the going-concern basis for preparing the financial statements.

Directors’ declaration
The directors of Nedcor confirm and acknowledge that:
• it is the directors’ responsibility to prepare financial statements that fairly present the state of affairs of the company at the end

of the financial year, and the profit or loss and cash flows for that period;
• the auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented;
• adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal control and risk management have been maintained;
• appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, have been used

consistently, except as otherwise disclosed; and
• applicable accounting standards have been adhered to or, if there has been any departure in the interest of fair presentation,

this has been disclosed, explained and quantified.

External auditors
The group’s joint external auditors are Deloitte & Touche and KPMG Inc. The report of the independent auditors on page 126
sets out the responsibilities of the external auditors with regard to reviewing the financial statements and the group’s compliance
with both statutory and accounting standard requirements. The external audit is structured to provide sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The audit review also considers the
external auditors’ support of the directors’ statements on going concern and adequacy of the internal control environment.
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The external auditors provide other services to Nedcor through their consulting divisions.
A policy, in line with that of Old Mutual plc, regarding the provision of non-audit services
by the group’s auditors was passed during 2002. A process has been put in place
between management and the external auditors to ensure that the guidelines, requiring
approval by the Finance Director, Chief Executive or ARC Committee, depending on the
amount of fees involved, are adhered to and monitored by the ARC Committee. The total
fees for non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2003 provided by Deloitte &
Touche and KPMG was R41 million, which amounts to 44% of the total audit and non-
audit fees of R93 million. These consulting services focused mainly on the merger and
reorganisation process, AC133 project, a VAT review and change management initiatives.

Relations with shareholders and other stakeholders
Nedcor is committed to communicating in a transparent manner with all its stakeholders
to ensure that their needs and concerns are addressed within the approach of the bank.
Share owners specifically, as well as the other stakeholders, are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting and other meetings as vital communication forums. Clients
of the bank are also communicated with by way of letters and statements through the
post, flyers, information within the branch network, and the internet. Employees are
briefed on developments through regular business communications and emails, and by
way of a comprehensive intranet.

Nedcor code of ethics and organisational integrity
Nedcor is committed to organisational integrity and high standards of ethical behaviour
in its dealings with all the group’s stakeholders. Failure to maintain ethical standards may
result in disciplinary action.

The Ethics Project Team has been tasked to develop and implement a dedicated
campaign to implement the revised code of ethics, raise awareness among employees
and introduce an ethics management programme that will, among other issues, measure
and report on compliance to the Nedcor Code of Ethics. The code of ethics was
distributed throughout the organisation for comments, and is closely aligned with the
Nedcor values.

A governance barometer survey of the organisation is currently being undertaken in
conjunction with the launch of the revised code of ethics to identify and address any
areas of concern within the organisation.
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Code of Banking Practice
Nedcor subscribes to the Code of Banking Practice of the Banking Council of South Africa. This code governs Nedcor’s conduct
regarding relationships with authorities, clients, competitors, employees, shareholders, local communities and other primary
stakeholders. The group has in place appropriate procedures and mechanisms to ensure that all elements of the code are
adhered to fully. The Nedcor Group also works constructively with the Ombudsman for Banking Services to ensure that client
complaints are resolved appropriately and timeously.

Political contributions
Nedcor fully supports the South African democratic system, but does not contribute to individual political parties. The group’s
stance is apolitical, a principle that extends to not funding projects that are specifically undertaken under the auspices of
political parties.

Internet site
Nedcor’s internet site (www.nedcor.co.za) has extensive information on the group, its annual, preliminary, interim and
sustainability reports and the price of its shares. It also provides a regular update on business developments and other matters
of interest in relation to the Nedcor Group.

Sustainability reporting
Nedcor has issued a separate sustainability report in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (‘GRI’) guidelines, and
taking into account the recommendations of King II.

Occupational health and safety
Nedcor is committed to ensuring the highest health and safety standards and complies with all aspects of the Occupational
Health and Safety Regulations as a minimum standard. These aspects are managed by Nedcor Forensic and Protection
Services, ensuring 1 482 staff members received health and safety training during 2003.

More information on these aspects can be found in the Sustainability Report.

Board meetings
In 2003 the board met 13 times. It is policy for the board to meet frequently, and a formal schedule of matters is required to be
submitted to the board on the basis of an annual work plan. Additional or other matters of significance to Nedcor and the group
are required to be brought to the board’s attention timely, and in a number of instances this has required the board to convene
outside the scheduled plan of meetings.
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2003 attendance record: board and board committee meetings for Nedcor Limited and Nedbank Limited 

Nedcor Nedcor Nedcor Nedbank Nedbank Nedbank Chairman’s Remuneration
Limited Limited Limited Limited Limited Limited Committee Committee

Board Board Board Board Board Board
pre- ad hoc pre- ad hoc

sched sched

Number of meetings 13 8 5 11 7 4 6 10

Directors Status

CJW Ball x 12/13 8/8 4/5 10/11 7/7 3/4 9/10

TA Boardman * 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

IJ Botha * 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

WAM Clewlow # 11/13 7/8 4/5 9/11 6/7 3/4 6/6

RG Cottrell x 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4 5/6

BE Davison x 9/13 7/8 2/5 8/11 6/7 2/4

N Dennis x 8/13 7/8 1/5 7/11 6/7 1/4 7/10

B de L Figaji x 8/13 6/8 2/5 8/11 6/7 2/4

BJS Hore * 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

PG Joubert1 # 6/7 5/5 1/2 6/6 5/5 1/1 2/2 7/7

MM Katz * 12/13 8/8 4/5 10/11 7/7 3/4

RCM Laubscher2 * 10/12 6/8 4/4 9/10 6/7 3/3

MJ Levett # 12/13 8/8 4/5 10/11 6/7 4/4

CF Liebenberg # 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4 6/6 10/10

JB Magwaza x 8/13 5/8 3/5 8/11 6/7 2/4 8/10

ME Mkwanazi x 7/13 5/8 2/5 8/11 5/7 3/4 4/6

SG Morris * 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

DGS Muller * 13/13 8/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

ML Ndlovu * 12/13 7/8 5/5 11/11 7/7 4/4

PF Nhleko # 2/12 1/8 1/4 3/10 2/7 1/3

TH Nyasulu x 11/13 7/8 4/5 9/11 6/7 3/4

JVF Roberts # 11/13 7/8 4/5 9/11 5/7 4/4

AA Routledge3 * 12/13 8/8 4/5 10/11 7/7 3/4

CML Savage x 10/13 7/8 3/5 9/11 6/7 3/4

JH Sutcliffe # 11/13 7/8 4/5 10/11 6/7 4/4 6/6 7/10

Committee members

MJ Leeming

CC Parker

GF Richardson

GS van Niekerk

* Executive 1 Retired – 28 July 2003
# Non-executive 2 Retired – 8 December 2003
x Independent non-executive 3 Retired – 31 December 2003
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Group Group Group Strategic Credit Group Group Group Group
Audit, ARC ARC Innovation Committee Social Nomination Corporate Market

Risk pre- ad hoc Management and Committee Governance Risk
and sched Environment

Compliance

12 8 4 4 4 4 7 4 4

12/12 8/8 4/4 4/4

11/12 8/8 3/4 6/7 3/4

12/12 8/8 4/4 4/4 7/7 4/4

7/12 4/8 3/4 4/4

4/4

9/9 6/6 3/3 2/2 2/2

7/7 2/4

3/4 4/4 4/4 7/7 4/4 4/4

3/4 4/7 4/4

1/1 2/4

2/3 3/4

9/12 7/8 2/4

3/4 3/4

7/7 3/4

3/4

2/4

4/4 3/4 4/4

2/4
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Nedbank Limited Directors 
As at 1 March 2004

The full names, ages, nationalities (if not South African), business
addresses, qualifications, occupations and profiles as well as Nedcor
Board Committee memberships and shareholdings in Nedcor/Nedbank
of the directors are set out below.

Christo Ferro Liebenberg (69) 
(Non-executive Chairman) (reappointed 1996)
Business address: Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road,

Sandown, 2196
Qualifications: CAIB (SA), FIBSA, AMP (Harvard), DCom(hc)
Occupation: Chairman, Nedcor

Chris is the former Minister of Finance in the South African
Government of National Unity. He is a career banker, having joined
Nedbank in 1952 and a previous Chief Executive of Nedcor Limited,
Chairman of Nedbank Limited, as well as a director of Old Mutual plc,
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (SA) Limited, Mutual & Federal
Insurance Company Limited and Macsteel Holdings Limited. He also
is a previous Chairman of the Commonwealth Expert Group on
Protecting Against Volatile Capital Flows and a member of the
International Advisory Councils of INSEAD, Fontainebleau and World
Economic Forum, Davos.

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 31 462 beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 135 000 beneficial indirect

Warren Alexander Morten Clewlow (67) 
(Deputy Chairman and Chairman designate)
(Non-executive) (appointed 2000)
Business address: Barlow Park, Katherine Street, Sandton, 2199
Qualifications: OMSG, CA (SA), DEcon(hc)
Occupation: Chairman, Barloworld

Warren is Deputy Chairman of Nedcor. He is also a non-executive
director and Chairman of the Compliance Committee of Old Mutual plc.
He has been Chairman of Barloworld since 1991. He was previously
Chairman of the State President’s Economic Advisory Council and
Chief Executive of Barloworld and has managed many of its diverse
divisions. He is also a non-executive director of Sasol Limited,
Rustenburg Wines (Pty) Limited, Chairman of Pretoria Portland
Cement and Deputy Chairman of Old Mutual Life Assurance Company
(SA) Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 2 000 beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Prof Michael Mervyn Katz (59) 
(Non-executive Vice-chairman) (appointed 1997)
Business address: Edward Nathan & Friedland (Pty) Limited, 

4th Floor, The Forum,
2 Maude Street, Sandown, 2196

Qualifications: BCom, LLB, LLM (Harvard Law School),
LLD(hc)

Occupation: Corporate Law Adviser and Consultant

Michael is Non-executive Vice-chairman of Nedcor and Chairman of
Edward Nathan & Friedland (Pty) Limited. He is also Chairman of the
Commission of Inquiry into the Tax System of South Africa and the Tax
Advisory Committee, as well as an honorary professor of Company
Law at the University of the Witwatersrand.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Group Market Risk Committee
Group Credit Committee
Group Finance Oversight Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 3 000 beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 475 000 beneficial direct 

105 000 non-beneficial indirect

Thomas Andrew Boardman (54) 
(Chief Executive) (appointed 2002 as Director and 10 December 2003
as CE)
Business address: Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road,

Sandown, 2196
Qualifications: BCom, CA (SA)
Occupation: Chief Executive, Nedcor Limited and

Nedbank Limited

Tom is Chief Executive of Nedcor Limited and Nedbank Limited. He
was formerly Chief Executive of BoE. Previous directorships include the
Banking Council, Boardmans and Sam Newman Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Credit Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 85 000 non-beneficial indirect

Christopher John Watkins Ball (64) 
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: 4 Gardenia Lane, Constantia, 7800
Qualifications: Dip Iuris, MA
Occupation: Director of companies

Chris was previously a director of BoE and BoE Management, and is a
director of Canal Walk Limited and Century City Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Group Finance Oversight Committee
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Group Remuneration Committee
Chairman: Group Credit Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 204 non-beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 144 300 beneficial indirect
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Richard Gray Cottrell (68) 
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: 18 Rivonia Road, Illovo, 2196
Qualifications: CA (SA), FCA, SEP (Stanford)
Occupation: Director of companies

Rick is a director of African Oxygen Limited, Afrox Healthcare Limited,
Glenrand MIB Limited, Imperial Bank Limited and Iscor Limited. He was
previously Executive Officer of the Financial Services Board, Deputy
Chairman and managing partner of Coopers & Lybrand and member of
the then Policy Board for Financial Services and Regulation. He is also
past President of The South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee
Group Finance Oversight Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 367 beneficial direct
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 29 363 non-beneficial indirect

Barry Erskine Davison (58)
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: 14th Floor, 55 Marshall Street,

Johannesburg, 2001
Qualifications: BA (Law and Economics)
Occupation: Chairman of Anglo American Platinum

Corporation Limited

Barry is Non-executive Chairman of Anglo American Platinum
Corporation Limited, an executive director of Anglo American plc,
Chairman of Anglo American plc Ferrous Metals Division, a non-
executive director of Kumba Resources Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 18 700 beneficial indirect

Nicholas Dennis (57)
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002) (British)
Business address: 85 Bute Lane, Sandton, 2196
Qualifications: BCom (Hons)
Occupation: Chief Executive, Tiger Brands Limited

Nick is Chief Executive of Tiger Brands Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Market Risk Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 47 500 beneficial direct

Prof Brian de Lacy Figaji (59) 
(Independent non-executive)  (appointed 2002)
Business address: Peninsula Technikon, Symphony Way,

Off Modderdam Road, Bellville, 7530
Qualifications: BSc (Eng), Dip Tertiary Educ, Med, Ded

(Coventry University (UK)), DLitt
(California State University, Hayward, USA)

Occupation: Vice-chancellor of the Peninsula Technikon

Brian is Principal and Vice-chancellor of the Peninsula Technikon and
member of the Council on Higher Education.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Credit Committee
Group Remuneration Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Barry John Stuart Hore (43) 
(Executive) (appointed 1999)
Business address: Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road,

Sandown, 2196
Qualifications: BCom, AMP (Harvard)
Occupation: Chief Executive: Group Business Innovation

Barry is Chief Executive of Group Business Innovation and a director
of Nedcor. Other directorships include Internet Solutions (Pty) Limited,
VISA International CEMEA Region and Net 1 Applied Technology
Holdings Limited.

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 98 423 beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Michael John Levett (64) 
(Non-executive) (appointed 1987)
Business address: Old Mutual plc, 5th Floor, Old Mutual Place,

2 Lambeth Hill, London, EC4V 4GG
Qualifications: BCom, FFA, FIA, DEconSc(hc)
Occupation: Chairman, Old Mutual plc

Mike is a director of Nedcor. He is Chairman of Old Mutual plc and
Deputy Chairman of Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited. He
is also a director of Barloworld Limited, Old Mutual South African Trust
plc and SAB Miller plc.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 12 333 beneficial direct
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0
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Johannes Bhekumuzi Magwaza (61) 
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 1996)
Business address: 6th Floor, Corporate Place, Gardiner Street,

Durban, 4001
Qualifications: BA, MA (Warwick, UK)
Occupation: Director of companies

JB is a director of Nedcor and Non-executive Chairman of Peoples
Bank Limited. He also serves as a non-executive director of Dorbyl
Limited and is on the boards of the Development Bank of Southern
Africa and Ithala Development Finance Corporation Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Group Remuneration Committee
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 105 beneficial direct
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Mafika Edmund Mkwanazi (50) 
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2000)
Business address: 74 Saddlebrook Estate, 

Kyalami, Midrand
Qualifications: BSc (Maths), BSc (Elec Eng)
Occupation: Director of companies

Mafika is a director of Nedcor and was Group Chief Executive of
Transnet Limited. Directorships include Freight Logistics International
Inc, Transnet Limited and SAA.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Chairman: Strategic Innovation Management Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee
Group Finance Oversight Committee
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 103 beneficial direct
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 10 000 beneficial indirect

Derek Geoffrey Sidney Muller (51)
(Executive) (appointed 1999)
Business address: Nedcor Sandton,135 Rivonia Road,

Sandown, 2196
Qualifications: BCom, CA (SA), AMP (Harvard)
Occupation: Chief Executive of Nedbank Corporate

Derek is a director of Nedcor and Net 1 Applied Technology Holdings
Limited. He represents Nedcor on the Banking Council, and is a
member of the Banking Council Transformation Committee.

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 118 035 beneficial direct
21 057 beneficial indirect

Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Maduke Lot Ndlovu (52) 
(Executive) (appointed 1993)
Business address: 100 Main Street, Johannesburg, 2001
Qualifications: DipLR (Unisa), MAP (Wits), EDP (North Western

USA), AMP (Harvard Business School)
Occupation: Chief Executive, Peoples Bank Limited

Lot is a director of Nedcor and Chief Executive of Peoples Bank
Limited. He is Non-executive Chairman of Africa Milestone Investments
Limited, Lafarge South Africa (Pty) Limited and the Environmental &
Infrastructure Development Trust. He is a director (non-executive) of
Nampak Limited, the South African National Roads Agency and the
Community Growth Management Company Limited. He is the Deputy
Chairman of the Council of the Technikon Witwatersrand. He is a
member/trustee of the Business Trust (Job Creation), the Multicultural
Development Programme (Deloitte & Touche) and St Anthony’s Adult
Education Centre. He is a member of the advisory board of the Otis
Elevator Company and serves as a commissioner for the Office of the
Banking Adjudicator. He is the patron of Midrand Graduate Institute
Milpark Business School.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Credit Committee
Group Market Risk Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 12 846 beneficial indirect
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Phuthuma Freedom Nhleko (43) 
(Non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: 3 Alice Lane, Sandton, 2196
Qualifications: BSc, MBA
Occupation: Group Chief Executive, MTN Group Limited

Phuthuma is the Group Chief Executive of MTN Group Limited, a
director of Johnnic Holdings Limited and former Executive Chairman
and founding member of Worldwide African Investment Holdings
Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Strategic Innovation Management Committee
Group Market Risk Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0
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Thembalihle Hixonia Nyasulu (49) 
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: 8 Queen Mary Avenue, Umbilo, 4001
Qualifications: BA (Hons), EDP (Cambridge, Mass),

IPBM (IMD, Lousanne)
Occupation: Strategic marketer

Hixonia is the sole proprietor of TH Nyasulu & Associates, a marketing
and research company. She is Chairman of DBSA Development Fund
and a director of AECI Limited, Anglovaal Industries Limited,
Development Bank of Southern Africa, Sheer Quality (Pty) Limited,
Tongaat-Hulett Group Limited, Tongaat-Hulett Sugar Limited, Turner
Logistics (Pty) Limited and immediate past Chairman of the Ithala
Development Finance Corporation Board.

Nedcor Group Committees:
Group Credit Committee
Group Remuneration Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Julian Victor Frow Roberts (46)
(Non-executive) (appointed 2001) (British) 
Business address: Old Mutual plc, 5th Floor, Old Mutual Place,

2 Lambeth Hill, London, EC4V 4GG
Qualifications: BA (Hons) (Stirling), FCA
Occupation: Group Financial Director, Old Mutual plc

Julian is the Group Financial Director of Old Mutual plc. He is also a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and a
member of the Association of Corporate Treasurers. Other
directorships include Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited,
Old Mutual (US) Holdings and King & Shaxton. He was previously the
Group Finance Director of Sun Life and Provincial Holdings plc.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Group Finance Oversight Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0

Cedric Michael Langton Savage (65)
(Independent non-executive) (appointed 2002)
Business address: Amanzimnyama Hill, Tongaat, 4400
Qualifications: BSc (Eng), MBA, ISMP (Harvard)
Occupation: Chairman, Tongaat-Hulett Group Limited

Cedric is Non-executive Chairman of the Tongaat-Hulett Group Limited
and a director of AECI Limited, Delta Motor Corporation (Pty) Limited,
Datatec Limited, Harmony Gold Mining Limited, Hulett Aluminium (Pty)
Limited and Kumba Resources Limited.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Strategic Innovation Management Committee
Group Market Risk Committee
Group Remuneration Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 5 863 beneficial direct
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 212 700 beneficial indirect

James Harry Sutcliffe (47)
(Non-executive) (appointed 2001) (British)
Business address: Old Mutual plc, 5th Floor, Old Mutual Place,

2 Lambeth Hill, London, EC4V 4GG
Qualifications: BSc
Occupation: Chief Executive, Old Mutual plc

Jim is a fellow of the Institute of Actuaries. He is also Chief Executive
of Old Mutual plc. Previously he was Deputy Chairman of Liberty
International Property and Financial Services and Chief Executive of
Prudential UK.

Nedcor Board Committees:
Group Remuneration Committee
Directors’ Affairs Committee

Nedcor Ltd ordinary shares: 0
Nedbank Ltd preference shares: 0



Sustainability and good governance form one of the central pillars of the Chief Executive,
Tom Boardman’s, five-point plan for revitalising the company’s fortunes. This includes a
culture of transparency with a responsible approach to stakeholder reporting, as
epitomised by the production of the first Sustainability Report for the group in 2004.

The Global Reporting Initiative (‘GRI’) guidelines have been used as the basis for the
Nedcor Sustainability Report. A King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa
(‘King II’) implementation plan is in place for the organisation, one of the main focus areas
being broadening the scope of integrated sustainability reporting. The Nedcor
Sustainability Report has been subjected to a full audit, in the same way as the 2004
Nedcor Annual Report, by our internal auditors, and has been found to satisfy the
accounting principles of accurateness, completeness and reliability. This is the first step
towards having the report independently assessed and verified, which we shall consider
for future reports.

Nedcor recognises that sustainability considerations are particularly crucial not only for
its own long-term profitability, but as a means of ensuring greater focus on the long-term
interests of all its stakeholders. This document attempts to summarise aspects of interest
to our stakeholders, including our shareholders, clients, staff, suppliers, government and
regulators, local communities and the environment.

More detailed information can be found in the Nedcor Sustainability Report which is
available either in hard copy from the Corporate Governance Department or online at
www.nedcor.co.za.

Shareholders
Regular and transparent communication with shareholders, potential shareholders,
analysts and the financial media is important to ensure that these stakeholders are well-
informed and have a detailed understanding of Nedcor’s strategic plans and
performance. While the group acknowledges that, in recent times, it has not always
enjoyed the reputation it desired, it is committed to continuing to improve disclosure and
dissemination of information to ensure it gains credibility among stakeholders. To assist
in this process Nedcor has employed external investor relations consultants to advise it
on all its corporate communications.

The resultant restructuring of the group has led to a change in the format of the
segmental disclosure. Owing to the varied nature of the group’s business, accurate
segmental disclosure is very important to investors. The group is committed to and in the
process of refining its cost and capital allocation between units to ensure a more precise
and accurate segmental split of its businesses. This should help to explain further the
group’s performance to investors.
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Clients
Nedcor’s retail focus is on restoring client confidence in the bank, and thereby retaining client loyalty. This will also be
accomplished by undertaking cross-selling initiatives to ensure that the bank is providing a full portfolio of services to its clients.
At the same time the Retail Division recognises the need for providing banking services to a wider sector of the population, and
will target the youth market and SMEs as growth areas.

Nedcor’s corporate strategic thrusts include building on our intellectual capital and advisory capacity, as well as enhancing our
strong corporate and business banking relationships. We are maximising our regional strengths. We are focused on both the
corporate as well as the mid-market around the country. We are committed to focused growth in the African subcontinent and
international markets. We have a consistent and committed approach to financing black economic empowerment, and effective
affirmative action also has our firm commitment.

Service quality remains a priority and Nedcor subscribes to the Code of Banking Practice in all its interactions with clients. Client
satisfaction is determined internally through client surveys and externally by way of a number of external models. Nedcor
conducts 50 000 client satisfaction interviews on an annual basis.

Staff
In line with the aims and objectives of Nedcor’s overarching corporate citizenship duties, employee development and wellbeing
remain crucial imperatives. Transformation also remains an important part of our focus as the Nedcor Group moves towards a
diverse and accomplished workforce that exceeds industry norms and improves our competitive edge.

Following the merger with BoE, Human Resources reviewed the major processes and benefits offered to employees,
necessitating the alignment of human resource enterprise-wide operations and efficiency with Nedcor’s strategic intent. Group
Human Resources responsibly reduced staff headcount by decentralising some of its functions and achieving cost reductions
that resulted in a rise in productivity of 32%.

The merger and reorganisation process resulted in a R9,8 million saving being achieved. Overall staff numbers decreased by
3% from 25 640 in 2002 to 24 984 in 2003. Most of this decrease can be ascribed to natural staff attrition (a breakdown of staff
turnover can be found in the separate Nedcor Sustainability Report).

Nedcor fully endorses calls for greater voluntary commitment to upliftment initiatives and is particularly supportive of the culture
of staff participation that has developed. Our employees play their part in voluntary work through the Local Hero Programme,
Team Challenge and, very often, their own initiatives.

Nedcor recognises the gravity of HIV/Aids and the impact it has on the South African workplace as well as the economic and
social lives of our employees. The group is committed to addressing HIV/Aids in a supportive and non-discriminatory manner,
with the informed support and cooperation of all employees. With this in mind, Nedcor has developed an HIV/Aids policy to
assist management and employees in dealing with HIV/Aids issues in the workplace.
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The Financial Sector Charter
Nedcor is fully committed to achieving the ideals of transformation and empowerment in
the sector and those of the charter in particular, and has appointed Nolitha Fakude, the
Non-executive Chairman of the Black Management Forum, at an executive level to
coordinate Nedcor’s compliance with the charter.

48,5% of staff comprises previously disadvantaged employees and 19,7% of
management staff consists of previously disadvantaged. Females comprise 63% of the
total workforce.

Nedcor is committed to realigning its existing shareholding to include a meaningful
proportion of previously disadvantaged shareholders. Currently direct ownership is
exercised at operating company level where black economic empowerment (‘BEE’)
transactions include Peoples Bank, Quaystone Asset Management and Laetoli. Indirect
BEE ownership of Nedcor shares is estimated at between 12,8% and 14,9%.

An increasing focus on BEE procurement in Nedcor saw the completion of a thorough
BEE policy, the implementation of which will be accelerated in 2004 in line with the
requirements of the Financial Sector Charter. Nedcor’s spend with BEE suppliers
increased by 218% from R67,7 million in 2002 to R215,6 million in 2003. Admittedly, the
figures in 2002 did not reflect the new Nedcor, merged with BOE, whereas those of 2003
do. In terms of the charter it can be noted that BEE spend rose from 6,7% of total spend
in 2002 to 8,8% in 2003. The charter sets a target of 50% BEE spend by 2008, which
means that in 2004 Nedcor will need to accelerate its BEE spend to between 15% and
20% to meet the scorecard requirements of the charter.

Nedcor believes in a holistic BEE process and will be looking beyond the charter in
developing and integrating BEE procurement into its processes.

Government and regulators
Nedcor strives to build healthy relationships with both government and regulators.
Nedcor fully supports the South African democratic system and respects the role of
government as policymaker. However, Nedcor does not contribute to individual political
parties. The Public Sector Business Unit focuses on the financial and developmental
needs of the public sector.

Nedcor maintains a transparent relationship with its regulators. In addition to the South
African Reserve Bank, the regulators of jurisdictions within which we conduct operations
are communicated with on all pertinent issues. Nedcor complies with all the listing
requirements of the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa, and ensures ongoing
compliance on an annual basis, making the necessary adjustments to comply with listing
requirement changes.
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The community
Nedcor is committed to the communities it serves and aims at strengthening both the economy and its surrounding society
through projects that lead to job creation, improved education, welfare and health upliftment and other community development
programmes.

The majority of Nedcor’s corporate social investment activities are channelled through the Nedcor Foundation. The foundation
is considered to be an integral part of the group’s social investment activity and is funded with a contribution by Nedcor from
its net profit after tax. This previously amounted to 1,2%, but has been fixed at R42 million per annum to ensure a consistent
income, unaffected by Nedcor’s operational performance. The Nedcor Foundation has invested around R130 million in the past
four years (this excludes funding from the BoE Foundation and the Green, Sports and Arts & Culture Trusts) and has funded over
350 projects during the period under review.

The environment
The Nedcor Group recognises environmental management as an important area of corporate performance and accepts that
sustainable development is a crucial part of responsible business management. Nedcor ensures compliance with all applicable
legislation and regulations as the first step to being an environmentally responsible company.

The Green Trust sets Nedbank apart from other financial institutions by moving it from an organisation making only philanthropic
corporate social investments to one undertaking investments that make good business sense, simultaneously benefiting clients.
It has focused Nedbank’s overall sponsorship philosophy through the Affinity Programmes and also helped the bank to gain
market share. To date over R50 million has been donated to The Green Trust, over R16 million to The Sports Trust and Nedbank
has contributed significantly to the over R8 million disbursed by the Arts & Culture Trust. In 2003 environmental expenditure
totalled R5,7 million through the Nedcor Foundation, Green Trust programmes and Corporate Governance Division.



This report has been prepared by the Group Remuneration Committee (‘the committee’)
and has been approved by the Nedcor Limited Board.

Group Remuneration Committee membership and charter
The committee operates in terms of a charter approved by the board. Membership
consists exclusively of non-executive directors, and an independent non-executive
director, Mr JB Magwaza, chairs the committee (with effect from 1 March 2004).
During the year under review Mr N Dennis, an independent non-executive director,
was the Chairman of the committee until 29 February 2004 and Michael Olivier
(Managing Director: Synchrona Leadership Strategies (Pty) Limited) was again appointed
as the independent adviser to the Group Remuneration Committee.

The committee considers remuneration in its totality in an integrated and holistic manner,
thereby assisting the board in discharging its corporate governance duties related to
remuneration strategy, structure and costs.

The committee needs to meet at least four times a year, in terms of its charter, but has
met 10 times during 2003. The committee’s responsibilities include:
• determining the remuneration, incentive arrangements and benefits of the executive

directors and of certain other senior executives of the group;
• making recommendations to the board on remuneration adjustments, short and long-

term incentives for executive directors;
• reviewing, monitoring and approving principles supporting short-term incentive

arrangements for all staff in Nedcor;
• reviewing, monitoring and approving the Nedcor Group Employee Share Option

Scheme;
• succession planning for the members of the Group Executive Committee; and
• performance statements for the Chief Executive and executive directors.

The committee’s intention is to apply the guiding principles of the remuneration policy as
far as practically possible, but both the board and the committee retain the right to use
their discretion to deviate from this policy in exceptional circumstances.

Remuneration philosophy and policy
The purpose of remuneration is to attract, retain, motivate and reward high-performing
and talented staff to achieve Nedcor’s objectives. Nedcor’s philosophy is to encourage
sustainable long-term performance, at all times aligned with the strategic direction and
specific value-drivers of the business within which Nedcor operates. The remuneration
policy is fully integrated into other management processes such as performance
management, and aligned with overall group human resources policies. However, the
policy recognises differences in divisional strategies, structure, culture and the different
market segments being serviced.
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The company’s market position is median remuneration for median performance, relative to business plans and objectives, and
upper-quartile remuneration for superior performance, balanced with affordability. To maintain appropriate remuneration
competitiveness vis-à-vis the labour market, remuneration is reviewed annually and increases are effective from 1 April. Non-
managerial staff form part of a bargaining unit and annual increases granted depend on successful negotiations with the
recognised trade unions. The committee determines the total cost of increases allocated to management and executives and
provides a mandate for annual trade union negotiations.

With the integration of Nedcor, BoE, Nedcor Investment Bank and Cape of Good Hope Bank, significant work took place during
2003 to align terms and conditions of employment across the new group. Implementation occurred during three phases and as
at the end of December 2003 one common set of conditions of employment is in place.

During 2003 Nedcor also aligned the different grading structures of the previous companies into a broadbanded structure with
seven bands.

Guaranteed remuneration
Annual increases in guaranteed remuneration were linked to market-related practices as well as the comparative position of
directors’ remuneration against the external market. An overall increase in the executive directors’ remuneration bill of 9% was
approved with effect from 1 April 2003.

Retirement scheme
All executive directors are members of the Nedcor defined-contribution retirement funds, and there are no defined-benefit
scheme liabilities.

Performance bonuses
The merger between Nedcor, NIB, COGHB and BoE, who all had different incentive schemes, required a complete review of
principles supporting short-term incentive schemes. As the financial performance of Nedcor for 2003 was not in line with market
expectations and the performance criteria established, no performance bonuses were allocated to the Nedcor Chief Executive,
Chief Executive designate, executive directors and members of general management. The committee determined a
performance bonus pool for staff below general management, in the light of the results and the requirements of the group’s
recovery programme.

To ensure the retention of key critical executives in general management, a retention scheme was implemented (excluding the
Chief Executive and the executive directors). Payment is deferred to December 2004 on condition that the executive is still in
service, and not under resignation at the time of payment.

Principles supporting incentive schemes in respect of 2004 have been finalised. Group targets will be based on return on equity
and headline earnings. There will be a weighting in respect of the performance of the Nedcor Group, which applies to all levels
of staff. The divisional schemes have to align their financial targets with that of the group and an agreed threshold will apply to
all schemes, provided that this threshold represents earnings that are higher than the earnings of the previous financial year.
Bonus payments for all staff in the top band/level have to be approved by the Group Remuneration Committee.
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Executive directors’ emoluments
Remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2003, 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2001, was as follows:

Year to 31 December 2003
Retirement Leave pay Guaranteed 2003

Remu- fund contri-  compen- Other remu- Performance on 2002
neration butions sation* benefits# neration bonus*** Total % change

Name (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (%)

TA Boardman**** 2 020 207 17 168 2 412 – 2 412 36 
IJ Botha 1 486 272 31 203 1 992 – 1 992 (62)
BJS Hore 1 568 311 38 30 1 947 – 1 947 (40)
MM Katz***** 2 473 483 34 33 3 023 – 3 023 (36)
RCM Laubscher 2 407 486 116 1 929** 3 043 – 4 938 18
SG Morris 1 448 299 29 99 1 875 – 1 875 (41)
DGS Muller 1 509 323 77 142 2 051 – 2 051 (37)
LM Ndlovu 1 418 281 27 34 1 760 – 1 760 (43)
AA Routledge 1 533 300 29 19 1 881 – 1 881 (41)

Total 15 862 2 962 398 2 657 19 984 – 21 879 (33)

* Leave pay compensation: with the alignment of employment conditions, all leave allocations for management was aligned to 15 + 10 days.
Where this represented a reduction from the previous leave entitlement, compensation for this loss of benefit was incorporated into the
guaranteed remuneration package.

** Includes the termination bonus of R1,567 million, and leave payout of R328 436.
*** With effect from 2003 performance bonus payments have been aligned for disclosure purposes in this report with the year to which they

relate, ie bonuses paid in respect of the 2003 financial year will be reflected in the 2003 numbers and comparative tables have been adjusted
accordingly. The notes to the financial statements (page 169) reflect the bonus paid in the related accounting period, ie 2002 bonus paid during
the 2003 year.

**** Includes ‘back-pay’ of R138 700 for the period 15 October to 31 December of which payment is deferred to February 2004.
***** Mr Katz will retain his executive responsibilities for ENF, but effective 1 January 2004, will be a non-executive director for Nedcor Limited.
# Other benefits include medical aid, disability insurance and company car sacrifice.

Year to 31 December 2002
Retirement Guaranteed 2002

Remu- fund contri- Other remu- Performance on 2001
neration butions benefits neration bonus*** Total % change

Name (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (%)

TA Boardman* 803 133 84 1 020 750 1 770
IJ Botha** 1 398 194 207 1 799 3 500 5 299
BJS Hore 1 428 275 22 1 725 1 500 3 225 (15)
MM Katz 2 274 480 243 2 997 1 750 4 747 0,5
RCM Laubscher 2 224 430 38 2 692 1 500 4 192 (20)
MJ Leeming 592 138 51 781 – 781 (80)
SG Morris 1 273 265 124 1 662 1 500 3 162 (16)
DGS Muller 1 346 282 139 1 767 1 500 3 267 (15)
LM Ndlovu 1 283 250 35 1 568 1 500 3 068 (17)
AA Routledge 1 393 268 18 1 679 1 500 3 179 (16)

Total 14 014 2 715 961 17 690 15 000 32 690 0,1

* TA Boardman was previously an executive director of BoE. The above table reflects his remuneration from 1 July 2002, the effective date
of the merger, notwithstanding the fact that he only became an executive director of Nedcor on 1 November 2002.

** IJ Botha’s remuneration relates to the full year, notwithstanding the fact that he only became an executive director of Nedcor on
1 November 2002.

*** Bonus paid during 2003 relating to the 2002 year-end results.
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Year to 31 December 2001
Retirement Guaranteed

Remu- fund contri- Other remu- Performance 
neration butions benefits neration bonus* Total

Name (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000) (R000)

BJS Hore 1 257 250 55 1 562 2 250 3 812
MM Katz 2 289 436 – 2 725 2 000 4 725
RCM Laubscher 2 032 394 37 2 463 2 750 5 213
MJ Leeming 1 374 321 120 1 815 2 000 3 815
SG Morris 1 132 240 128 1 500 2 250 3 750
DGS Muller 1 203 255 145 1 603 2 250 3 853
LM Ndlovu 1 173 229 30 1 432 2 250 3 682
AA Routledge 1 273 246 24 1 543 2 250 3 793

Total 11 733 2 371 539 14 643 18 000 32 643

*  Bonus paid during 2002 relating to 2001 year-end results.

Termination arrangements: Mr RCM Laubscher
In connection with Mr Laubscher’s stepping down as Chief Executive of Nedcor from 8 December 2003, the following
arrangements were agreed:

Nedcor paid Mr Laubscher his guaranteed remuneration for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2003. In addition,
accrued leave (33,5 days) amounted to a payment of R328 436. A payment of R1 566 860 was paid to Mr Laubscher, of which
R548 401 was a retirement gratuity, equivalent to three months’ pensionable remuneration, which is standard policy for his
length of service. As indicated earlier, no performance bonuses were paid to the executive directors in respect of the 2003
financial year. In terms of the employee share option policy, Mr Laubscher retained his share options under the company’s
employee share option plan. All unvested options vested with effect from 31 December 2003, and Mr Laubscher has until
30 June 2005 to exercise such options, free from performance conditions. Any unexercised options will lapse after this date.

In respect of his responsibilities as Executive Director of Old Mutual plc, Mr Laubscher received his remuneration of £100 000 per
annum through to 31 December 2003. No performance bonus was paid to Mr Laubscher. The Old Mutual plc Remuneration
Committee also approved Mr Laubscher retaining his share options under the Old Mutual Share Option Plan until 31 December
2004, free from performance conditions. To the extent that options are not exercised by that date, they will lapse.

Service contracts
A service contract has been agreed for the new Chief Executive, Mr TA Boardman, the terms of which are considered by the
committee to provide a proper balance of duties and securities between the respective parties. Mr Boardman’s service contract
runs with effect from 10 December 2003 and requires a maximum notice period of six months under certain circumstances.

An executive director is required to retire from the board at age 60, while a non-executive director is required to retire at age 70.

Severance arrangements
The following formula will apply to calculating a severance package in the event that service is terminated for operational reasons:
two weeks’ guaranteed remuneration per completed year of service with no maximum plus any statutory notice requirements.

Nedcor, as part of the alignment of conditions of employment, has implemented a new policy on retirement gratuity and the
previous policy will be phased out over a period of five years. Only staff aged 55 and over, or with more than 20 years’ service
(at 1 April 2003), will continue to be eligible for this gratuity.
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Share option grants
The long-term element of remuneration will take the form of share options. Long-term incentive schemes are intended to provide
a motivation for high performers to remain with Nedcor Limited. The amount of the long-term incentive awarded depends on
the most recent performance.

Allocations of share options to new appointments are not linked to performance-based conditions. New appointments in the top
band may be awarded share options on the date of appointment, which may fall outside the formal allocation periods, subject
to ratification by the committee.

The granting of annual share options (based on job level, merit and performance) is approved by the committee acting on
recommendations from executive management. Annual share options are allocated twice a year on a date determined by the
committee. Since 2001, the vesting of annual share option allocations has been linked to the achievement of predetermined
financial targets.

Vesting criteria
The performance-based vesting criteria effective from the 2001 annual allocations are as follows:
• If the increase in compound headline earnings per share growth (excluding translation gains/losses and extraordinary items)

in the performance period (three to four years) is equal to the rate of inflation (CPI) plus 4% per annum, 50% of any allocation
will vest.

• If the increase in compound headline earnings per share growth (excluding translation gains/losses and extraordinary items)
in the performance period (three to four years) is equal to the rate of inflation (CPI) plus 5% per annum, 75% of any allocation
will vest.

• If the increase in compound headline earnings per share growth (excluding translation gains/losses and extraordinary items)
in the performance period (three to four years) is equal to the rate of inflation (CPI) plus 6% per annum, 100% of any allocation
will vest.

Fifty per cent of the options granted will vest after three years from the date of issue and the balance (50%) after four years from
the date of issue, subject to the abovementioned criteria.

Since 1996 all options have to be exercised within a maximum period of six years from the date of issue.

The current policy is that the issue price will be the ruling price of the ordinary Nedcor shares on the JSE at the close of the trading
day immediately preceding the date of issue. Where the date of issue falls over a weekend, it will move to the following Monday
with the issue price being the ruling price of the ordinary shares on the JSE on the Friday preceding the Monday.

In terms of the rules of the Nedcor Employee Share Trust, an option holder would be granted an increase in their options,
pursuant to a rights issue and at the rights offer price. These options will be granted on the same terms and conditions as the
existing options. The committee has agreed to review the rules of the Employee Share Trust during 2004.

Range of options to be allocated
The Nedcor share option policy provides guidelines for the allocation of options, either annually or on appointment. Allocations
should be made within the following ranges:

On-appointment allocations (external appointments)
Chief Executive and executive directors: at the discretion of the committee
Executive management: three to seven times the annual guaranteed remuneration
Senior management: zero to four times the annual guaranteed remuneration

Annual allocations
Chief Executive and executive directors: at the discretion of the committee
Executive management: zero to three times the annual guaranteed remuneration
Senior management: zero to twice the annual guaranteed remuneration
Management: zero to once the annual guaranteed remuneration
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These guidelines have been compared with two external remuneration surveys and compare favourably with general market
practice. Allocations made during 2003 were generally towards the lower end of the range.

Employees within three years of normal retirement date will not be eligible for the annual allocation, unless specifically approved
by the Group Remuneration Committee.

Allocations may not exceed the maximum allowed for the level without the approval of the Group Remuneration Committee.

During 2002 an unusually high number of options over shares were issued primarily due to the merger of BoE and NIB. Of the
total allocation, 326 800 were issued to executive directors, 932 467 were offered to new appointees and delegates who
attended the annual ‘New Generation Bosberaad’ and 3 496 096 were issued to management, subject to performance-based
vesting criteria. As a result of the merger with BoE, the BoE options that were ‘under water’ lapsed and a pool of 3 338 300
Nedcor options were offered to 501 former BoE managers.

Of the 2003 allocation, 152 500 options were allocated to executive directors and 2,9 million options to management as part of
the annual allocation linked to performance-based vesting criteria.

Fifty per cent of the 2001 annual allocation, ie 1,49 million options, which were linked to the attainment of financial targets, will
lapse on 31 March 2004, as the targets were not achieved in the period 2000 – 2003.

Exercising of options
Depending on the date of issue, options may be exercised as follows (within a maximum period of six to 10 years from the date
of issue):

Options allocated up to 30 June 1995 (exercise period = 10 years).

Options allocated in the period 1 July 1995 – 28 February 2001 may be exercised as follows:
• 33% of the allocation after three years from the date of the offer;
• 33% of the allocation after four years from the date of the offer;
• 34% of the allocation after five years from the date of the offer.

Share options allocated with effect from 6 May 1996 onwards need to be exercised within a maximum period of six years from
the date of offer.

Options allocated with effect from 1 March 2001 may be exercised in terms of the policy ruling as follows:
• 50% of the allocation after three years from the date of the offer;
• 50% of the allocation after four years from the date of the offer
subject to performance-based vesting criteria for annual allocations. On-appointment allocations are not subject to
performance-based vesting criteria.

Termination of employment
In the event that a participant’s employment with the group terminates:
• as a result of his/her death, redundancy or retirement by superannuation or because of ill health or for any other reason

approved by the board, such participant or such participant’s executors shall be entitled to exercise all their outstanding
options (ie both vested and those exercisable in future) within 18 months of termination, while the performance-based vesting
criteria in respect of annual options shall no longer apply;

• for any reason other than the above, or for any other reason approved by the board, such participant shall be entitled within
a period of 180 days from termination of employment to exercise all options considered vested at the time of termination, and
the agreement in respect of the remaining unvested options shall then be cancelled.

At 31 December 2003 there were 25 089 839 million Nedcor share options outstanding.
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Executive succession planning
The committee is also responsible for putting in place succession plans for the members of the Nedcor Group Executive Committee.
The Directors’ Affairs Committee is responsible for succession planning for the Chief Executive and executive directors.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration
The terms of engagement of the non-executive directors (other than the Chairman) cover a period of three years, unless
terminated by either party with the required 30-day notice period. Mr CF Liebenberg was reelected as Chairman of the Nedcor
Board in January 2004.

Board meeting fees Committee fees 2003 2002 2001
Name R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

GH Bulterman 110
CJW Ball 127 280 407 44
WAM Clewlow 194 139 333# 201 130
RG Cottrell 120 240 360
PTW Curtis 204 245
BE Davison 120 108 228 7
N Dennis 120 104 224 9
B de L Figaji 120 54 174 10
PG Joubert*** 311 400 366
MJ Levett 110 15 125 144 150
CF Liebenberg* 2 500* 1 420 1 420
JB Magwaza 110 50 160 140 132
ME Mkwanazi 110 100 210 182 173
E Molobi 83 100
PF Nhleko 120 56 176 5
TH Nyasulu 110 87 197 62
CC Parker 187 218
JVF Roberts** 110 104 214 169 150
JH Sutcliffe** 110 92 202 112
CML Savage 127 52 179 25
AJ Trahar 33
GS van Niekerk 108 125
Dr WP Venter 100 105

Total 1 708 1 481 6 000 3 612 3 457

* Included in Mr Liebenberg’s 2003 remuneration is an arrear payment of R539 853 in respect of 2002 as no salary adjustments had been
made since the 2001 review. The current remuneration will remain in force until his retirement in May 2004.

** Fees for Messrs Roberts and Sutcliffe are paid to Old Mutual plc.
*** Inclusive of NIB (R40 000).
# Deputy chairman fee: August – December 2003 included.
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Current annual fee
Nedcor Board committees R000

Nedcor Limited Board 70
Nedbank Limited Board 40
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 65
Corporate Audit Committee 30
Retail Audit Committee 30
Directors’ Affairs Committee 40**
Group Remuneration Committee 50
Group Finance Oversight Committee 30*
Group Credit Committee 65
Market Risk Committee 30
Strategic Innovation Management Committee 30
Social and Environment Committee 25
Corporate Advisory Committee 20
Retail Advisory Committee 20
Human Resources Advisory Committee 20
Pension Funds Committee 20

* A new committee established. Subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM to be held on 6 May 2004.

** The Chairman’s Committee (R25 000), Nomination Committee (R5 000) and Governance Committee (R10 000) were combined to form the

Directors’ Affairs Committee.

Chairmen of committees receive double the member fees. These recommended fees were approved by the shareholders of
Nedcor Limited and were effective from 1 January 2003. No increases were granted to the non-executive directors and the fees
will remain the same for 2004.

Other than the disclosures contained in the tables above, Nedcor has not made any payments whatsoever which are in any way
connected with any individual being a director of Nedcor Limited.

Board meeting attendance is indicated under Corporate governance report on page 76.
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Executive directors’ share options

Opening balance as at Dec 2002 Options issued during 2003
Number of Date of Issue Number of Date of Issue

Name options issue price options issue price

BJS Hore 1 900 1/3/1994 26,50
30 000 8/11/1994 35,25
30 000 6/8/1997 95,00
75 000 14/8/1998 98,75
6 200 1/7/1997 100,75

100 000 1/6/1999 125,00
25 000 15/4/2002 125,00
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20

20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

293 100 20 000

RCM Laubscher 38 000 1/3/1994 26,50
70 000 8/11/1994 35,25
50 000 6/8/1997 95,00

101 400 14/8/1998 98,75
110 000 1/6/1999 125,00
40 600 15/4/2002 125,00
43 000 6/11/2001 131,00

22 500 11/6/2003 94,00

453 000 22 500

ML Ndlovu 25 000 6/8/1997 95,00
52 700 14/8/1998 98,75
80 000 1/6/1999 125,00
25 000 15/4/2002 125,00
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20

20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

207 700 20 000

AA Routledge 38 500 14/8/1998 98,75
81 500 1/2/1998 122,80
50 000 1/6/1999 125,00
30 000 15/4/2002 125,00
22 500 31/3/2001 136,20

20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

222 500 20 000

DGS Muller 30 000 6/8/1997 95,00
66 600 14/8/1998 98,75
80 000 1/6/1999 125,00
25 000 15/4/2002 125,00
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20

20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

226 600 20 000

S Morris 55 000 15/4/2002 125,00
91 900 1/7/1999 136,00
30 000 31/3/2001 136,20

20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

176 900 20 000

IJ Botha 135 030 1/10/1997 79,50
10 000 1/4/2003 88,00

135 030 10 000

TA Boardman 126 200 2/7/2002 123,60
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00

126 200 20 000
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Forfeited during 2003 Closing balance as at Dec 2003
Number of Date of Issue Number of Date of Issue Expiry

options issue price options issue price Vested date

1 900 1/3/1994 26,50 1 900 1/3/2004*
30 000 8/11/1994 35,25 30 000 8/11/2004

30 000 6/8/1997 95,00
75 000 14/8/1998 98,75 75 000 14/8/2004

6 200 1/7/1997 100,75
100 000 1/6/1999 125,00 66 000 1/6/2005

25 000 15/4/2002 125,00 15/4/2008
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20 31/3/2007
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

36 200 Forfeited 276 900 172 900

38 000 1/3/1994 26,50 38 000 1/3/2004
70 000 8/11/1994 35,25 70 000 8/11/2004

50 000 6/8/1997 95,00
101 400 14/8/1998 98,75 101 400 14/8/2004
110 000 1/6/1999 125,00 110 000 1/6/2005
40 600 15/4/2002 125,00 40 600 15/4/2008
43 000 6/11/2001 131,00 43 000 31/3/2007
22 500 11/6/2003 94,00 22 500 1/4/2009

50 000 Forfeited 425 500 425 500

25 000 6/8/1997 95,00
52 700 14/8/1998 98,75 52 700 14/8/2004
80 000 1/6/1999 125,00 52 800 1/6/2005
25 000 15/4/2002 125,00 15/4/2008
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20 31/3/2007
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

25 000 Forfeited 202 700 105 500

38 500 14/8/1998 98,75 38 500 14/8/2004
81 500 1/2/1998 122,80 81 500 1/2/2004
50 000 1/6/1999 125,00 50 000 1/6/2005
30 000 15/4/2002 125,00 30 000 15/4/2008
22 500 31/3/2001 136,20 22 500 31/3/2007
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 20 000 1/4/2009

242 500 242 500

30 000 6/8/1997 95,00
66 600 14/8/1998 98,75 66 600 14/8/2004
80 000 1/6/1999 125,00 52 800 1/6/2005
25 000 15/4/2002 125,00 15/4/2008
25 000 31/3/2001 136,20 31/3/2007
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

30 000 Forfeited 216 600 119 400

55 000 15/4/2002 125,00 15/4/2008
91 900 1/7/1999 136,00 60 654 1/7/2005
30 000 31/3/2001 136,20 31/3/2007
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

196 900 60 654

135 030 1/10/1997 79,50 135 030 26/8/2005
10 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

145 030 135 030

126 200 2/7/2002 123,60 2/7/2008
20 000 1/4/2003 88,00 1/4/2009

146 200 –

* Holders of share options that expire during a closed period for trading by participants of the scheme are granted 14 days to exercise the options after the ending of the
said closed period.



Risk is an integral part of our business. We do not seek to avoid risk, but to understand
it properly, manage it effectively and evaluate it in the context of an appropriate reward
that should be earned. Our emphasis is on producing high-quality earnings that are
sustainable and will ultimately attract a premium rating for the Nedcor Group, while
protecting the interests of depositors and all other stakeholders. This is achieved through
innovation, excellent client service and sound enterprise-wide risk management.

Enterprise-wide risk management is about effectively integrating risk management
across an organisation’s risk universe (eg credit, market, operational, strategic risks),
business lines and operating divisions, geographical locations and legal entities.

In February 2003, the board approved the group’s Enterprise-wide Risk Management
Framework (‘ERMF’). This is the group’s framework to manage and monitor the wide
range of risks that the group faces. The design of the ERMF comprises what it calls its
‘three layers of defence’:
• independent, focused and informed involvement by the board, which is achieved

through the board committees of non-executive directors;
• clear accountability and responsibility of business managers supported by appropriate

committees on a divisional level, such as divisional credit risk and operational risk
committees; and

• independent risk monitoring at group level by Group Risk Monitoring, Group Internal
Audit and Group Compliance Monitoring.

To help the board implement and oversee the ERMF various board committees are made
up of a majority of non-executives to bring the right focus, detail, attention and
understanding of the key risks to the board. The group believes that its reliance on the
non-executive directors will lead to a high level of accountability and responsibility at all
levels of management, including the board.

The group’s second step in achieving the right culture was to assign responsibility to
management on a divisional level, making it accountable to the board committees.
Managers carry out their duties by assigning to individuals responsibility for the
management and monitoring of day-to-day risks.

The group’s final step in building its ERMF is to overlay the two-tiered risk management
process with an independent risk monitoring capability, conducted through the Group
Risk Monitoring and Group Compliance Monitoring Divisions, and supported by the
Group Internal Audit Division, each of which independently reports to the board
committees on the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management within the business
divisions and across the group as a whole.
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Responsibility and accountability for Nedcor’s risk management
The following chart is an overview of the structure of Nedcor’s risk management framework, including lines of reporting and
monitoring on a group level. These entities and their functions within the ERMF are described in more detail below.

The enterprise-wide risk management forums and responsibilities

Nedcor Board
The board is ultimately responsible for any financial loss or reduction in shareholder value suffered by the group. It is, therefore,
responsible for recognising all the key risks to which the group is exposed as well as for ensuring that the requisite risk
management culture, frameworks, practices, policies, resources and systems are in place. It is also ultimately responsible for
allocating capital to divisions in accordance with the group’s risk tolerance and appetite.

In this regard the board’s risk philosophy is to transact and maintain exposures in financial products and markets only when all
the significant risks have been adequately identified, measured, evaluated and then subsequently managed so that the risk-
reward relationship always remains within parameters acceptable to the Group Executive Committee and the board.

The board is able to carry out its risk management responsibilities through the ERMF, established for identifying, measuring,
managing, reporting and monitoring all categories of risk across the group.
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The board’s audit and risk management committees were combined in the beginning of 2003 into one committee, and named
the Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (‘Group ARC Committee’). The Group ARC Committee is supported not only
by the Group Credit Committee, but also the Group Market Risk Committee and two cluster ARC Committees established to
monitor risks within the group’s clusters. This enables the Group ARC Committee to focus primarily upon groupwide audit,
accounting and risk matters. Each of the two cluster ARCs, namely the Retail and Wealth Management ARC and the Nedbank
Capital and Nedbank Corporate ARC, monitors the risks of the respective businesses.

Group risk management
The Group Risk Monitoring Division reports directly to the Chief Executive. Its key role is to promote awareness, identification,
evaluation and monitoring of all key risks across the group. Furthermore, Group Risk Monitoring is responsible for the
implementation of the Basel II programme requirements (please see the Basel II programme on page 108).

Group Risk Monitoring focuses its resources on the management and monitoring of key daily risks of the group, such as credit,
trading and operational risk. These include:
• improving group credit risk reporting and monitoring;
• monitoring the trading risks of the various treasuries prior to and subsequent to their recent merger into Treasury, as well as

playing an important role in overseeing the successful merger of the Treasury;
• overseeing the establishment of operational risk committees and the subsequent monitoring thereof;
• implementing a group compliance monitoring framework; and
• providing internal audit services to the newly merged group.

The Basel II programme – key building blocks in developing Nedcor’s ERMF
The proposed new Basel Capital Accord (‘Basel II’) is an international framework for banking regulation and capital management.
The significant improvements in risk measurement sophistication that Basel II requires banks to adopt is essentially adapted from
best practice worldwide. Therefore Basel II is a key contributor and driver in the formulation and design of Nedcor’s ERMF.

Nedcor’s strategic approach to its Basel II programme
Nedcor’s development of its Basel II programme is an integral component of the group’s strategic recovery programme and the
group’s risk management policies and procedures. Nedcor commenced its preparation for Basel II in 2003, establishing a
Basel II Programme Office primarily to ensure that the group meets the expected compliance requirements.

In connection with the implementation of the Basel II programme, the group is moving towards an integrated approach to risk
and capital management. The group currently lacks management information systems that allow it to use funds transfer pricing,
activity-based costing and capital allocation to achieve a true and fair allocation of funding and other costs across the business
divisions. This is being actively addressed, and Nedcor intends to move in 2005 to risk-adjusted-return-on-economic capital
(‘RAROC’) as the measurement of performance and economic value across the group. This is explained in more detail in the
Basel II section on page 108.

Nedcor’s risk identification and assessment process
The group has developed and implemented a risk identification and assessment methodology and software program to identify,
classify, assess and monitor risks in the group at strategic, business and process levels.

The classification of risks and causal factors enables the creation of risk scorecards that provide management at all levels with
information on risks, levels of exposure to identified risks, and factors causing or contributing to risks. Linked to these
scorecards are detailed action plans that are tracked through a web-based risk management system. This system enables the
group to manage and monitor risk on a groupwide basis.

Risk management report
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Group ALCO and ALM
Group ALCO primarily oversees the management of liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk in the group. Group ALCO
proposes the policies for the management of these risks to the board’s Group Market Risk Committee for review and ratification.
ALCO meets at least monthly to review and approve the proposals on the strategies and policies for the management of these risks.

ALCO’s primary function is to ensure effective management of the net interest margin of the balance sheet through effective
interest rate risk management. It also establishes a management framework that allocates responsibility for managing the
various components of interest rate risk. ALCO is responsible for integrating the impact of liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk
and capital risk holistically into the interest rate risk management framework.

The restructuring of ALCO/ALM
The BoE acquisition and the subsequent merger of the banking operations of BoE, COGHB and NIB required the integration of
each bank’s ALCO and ALM Department functions, which commenced in the first half of 2003.

Significant structural progress has been made with the function of the Group ALM Department, including the reconstitution of
ALCO and the resultant reduction of its membership from 27 to eight, consisting primarily of members of the Group Executive
Committee. This has resulted in the implementation of an improved interest risk policy with defined risk limits and appetite, in
line with the group’s strategy of derisking the balance sheet. ALCO is now viewed as a strategic decisionmaking body, as
opposed to a compliance function.

The lack of a single, clearly defined methodology for funds transfer pricing was quickly identified as a critical success factor to
enable ALM risk management to function following the implementation of the ALM integration project. Funds transfer pricing will
permit the identification, measurement, and management of the interest rate risk generated by the various businesses. In addition,
the Group ALM Department now reports to the Chief Financial Officer, whereas it historically reported to the Chief Executive.

The first phase of the integration project was, therefore, aimed at dealing with this issue, and began in June 2003. The initial
funds transfer pricing margin analysis, identifying the lending spread, funding spread and the interest rate risk component of the
margin, was available in January 2004 for the domestic rand-denominated balance sheet. The second phase of the project
addresses offshore businesses and subsidiaries.

Nedcor’s key risks
Nedcor’s key risks fall into one or more of the following major risk categories:
• strategic risk;
• capital risk;
• credit risk;
• market risk;
• liquidity risk; and
• operational risk.

Nedcor also faces and needs to manage reputational risk, which cannot be managed independently of the other risks noted
above. Reputational risk is the risk that an activity, action or stance performed or taken by Nedcor or its management or other
employees will impair its image in the community and/or the long-term trust placed in the organisation by its stakeholders,
resulting in the loss of business, shareholder value and/or legal action.

The group believes that essentially all of the risks it faces may potentially impact on reputational risk, confirming the importance
of an effective ERMF and a strong corporate governance ethos for the group.
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Strategic risk
Strategic risks are the risks associated with a chosen business strategy, including business cycles, industry trends and
technological change, and comprises risks related to capital, asset and liability management, accounting, taxation and people.
Strategic risk concerns the consequences that may occur when the environment, in which decisions that are hard to implement
quickly, and to reverse, plays out with unattractive or adverse impacts.

In line with the Strategic Recovery Programme, critical management functions of financial, tax, capital and asset and liability
management have been integrated into the Group Finance Division and now report to the Chief Financial Officer. The group
believes that this will allow for enhanced financial performance and facilitate the alignment of executive strategic initiatives.

Capital risk
Risk-based economic capital allocation is at the heart of managing risk and creating value, and is a key development area for
the group going forward. This allows financial institutions to consider the risk associated with its future strategies by making it
clear which activities and divisions create or destroy value, as well as to make better operational decisions. This will result in a
better balance between risk and returns, allowing the group to achieve the best possible results within its regulatory constraints.

Risk-based economic capital allocation, including capital adequacy projection and stress-testing to facilitate proactive capital
management, are key projects within the group’s Basel II programme.

Accounting and taxation risks
Accounting and taxation risks are predominantly compliance-driven. However, they can negatively impact shareholder value if
not strategically and prudently approached. New accounting policies such as AC133 can significantly affect the group’s
management of accounting and taxation risks.

These risks are addressed at board level by the Group ARC Committee. At executive management level, the Group Executive
Committee is assisted by the recently established Group Accounting Management Committee and the Group Taxation
Committee. Both of these committees are chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, who has ultimate individual accountability.

People risk
People risk is defined as possible inadequacies in human capital. This may stem from a lack of adequate skills or knowledge, a
lack of clear consequences of meeting performance standards, a lack of alignment with strategy, a reward system that fails to
motivate properly or loss of key staff due to uncertainty following restructuring. Ivan Mzimela has been appointed to the new
Group Executive Committee as the executive responsible for Group Human Resources to head the management of this risk,
supported by strong group human resources departments at group and divisional levels. At executive level the Group Human
Resources Council is well established and reports into the Group Executive Committee.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that an asset, in the form of a monetary claim against a counterparty, may not result in a cash receipt (or
equivalent) in accordance with the terms of a contract. Credit risk in Nedcor arises mainly from various forms of lending, but
also from guarantees and unutilised credit commitments. Furthermore, credit risk includes credit risk in derivatives, country risk
and settlement risk.

Credit risk is managed based on the Group Credit Risk Framework implemented in 2003. The framework provides an integrated
and effective platform for the assessment, approval and management of credit risk with due cognisance of related governance,
monitoring and other oversight mechanisms designed to ensure compliance.

Risk management report
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An important feature of the credit approval processes within the various divisions is that for large single or large group exposures
committee-based approvals are required. When defining large single or large group exposures for the respective divisions due
consideration is given to factors such as the volume of transactions, the nature of the business, such as retail versus corporate,
as well as the complexity and riskiness of the potential engagement, as in the case of project finance.

The credit committees are predominantly chaired by independent senior officials from Group Risk Monitoring and include an
appropriate mix of experienced senior credit and business executives from the respective divisions. Exposures that exceed the
mandates of the respective divisional credit committees require, in addition to committee approval, further sanctioning by the
Group Chief Risk Officer and an appropriate independent Group Executive Committee member. The approval of the Group
Credit Committee, which consists of non-executive directors and independent consultants, is also required for exposures
exceeding the mandates of these individuals. The approvals of both the Group Chief Executive and the Group Chief Financial
Officer are required when exposures exceed 10% of Nedcor’s capital and reserves. All committee decisions are based on
consensus and no higher authority can overrule a decline decision.

In respect of the assessment and approval of credit risk, the key drivers remain the confirmation of serviceability and cash flow,
the need to understand all the risks involved, a strong preference for tangible security, not encouraging speculative loans and
ensuring appropriate risks and rewards. The early recognition of distressed borrowers and the consequent involvement of
Nedcor in restructuring the business, where appropriate, form a crucial part of minimising credit losses.

As a result of the Basel II programme Nedcor is seeking to develop best-practice internal credit rating tools and scoring models
across its banking operations. During 2003 Basel II-compliant rating tools were developed and piloted in each of the major
business segments in the group:
• corporate lending;
• middle market (SME) lending;
• commercial property lending; and
• project finance.

In addition, a project commenced within the Retail Division, and has been extended to include Peoples Bank, to develop best-
practice credit-scoring models for all retail exposures.

These efforts address approximately 75% of the group’s total advances portfolio. The remaining 25% will be addressed during
2004, together with the ongoing refinement and back-testing of the rating tools developed in 2003.

The common denominator of all rating and scoring models is the ability to rank and predict default. The rating grade that the
rating models produce is translated to a probability of default. The probability of default is the most important parameter when
measuring credit risk and is statistically determined taking into account financial, qualitative and client-specific circumstances.

Following the merger, the need for much enhanced credit risk management information systems was highlighted. This has since
been aligned with the Basel II, AC133 and other regulatory reporting requirements. Accordingly, a number of credit risk systems
projects have commenced, designed fundamentally to reengineer the origination, subsequent management and reporting on
credit. These initiatives, which will come on stream incrementally over the next 18 months, include:
• full automation of the new internal credit rating tools;
• enhanced credit data warehousing and management;
• realtime, bankwide client exposure measurement (single view of client);
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• bankwide collateral management system;
• implementation of new software across the bank to enhance the collection process; and
• automation of the redesigned credit processes under way in Nedbank Corporate.

The present internal credit risk classification system is aligned with the current regulatory reporting requirements applicable to
Nedcor. During 2004 this will be replaced in line with a new group credit methodology, and the implementation of the internal
rating-based tools and masterscale developed for Nedcor that emanate from the Basel II programme. Currently all advances are
classified into one of the following main categories:

Category Definition

(i) Standard Items that are fully current, the continued repayment of which are without doubt and for which 
or current1 full repayment is expected.

(ii) Special mention Items that are subject to conditions that, if left uncorrected, could raise concerns about timely and full
repayment and, as such, require more than normal attention.

(iii) Substandard Items that show weaknesses that could lead to probable loss, if not corrected, or in respect of which
full repayment is in doubt owing to the primary sources of repayment being insufficient.

(iv) Doubtful Items that exhibit all the weaknesses inherent in items classified as substandard, with the added
characteristic that the items are not adequately secured.

(v) Loss Items that are considered uncollectable and of such little value that the items should no longer be
included within advances.

1 Standard or current can be divided into further categories of risk, eg, AAA, AA, A, BBB, etc.

2002
Rm 2003 Restated

Non-performing advances
Non-performing loans
Mortgage advances 3 204 2 803
Instalment sales and leases 926 877
Other loans and advances 3 034 3 253
Properties in possession 1 280 1 068

Total non-performing advances 8 444 8 001
Expected recoveries 3 660 3 836

Expected loss 4 784 4 165

Ratio of impairments/provisions to advances (%) 3,3 3,3
Non-performing loans as % of advances 3,2 3,4
Properties in possession as % of advances 0,6 0,5
Non-performing advances as % of advances 3,8 4,0

Adequacy of impairments/provisions
Gross coverage (%) (impairments/provisions over non-performing advances) 87 82
Net coverage (%) (impairments/provisions over expected losses) 153 157

Risk management report

ANNUAL REPORT 03

102



ANNUAL REPORT 03

103

Advances type Classification categories – 31 December 

Properties
in

2003 Special Sub- possession
Rm Standard mention standard Doubtful Loss (PiPs) Total

Mortgage advances 77 697 1 949 2 018 1 168 2 036 84 868
Instalment sales and leases 22 338 404 205 217 709 23 873
Credit cards 2 591 195 45 180 188 3 199
Other loans and advances 99 290 782 1 446 1 472 1 194 104 184
Properties in possession 1 280 1 280

Total gross balance 201 916 3 330 3 714 3 037 4 127 1 280 217 404

% of total advances 92,9 1,5 1,7 1,4 1,9 0,6

Properties
in

2002 Special Sub- possession 
Rm Standard mention standard Doubtful Loss (PiPs) Total

Mortgage advances 68 537 2 031 3 333 1 610 1 193 76 704
Instalment sales and leases 19 011 259 93 219 658 20 240
Credit cards 2 694 117 69 480 3 360
Other loans and advances 95 535 1 147 588 1 317 1 456 100 043
Properties in possession 1 068 1 068

Total gross balance 185 777 3 554 4 083 3 626 3 307 1 068 201 415

% of total advances 92,3 1,8 2,0 1,8 1,6 0,5

Non-performing advances and impairments
Non-performing advances are defined as non-performing loans plus properties in possession. Non-performing loans
comprise those advances classified as ‘doubtful’ and ‘loss’ as per Nedcor’s aforementioned current internal credit risk
classification system.

The basis of calculation of the impairment in respect of non-performing loans changed during the course of the year following
the introduction of accounting standard AC133 as from 1 January 2003, and is expected to change again with the
implementation of IAS39. The calculation methodology now takes into account the period to recovery, which is discounted,
inclusive of future interest payments, to create the appropriate credit risk impairment.

Market risk
Market risk is the potential impact on earnings of unfavourable changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, prices, market
volatilities and liquidity. Market risks include trading risk, derivative instruments used for hedging risk in non-trading portfolios,
investment risk, exchange rate risk and interest rate risk in the banking book.

A comprehensive groupwide market risk framework has been designed and implemented to support and assist the board in its
responsibility to oversee that market risks are identified, understood, monitored, reported and managed. Governance structures
are in place to achieve effective independent monitoring of market risk via:
• independent functions within the Group Risk Division (Group Market and Trading Risk Control and Group Internal Audit);
• executive committees of the group (Group Trading and Derivatives Committee and Group ALCO); and
• board committees (Group Market Risk Committee and Group ARC Committee).



The independent market risk monitoring process is supported by a comprehensive reporting framework that creates communication
channels between independent group risk functions and operating divisions, as well as executive and board committees. Market risk
is monitored at a board level by the Group Market Risk Committee. The board has approved a market risk limit, which includes the
banking book and trading book, of 5% of capital and reserves, 2% of which represents the trading risk limit.

In terms of trading risk, market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis, and Value-at-Risk (‘VaR’) and stress
scenario analysis. Nedcor’s current limit structure is based on sensitivity analysis that measures the impact on earnings of
specified moves in interest rates, prices and exchange rates. This method of risk exposure measurement is conservative as all
market factors are assumed to move adversely at the same time. For the year ended 31 December 2003 the average market
risk exposure was 0,31% and 1,61% for the trading and banking book, respectively, of Nedcor’s capital and reserves.

The VaR risk measure estimates the largest potential loss in pretax profit over a given holding period for a specified confidence level.
The VaR methodology is a statistically defined, probability-based approach that takes into account market volatilities as well as risk
diversification by recognising offsetting positions and correlations between products and markets. Risks can be measured consistently
across all markets and products, and risk measures can be aggregated to arrive at a single risk number. The one-day 99% VaR number
used by Nedcor represents the overnight loss that has less than 1% chance of occurring under normal market conditions.

VaR methodologies employed to calculate daily risk numbers include the historical and variance-covariance approaches. In addition
to these two methodologies, Monte Carlo simulations are applied to the various portfolios on a monthly basis to determine potential
future exposure. Trading risk reserves are then created as a function of potential future exposure as well as empirical risk evidence.

While VaR captures Nedcor’s exposure under normal market conditions, scenario analysis and, in particular, stress-testing are used
to add insight to the possible outcomes under abnormal market conditions. Nedcor uses a number of stress scenarios to measure
the impact on portfolio values of extreme moves in markets, based on historical experience as well as hypothetical scenarios. The
stress-test methodology assumes that all market factors move adversely at the same time and that no actions are taken during the
stress events to mitigate risk, thereby reflecting the decreased liquidity that frequently accompanies market shocks.

For the year ended 31 December 2003

Historical VaR (99%, one day) by risk type

R millions Average Minimum Maximum Year-end

Foreign exchange 1,7 0,4 5,9 2,1
Interest rate 15,9 9,3 27,0 19,2
Equity products 6,1 2,4 15,3 9,9
Diversification (8,2) – – (11,8)

Total VaR exposure 15,5 8,1 25,4 19,4

Sensitivity exposure 45,2 17,1 79,8 63,9

For the year ended 31 December 2002

Historical VaR (99%, one day) by risk type

R millions Average Minimum Maximum Year-end

Foreign exchange 7,6 1,7 16,5 3,9
Interest rate 13,8 7,7 21,1 8,9
Equity products 2,7 1,2 3,5 3,0
Diversification (7,7) – – (5,1)

Total VaR exposure 16,4 8,7 22,6 10,7

Sensitivity exposure1 45,9 19,8 87,3 25,0

1 Excludes BoE.
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The monitoring of trading credit risk exposures within Nedcor includes a total risk exposure measure, made up of current market
value plus potential future exposure. Monte Carlo simulations are used to calculate potential future exposure. In terms of
active management of credit risk, there is continued emphasis on the use of credit mitigation strategies such as netting
and collateralisation of exposures. These strategies have been particularly effective in situations where there has been a high
risk of default.

The credit equivalent exposure of derivative financial instruments (ie, total risk exposure estimate as per regulatory requirements)
as at 31 December is reflected in the following tables:

2003
Credit 

Nominal Replacement equivalent
R millions value value exposure

Foreign exchange contracts
Less than one year 178 939 7 425 9 214
One to five years 9 869 3 694 4 187
Beyond five years 3 637 2 463 2 645
Interest rate contracts
Less than one year 261 408 2 814 2 814
One to five years 234 546 6 915 8 088
Beyond five years 79 446 5 185 5 582

Total 767 845 28 496 32 530

2002
Credit 

Nominal Replacement equivalent
R millions value value exposure 

Foreign exchange contracts
Less than one year 127 462 14 719 15 994
One to five years 17 647 2 908 3 790
Beyond five years 4 127 2 220 2 426
Interest rate contracts
Less than one year 226 617 587 587
One to five years 167 968 3 330 4 170
Beyond five years 59 459 5 637 5 934

Total 603 280 29 401 32 901

Interest rate risk
Non-trading-related interest rate risk is measured using both an interest rate repricing gap and by calculating the sensitivity of
forecast net interest income to interest rate shocks.

Interest rate sensitivity is calculated for a 12-month period using instantaneous market interest rate shocks and assumes no
management intervention to address the impact of such shocks. Based on the balance sheet at 31 December 2003, Nedcor’s net
interest income would decrease by an estimated R265 million for every 1% decrease in interest rates.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the inability of a bank to accommodate the repayment of its liabilities or to fund asset growth in full, in
the right currency and at the right time and place. An illiquid bank is unable to obtain sufficient funds by either raising liabilities
or liquidating assets promptly at a reasonable cost to meet its commitments.

Market liquidity risk is the risk that financial instruments cannot be timely liquidated or hedged, resulting in financial loss due to
adverse movements in financial prices. Market liquidity risk is managed by ensuring that all trading positions are kept within
approved trading risk limits.

Liquidity management is a major priority of Group ALCO and Nedcor has managed liquidity conservatively in recent months in the
light of adverse press reports regarding the group’s liquidity. It has therefore held additional liquidity and has therefore been able to
maintain funding at normal market rates. Details of the composition and maturity of funding and other liabilities, as well as sectoral
analyses, are provided in the notes to the annual financial statements. Liquidity risk is managed using a multifaceted approach,
including:
• prudential limits to restrict concentration of cash flows by maturity, client or currency;
• selective issuing of bearer funding instruments;
• encouraging liquidity by being an active market maker in the company’s own paper;
• daily cash management procedures;
• maintaining a relatively stable retail and wholesale deposit base;
• maintaining an adequate pool of highly marketable assets, including buffer and surplus liquid assets determined by ALCO;
• establishing and maintaining adequate interbank lines; and
• having a standby liquidity contingency plan.

Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. This definition includes legal risk. The Basel II programme includes a subproject that addresses the qualitative
and quantitative requirements from operational risk.

The ERMF provides for the following in respect of the management and monitoring of operational risk:
• Operational risk managers and compliance officers in all divisions are responsible for implementation of risk and compliance

frameworks, policies, authority levels, controls and procedures.
• Operational Risk Committees (‘ORCOs’) in the divisions meet on a regular basis to discuss the key operational risks identified

as well as progress made in mitigating them. Division heads are members of the ORCOs.
• Group Internal Audit performs an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve

the group’s operations. Group Internal Audit assists the organisation in accomplishing its objectives by employing a systematic,
disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of the risk management, control and governance processes.

• Group Compliance is a fully established independent function within the Nedcor Group. It is an essential part of the ERMF
needed to manage regulatory and reputational risk, and is an integral component of the Group Risk Division.The provisions
contained in regulation 47 of the Banks Act specify the regulatory requirements relating to the establishment of the group’s
compliance function and the responsibilities of the compliance officers. Nedcor is in full compliance with these requirements.

• Group Operational Risk is an independent, centralised operational risk monitoring function within Group Risk that proposes
operational risk policy and standards, monitors operational risk management processes, provides operational risk
methodology and systems training, and advises the businesses on operational risk practices.

• The Management Services Division is responsible for crime (fraud, theft and related activities), security, business interruption,
exchange control risk management, and Group Legal and Group Insurance Services.

Risk management report
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At present operational risk is measured subjectively through the group’s risk identification and assessment methodology.
Currently the main gap in operational risk in Nedcor is a quantitative measurement capability starting with comprehensive
capture of management information. Plans will be executed during 2004 and 2005 to address this and the development of key
risk indicators. However, the extent to which Nedcor will move to an advanced measurement approach for operational risk is
still being evaluated from a cost/benefit perspective. Nedcor has determined that its correct priority, based on benefits, risk, cost
and resources clearly is the rapid advancement of credit risk measurement, and this is evidenced in its Basel II programme.

Legal risk
The approach to manage legal risk is to appoint dedicated internal legal advisers to divisions facilitating legal advice to ensure
appropriate management of legal risk. Group legal advisers interface with divisions to ensure a consistent enterprise-wide
approach to legal matters. Nedcor follows a multidisciplinary approach to the combating of the commission and concealment
of fraudulent or illegal acts, continued criminal activity and the increase of commercial crime in South Africa. Nedcor forensic
accountants render forensic accounting services, insurance assessments and litigation support.

Nedcor intends to comply with the requirements of the Financial Intelligence Centre Act (‘FICA’) for anti-money-laundering. FICA has
far-reaching implications for the banking industry and places onerous and costly obligations on banks in South Africa. FICA also
requires a revision of processes and procedures in virtually all aspects of banking activity.
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A brand new capital accord entails a whole new approach to risk and capital management
in Nedcor.

What Basel II and its likely impacts are all about
The proposed new Basel Capital Accord (‘Basel II’) is a significant, far reaching revision
of the current Accord implemented worldwide in 1988.

Basel II has come about largely as a result of the weaknesses in the current accord,
which include it:
• being risk-insensitive;
• having limited differentiation of credit risk;
• containing no recognition of operational risk and other key risks;
• containing insufficient incentives for credit risk mitigation; and
• creating an incentive to take the higher quality assets off balance sheet.

These weaknesses should also be considered with the significant developments in the
banking industry over the past 15 years since 1988. These developments include
technological innovation and globalisation, riskier and more complex banking products,
more highly volatile markets, especially in emerging-market countries, and several large
bank failures and significant losses.

The objectives of the new Basel II regulations put forward by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision may be summarised as being to:
• further enhance the safety and soundness of the banking system;
• achieve a much more comprehensive and sensitive approach to measuring risks, and

the resultant capital requirements;
• vary capital requirements between banks with different types of businesses, risk

profiles and sophistication of risk management;
• achieve a convergence of economic and regulatory capital allocation;
• strongly emphasise the role that regulators and market discipline should play; and
• promote competitive equality among banks while offering a menu of options (eliminate

the current one-size-fits-all approach).

Basel II report
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As a consequence of its objectives Basel II is likely to have a significant impact on bank behaviour and strategy. This may well
include the following:
• a redistribution of minimum capital requirements across counterparties, business segments, products and geographies that

leads to portfolio shake-outs as part of the realignment of banks’ business models;
• an increase in credit risk transfer demand as capital-expensive portfolios are much more actively addressed;
• an exposing of banks’ strengths and weaknesses due to the transformed role of the regulator and increased market disclosure;
• active capital management becoming a key strategic tool; and
• more rational, risk-adjusted product pricing.

Nedcor’s strategic approach to its Basel II programme
Nedcor has approached its Basel II programme on the basis of achieving maximum strategic value from the significant
investment required to achieve regulatory compliance. The timing of Basel II is in any event fortuitous for Nedcor in that
it has ideally coincided with the merger and integration activities, and is now an integral component of the Strategic
Recovery Programme.

Nedcor only commenced its preparation for Basel II in 2003 due to the merger and restructure of the group in 2002. The mandate
was thus given to the Basel II programme office to fast-track the programme not only to ensure the group timeously meets the
expected regulatory timelines but, more importantly given its significant contribution to providing the capabilities for the strategic
recovery of the group.

This fast-tracking is being aided by the engagement of international consultants Mercer Oliver Wyman.

We have embraced our significant investment in
Basel II as a critical component of the Nedcor
Strategic Recovery Programme.
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Following completion of Phase 1 of Nedcor’s Basel II programme, the group in July 2003 approved the
following strategic approach:

Basel II report
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Enhancement to risk and capital
MANAGEMENT processes

Resulting in the optimisation
of shareholder value creation
(examples below)

Enhancement and/or development
of risk MEASUREMENT
methodologies, systems and tools

D ATA  M A N A G E M E N T A N D B A S E L I I A U T O M AT I O N

• Capital management

– Manage available capital in line

with economic capital methodology

– Institute economic capital caps in

value-destroying clients, products,

businesses

• Client value management

– Risk-adjusted client profitability

– Risk-adjusted pricing

– Identification of value-

creating/destroying clients

• Managing portfolio distribution

– Change business mix as

appropriate

– Synthetically securitise highly

concentrated portfolios

– Address portfolio ‘hot spots’

attracting high capital requirement

• Credit process

– More efficient

– Quicker client response

– Better risk management

• Performance measurement

– Key link into risk-adjusted-return-

on-capital (‘RAROC’) by business

unit and incentivisation

– Align group strategy with ability to

create economic value

• Capital management
– Economic capital allocation
– Active capital management

• Credit portfolio management
– Identification of risk ‘hot spots’
– Concentration risks in portfolios
– Credit portfolio optimisation
– Portfolio ‘inflow’ control
– Synthetic securitisation

• Credit process redesign
– Redesign/Optimisation of credit

processes from origination to
recovery

• Pricing management
– Understand pricing for economic

risks
– Client relationship pricing
– Introduce price floors

• Reporting and Risk MIS
– Quality risk and economic capital

reporting

• Enterprise-wide risk management
– Consistent risk measurement

methodology
– Common risk language and

definitions
– Centralised risk reporting

capabilities
– Clear risk appetite
– Groupwide policies

• Rating/Classification and scoring

models/parameters

– Probability of default (‘PD’) 

– Loss given default (‘LGD’) 

– Exposure at default (‘EAD’) 

• Credit portfolio model

– Portfolio concentrations and

correlations

• Credit policies/procedures

– Group credit methodology

– Portfolio methodology

• Systems (‘IT’)

– Ratings platform

– Exposure management (single

view of client)

– Collateral management

– Data management

• Reading of economic and

Basel II capital

– Group economic capital

distribution by business unit,

major business line and risk type



Nedcor is moving towards an integrated approach to risk and capital management
Nedcor is currently missing a reliable economic/risk-adjusted management information system. This is being actively addressed
and Nedcor intends to move in 2005 to risk-adjusted-return-on-economic capital (‘RAROC’) via a risk-adjusted profit and loss
(‘P&L’) as the measurement of performance and economic value across the group. The ultimate responsibility for delivery of this
is that of the Chief Financial Officer.

The key components of RAROC and a risk-adjusted P&L are as follows:
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Being developed by the
Group ALM function
– initial rollout in 2004

Economic capital 
(defined as the amount
of capital required to
protect the group against
economic insolvency over
a one-year timeframe)

= PD x EAD x LGD
risk parameters

Being developed from the
Basel II programme 
– initial rollout in 2005

Being developed by
Group Finance 
– initial rollout in 2004

Funds Transfer 
Pricing* (‘FTP’)

Activity-based
Costing* (‘ABC’)

* Both projects designed
to achieve true and fair
allocation of funding and
other costs across
business units

{

}
{

R

Revenues

Net interest revenue
Other revenue

– Operating expenses

– Expected loss

+ Capital benefit

= Risk-adjusted return

:– Economic capital

= RAROC %



Nedcor’s Basel II responsibility and governance structure

Basel II report
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Head: Basel II Programme and Enterprise-wide
Risk Management

Executive Director Sponsor: Basel II
Chief Financial Officer

Basel II and
ERM

Basel II
Programme

Manager

Economic
Capital

Framework

Group
Internal
Ratings

Credit
Portfolio
Model

Business-unit-related
Basel II work*

Groupwide-related 
Basel II work

Information-technology-related
Basel II work

Exposure management

Collateral management
and collections

IT migration of Basel II rating
and profiling tools

Credit process automation

Data management and reporting
(incorporating groupwide
Basel II IT architecture)

Data
Communications, SARB

liaison and audit assurance

Group credit
methodology

Operational
risk refinement

ALM risk refinement

Market risk
refinement

Economic capital and
performance measurement

Credit portfolio
management

Reporting (Pillar 3)

Group credit
monitoring

ERMF and groupwide
policies (Pillar 2)

Rating tools and
parameter estimation

Credit process
redesign/implementation

Client value management/
risk-based pricing

Knowledge transfer and
change management

* Each business unit will have a selection of these
subprojects for which it is responsible. Each
business unit has an Exco member responsible
for Basel II in its area.

Basel II Programme Office

Basel II Steering Committee
(CE, CFO, Business

Cluster Heads)

Strategic response to 
Basel II (CFO led)

Nedcor Board

Basel II Implementation
Committee

(senior reps from each of the
businesses and central

functions)

Group Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee

(Board committee responsible
for oversight of the

Basel II Programme)

Board’s SIMCO
(approves Basel II IT

projects and prioritisation
on behalf of the board)

Prepare IT
specifications

based on business
requirements received

from Basel II
Programme Office.
Also responsible for

IT project prioritisation
and governance

Executive SIMCO
(recommends 

Basel II IT projects
spend and prioritisation

at executive
management level)

Group Business
Innovation

Technology
Division

Product 
Division

Execute IT
specifications
received from the
Product Division

Basel II 
Programme Office
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Nedcor’s expected business benefits from its Basel II investment
Aside from meeting the expected Basel II regulatory compliance requirements, some of the specific business benefits expected
from the Basel II programme include:

Project Anticipated benefits

Credit process redesign • Faster, better, cheaper credit processes
• Process differentiated much more on risk and less on size of loans
• Decreased credit turnaround times leading to better client service
• More efficient collections process

Client value management • Risk-adjusted client profitability
and risk-based pricing • Improved risk-pricing framework

• Identification and protecting of valuable clients, and repricing or release of capital
from value-destroying/capital-expensive clients

Credit portfolio model • Identification of ‘hot spots’ from concentrations and correlations
• Reduction of portfolio concentration risks and resultant capital requirements
• Enabler of CDOs

Economic capital framework • Economic capital framework, including stress-testing, projections, monitoring and
capital optimisation

• Economic capital measurement leading to a fully risk-adjusted view of profitability
across the group

• Reallocation of capital away from value-destroying businesses/segments to
value creators

Strategic response to Basel II • Alignment of bank’s overall strategy with Basel II impacts/challenges
• Identification of potential actions to address current and Basel II capital constraints



Introduction
Following my appointment as acting Chief Financial Officer in January 2004 I have

focused on three broad areas: setting the 2003 baseline; assessing and controlling the

risks we face; and implementing a value management system.

Setting the 2003 baseline has been a key step, as has been assessing the quality of the

financial information and improving the transparency of the group. We have undertaken

a number of measures to ensure both these targets have been met in relation to the

financial information presented in this report. We implemented six quality filters: we had

internal teams review the information; we used external advisers, where appropriate;

a team from Old Mutual reviewed the key areas; we maintained daily meetings with

our auditors; regularly convened the Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee of

the Nedcor Board; and finally, the rights issue process involved significant additional

due-diligence investigations by the underwriters and their advisers.

The implementation of AC133 illustrates the process well. The individual business clusters

prepared the initial reports and these were then reviewed and refined in the Central

Finance Department. We employed B&W Deloitte actuarial consultants to review and

report on the information and the Old Mutual team reviewed the process undertaken as

well as the financial implications. Our auditors and the rights issue due-diligence teams

examined the outputs, and finally the Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee,

the Group Credit Committee and the board discussed and approved the results.

I have also placed particular emphasis on understanding the risks facing the group, including

interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, the relationship between capital and asset growth,

as well as the nature of some of our assets. We are determined that the group operates as

a bank in future and not as an investment company that is involved in banking operations.

The last stage of the financial agenda has been to look at our financial management in

its broadest sense. We are putting plans in place to deliver risk-based MIS, as we require

a better accountability process and we need to be clear on our value-drivers, as well as

identify ways to get rid of non-value-added expenses. We have also recently reorganised

the finance function. The new division comprises Group Finance, the ALM Department

and Capital Management. The newly integrated division will allow management to

manage the business proactively, identify and manage risks and to introduce rigorous

Group Financial 
Officer’s review
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financial disciplines, which is expected to lead to greater accuracy and accountability of divisional management and drive

transparency and profitability through the group.

The Chairman and Chief Executive have discussed the group’s overall financial performance. In summary, Nedcor recorded a

loss of R1 600 million for the year ended 31 December 2003, compared with a net profit of R875 million for the previous year.

Headline earnings decreased from R2 476 million in 2002 to R55 million in 2003. The factors impacting these results, and the

corrective action that we are taking to address the underperformance are detailed in the following report.

Accounting policies
General
Nedcor’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally

Accepted Accounting Practice (‘SA GAAP’). Nedcor has fully consolidated the financial statements of all subsidiary companies

over which it exercises control. Controlling interests in companies acquired are consolidated from the date control commences

until the date control ceases. Investments in associate companies are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Associate companies are those companies in which the group has a long-term interest and significant influence, but not control,

over the financial and operating policies.

Changes in group operating structure
In November 2003, as part of the Nedcor Strategic Recovery Programme, the operating structure of the group was reorganised.

Historically, Nedbank Corporate included all the wholesale banking activities of the group. As a result of the reorganisation,

Nedbank Corporate was separated into two new clusters, namely Nedbank Corporate and Nedbank Capital. In addition, Retail

and Wealth Management was formed following the BoE merger in June 2002, with each of Retail and Wealth Management

operating as independent divisions. Technology and Operations was split into Group Operations and Group Business Innovation

to align support and operational functions closer with business divisions. In 2004 Imperial Bank will be removed from Nedbank

Corporate and will report as a distinct operating cluster.

Basis of preparation of segmental information
In accordance with the requirements of SA GAAP, Nedcor prepares segmental results for each of its operating clusters, as well

as Central Funding (which is reflected in the group’s 2003 consolidated statements as Shared Services and Capital Management

and Central Funding). Segment results relating to Nedcor’s principal business clusters are based on management results and

include revenue, provisioning, expenses and taxes directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of revenue and

expenses that can be allocated in a reasonable ratio to a segment, whether from external transactions or transactions with other

segments. Segment assets and liabilities are based on average balances and comprise those operating assets and liabilities

that are directly attributable to a segment or can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis.

The newly integrated finance function will allow
management to manage the business proactively,
identify and manage risks and to introduce rigorous
financial disciplines, which is expected to lead to
greater accuracy and accountability of divisional
management and drive transparency and
profitability through the group.
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Nedcor has traditionally lacked reliable divisional management information that

incorporated comprehensive funds transfer pricing, capital allocation or activity-based

costing. Specifically, current management information does not allow management

appropriately to allocate costs and capital that lie in the centre of the business to the

clusters and within clusters to divisions, nor does it allow the group properly to assess

the impact of, inter alia, AC133 adjustments, funds transfer pricing, capital allocation or

activity-based costing on a cluster or divisional basis. As a result, although the segmental

data for both 2002 and 2003 were compiled on the same basis, a full understanding of

the underlying individual performance of the clusters and their divisions during the

historic periods under review is not possible for prospective investors. Consequently, the

financial review of the results of operations does not provide quantitative analysis of the

group’s underlying financial performance at cluster or divisional level.

Nedcor is seeking to implement a management information systems solution that will,

among other things, incorporate funds transfer pricing, capital allocation and

activity-based costing to permit the allocation of costs and capital from the centre to

each of the divisions in proportion to the use of the group’s resources and capital. Once

this is completed, Nedcor expects that its shareholders will be able to undertake a more

meaningful analysis of the underlying financial performance of its clusters and divisions

in future periods.

For the periods under review central costs and funding were allocated to the divisions on

a full-absorption basis, although not in accordance with properly functioning funds

transfer pricing, activity-based costing or capital allocation principles. As a result, certain

of these costs and expenses were retained in the centre of the group in what were

formerly known as Shared Services and Capital Management and Central Funding.

These clusters are now formally incorporated in the Group Finance Division.

Restatement of accounts
The process of finalising the 2003 financial results included a review of prior-year

disclosure items. In particular, there were a number of non-recurring income and expense

items in the 2002 income statement that related to prior years. An amount of R610 million

in respect of historic foreign currency translation gains previously not recognised was

released in the 2002 income statement. Of this amount R405 million was included across

various income and expense lines, but was offset by expense items relating to prior years

totalling R308 million. The remaining R205 million gain was included in net foreign

currency translation losses. These amounts have been removed from the 2002 income

statement, along with a further adjustment of R193 million (post-tax) to reallocate the

losses from the Business Banking book to the years to which they related. The

cumulative impact of these adjustments had the net effect of reducing headline earnings

in 2002 by R109 million and decreased opening retained earnings by an equal amount.

The group’s 2002 results have been restated for the Peoples Bank put option. As a result

Group Financial Officer’s review
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of the restatement, minority interest in the balance sheet was reclassified as ‘Deposit, current and other accounts’. Minority

interest attributable to ordinary shareholders declined by R130 million and interest expense increased by an equivalent amount.

The restatement had no effect on the financial results of Peoples Bank. Notional tax on structured finance transactions was

included in net interest income in 2003. Consequently, a restatement of the 2002 results, in full compliance with AC102, was

made. This brought about a reduction of net interest income of R142 million and a commensurate decrease in the tax charge.

As a result, deferred tax assets have increased by R1 098 million, deferred tax liabilities have increased by R259 million, sundry

debtors have decreased by R348 million and sundry creditors have increased by R491 million. While the 2002 financial

statements have been restated for these items, it is important to note that the offsetting nature of these items meant that the

original 2002 financial statements were not materially affected. However, in the interests of full disclosure these adjustments

have been made to their correct lines for the prior years. (See details in note 3 to the financial statements page 149.) The

restatement had no effect on Nedcor’s financial position and results as of and for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Financial review
Regulatory capital
Nedcor started the year with R23 billion of regulatory capital and a capital adequacy ratio of 11%. Various issues influenced

Nedcor’s regulatory capital during 2003:

• The impact of the introduction of accounting standard AC133 and the subsequent adjustments that had to be made reduced

regulatory capital by R2,8 billion.

• The attributable loss, a significant portion of which was caused by the strengthening of the rand and writedowns from the

cleanup of the balance sheet, further impacted capital. With the rand strengthening, risk-weighted assets offshore reduced by

R5,5 billion and, allowing for an 11% capital asset ratio, about a R600 million capital loss would have been expected. In fact,

the group lost nearly R1,0 billion more than that, due to an excessive amount of capital being held offshore.

• An amount of R1,4 billion was paid in respect of both the final dividend for 2002 and the 2003 interim dividend.

These dividends were based on Nedcor’s old definition of core headline earnings, which excluded the effect of foreign

exchange gains and losses.

All of these reductions in regulatory capital were partially offset by the R4,0 billion of preference share and Tier 2 capital that

was raised during the year. Nedcor ended the year with a capital ratio of 10,14%.

Net interest income
Net interest income increased by R853 million, or 14,3%, from R5 955 million in 2002 to R6 808 million in 2003, principally as a

result of the inclusion of BoE for the full year, which was offset by a number of one-off items. Excluding the impact of BoE and

one-off items in both 2002 and 2003, net interest income across the group’s clusters declined marginally over the period, mainly

due to a number of fixed-cost funding items that increased the interest expense in a falling interest rate environment.

The increase in interest income during the period was largely volume-related (R3 921 million), principally due to the inclusion of

BoE from July 2002. The increase in average advances was reflected in most core lending products, particularly term and other

loans (19,5% or R13 089 million) and leases and instalment debtors (30,9% or R5 730 million). These increases occurred

predominantly within Nedbank Capital (Treasury) and Nedbank Corporate (Business Banking and Property and Asset Finance).

The increase in interest income was also partly rate-related (R613 million), notwithstanding an average decrease of 5,3% in the

prime lending rate from 17,0% in December 2002 to 11,5% in December 2003. The average yield earned on advances increased

by 0,5% from 11,7% in 2002 to 12,2% in 2003.
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Interest expense increased by R3 681 million, or 20,9%, from R17 652 million in 2002 to

R21 333 million in 2003. This increase was largely volume-related, principally due to the

inclusion of BoE for the full year. The increase in deposits was largely due to a significant

increase (86,9% or R16 425 million) in average negotiable certificates of deposit,

increases in average deposits and loan accounts (11,0% or R13 209 million) and current

and savings accounts (24,3% or R7 446 million) within Nedbank Capital (Treasury –

negotiable certificates of deposit), followed by Nedbank Corporate and Retail and Wealth

Management. In addition, average other liabilities and subordinated debt decreased by

7,3%, mainly due to a decline in foreign currency liabilities. The average yield paid on

deposits increased by 0,4% from 8,3% in 2002 to 8,7% in 2003.

The impact of the following factors on net interest income, the financial results of which

are reflected in the discussion above, should also be considered:

• R356 million of interest income was reallocated from interest income to taxation in

accordance with the application of AC102. This resulted in a decrease in interest

income recognised on structured finance deals and a corresponding reduction in

notional taxation that had been previously recognised.

• In January 2002 BEE consortia subscribed for a 30% interest in Peoples Bank. The

consortia funded the acquisition of this interest through preference share funding, with

Nedbank guaranteeing a 20% annual return by means of a put option granted to the

funders. The put option will, if exercised, effectively require Nedbank to assume the

preference share funding obligation by paying the funders approximately R810 million in

April 2005. In return, Nedbank would receive the consortia’s 30% interest as security for

assuming that funding. However, as Nedbank has now assumed substantially all of the

risks and rewards of the 30% interest, Nedbank is required fully to consolidate Peoples

Bank. This has had the effect of increasing the group’s interest expense in the restated

2002 results by R130 million, compared with an increase of R98 million in 2003, and is

expected adversely to affect the interest expense by approximately R107 million in 2004,

to reflect the liability to pay the 20% return to the funders. This restatement in the group’s

financial results of the treatment of Peoples Bank has resulted in the elimination of the

minority interest and associated goodwill relating to Peoples Bank. The restatement had

no effect on the financial results of Peoples Bank.

• Prior to the adoption of AC133 in January 2003 the group’s net interest income

excluded in full the recognition of interest charged on non-performing loans. As a result

of the application of AC133 the group’s net interest income includes the recognition of

the effective rate of interest earned on non-performing loans. The unrecognised interest

is now reflected in the group’s income statement under ‘Impairment of advances’.

Accordingly, the group’s net interest income in 2003 benefited from a one-off increase

of R424 million, which reflected the reversal of the interest that would not have been

recognised in respect of non-performing loans in 2003 had AC133 not applied. This

was a groupwide adjustment.

• Funding for the acquisition of BoE included R4 000 million of 13,15% fixed-rate notes

callable in 2012. Neither these notes, nor a further R2 000 million of fixed-rate 11,3%
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notes issued by Nedcor and callable in 2011, were hedged for interest rate exposure in 2003. This had a negative impact on

the group’s margin. Nedcor is putting into place a R3 500 million natural hedge in respect of further interest rate movements.

• As a smaller bank facing liquidity pressures, BoE’s funding book was more expensive than that of Nedcor. As a result of its

acquisition, this more expensive funding had the effect of reducing Nedcor’s margin by approximately five basis points during

the period, although this decrease was offset by cheaper funding obtained by Nedcor when the treasuries of Nedcor and BoE

were integrated in January 2003.

• As a result of the need to improve the group’s liquidity profile during the merger and to repay the funders the group increased

its fixed-rate negotiable certificates of deposit and promissory note funding from R22 000 million in 2002 to R34 000 million

during 2003. As a result of lengthening the term of the funding book and not hedging the interest rate risk its yield deteriorated

significantly. The impact of this action was reflected in the Treasury Division of Nedbank Capital. The bulk of this funding will

mature by April 2004.

There are also drags on net interest income in the future from the overselling of the tax base, the amount of investments held

by the bank and the extent of capital held offshore in low-yielding currencies. We are in the process of considering what

investments to realise and how to mitigate the foreign exchange exposures.

Non-interest revenue
Non-interest revenue increased by R1 131 million, or 16,6%, from R6 822 million for the year ended 31 December 2002 to

R7 953 million for the year ended 31 December 2003. The principal reason for the increase in non-interest revenue in 2003 was

the consolidation of BoE for the full year, as well as the R512 million positive impact of the groupwide AC133 fair-value

adjustments. Included in the transitional adjustment for AC133 made to opening retained earnings for 2003 was a decrease of

R1 205 million relating to fair-value adjustments.

The principal elements affecting non-interest revenue comprised the following:

• Commission and fee income. The principal factor impacting non-interest revenue in 2003 was commission and fee income,

which increased by R668 million, or 14,7%, from R4 540 million in 2002 to R5 208 million in 2003. Fee and commission income

consists of fee income for the provision of banking services and investment advice, retainers, institutional stockbroking

commissions and brokerage, fund management fees, and similar items that are likely to recur due to the nature of the activities,

as well as facility arrangement fees, corporate finance fees and similar items that are transactional in nature and therefore

generate more erratic income streams. The increase in commission and fee income during the period was largely attributable

to Nedbank Corporate (excluding Imperial Bank), particularly in the Property and Asset Finance and Business Banking Divisions,

as well as to the Retail Division of Retail and Wealth Management, and Imperial Bank. The increase was offset slightly by a

decline in income attributable to all divisions across Nedbank Capital. Of these movements BoE’s consolidation accounted for

almost the entirety of that within Retail and Wealth Management and the majority of that within Nedbank Corporate.

• Trading income. The bulk of the remainder of non-interest revenue comprised trading income, which includes trading income

derived from equities and other securities such as foreign exchange instruments. Debt securities and equity shares held for

trading purposes are revalued at each balance sheet date and the change in value is recognised as a charge or a profit under

trading profits. Trading income rose by R514 million during the period, or 42,9%, from R1 199 million in 2002 to R1 713 million

in 2003. This was largely due to the R512 million impact of groupwide AC133 fair-value adjustments. The remaining increase in

trading income during the period was largely attributable to the Treasury Division within Nedbank Capital, as well as to Nedbank

Corporate (excluding Imperial Bank), particularly in the Property and Asset Finance and International Divisions. The increases in

these clusters were partly offset by a decline in the Group Capital Management Division of Capital Management and Central

Funding that resulted from currency gains in 2002, which were attributable to the former NIB business that did not recur.
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• BoE private clients, a 50:50 joint venture between Old Mutual South Africa (‘OMSA’) and

Nedcor, was wholly owned by Nedcor prior to 2003. This business is now equity-

accounted by Nedcor following OMSA’s acquisition of a 50% stake in January 2003, and

is reflected in the Wealth Management Division of Retail and Wealth Management.

R11 million of earnings (post-tax) from this business in 2003 was reflected in the group’s

income statement as ‘attributable earnings of associates’. The commission and fee

income attributable to this joint venture in 2003 was R223 million. Previously this would

have been reflected in non-interest revenue with the associated expenses of R201 million.

Foreign exchange translation (losses)/gains
The strengthening of the rand from R8,60 per US$1,00 to R6,62 per US$1,00 and

R13,85 per £1,00 to R11,81 per £1,00 during 2003 resulted in the recognition in the

group’s income statement of unrealised foreign exchange translation losses that

increased by R200 million, or 16,4%, from R1 216 million in 2002 to R1 416 million in

2003. These translation losses primarily reflected the effect of translating the net assets

of the group’s integrated foreign operations into rands on consolidation of the group

financial statements. Management recognises that the group has held excessive

amounts of its capital in foreign currencies and, therefore, has made it one of ALCO’s

priorities to address this issue. To reduce this exposure, the group converted offshore

capital to rand-denominated capital in the amount of R1 000 million in November and

December 2003. In connection with the group’s rationalisation of its offshore operations

the group has signed an agreement to dispose of Chiswell Associates and intends to

dispose of various other international wealth management subsidiaries in 2004 and

to repatriate the proceeds during 2005. The repatriation of offshore capital is expected to

enhance net interest income and to reduce future volatility in the balance sheet and

capital position of the group in rand terms.

Due to expected changes in applicable accounting standards in 2004 Nedcor expects

that a portion of foreign exchange translation movements may in future be reflected

directly in equity in the balance sheet under ‘Reserves’, although it cannot quantify the

impact of any such changes at this time. In addition, new legislation enacted during

December 2003 will allow the group to return the accumulated reserves of its offshore

subsidiary companies without any South African tax effects after 1 January 2005.

Previously, these dividends would have been taxable at the South African ruling tax rate.

The group plans to take advantage of this relief in connection with its intended reduction

of its offshore capital base.

Impairment of advances
For the period ended 31 December 2003, impairment of advances totalled R2 063 million.

Prior to January 2003 the ‘legal certainty’ provisioning methodology was applied to

Nedcor’s business, resulting in the later recognition of provisions than is the case under

the new accounting standard, AC133.
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In August 2003 the group announced in its 2003 interim statement that it booked an additional credit impairment under AC133

of R963 million against advances. Subsequently, the principles relating to amounts included in the transitional adjustment were

clarified by the Accounting Practices Board. As a result of this clarification and the refinement by Nedcor of its credit impairment

processes the actual transitional adjustment as of 1 January 2003 increased by an additional impairment charge of R737 million,

resulting in a total transitional adjustment of R1 700 million. These amounts are reflected as transitional adjustments to opening

retained income. As the group indicated in August 2003, the calculation of the adjustment was still not finalised. However, the

group has made a significant investment since that time to determine the correct transitional adjustment and believes that the

group will benefit from recognising impaired advances at an earlier stage in the credit cycle.

The credit climate held steady during the first half of 2003 in spite of the high interest rate environment, and is showing an

improvement following the 5,5% decrease in interest rates during the second half of 2003. As discussed above, there has been

an increase in the impairments in 2003, including those in respect of a loan to fund a housing advances book in Gabon of

R148 million, which was reflected in the Project Finance Division of Nedbank Capital, and the property development and other

related losses of R64 million, which were reflected in the Property and Asset Finance Division of Nedbank Corporate, as well as

additional writedowns in BoE’s loan portfolio. In 2003 there was also an additional AC133 impact of R368 million, which

represented the reclassification of an interest reserve balance of R424 million, and a release of R57 million in credit impairments.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses, excluding merger and reorganisation expenses of R394 million, but including synergies of R341 million,

increased by R2 584 million, or 35,1%, from R7 366 million in 2002 to R9 950 million in 2003. The cost-to-income ratio (excluding

foreign currency translation losses) increased from 59,2% in 2002 to 70,1% in 2003. A significant portion of this increase was

due to the inclusion of BoE for the full year.

The major factors impacting the increase in operating expenses were:

• Staff expenses. Staff expenses increased during the period by R1 095 million, or 28,4%, from R3 854 million in 2002 to

R4 949 million in 2003. This increase primarily reflected the consolidation of BoE for the full year, as well as the addition of

contractors and other temporary staff during the period. In addition, the increase reflected the inclusion of R165 million

of employee-incentive awards. In 2002, employee-incentive awards were allocated in the form of share options and

appropriately recognised in shareholders’ equity in line with applicable accounting standards at the time. Had these awards

been recognised in the income statement, staff expenses in 2002 would have increased by R340 million.

• Fees and insurances. Fees and insurances almost doubled during the period, rising from R593 million in 2002 to R1 046 million

in 2003. In addition to the impact of BoE, this increase principally reflected a R142 million decrease in the amount of

management fees recoverable by Nedcor from certain of its alliance partners pursuant to the terms of their joint venture

agreement, a R63 million increase attributable to a reclassification of expense items from non-interest revenue, and an

increase in consulting fees of R69 million.

• Computer processing. Technology innovation and development costs increased by R322 million, or 34,0%, from R948 million

in 2002 to R1 270 million in 2003, primarily as a result of an increase in project spending of R158 million, as well as the

consolidation of BoE for the full period of 2003, which resulted in an increase in computer processing fees of R110 million.

• Occupation and accommodation. Occupation and accommodation expenses increased by R204 million, or 26,7%, from

R765 million in 2002 to R969 million in 2003. A large portion of this increase was due to the full year’s contribution of lease

and related expenses associated with BoE’s branch network and offices.
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Spread across the foregoing operating expenses were the following items in particular:

• an increase of R123 million resulting from the consolidation of certain companies for

the first time in 2003; and

• expenses of R201 million relating to the BoE private clients joint venture not being

reflected in expenses in 2003 as a result of the change in accounting treatment.

Taxation
Taxation for the year ended 31 December 2003 was R823 million, which reflected an

increase of R382 million, compared with taxation of R441 million for the comparable period

in 2002. The group’s effective taxation rate, excluding the impact of foreign currency

translation losses, increased from 10% in 2002 to 32% in 2003. In 2002 the taxation charge

was reduced by a deferred tax asset raised in Peoples Bank of R185 million. 

In 2003, the tax charge was affected by:

• an increase in secondary tax on companies of R63 million, or 165,8%, from R38 million

in 2002;

• an increase in the taxation of certain foreign entities, which now have their revenue taxed

at the South African rate for a full year;

• the elimination of notional tax charged on the gross up of interest income from

structured finance transactions, which decreased notional taxation by R356 million in

2003, compared with R142 million in 2002;

• contingencies of R261 million that have been raised in the income statement against

specific tax industry issues; and

• a tax charge of R145 million in 2003 due to the AC133 adjustments discussed above.

In addition to the R261 million raised in the income statement, an additional amount of

R583 million was raised in 2003 as a similar provision in respect of BoE preacquisition

items. The AC102 entries arising from Nedcor’s structured finance book have resulted in

a reduction in the carrying value of structured finance assets of R1 176 million, with a

corresponding increase in deferred tax assets of R1 176 million.

Exceptional capital items
Exceptional capital items amounted to R1 693 million in 2003, a decrease of

R100 million, or 5,6%, from R1 793 million in 2002. The main components of exceptional

capital items in 2002 comprised a R1 080 million writedown of Nedcor’s investment in

Dimension Data plc, goodwill amortisation of R426 million and a goodwill impairment

charge of R75 million.

Group Financial Officer’s review
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The impairment and amortisation of goodwill in 2003 totalled R1 803 million, an increase of R1 302 million from R501 million in

2002. This was due to the impairment in full of the goodwill on the acquisition of the remaining shares in NIB of R362 million

and Peoples Bank of R193 million, and an impairment of a portion of the goodwill on the acquisition of BoE and its subsidiaries

of R650 million. The amortisation of goodwill charge was R424 million, and the remaining goodwill impairments principally

related to a subsidiary of the group’s UK-based wealth management company, Gerrard Private Bank, and Acturis, a UK-based

software company that was consolidated for the first time in 2003.

Prior to this impairment the goodwill attributable to the acquisition of BoE was increased by R859 million as a result of a

reassessment of the fair value of the net assets of BoE acquired by Nedcor. This resulted principally from:

• an additional provision for tax liabilities of R583 million;

• a further provision in respect of the carrying value of Century City of R118 million; and

• an additional impairment of R70 million against non-performing advances.

Management believes that no further impairment is considered necessary for the BoE goodwill, as the revenue being generated by

the former BoE divisions, together with merger savings, should exceed the estimated return envisaged at the time of the

transaction.

From 1 January 2005 the accounting policy for goodwill will change as a result of the proposed introduction of a new

IFR standard. If this standard is introduced, goodwill will be subject to an annual impairment review rather than amortisation.

Following a comprehensive review of the carrying value of Nedcor’s investments and fixed assets, a total impairment charge of

R239 million was made in 2003. This included an impairment of capitalised and development software of R137 million.

The disposal of certain non-core subsidiaries, investments and property, plant and equipment generated a net profit of R349 million.

Bob Head

Acting Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ responsibility

The directors are responsible for the integrity of the financial statements and related information included in this annual report.

For the board to discharge its responsibilities management has developed and continues to maintain a system of internal financial
control. The board has ultimate responsibility for this system of internal control and reviews the effectiveness of its operation, primarily
through the Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and other risk-monitoring committees and functions.

The internal financial controls include risk-based systems of accounting and administrative controls designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with
generally accepted business practices and the group’s written policies and procedures. These controls are implemented by trained,
skilled staff with clearly defined lines of accountability and an appropriate segregation of duties. The controls are monitored by
management and include a comprehensive budgeting and reporting system operating within strict deadlines and an appropriate
control framework. As part of the system of internal financial control the group internal audit function conducts operational, financial
and specific audits and coordinates audit coverage with the external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and
incorporate responsible disclosures in line with the accounting philosophy of the group. The financial statements are based on
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied, except as otherwise stated and supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates. The directors believe that the group will be a going concern in the year ahead. For this reason they
continue to adopt the going-concern basis in preparing the group annual financial statements.

These financial statements set out on pages 86 to 95 and 127 to 195 have been approved by the board of directors and are signed
on its behalf by:

CF Liebenberg TA Boardman
Chairman Chief Executive

Sandown
17 March 2004

Certificate from the Company Secretary

In terms of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief,
the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies for the financial year ended 31 December 2003 all such returns as are
required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

GS Nienaber
Company Secretary

Sandown
17 March 2004
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Report of the independent auditors

To the members of Nedcor Limited
We have audited the financial statements and group financial statements, set out on pages 86 to 95 and 127 to 195, for the year
ended 31 December 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s directors. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

Scope
We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of South African Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes:
• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements;
• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and
• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Audit opinion
In our opinion the financial statements and group financial statements fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position of
the company and the group at 31 December 2003 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the manner required by the Companies
Act in South Africa.

KPMG Inc Deloitte & Touche
Registered Accountants and Auditors Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (SA) Chartered Accountants (SA)

Sandown
17 March 2004
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December

Nature of business
Nedcor Limited (‘Nedcor’ or ‘the company’) is a registered bank holding company that, through its subsidiaries, provides a wide range
of financial services and is listed under ‘banks’ on the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa.

Financial results
Full details of the financial results are set out on pages 127 to 195 of this annual report.

Year under review
The year under review is fully covered in the Chairman’s statement and the Chief Executive’s review.

Share capital
Details of the authorised and issued share capital, together with details of shares issued and options granted during the year, appear
in note 16 to the annual financial statements.

Ownership
The holding company of Nedcor is Old Mutual (South Africa) Limited and associates, which hold 51,02% of the company’s ordinary
shares. The ultimate holding company is Old Mutual plc, incorporated in England and Wales. Further details of shareholders appear
on page 197.

Dividends
Details of the dividends appear in note 29 to the annual financial statements on page 171.

Directors
Biographical details of the directors are given on pages 78 to 81 of this annual report. Details of directors’ remuneration and options
appear on pages 86 to 95.

The directors who, in terms of the articles of association, retire by rotation at the annual general meeting are Messrs CJW Ball,
WAM Clewlow, BE Davison, BJS Hore, Prof MM Katz, ME Mkwanazi, DGS Muller, JVF Roberts and JH Sutcliffe. Messrs CJW Ball,
WAM Clewlow, BE Davison, Prof MM Katz, ME Mkwanazi, JVF Roberts and JH Sutcliffe are eligible and offer themselves for
reelection. Messrs RCM Laubscher and AA Routledge resigned with effect from 8 December 2003 and 31 December 2003
respectively, while Mr PG Joubert retired with effect from 28 July 2003. Messrs IJ Botha and SG Morris resigned with effect from
23 February 2004. Mr TA Boardman was appointed Chief Executive with effect from 10 December 2003.

Company Secretary and registered office
The Company Secretary is Mr GS Nienaber and his address and that of the registered office are as follows:

Business address Postal address
Nedcor Limited Nedcor Limited
Nedcor Sandton PO Box 1144
135 Rivonia Road Johannesburg
Sandown, 2196 2000

Property and equipment
There is no change in the nature of the property and equipment of the group or in the policy regarding their use during the year.

Contracts
No contracts in which directors and officers of the company had an interest and that significantly affected the affairs or business of
the company, or any of its subsidiaries, were entered into during the year under review.

Insurance
The group has placed cover in the London traditional insurance market up to R1,85 billion in excess of R50 million. Group captive
insurers provide cover for losses that may occur below the R50 million level, retaining R150 million and providing an additional
R300 million through insurance arrangements in the South African insurance market.
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December

Subsidiary companies
Details of principal subsidiary companies are reflected on page 188 of this annual report.

Special resolution
The following special resolution was passed by the ordinary shareholder of Nedbank Limited and registered on 29 October 2003:

Article 142.3 of Nedbank Limited’s articles of association were amended by the deletion of the penultimate sentence thereof, and its
replacement by the following:

‘Preference shares issued between the dates on which the preference dividends accrue, shall, if declared, accrue on the first
preference dividend accrual date after their issue and shall be calculated from the day following the last preference dividend accrual
date until the date on which they accrue.’

The reason for the alteration to Nedbank Limited’s articles of association was to synchronise the timing of dividend calculations and
to facilitate the ease of payment of dividends to shareholders.

Post-balance-sheet events
Nedcor called a general meeting of its shareholders on 17 March 2004 to obtain approval to increase Nedcor’s authorised share capital
from 350 million to 600 million ordinary shares and a grant of authority by shareholders to Nedcor’s directors to place newly authorised
but unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors to allot new ordinary shares to meet existing contractual requirements,
to fund the rights issue and the capitalisation award and to meet Nedcor’s obligations in terms of the share incentive scheme.

Shareholders were also advised on 23 February 2004 that Nedcor intended to implement a rights issue, the terms of which will be
announced on SENS on 25 March 2004. Nedcor intends to raise R5 152 million of additional ordinary capital by way of a 100%
underwritten rights issue of new ordinary shares. The rights issue is underwritten by OMSA, Merrill Lynch and Deutsche Bank.

Subsequent to the year-end the group has entered into agreements to facilitate the reintegration of Peoples Bank into Nedbank and
to consolidate the banking licences of these two entities. The agreement is subject to regulatory approval.

In line with its stated objective of reducing the group’s exposure to offshore operations the group has subsequent to the year-end
entered into agreements to dispose of its interest in Chiswell Associates and BoE Life International Limited and is presently negotiating
the closure or disposal of a number of other offshore operations.

Directors’ interests
At 31 December the directors’ interests in shares in the company were as follows:

Beneficial Non-beneficial
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Mr CJW Ball 204 204
Mr TA Boardman
Dr IJ Botha** 68 000 78 539 8 183
Mr WAM Clewlow 2 000 2 000
Mr RG Cottrell 367 367
Mr BE Davison
Mr N Dennis
Prof B Figaji
Mr BJS Hore 98 423 98 423
Prof MM Katz 3 000 3 000
Mr MJ Levett 12 333 12 333
Mr CF Liebenberg 31 462 31 462
Mr JB Magwaza 105 105
Mr ME Mkwanazi 103 103
Mr SG Morris** 23 480 23 480
Mr DGS Muller 118 035 118 035 21 057 21 057
Mr ML Ndlovu 12 846 12 846
Mr PF Nhleko
Mrs TH Nyasulu
Mr JVF Roberts
Mr AA Routledge* 3 467 3 467 59 124 59 124
Mr CML Savage 5 863 5 863
Mr JH Sutcliffe

Total 140 273 140 273 319 392 329 931 204 8 387

None of the directors had any direct non-beneficial interest in the shares of the company during the year under review.
* Resigned with effect from 31 December 2003
** Resigned with effect from 23 February 2004
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At 31 December 2003 the directors’ interests in respect of the non-redeemable, non-cumulative preference shares of R0,001 each
in Nedbank Limited were as follows:

Beneficial Non-beneficial
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Mr CJW Ball 144 300 135 000
Mr TA Boardman 85 000 85 000
Dr IJ Botha** 75 000 58 000
Mr WAM Clewlow
Mr RG Cottrell 10 000 29 363 10 000
Mr BE Davison 18 700
Mr N Dennis 47 500 47 500
Prof B Figaji
Mr BJS Hore
Prof MM Katz 475 000 475 000 105 000 105 000
Mr MJ Levett
Mr CF Liebenberg 135 000 135 000
Mr JB Magwaza
Mr ME Mkwanazi 10 000 10 000
Mr SG Morris** 10 000 10 000
Mr DGS Muller
Mr ML Ndlovu
Mr PF Nhleko
Mrs TH Nyasulu
Mr JVF Roberts
Mr AA Routledge* 544 752 264 752 264 752 264 752
Mr CML Savage 212 700 142 500
Mr JH Sutcliffe

Total 1 077 252 797 252 595 700 432 500 542 115 464 752

There has been no material change in directors’ interests since 31 December 2003. There are 1 426 830 (2002: 1 841 030) options
outstanding that have been granted to executive directors in terms of the Nedcor Group (1994) Employee Incentive Scheme. Refer
to the remuneration report on pages 86 to 95 of this annual report.
* Resigned with effect from 31 December 2003
** Resigned with effect from 23 February 2004
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Group income statement
for the year ended 31 December

2002
2003 Restated

Notes Rm Rm

Interest income 22 28 141 23 607
Interest expense 23 21 333 17 652

Net interest income 6 808 5 955
Non-interest revenue 24 7 953 6 822
Foreign currency translation losses (1 416) (1 216)

Total income after foreign currency translation losses 13 345 11 561
Impairment of advances 8.4 2 063
Specific and general provisions 8.4 1 467
Exceptional general provision reversed 8.4 (400)

Income after impairment of advances 11 282 10 494
Operating expenses 25 9 950 7 366
Merger and reorganisation expenses 394 193

Profit from operations before exceptional items 938 2 935
Exceptional items 26 (1 693) (1 793)

(Loss)/Profit from operations (755) 1 142
Attributable earnings of associates and joint ventures 11.3 132 162

(Loss)/Profit before taxation (623) 1 304
Taxation 27.1 823 441
Taxation on merger and reorganisation expenses 27.2 (74) (23)
Taxation on exceptional items 27.3 (38) (192)

(Loss)/Profit after taxation (1 334) 1 078
Minority interest income attributable to ordinary shareholders (133) (203)
Minority interest income attributable to preference shareholders (133)

(Loss)/Income attributable to shareholders (1 600) 875

Earnings per share (cents) 28 (589) 346
Headline earnings per share (cents) 28 20 979
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 28 (588) 343
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 28 20 971
Dividend per share (cents) 240 515

(Loss)/Income attributable to ordinary shareholders (1 600) 875
Less: Non-headline-earnings items (1 655) (1 601)

Exceptional items 26 (1 693) (1 793)
Taxation on exceptional items 27.3 38 192

Headline earnings 55 2 476

Headline earnings reconciliation
for the year ended 31 December

2002
2003 Restated

Notes Rm Rm
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Group balance sheet
as at 31 December

2002
2003 Restated

Notes Rm Rm

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 4 12 227 16 607
Other short-term securities 5 10 610 14 987
Government and other securities 6 21 333 14 647
Derivative instruments 34 28 496 50 786
Advances 7 210 096 194 862
Sundry debtors 6 934 5 684
Deferred taxation assets 9 3 074 1 788
Current taxation prepaid 10 256 421
Investments:

Investments in associate companies and joint ventures 11 1 627 1 504
Other investments 12 3 788 5 429

Insurance assets 13 5 152 7 891
Property and equipment 14 2 684 2 854
Computer software and capitalised development costs 15.1 1 710 1 730
Goodwill 15.2 3 762 4 457
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 835 1 120

Total assets 312 584 324 767

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary share capital 16.1 275 271
Ordinary share premium 4 801 4 536
Reserves 6 571 12 239

Ordinary shareholders’ equity 11 647 17 046
Minority shareholders’ equity

Attributable to preference shareholders 16.2 2 802 1 987
Attributable to ordinary shareholders 652 503

Total shareholders’ equity and minority shareholders’ equity 15 101 19 536

Liabilities
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors 17 250 329 236 526
Derivative instruments 34 28 206 50 233
Deferred taxation liabilities 9 2 731 1 710
Current taxation liabilities 10 144 183
Insurance funds 18 5 152 7 891
Long-term debt instruments 19 10 086 7 568
Liabilities under acceptances 835 1 120

Total liabilities 297 483 305 231

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 312 584 324 767

Guarantees on behalf of customers excluded from assets 20 12 403 11 966
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Group statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the year ended 31 December

Ordinary Ordinary Reserves not
Number share share available for

of ordinary capital premium distribution
shares Rm Rm Rm

Balance at 31 December 2001 as previously reported 242 004 142 242 1 326 166
Opening adjustment (note 3)

Restated balance at 31 December 2001 242 004 142 242 1 326 166
Shares issued for options exercised under 
the Nedcor Group (1994) Employee Incentive Scheme 3 284 261 3 387
Shares issued on acquisition of BoE and NIB 23 085 017 24 2 537
Shares sold by subsidiary 3 542 662 3 453
Shares purchased by subsidiary (1 338 429) (1) (158)
Preference shares issued by Nedbank Limited
Share issue expenses (9)
Income attributable to shareholders
Transfer from/(to) reserves 263
Release of reserve previously not available* (332)
Foreign currency translation differences
Dividends to shareholders
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Other

Balance at 31 December 2002 270 577 653 271 4 536 97
AC133 transitional adjustments (note 3.1)

Restated balance at 1 January 2003 270 577 653 271 4 536 97
Shares issued for options exercised under
the Nedcor Group (1994) Employee Incentive Scheme 4 079 105 4 377
Shares sold by subsidiary 97 667 (111)
Preference shares issued by Nedbank Limited
Preference share issue expenses (1)
Preference share dividend paid
Loss attributable to shareholders
Transfer from/(to) reserves 266
Release of reserve previously not available* (357)
Foreign currency translation differences
Dividends to shareholders
Release of AC133 available for sale reserve
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Other

Balance at 31 December 2003 274 754 425 275 4 801 6

* Release of reserves previously not available relates to the difference between the market price and the exercise price of options granted to
employees that were exercised in the current year.
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Foreign Minority Total
currency Other non- AC133 Other Total ordinary Preference attributable share-

translation distributable available-for- distributable shareholders’ share capital to ordinary holders’
reserve reserves sale reserve reserves equity and premium shareholders equity

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

383 154 12 559 14 830 – 881 15 711
109 109 109

383 154 12 668 14 939 – 881 15 820

390 390
2 561 2 561

456 456
(159) (159)

– 2 000 2 000
(9) (13) (22)

875 875 203 1 078
(17) (246) – –

(332) (332)
(411) (411) (411)

(1 282) (1 282) (1 282)
(587) (587)

10 8 18 6 24

(28) 147 12 023 17 046 1 987 503 19 536
15 (2 109) (2 094) (2 094)

(28) 147 15 9 914 14 952 1 987 503 17 442

381 381
(111) (111)

– 825 825
(1) (10) (11)
– (133) (133)

(1 600) (1 600) 133 133 (1 334)
(40) (226) – –

(357) (357)
(181) (181) (181)

(1 395) (1 395) (1 395)
(15) (15) (15)

– 36 36
(26) (26) (20) (46)

(209) 107 – 6 667 11 647 2 802 652 15 101
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Group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December

2002
2003 Restated

Notes Rm Rm

Cash flow from operating activities 30.1 5 281 5 555

Cash received from clients 30.2 35 699 29 939
Cash paid to clients, staff and suppliers 30.3 (30 668) (24 633)
Dividends received on investments 152 173
Recoveries on loans previously written off 98 76

Change in working funds (14 124) 1 504

Increase in operating assets 30.4 (13 105) (10 311)
(Decrease)/Increase in operating liabilities 30.5 (1 019) 11 815

Cash (utilised)/generated by operating activities before taxation (8 843) 7 059
Taxation paid 30.6 (616) (765)

Net cash (utilised)/generated by operating activities (9 459) 6 294

Cash flows from investment activities 2 654 (7 096)

Acquisition of property and equipment (1 007) (1 944)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 145 902
Net income on investment banking assets 243 317
Net acquisition of investments in associate companies and other investments 3 291 1 108
Disposal of investments in subsidiary companies net of cash 30.7 236 78
Acquisition of investments in subsidiary companies net of cash 30.8 (254) (7 557)

Cash flows from financing activities 2 063 7 020

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 380 2 943
Proceeds from issue of preference shares by Nedbank Limited 815 1 987
Shares (repurchased)/sold by subsidiary company (111) 297
Net increase in subordinated debt instruments 2 507 3 075
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders 30.9 (1 395) (1 282)
Preference dividends paid (133)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and short-term funds
(excluding foreign borrowings) 362 (589)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and short-term funds (4 380) 5 629
Cash and short-term funds at beginning of year 16 607 10 978

Cash and short-term funds at end of year 12 227 16 607
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AC133: Balance sheet classifications
as at 31 December 2003

Assets Liabilities
Rm Rm

Marked-to-market 75 741 35 749

Held for trading 73 774 35 749
Available-for-sale 1 967

Amortised cost 236 843 261 734

Originated loans 224 033
Held to maturity 1 323
Non-trading liabilities 258 859
Other 11 487 2 875

Shareholders’ equity 15 101

312 584 312 584

AC133: Reserve adjustments
as at 31 December

2003
Rm

Available-for-sale reserve
Fair value adjustments 28
Taxation (8)
Minority interest (5)

Total adjustments to available-for-sale reserve 15

Other distributable reserves
Impairment of advances (1 700)
Fair value adjustments (1 205)
Taxation 795
Minority interest 1

Total adjustment to other distributable reserves opening balance (2 109)

Total adjustments to distributable reserves (2 094)
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Segmental analysis 
for the year ended 31 December

2002
2003 Restated

By business/operation Rm Rm

Corporate 2 047 1 614

Nedbank Corporate 1 931 1 532

– Corporate Banking 785 731
– Business Banking 644 375
– Property and Asset Finance 370 288
– International and Africa 132 138

Imperial Bank 116 82

Nedbank Capital 359 542

– Capital Markets 124 343
– Treasury 203 163
– Advisory 32 36

Retail and Wealth Management 584 1 021

Nedbank Retail and Wealth Management 564 719

– Retail 396 548
– Wealth Management 118 115
– Gerrard Private Bank 50 56

Peoples Bank 20 302

Shared Services (972) (581)

– Group Business Innovation and Operations (196) (261)
– Finance, Tax, Risk and Corporate Affairs (495) (269)
– Group Operations (281) (51)

Capital Management and Central Funding (241) 866

– Group Capital Management 414 1 120
– BoE funding (522) (254)
– Preference share dividend paid (133)

Foreign currency losses, merger and reorganisation expenses, 
general provision release (1 722) (986)

Headline earnings 55 2 476

Exceptional items net of taxation (1 655) (1 601)

(Loss)/Income attributable to ordinary shareholders (1 600) 875
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2002 2002
2003 Restated 2003 Restated 2002
Total total Gross gross 2003 Restated

average average operating operating Headline headline
assets* assets* income income earnings earnings

Segmental analysis Rbn Rbn Rm Rm Rm Rm

Nedbank Corporate 133 121 6 063 4 402 1 931 1 532
Nedbank Capital 142 87 1 511 1 347 359 542
Imperial Bank 11 7 785 507 116 82
Retail and Wealth Management 80 71 5 933 5 497 564 719
Peoples Bank 15 10 1 664 1 076 20 302
Shared Services 14 11 5 642 4 435 (972) (581)
Capital Management and Central Funding 35 25 (6 837) (4 487) (241) 866
Foreign currency losses,
merger and reorganisation expenses, 
general provision release (167) (103) (1 722) (986)

Total 263 229 14 761 12 777 55 2 476

*  Excluding derivative instruments

Basis of preparation
Segment results are based on management results and include revenue, provisioning, expenses and taxes directly attributable to a
segment and the relevant portion of revenue and expenses that can be allocated in a reasonable ratio to a segment, whether from
external transactions or transactions with other segments. Segment assets or liabilities are based on average balances and comprise
those operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to a segment or can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis.

2002
2003 Restated

Geographic – contribution to headline earnings Rm Rm

South Africa (422) 1 940

– South Africa – Operations 1 433 2 926
– Foreign currency losses, merger and reorganisation expenses, 

general provision release (1 722) (986)
– Preference share dividend paid (133)

Rest of Africa 198 272
Rest of world 279 264

Headline earnings 55 2 476
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Segmental analysis – Business/operational reporting
for the year ended 31 December

Nedcor Nedbank Corporate Imperial Bank
2002 2002 2002

2003 Restated 2003 Restated 2003 Restated

Average assets (Rbn)
Short-term funds and trading securities 32 31 5 5 1 1
Mortgage loans 60 56 14 11 3 2
Credit card balances 3 4
Leases and instalment debtors 24 19 13 9 6 4
Loans and overdrafts 111 92 98 92
Other assets 33 27 3 4 1

Total assets 263 229 133 121 11 7

Total interest-earning assets 230 202 130 118 10 7

Current and savings accounts 38 31 13 9
Deposit and loan accounts 201 176 113 104 10 6
Long-term debt 7 5 1
Allocated capital 17 17 7 7 1 1

Equity and liabilities 263 229 133 121 11 7

Income statement (Rm)
Net interest income 6 808 5 955 4 171 2 921 574 371
Non-interest revenue 7 953 6 822 1 892 1 481 211 136

Gross operating income 14 761 12 777 6 063 4 402 785 507
Total impairments 2 063 1 467 587 601 232 105

Net operating income 12 698 11 310 5 476 3 801 553 402
Operating expenses 9 950 7 366 2 956 2 016 326 181

Net (loss)/profit before tax 2 748 3 944 2 520 1 785 227 221
Taxation 823 441 661 365 (4) 57

Net (loss)/profit after tax 1 925 3 503 1 859 1 420 231 164
Associate and joint venture income 132 162 72 120
Minority shareholders’ interest 133 203 8 115 82
Preference dividend paid 133

Income before: 1 791 3 462 1 931 1 532 116 82
Foreign currency losses (1 416) (1 216)
General provision reversal 400
Merger and reorganisation expenses (320) (170)

Headline earnings 55 2 476 1 931 1 532 116 82

Selected ratios
Return on average assets (%) 0,0 1,1 1,5 1,3 1,1 1,1
Return on average equity (%) 0,3 14,8 28,4 22,8 16,5 10,7
Interest margin (%) 3,0 3,0 3,2 2,5 5,5 5,2
Impairments to net interest income (%) 30,3 24,6 14,1 20,6 40,4 28,4
Impairments to advances (%) 3,2 4,4 1,8 1,3 13,7 3,9
Non-interest revenue to gross income (%) 53,9 53,4 31,2 33,6 26,9 26,8
Efficiency ratio (%) 48,8 45,8 41,5 35,7
Effective tax rate (%) 29,9 11,2 26,2 20,5 (1,8) 25,8
Staff complement (average) 24 273 22 153 4 769 3 390 566 388
Staff complement (year-end) 24 205 25 240 4 534 4 725 643 501
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Nedbank Retail and
Nedbank Capital Wealth Management Peoples Bank

2002 2002 2002
2003 Restated 2003 Restated 2003 Restated

Average assets (Rbn)
Short-term funds and trading securities 27 27 3 4 1 1
Mortgage loans 35 29 8 7
Credit card balances 3 4
Leases and instalment debtors 5 4
Loans and overdrafts 114 58 24 24 5 2
Other assets 1 2 10 6 1

Total assets 142 87 80 71 15 10

Total interest-earning assets 141 86 72 66 15 10

Current and savings accounts 19 18 5 1
Deposit and loan accounts 141 85 56 48 8 7
Long-term debt
Allocated capital 1 2 5 5 2 2

Equity and liabilities 142 87 80 71 15 10

Income statement (Rm)
Net interest income (147) 91 2 926 2 791 1 149 792
Non-interest revenue 1 658 1 256 3 007 2 706 515 284

Gross operating income 1 511 1 347 5 933 5 497 1 664 1 076
Total impairments 189 (8) 532 538 401 254

Net operating income 1 322 1 355 5 401 4 959 1 263 822
Operating expenses 773 617 4 595 3 957 1 159 557

Net (loss)/profit before tax 549 738 806 1 002 104 265
Taxation 190 197 243 271 70 (167)

Net (loss)/profit after tax 359 541 563 731 34 432
Associate and joint venture income 1 18 8
Minority shareholders’ interest 17 20 130
Preference dividend paid

Income before: 359 542 564 719 34 302
Foreign currency losses
General provision reversal
Merger and reorganisation expenses (14)

Headline earnings 359 542 564 719 20 302

Selected ratios
Return on average assets (%) 0,3 0,6 0,7 1,0 0,1 3,1
Return on average equity (%) 29,5 37,1 10,7 14,1 1,1 18,9
Interest margin (%) (0,1) 0,1 4,1 4,2 7,8 8,2
Impairments to net interest income (%) (128,4) (8,7) 18,2 19,3 34,9 32,1
Impairments to advances (%) 0,1 0,2 2,0 1,9 6,7 14,3
Non-interest revenue to gross income (%) 109,7 93,2 50,7 49,2 31,0 26,4
Efficiency ratio (%) 51,2 45,8 77,4 72,0 69,6 51,7
Effective tax rate (%) 34,7 26,7 30,1 27,0 67,5 (62,8)
Staff complement (average) 790 662 5 357 5 166 2 261 1 331
Staff complement (year-end) 785 759 5 240 5 664 2 027 1 345
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Eliminations,
translation losses,

merger and 
reorganisation, and

Capital Management general provision
Shared Services and Central Funding release

2002 2002 2002
2003 Restated 2003 Restated 2003 Restated

Average assets (Rbn)
Short-term funds and trading securities 1 1 (6) (8)
Mortgage loans 2 5
Credit card balances
Leases and instalment debtors 2
Loans and overdrafts 26 15 (156) (99)
Other assets 13 11 9 7 (5) (3)

Total assets 14 11 35 25 (167) (103)

Total interest-earning assets 4 28 20 (166) (109)

Current and savings accounts 2 1 1
Deposit and loan accounts 18 14 18 13 (163) (101)
Long-term debt 7 4
Allocated capital (4) (3) 10 6 (5) (3)

Equity and liabilities 14 11 35 25 (167) (103)

Income statement (Rm)
Net interest income (729) (575) (1 136) (436)
Non-interest revenue 6 371 5 010 (5 701) (4 051)

Gross operating income 5 642 4 435 (6 837) (4 487)
Total impairments 8 18 114 (41)

Net operating income 5 634 4 417 (6 951) (4 446)
Operating expenses 6 490 4 932 (6 349) (4 894)

Net (loss)/profit before tax (856) (515) (602) 448
Taxation 158 (1) (495) (281)

Net (loss)/profit after tax (1 014) (514) (107) 729
Associate and joint venture income 43 26 (1) 7
Minority shareholders’ interest 1 93 (130)
Preference dividend paid 133

(Loss)/Income before: (972) (581) (241) 866
Foreign currency losses (1 416) (1 216)
General provision reversal 400
Merger and reorganisation expenses (306) (170)

Headline earnings (972) (581) (241) 866 (1 722) (986)

Selected ratios
Return on average assets (%)
Return on average equity (%)
Interest margin (%)
Impairments to net interest income (%)
Impairments to advances (%)
Non-interest revenue to gross income (%)
Efficiency ratio (%)
Effective tax rate (%)
Staff complement (average) 10 507 10 879 23 338
Staff complement (year-end) 10 956 11 568 20 678

Segmental analysis – Business/operational reporting
for the year ended 31 December
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

1. Significant accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with, and comply with, South African Statements of
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and the requirements of the South African Companies Act and the Banks Act. The
financial statements are prepared on the historical-cost basis, except for certain assets and liabilities in respect of which the
bank adopts the fair-value basis of accounting. These assets and liabilities include:
• financial assets and liabilities held for short-term trading;
• financial assets classified as available-for-sale;
• derivative financial instruments; and
• financial instruments elected to be carried at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted and applied are set out below and are in all material respects consistent with those of
the previous year with the exception of the change in the basis of accounting and certain restatements as set out in note 3. In
accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, the group has adopted the accounting
standard AC133 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ with effect from 1 January 2003. AC133 is a
prospective statement, which means that reported historical figures are adjusted to the new basis of accounting, but such
adjustments are not restated by way of comparatives. Instead, adjustments to determine the measurement of assets and
liabilities are recognised as opening transitional adjustments in retained earnings, details of which are disclosed in note 3.1.

The accounting policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with those of the holding company.

1.1 Consolidated financial statements
The group financial statements comprise Nedcor Limited and its subsidiaries (referred to as the group) and the group’s
interest in associates.

1.1.1 Investments in subsidiary companies
Subsidiary companies are those enterprises controlled by the group. Control exists when the group has the power, directly
or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Special-
purpose entities are consolidated when the substance of the relationship between the group and the special-purpose entity
indicates that the special-purpose entity is controlled by the group. The financial statements of all subsidiaries are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

1.1.2 Investments in associate companies
Associate companies are those enterprises in which the group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. The equity method of accounting for associates is adopted in the group financial statements. In applying
the equity method, the carrying amount reflected in the group financial statements include the group’s share of the
accumulated retained earnings and movements in reserves of associates, from the date that significant influence commences
until the date that significant influence ceases. When the group’s share of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the
associate, the carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the
group has incurred or guaranteed obligations in respect of the associate.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of associates is included in the carrying amount of the associate and is treated in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for goodwill. The carrying values of investments in associate companies are
adjusted for the amortisation of goodwill.

The group’s share of associates’ retained earnings and reserves is determined from the associates’ latest audited or
unaudited financial statements. Where financial statements with a different reporting date are used, adjustments are made
for the effects of any significant events or transactions between the group and the associate that occur between the date of
the associate’s financial statements and the date of the group’s financial statements.

1.1.3 Investments in joint ventures
Joint ventures are those enterprises over which the group exercises joint control in terms of a contractual agreement. Joint
ventures are accounted for utilising the equity method of accounting, as outlined in 1.1.2 above.

1.1.4 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances and transactions, and all profits and losses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the group financial statements. Unrealised losses are not eliminated to the extent that they provide evidence of
impairment.

1.1.5 Goodwill and negative goodwill
Goodwill arises as the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of subsidiaries and associates and joint ventures acquired. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life not
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.1 Consolidated financial statements (continued)

exceeding 20 years. Any gain or loss on the disposal of an interest in an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the disposal of that interest.

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition represents any excess of the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired over the cost of the acquisition. To the extent that negative goodwill relates to an expectation of future losses
and expenses that are identified in the plan of acquisition and can be measured reliably, but do not represent identifiable
liabilities at the date of acquisition, it is recognised in the income statement when the future losses and expenses are
recognised. Any remaining negative goodwill, not exceeding the fair values of the identified acquired depreciable assets, is
recognised in the income statement over the weighted average useful life of the identified depreciable/amortisable non-
monetary assets. The balance of negative goodwill in excess of the fair values of the identified acquired depreciable assets
is recognised immediately in the income statement.

1.2 Financial instruments
Financial instruments as reflected on the balance sheet include all assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, but
exclude investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, employee benefit plans, property and
equipment, deferred taxation, taxation payable, intangible assets and goodwill. AC133 requires all financial instruments to be
classified into one of four categories.

• Originated loans and receivables and non-trading liabilities
The bank has classified the bulk of its financial assets and liabilities as ‘originated loans’ and ‘non-trading liabilities’, which
are carried at amortised cost.

• Held-for-trading
AC133 requires certain financial instruments to be measured at their fair value. This includes all derivatives and instruments
held for trading purposes. Trading instruments (whether assets or liabilities) are those that the group principally holds for the
purpose of short-term profit taking. All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (in the money), as well as options
purchased, are reported as trading assets. All trading derivatives in a net payable position (out of the money), as well as
options written, are reported as trading liabilities. As permitted under AC133 the group has elected to designate certain
financial instruments at their fair value to reflect the match between such items and their hedge. The fair-value adjustment at
1 January 2003 required in respect of the above financial instruments is recognised as an adjustment to opening retained
income and thereafter to the income statement.

• Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the group has
the intent and ability to hold to maturity, other than those that upon initial recognition were designated as held-for-trading or
available-for-sale, or that meet the definition of originated loans and receivables. Such investments are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment.

• Available-for-sale
Financial assets are classified as available-for-sale where the intention, origination and designation of the instrument do not
fall within the ambit of the other financial asset classifications. Available-for-sale instruments are typically assets that are held
for a longer period and in respect of which short-term fluctuations in value do not affect the group’s hold or sell decision. The
bank recognises fair-value gains and losses on these investments directly in equity along with the associated deferred
taxation. However, when available-for-sale equity instruments are determined to be impaired to the extent that the fair value
declines below its original cost, the resultant losses are recognised in the income statement.

Recognition
The group recognises financial assets held-for-trading and available-for-sale assets on the date it becomes party to the
contractual provisions to purchase the assets and applies trade date accounting for ‘regular way’ purchases and sales. From
this date any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the assets are recognised. Held-to-maturity loans and
originated loans and receivables are recognised on the day they are transferred to the group or the day the funds are advanced.

Measurement
Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition all trading
instruments and all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value, except that any instrument that does not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured is stated at cost, including
transaction costs, less impairment losses.

All non-trading financial liabilities, originated loans and receivables and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised
cost less impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method. Premiums and discounts,
including initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the
effective interest rate of the instrument.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.2 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair-value measurement principles
The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any deduction
for transaction costs. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using pricing
models or discounted cash flow techniques. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows
are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market-related rate at the balance sheet date for an
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where pricing models are used, inputs are based on market-related measures
at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of derivatives of non-exchange-traded instruments is estimated at the amount that the group would receive or
pay to terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking into account current market conditions and the current
creditworthiness of the counterparties.

Embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative arises when derivatives are a component of a financial instrument in such a way that the cash flows
in respect of the instrument vary in a similar way to those in respect of a standalone derivative. Where the value of embedded
derivatives can be reliably measured, embedded derivatives are accounted for separately at their fair value.

Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of available-for-sale assets are recognised directly in equity. When
the financial assets are sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred
to the income statement. Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of trading instruments are recognised in
the income statement.

Impairments for credit losses
A financial instrument is impaired if its carrying value is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. When an advance is
uncollectable, it is written off against the related impairment. Subsequent recoveries are credited to the income statement in
the period in which it occurred. Advances are written off once all reasonable attempts at collection have been made and there
is no probable likelihood of collection. If the amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring
after the initial impairment, the reversal is reflected in the income statement in the period in which it occurred.

Specific advances impairment
The group creates a specific impairment when there is objective evidence that it will not be able to collect all amounts due.
The amount of such impairment is the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, calculated as
the present value of expected future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted
at the effective interest rate at the inception of the advance.

Portfolio impairment
The group creates a portfolio impairment where there is objective evidence that components of the advances portfolio contain
probable losses at the balance sheet date, which will only be identified in the future, or where there is insufficient data reliably
to determine whether such losses exist. The estimated probable losses are based on historical information and take into
account historical patterns of losses in each component, the credit ratings allocated to the borrowers and the current
economic climate in which the borrowers operate.

Specific instruments
1.2.1 Cash and short-term funds

Cash and short-term funds comprise coins and bank notes, money at call and short notice and balances with central banks.

Life assurance operations
Securities and other investments held by life assurance operations are stated at fair value. Gains and losses on the
remeasurement to fair value are included in the insurance underwriting surplus, which forms part of non-interest revenue in the
income statement. Gains and losses realised on these investments are also included in the insurance underwriting surplus.

1.2.2 Properties in possession
Unsold properties in possession are included under advances and are accounted for as originated loans and carried at the
lower of amortised cost or recoverable amount.

1.3 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will occur, and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

1.3.1 Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the group from a contract are
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under the contract.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.3 Provisions (continued)
1.3.2 Leave pay

The provision for leave pay represents the amount that the group has a present obligation to pay as a result of employees’
services provided to the balance sheet date. The provision is measured as the amount that the group expects to pay as a
result of the unused leave entitlement that has accumulated at the balance sheet date, taking into account the undiscounted
amount of current costs to employer per employee.

1.4 Property and equipment
Freehold land is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Other items of property (both owner-occupied and
investment properties) and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis on all items of property and equipment, other than freehold land, over the
estimated useful lives of these assets.

The relevant estimated useful lives of items of property and equipment are as follows:
Freehold buildings 50 years
Leasehold improvements 10 – 20 years
Computer equipment 3 – 5 years
Furniture and other equipment 4 – 10 years
Vehicles 3 – 6 years

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property and equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future economic
benefits from the use of the asset will be increased beyond its original assessed standard of performance. All other
subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Surpluses or deficits on the disposal
of property and equipment are recognised in the income statement. The surplus or deficit is the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

1.5 Intangible assets
1.5.1 Computer software and development costs

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding and expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands are recognised in the income statement as an
expense as incurred.

Expenditure on computer software and other development activities, whereby set procedures and processes are applied to a
project for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if the computer software
and other developed products or processes are technically and commercially feasible and the group has sufficient resources
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct and indirect staff costs and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Computer development expenditure is capitalised only once the relevant software has
been commissioned. Capitalised computer development expenditure is stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Computer development expenditure, which has not yet been commissioned, is stated at cost.

Amortisation on computer software and development costs is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of these assets, not exceeding five years.

Subsequent expenditure relating to computer software is capitalised when it is probable that future economic benefits from
the use of assets will be increased beyond its original assessed standard of performance. All other subsequent expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Surpluses or deficits on the disposal of computer software
are recognised in the income statement. The surplus or deficit is the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset.

1.6 Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment, in which case their recoverable amounts are estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss will be reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a change
in the estimates used previously to determine the recoverable amount, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. For goodwill a recognised impairment loss is not reversed, unless the impairment loss was caused by a specific
external event of an exceptional nature that is not expected to recur and the increase clearly relates to the reversal of the
effect of that specific event.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling price and its value in use. Net selling price is determined
by ascertaining the current market value of an asset and deducting any costs related to the realisation of the asset.



ANNUAL REPORT 03

145

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.6 Impairment of assets (continued)

In assessing value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pretax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an
asset whose cash flows are largely dependent on those of other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

1.7 Leases
The following accounting policies apply in respect of leases where a group company is the lessee:

1.7.1 Finance leases
Leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the group are classified
as finance leases. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of fair value and the present value
of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, and amortised over the estimated useful life of the asset. The capital
element of future obligations under the leases is included as a liability in the balance sheet. Lease payments are allocated
using the effective interest rate method to determine the lease finance cost, which is charged against income over the lease
period, and the capital repayment, which reduces the liability to the lessor.

1.7.2 Operating leases
Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

1.8 Taxation
Current taxation comprises taxation payable, calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the
tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment of taxation payable for previous periods.

Deferred taxation is provided using the balance sheet liability method, based on temporary differences. Temporary differences
are differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The
amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred taxation is charged to the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity or a business combination that is an
acquisition. The effect on deferred taxation of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available, against which
the associated unutilised tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be used. Deferred-tax assets are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefits will be realised. This reduction is recognised in either the
income statement or directly in equity, depending on how the deferred tax asset was initially raised.

1.9 Foreign currency
1.9.1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange ruling at the transaction date. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Gains
and losses arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Foreign exchange trading positions, including spot
and forward exchange contracts, are valued at current market rates taking maturity profiles into account, and resultant profits
or losses are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

1.9.2 Foreign-operation financial statements
A foreign operation is a subsidiary, associate, joint venture or branch of Nedcor Limited, the activities of which are based or
conducted in a country other than South Africa.

A foreign entity is a foreign operation, the activities of which are not an integral part of those of the reporting enterprise.

Foreign-entity financial statements are translated into the reporting currency as follows:
• assets and liabilities are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date; and
• income, expenditure and cash flow items are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the period.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of a foreign entity are taken directly to a foreign currency translation reserve
disclosed as part of non-distributable reserves. Goodwill and fair-value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are translated at the closing rate.



ANNUAL REPORT 03

146

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.9 Foreign currency (continued)

Integrated foreign-operation financial statements are translated into the reporting currency as follows:
• transactions and resulting non-monetary items are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date;
• income statement items are translated at the appropriate weighted average exchange rates for the period; and
• monetary assets and liabilities are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.

Translation gains and losses arising from the translation of integrated foreign operations are recognised in the income
statement for the period in which the translation arises.

1.10 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised up to the date that the assets are substantially
complete. Qualifying assets are those that necessarily take a substantial period to prepare for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.11 Segment reporting
A segment is defined as a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in providing products or services
(operation segment), which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segments with
a majority of revenue earned from charges to external clients and whose revenue, results or assets are 10% or more of all
segments are reported separately. Segment reporting is based on the group’s internal organisational and management
structure and its system of internal financial reporting.

Segment results include revenue, impairments, expenses and taxes directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion
of enterprise revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from external
transactions or from transactions with other group segments. Intersegment transfer pricing is based on cost. Segment assets
and liabilities comprise those operating assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to a segment or can be allocated to
the segment on a reasonable basis.

1.12 Employee benefits
The group offers postemployment benefits, comprising retirement benefits and postretirement medical benefits, to employees
and their dependants in terms of various defined-contribution and defined-benefit plans.

1.12.1 Defined-contribution plans
Benefits offered in terms of defined-contribution plans comprise retirement benefits. Contributions to defined-contribution
plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement when the employee becomes entitled to them.

1.12.2 Defined-benefit plans
Benefits offered in terms of defined-benefit plans comprise retirement benefits and postretirement medical benefits. The
group’s defined-benefit obligation in respect of each plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that the
employees have earned, in return for their service in the current and prior periods, in terms of each plan. That benefit is
discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield
at balance sheet date on government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the term of the group’s obligation. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected-unit credit method. The present value of the defined-benefit
obligation and the fair value of any plan assets are determined with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognised in the
financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the balance sheet date.

In calculating the group’s obligation in respect of a plan, to the extent that any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss
at the beginning of the year exceeds 10% of the greater of the present value of the defined-benefit obligation at the beginning
of the year (before deducting the fair value of plan assets) and the fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year that
portion is recognised in the income statement over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees
participating in the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognised in the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the group, the recognised asset is limited to the total of any cumulative
unrecognised net actuarial losses and past-service costs and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. The following are recognised immediately to the
extent that they arise while a defined-benefit asset is determined but not recognised in part or in full:
• Net actuarial losses and past-service costs of the current period to the extent that they exceed any reduction in the present value

of the economic benefits specified above. If there is no change or an increase in the present value of the economic benefits, the
entire net actuarial losses of the current period and past-service costs of the current period are recognised immediately.

• Net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past-service costs of the current period to the extent that
they exceed any increase in the present value of the economic benefits specified above. If there is no change or a decrease
in the present value of the economic benefits, the entire net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past-
service costs of the current period are recognised immediately.
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.12 Employee benefits (continued)
1.12.3 Equity compensation benefits

The group grants share options to employees under an employee share incentive scheme. Other than costs incurred in
administering the scheme, which are expensed as incurred, the scheme does not result in any expense to the group other
than a dilution in earnings per share when the shares are issued.

1.13 Managed funds and trust activities
Certain companies in the group operate unit trusts, hold and invest funds on behalf of clients and act as trustees and in other
fiduciary capacities. Assets and liabilities representing such activities are not reflected on the balance sheet, as these relate
directly to clients. The values of these items are disclosed in note 31. Income from these activities is brought to account over
the period to which the service relates.

1.14 Share capital
1.14.1 Preference share capital

Preference share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable and any dividends are discretionary at the option of
the directors. Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the
shareholders and dividends thereon are recognised in the income statement as an interest expense.

1.14.2 Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable
costs, is recognised as a change in equity. Shares repurchased by the issuing company are cancelled. Shares repurchased
by wholly owned group companies are classified as treasury shares, and held at cost. These shares are treated as a
deduction from the issued and weighted average numbers of shares and the cost price of the shares is presented as
a deduction from total equity. The par value of the shares is presented as a deduction from ordinary share capital and the
remainder of the cost is presented as a deduction from ordinary share premium. Dividends received on treasury shares are
eliminated on consolidation.

1.14.3 Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

1.15 Revenue recognition
The group’s revenue relates mainly to banking activities and comprises the following:

1.15.1 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense is recognised in the income statement on the effective interest rate method taking into account
the expected timing and amount of cash flows. Interest income and expense include the amortisation of any discount or
premium or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity
calculated on an effective interest rate basis. Interest income includes income in respect of government grants received as
compensation for subsidised interest on advances to exporters in line with the conditions set out in the South African export
credit support agreement.

1.15.2 Non-interest revenue
Non-interest revenue includes commission and fees, exchange and securities trading income, dividends from investments,
and net gains on the sale of investment banking assets. The net income from non-banking activities, which comprise property
development, insurance-related activities and computer-related services, is also included in non-interest revenue.

Non-interest revenue as defined above, is recognised in the income statement when the amount of revenue from the
transaction or service can be measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits of the transaction or service will flow
to the group and the costs associated with the transaction or service can be measured reliably.

1.16 Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the balance sheet, when there is a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts and the intention is to settle the amounts on a net basis or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

1.17 Life assurance operations
Provision is made for outstanding premiums due on policies accepted at the balance sheet date, net of reinsurance premiums
and adjusted for reinsurance commissions. The life assurance fund represents net revenue from business for the current and
all prior years as a reserve against future claims. Commission paid in acquiring business is expensed in the period incurred.

In terms of AC133, policyholder contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk are classified as investment contracts
and reflected in the financial statements at fair value, with changes in fair value being accounted for in the income statement.
These contracts are disclosed as ‘Policyholder liabilities under investment contracts’. The premium income, benefit
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.17 Life assurance operations (continued)

payments, investment income, commissions and taxation relating to the assets backing these investment contracts, have
been excluded from the income statement and accounted for directly against the liability. Fees earned from these products
are disclosed separately in the income statement.

1.18 Comparative figures
Comparative figures are restated, where necessary, to afford a proper comparison. Such restatements are explained in note 3.

2. Related party information
2.1 Parent company

The holding company of Nedcor Limited is Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (SA) Limited and associates, which hold
51,02% of the company’s ordinary shares. The ultimate holding company is Old Mutual plc, incorporated in the United
Kingdom, England and Wales.

2.2 Identity of related parties with whom material transactions have occurred
Material subsidiaries of the group are identified on page 188 and the associates and joint ventures on page 186. All of these
entities are related parties.

2.3 Material related-party transactions
Nedcor Limited and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of business, enter into various financial services transactions with
associates, joint ventures and other entities within the greater Nedcor and Old Mutual group. These transactions are
governed by terms no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.
• Loans to and from related parties with the company (see page 188).
• Long-term debt instrument with Old Mutual South Africa – R2 005 million (note 19).
• Dividends received from related parties.
• Dividends paid to holding company – R710 million (2002: R659 million).
• Share repurchases and sales of treasury shares.
• Interest income and expenditure.
• Fees and commission.

2.4 Director and director-related entities
Details of directors’ shareholdings in the company are disclosed in the Directors’ report (see page 127). There are no material
contracts with directors other than regarding the directors’ emoluments (see pages 86 to 95).
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3. Change in basis of accounting, restatement and reclassification of prior-year figures
3.1 Change in basis of accounting

During the year the group changed its basis of accounting and implemented AC133. AC133 impacts on the recognition and
measurement of financial instruments, including credit impairments against advances. To address the prospective nature of
the statement the transitional adjustments to carrying values of financial instruments at 1 January 2003 are recognised in
opening retained income or equity.

• Internal transactions
Prior to AC133 common local and international banking practice was to recognise internal hedging derivatives. Risks were
pooled and managed centrally at a groupwide level. AC133 prescribes the accounting treatment for hedges and accordingly
banks have been required to reconsider the accounting treatment of internal hedges. Nedcor has identified and eliminated
all internal transactions, thereby reflecting external derivatives only.

• Non-qualifying foreign exchange hedges and structured transactions
Items that were hedged with forward exchange contracts have in certain cases in the past been recognised at the forward
rate to reflect their hedged nature. In terms of AC133 all derivatives, including forward exchange contracts, are recognised
at their fair value. Some structured transactions did not qualify as hedges under AC133 and the necessary adjustments at
1 January 2003 are recognised in opening retained income and thereafter in the income statement.

Rm

Impact on reserves at 1 January 2003
Credit impairment adjustments
Release of general provision 1 717
Additional impairments (3 417)

(1 700)
Taxation 510

(1 190)
Attributable to minority shareholders 2

(1 188)

Fair-value adjustments
Revaluation of held-for-trading portfolios (570)
Revaluation of specific impairments 28
Adjustment in respect of leases (199)
Non-qualifying foreign exchange hedges (436)

(1 177)
Taxation 277

(900)
Attributable to minority shareholders (6)

(906)

Total impact on attributable and headline earnings (2 094)
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3. Change in basis of accounting, restatement and reclassification of prior-year figures (continued)
3.1 Change in basis of accounting (continued)

Rm

Impact on reserves 
for the year ended 31 December 2003
Credit impairment adjustments
Release of impairments 56
Taxation (17)

39
Attributable to minority shareholders 38

77

Fair-value adjustments
Revaluation of held-for-trading portfolios 409
Realised loss on available-for-sale portfolios (29)
Adjustment in respect of leases 104

484
Taxation (145)

339
Attributable to minority shareholders 3

342

Total impact on attributable and headline earnings 419

3.2 Restatement of 2002 figures in respect of net interest income and deferred taxation
Structured finance transactions with clients are transactions where Nedcor pass tax benefits from permanent or temporary
tax deductions on to clients in the form of lower effective funding costs. In prior years Nedcor followed the practice of grossing
up the net interest income to include the tax benefit and providing deferred tax on the higher net interest income, thereby
reflecting the position that would have existed had Nedcor not passed its tax benefits on to clients. To ensure full compliance
with AC102 it was decided to present the net interest income actually earned in accordance with the effective interest rate
method and, consequently, not to raise additional deferred tax. The net interest income and deferred tax for the year ended
31 December 2002, as included in the comparative figures, have been restated to reflect this change.

The effect of this restatement on the group annual financial statements is as follows:

Adjusted Prior
2002 year

Rm Rm

Impact on the income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2002
Interest income (142)
Taxation 142

Impact on the balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2002
Decrease in sundry debtors (348) (318)
Increase in sundry creditors (491) (387)
Increase in deferred tax assets 1 098
(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax liability (259) 705
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3. Change in basis of accounting, restatement and reclassification of prior-year figures (continued)
3.3 Reclassification in 2002 of minority interest in Peoples Bank to interest-bearing liabilities

In January 2002 investor consortiums subscribed for a 30% interest in Peoples Bank through a series of special purpose
entities (‘SPEs’). Each investor in the structure holds the entire share capital of the SPE established for purposes of its
investment. Various funders subscribed for redeemable preference shares in each of the SPEs. Apart from the redemption
provisions of the preference shares, the funders have the right to put their shares to Nedbank after three years at a price,
which provides the funders with an internal rate of return of 20%, taking into account all the previous cash flows.

In accordance with AC412: ‘Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities’, Nedbank is assumed to control the SPEs and these
should therefore be consolidated into the Nedcor Group annual financial statements. Consequently, from a group
perspective, the 30% interest in Peoples Bank is considered not to have been sold and therefore the group annual financial
statements should not reflect a minority interest in respect of Peoples Bank. Furthermore, since Nedbank has effectively
guaranteed a 20% return to the funders, it should recognise a financial liability in this regard. The group annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2002 reflected an amount in respect of Peoples Bank minorities. In the
comparative figures included in the group annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2003 that amount
attributed to minorities in the balance sheet has been reclassified as interest-bearing liabilities and the deduction in the income
statement for the minority interest in profit after tax was reclassified as an interest expense.

The effect of this reclassification is as follows: Rm

Impact on the balance sheet at 31 December 2002
Amount previously attributed to Peoples Bank minorities reclassified as interest-bearing liabilities 586
Impact on the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2002
Minority interest in profit after tax reclassified as interest expense 130

3.4 Reclassification in 2002 of capitalised development costs
Nedcor misclassified certain capitalised development costs as sundry debtors at 31 December 2002. As a result, capitalised
development costs recorded within sundry debtors have been reclassified as capitalised development costs in the
comparative figures at 31 December 2003.

The effect of this reclassification is as follows: Rm

Impact on the balance sheet at 31 December 2002
Amount previously included in sundry debtors reclassified as capitalised development costs 92

3.5 Restatement in 2002 of historical foreign currency translation gains, prior-year debit items and losses
on the Business Banking book
An amount of R610 million in respect of historic foreign currency translation gains previously not recognised was released in
the 2002 income statement. Of this amount R405 million was included across various income and expense lines, but was
offset by expense items relating to the prior year and totalling R308 million. The remaining R205 million gain was included in
net foreign currency translation losses. These amounts have been removed from the 2002 income statement along with a
further adjustment of R193 million (post-tax) to reallocate the losses from the Business Banking book, and have been
allocated to the years to which they relate. The cumulative effect of these adjustments had the net effect of reducing headline
earnings in 2002 by R109 million and increased opening retained earnings by an equal amount.

3.6 Derivative gross-up
In the prior year derivatives were reflected on a net basis within the balance sheet. AC133 requires derivatives to be reported
on a gross basis. The comparatives have been restated to ensure compliance with this requirement.

3.7 Cash flow
Foreign currency translation losses of R1 416 million (2002: R1 216 million) have been adjusted as non-cash flow items in
the reconciliation of ‘profit from operations’ to ‘cash flow from operating activities’ (note 30.1). In the prior year this balance
was reflected as an adjustment to changes in working funds. The comparatives have been restated to afford comparability.
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3. Change in basis of accounting, restatement and reclassification of prior-year figures (continued)
3.8 Effects of restatements to 2002 income statement and balance sheet

The total effect of changes in the restatement and reclassification of 2002 figures per notes 3.2 to 3.6 are as follows:

3.8.1 Income statement (restated)
Change

in basis of Prior-year
Peoples accounting Historical Prior- losses on

Bank relating to currency year Business
As put AC105/ translation debit Banking

previously option AC102 gains items book 
Rm reported (note 3.3) (note 3.2) (note 3.5) (note 3.5) (note 3.5) Restated

Interest income 23 822 (142) (256) 183 23 607
Interest expense 17 522 130 17 652

Net interest income 6 300 (130) (142) (256) 183 5 955
Non-interest revenue 6 929 (115) 8 6 822
Foreign currency translation losses (1 011) (205) (1 216)

Total income 12 218 (130) (142) (576) 191 11 561
Specific and general provisions 1 778 (35) (276) 1 467
Exceptional general 
provision reversed (400) (400)

Income after specific and 
general provisions 10 840 (130) (142) (576) 226 276 10 494
Operating expenses 7 334 82 (50) 7 366
Merger and reorganisation expenses 193 193

Profit from operations before 
exceptional items 3 313 (130) (142) (658) 276 276 2 935
Exceptional items (1 793) (1 793)

Profit from operations 1 520 (130) (142) (658) 276 276 1 142
Attributable earnings of associates 162 162

Profit before taxation 1 682 (130) (142) (658) 276 276 1 304
Taxation 580 (142) (48) (32) 83 441
Taxation on merger and 
reorganisation expenses (23) (23)
Taxation on exceptional items (192) (192)

Profit after taxation 1 317 (130) – (610) 308 193 1 078
Minority interest attributable 
to ordinary shareholders (333) 130 (203)

Income attributable to 
shareholders 984 – – (610) 308 193 875
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3. Change in basis of accounting, restatement and reclassification of prior-year figures (continued)
3.8 Effects of restatements to 2002 income statement and balance sheet (continued)

3.8.2 Balance sheet (restated)

Change in
basis of Develop-

Peoples accounting ment
Bank relating to cost

As put AC102/ reclass- Derivative
previously option AC105 ification gross-up

Rm reported (note 3.3) (note 3.2) (note 3.4) (note 3.6) Restated

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 16 607 16 607
Other short-term securities 14 987 14 987
Government and other securities 14 647 14 647
Derivative instruments 553 50 233 50 786
Advances 194 862 194 862
Sundry debtors 6 124 (348) (92) 5 684
Deferred taxation asset 690 1 098 1 788
Current taxation prepaid 421 421
Investments:

Investments in associate companies 1 504 1 504
Other investments 5 429 5 429

Insurance assets 7 891 7 891
Property and equipment 2 854 2 854
Computer software and capitalised 
development costs 1 638 92 1 730
Goodwill 4 457 4 457
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 1 120 1 120

Total assets 273 784 – 750 – 50 233 324 767

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Ordinary share capital 271 271
Ordinary share premium 4 536 4 536
Reserves 12 239 12 239

Ordinary shareholders’ equity 17 046 17 046
Minority shareholders’ equity

Attributable to preference shareholders 1 987 1 987
Attributable to ordinary shareholders 1 089 (586) 503

Total shareholders’ equity and minority 
shareholders’ equity 20 122 (586) 19 536
Deposit, current accounts and other creditors 235 449 586 491 236 526
Derivative instruments 50 233 50 233
Deferred taxation liabilities 1 451 259 1 710
Current taxation liabilities 183 183
Insurance funds 7 891 7 891
Long-term debt instruments 7 568 7 568
Liabilities under acceptances 1 120 1 120

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 273 784 – 750 – 50 233 324 767
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4. Cash and short-term funds
Coin and banknotes 1 887 1 622
Money at call and short notice 5 370 3 936
Balance with central banks 4 970 11 049

12 227 16 607

Money at call and short notice constitutes amounts withdrawable in 32 days or less.

5. Other short-term securities
5.1 Analysis

Negotiable certificates of deposit 3 790 6 473
Treasury bills 2 919 5 871
Other 3 901 2 643

10 610 14 987

5.2 Carrying amount
Investment portfolio 9 838 13 358
Trading portfolio 772 1 629

10 610 14 987

5.3 Market valuation
Investment portfolio 9 838 13 363
Trading portfolio 772 1 629

10 610 14 992

6. Government and other securities
6.1 Analysis

Government and government-guaranteed securities 19 025 11 988
Other dated securities 2 308 2 659

21 333 14 647

6.2 Carrying amount
Investment portfolio 16 788 12 602
Trading portfolio 4 545 2 045

21 333 14 647

6.3 Maturity structure
Maturing within one year 2 602 1 751
Maturing after one year 18 731 12 896

21 333 14 647

6.4 Valuation
Listed securities
– Carrying amount 21 025 14 453
– Market value 21 217 14 572
Unlisted securities
– Carrying amount 308 194
– Directors’ valuation 323 204

Total market/directors’ valuation 21 540 14 776
Total redemption value 21 392 14 665

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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7. Advances
The group extends advances to individuals and to the corporate, commercial and public 
sectors. Advances made to individuals are mostly in the form of mortgages, instalment 
credit, overdrafts, personal loans and credit card borrowings. The group’s main activity is 
in the corporate and commercial sector, where advances are made to a large cross-section 
of businesses, predominantly in the finance and service area, manufacturing and building 
and property finance sectors.

7.1 Category analysis
Homeloans 54 198 50 979
Commercial mortgages 26 837 23 701
Properties in possession 1 280 1 068
Credit cards 3 204 3 370
Overdrafts 10 248 8 780
Other loans to clients 79 906 80 293
Net investment in instalment sale agreements 30 136 24 131

Gross investment 34 464 28 780
Less: Unearned finance charges (4 328) (4 649)

Preference shares and debentures 5 596 5 154
Factoring accounts 644 399
Trade, other bills and bankers’ acceptances 5 135 3 499
Remittances in transit 220 41

217 404 201 415
Impairment of advances/provisions for bad debts (note 8) 7 308 6 553

210 096 194 862

7.2 Sectoral analysis
Individuals 87 156 76 347
Financial services, insurance and real estate 45 194 47 909
Banks 24 452 17 035
Manufacturing 7 055 15 626
Building and property development 4 866 7 461
Transport, storage and communication 2 844 5 339
Retailers, catering and accommodation 1 810 4 744
Wholesale and trade 3 180 4 408
Mining and quarrying 4 778 3 696
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 3 213 2 922
Government and public sector 1 108 409
Other services 31 748 15 519

217 404 201 415

7.3 Maturity structure
Less than three months 64 942 55 127
One year or less but over three months 21 164 19 189
Five years or less but over one year 70 775 72 217
Over five years 60 523 54 882

217 404 201 415

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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7. Advances (continued)
7.4 Geographical analysis

South Africa 200 161 183 391
Other African countries 5 860 3 607
Europe 9 147 11 333
Asia 1 456 1 197
USA 446 768
Other 334 1 119

217 404 201 415

8. Impairment of advances/Provisions for bad debts
8.1 Analysis of impairments/Provisions

Impairments of advances 7 308
Specific provision 4 836
General provision 1 717

Impairment/Provisions at end of year 7 308 6 553

8.2 Impairment/Specific provision for bad debts
Balance at beginning of year as previously reported 4 836 3 501
Transfer from general provision (note 8.3) 1 717
AC133 transitional adjustment (note 3.1) 1 700
Opening balance adjustment (note 3.5 and 3.8) 311

Restated opening balance 8 253 3 812
Income statement charge (note 8.4) 2 063 1 544
Amounts written off against the impairment allowance/provision (3 363) (2 054)
Recoveries of amounts previously written off against the 
impairment allowance/provision 98 76
Transfer from interest reserved 258
Acquisition of subsidiary 257* 1 200

Impairment of advances/Provision at end of year 7 308 4 836

8.3 General provision
Balance at beginning of year 1 717 1 653
Transfer to impairment of advances (note 8.2) (1 717)
Income statement reversal (note 8.4) (77)
Additional income statement reversal (note 8.4) (400)
Amounts written back to the provision 52
Acquisition of subsidiary 467
Other transfers 22

Impairment/Provision at end of year – 1 717

8.4 Analysis of income statement charge
Impairment of advances 2 063
Specific provision for bad and doubtful advances (note 8.2) 1 544
General provision (note 8.3) (77)

Impairment of advances/Specific and general provisions 
charge in income statement 2 063 1 467
Additional general provision release (note 8.3) (400)

Total income statement charge for the year 2 063 1 067

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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8. Impairment of advances/Provisions for bad debts (continued)
8.5 Ratio of impairments/Provisions to advances

Impairments/Provisions available at end of year 7 308 6 553
Total advances and other assets 217 404 201 415

Ratio (%) 3,4 3,3

* Includes R135 million of BoE properties in possession provision, which was previously not separately stated under specific provisions.
A gross-up of these properties in possession has been made in line with the Nedcor Group policy by including them under advances
at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

9. Deferred taxation
9.1 Reconciliation of deferred taxation balance

Balance at beginning of year as previously stated 78 (1 367)

Deferred taxation liability (1 710) (1 451)
Deferred taxation asset 1 788 84

Change in basis of accounting (note 3.1) 787
Restatement of prior years (note 3.2 and 3.5) 871

Balance at beginning of year as restated 865 (496)

Deferred taxation liability (1 710) (580)
Deferred taxation asset 2 575 84

Current year temporary differences (36) 296

Client credit agreements 25 (227)
Impairment 260 13
Income and expenditure accruals (1 337) 172
Amounts previously not allowed, now deducted 1 302 149
Other (286) 189

At acquisition adjustments (638) 434
Other movements 152 (156)

Balance at end of year 343 78

Deferred taxation liability (2 731) (1 710)
Deferred taxation asset 3 074 1 788

9.2 Analysis of deferred taxation
Client credit agreements (1 632) (1 657)
Impairment 762 502
Income and expenditure accruals (357) 980
Taxation losses 1 570 268
Other (15)

343 78

10. Current taxation
Normal South African taxation

Current taxation prepaid 256 421
Current taxation liability (144) (183)

112 238

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm

11. Investments in associate companies and joint ventures
11.1 Carrying amount

Listed investments 925 639
Unlisted investments 702 865

1 627 1 504

11.2 Valuation
Listed at market value 1 146 525
Unlisted at directors’ valuation 756 953

1 902 1 478

11.3 Movement in carrying amount
Carrying amount at beginning of year 1 504 1 901

Share of associate companies’ and joint ventures’ profit after tax for the current year 132 162
Dividends received (52) (58)
Amortisation of goodwill (76) (190)
Impairment losses (49)
Net acquisitions of associate companies and joint ventures at cost 263 32
Foreign currency translation differences (144) (294)

Carrying amount at end of year 1 627 1 504

11.4 Goodwill
The carrying amount of investments includes the following amount in respect of goodwill:
Carrying amount at beginning of year 191 476

Cost 919 935
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (728) (459)

Arising on acquisitions 39
Realised through disposals (40) (22)
Amortisation charge recognised in the income statement (76) (190)
Foreign currency translation and other 48 (112)

Carrying amount at end of year 123 191

Cost 705 919
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (582) (728)

11.5 Analysis of carrying amount
Associate investments – on acquisition
Listed: Net asset value 588 244

Goodwill 136 154
Unlisted: Net asset value 556 476

Goodwill 569 766
Share of retained earnings since acquisition 490 564
Goodwill written off (582) (728)
Dividends received (141) (155)
Foreign currency translation differences 11 183

1 627 1 504

Information relating to investments in associate companies appears on pages 185 to 187.
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12. Other investments
12.1 Carrying amount

Listed investments 624 1 236
Unlisted investments 3 164 4 193

3 788 5 429

12.2 Valuation
Listed at market value 624 1 253
Unlisted at directors’ valuation 3 137 4 232

3 761 5 485

Information relating to other investments appears on page 185.

13. Insurance assets
Policyholder assets 88 54
Policyholder investments 5 064 7 837

Listed investments at market value 3 359 4 922

Equities other than property 1 790 2 748
Government, public and private sector stock 333 257
Property companies 1
Other investments 1 236 1 916

Unlisted investments at directors’ valuation 1 705 2 915

Equities other than property 203 215
Government, public and private sector stock 20
Other investments 1 502 2 680

5 152 7 891

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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2002
2003 Restated

Accumul- Accumul-
ated ated

deprecia- deprecia-
tion and tion and

impair- impair-
Depreciation ment Carrying ment Carrying

periods Cost losses amount Cost losses amount
(years) Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

14. Property and equipment
14.1 Property

Freehold land and buildings, 
at revaluation 50 1 791 (187) 1 604 1 865 (134) 1 731
Leasehold premises 10 – 20 162 (82) 80 165 (89) 76

1 953 (269) 1 684 2 030 (223) 1 807

14.2 Equipment
Computer equipment 3 – 5 1 924 (1 574) 350 1 912 (1 447) 465
Furniture and other equipment 4 – 10 1 364 (735) 629 1 196 (634) 562
Vehicles 3 – 6 37 (16) 21 39 (19) 20

3 325 (2 325) 1 000 3 147 (2 100) 1 047

Total property and equipment 5 278 (2 594) 2 684 5 177 (2 323) 2 854

Registers providing the information regarding land and buildings, as required in terms of Schedule 4 of the Companies Act
of 1973, are available for inspection at the companies’ registered offices.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2003 an impairment loss of R24 million (2002: R63 million) was recognised in respect
of certain freehold land and buildings owing to the recoverable amount of these assets being below their carrying amount.

14.3 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised. Capitalised borrowing costs incurred during
the year are calculated at the group’s average funding cost and are included in freehold land and buildings.

Accumulated
Borrowing costs capitalised capitalised 

during the year borrowing
Date 2003 2002 costs

commissioned Rm Rm Rm

Freehold buildings
New head office – phase I 170
New head office – phase II 1 January 2003 9 9
Foreshore development 1 April 2003 2 9 12

Freehold Furniture 
land and Leasehold Computer and other 
buildings premises equipment equipment Vehicles Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

14.4 Reconciliation of carrying amounts
Carrying amount at 31 December 2001 1 343 23 310 357 13 2 046
Additions 970 13 185 263 7 1 438
Disposals (876) (17) (36) (3) (932)
Acquisitions through business combinations 394 44 196 97 9 740
Depreciation charge for the year (37) (4) (209) (119) (6) (375)
Impairment losses (63) (63)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2002 1 731 76 465 562 20 2 854
Additions 188 14 177 264 13 656
Disposals (184) (2) (30) (24) (7) (247)
Depreciation charge for the year (107) (8) (262) (173) (5) (555)
Impairment losses (24) (24)

Carrying amount at end of year 1 604 80 350 629 21 2 684
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2002
2003 Restated

Accumul- Accumul-
ated ated

amortisa- amortisa-
tion tion
and and

impair- impair-
Amortisation ment Carrying ment Carrying

periods Cost losses amount Cost losses amount
(years) Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

15. Intangible assets 
and goodwill

15.1 Computer software and 
development costs 
Computer software 2 – 5 2 301 966 1 335 1 744 601 1 143
Computer development costs none 470 95 375 587 587

2 771 1 061 1 710 2 331 601 1 730

15.2 Goodwill 5 – 20 5 785 2 023 3 762 4 814 357 4 457

5 785 2 023 3 762 4 814 357 4 457

15.3 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised. Capitalised borrowing costs incurred during
the year are calculated at the group’s average funding cost and are included in computer development costs.

Accumulated
Expected Borrowing costs capitalised capitalised

date for during the year borrowing 
commission 2003 2002 costs

of asset Rm Rm Rm

Software development costs 2004 36 65 153

Computer
Computer development

software costs Goodwill
Rm Rm Rm

15.4 Reconciliation of carrying amounts
Carrying amount at 31 December 2001 336 881 1 272
Additions (Restated: note 3.4) 109 477
Commissioned development costs 772 (772)
Disposals (26) (94)
Acquisitions through business combinations 104 1
Arising on business combinations 3 779
Translation differences (190)
Amortisation charge for the year (Restated: note 3.5 and 3.7) (152) (310)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2002 (Restated) 1 143 587 4 457 
Additions 42 424
Commissioned development costs 541 (541)
Disposals (5) (245)
Arising on business combinations 1 293
Translation differences (17)
Amortisation charge for the year (347) (347)
Impairment losses (39) (95) (1 379)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2003 1 335 375 3 762

Change in estimate
The expected pattern of consumption of economic benefits of computer software involves judgement based on the latest
information available. Due to changes in the circumstances on which the economic benefit will flow the useful lives of
computer software has been changed from two to seven years to two to five years. This change in estimate increased the
amortisation charge for the year with R85 million. The tax relating to this increase is R25 million.
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Rm Rm

16. Share capital
16.1 Ordinary share capital

Authorised
350 000 000 (2002: 350 000 000) ordinary shares of R1 each 350 350

Company issued ordinary share capital
274 754 425 (2002: 270 675 320) fully paid ordinary shares of R1 each 275 271
Less: Treasury shares arising from share repurchases by subsidiary of 

nil (2002: 97 667) fully paid up ordinary shares of R1 each – *

Group issued ordinary share capital 275 271

* Less than R1 million

Subject to the restrictions imposed by the Companies Act of 1973, the unissued 
shares are under the control of the directors until the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. In terms of special resolutions passed in general meeting, the directors 
were granted the general authority to buy back up to 10% of the issued share 
capital of the company until the forthcoming annual general meeting.

16.2 Nedbank Limited preference share capital and premium
Authorised
300 000 000 (2002: 300 000 000) non-redeemable, non-cumulative 
preference shares of R0,001 each * *
Issued
277 298 896 (2002: 200 000 000) non-redeemable, non-cumulative 
preference shares of R0,001 each * *
Preference share premium 2 802 1 987

2 802 1 987

* Less than R1 million

77 298 896 preference shares were issued during the financial year ended 
31 December 2003 at a price of R10,68 per share.

The preference shares are classified as equity instruments by Nedbank Limited. They are 
therefore classified as minorities on consolidation. The cash preference dividend is calculated 
on a daily, non-compounding basis at 75% of the Nedbank/prime interest rate and is
subject to declaration.

2003 2002
Number Number

16.3 Employee incentive schemes – options
Nedcor – incentive scheme
Options outstanding at beginning of year 20 263 081 14 259 497
Options granted during year 3 918 830 9 528 279
Options exercised during year (203 505) (3 130 354)
Options surrendered during year (1 631 590) (394 341)

Options outstanding at end of year 22 346 816 20 263 081
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16. Share capital (continued)
16.3 Employee incentive schemes – options (continued)

Nedcor Investment Bank – incentive scheme
Options outstanding at beginning of year 2 900 907
Options granted during year 3 178 132
Options exercised during year (98 628) (243 100)
Options surrendered during year (59 256) (34 125)

Options outstanding at end of year 2 743 023 2 900 907

Total options outstanding 25 089 839 23 163 988

Details of options outstanding are provided on pages 194 and 195.

Share options granted under the schemes have an exercise price fixed at the market price of the share on the day prior to
the date on which the option is granted. Options may be exercised at rates determined by the schemes’ trustees and expire
at the earlier of resignation or at varying periods of up to 10 years from the granting of the option. On exercise of the option
the schemes will subscribe for shares in Nedcor Limited at the full market price then ruling. The difference between such
market price and the exercise price is recoverable from the subsidiary that employs the relevant employee. Any amounts
accrued by subsidiaries prior to exercise are transferred to non-distributable reserves net of the amount paid in respect of
options exercised.

16.4 Other options
During the prior year Peoples Bank made a fresh issue of ordinary shares to investor consortiums. Nedcor chose not to
participate in this issue and its effective shareholding in Peoples Bank was consequently reduced to 70%. The investor
consortiums were funded by financial institutions through an issue of preference shares to the funders. In terms of the
transaction, the funders were granted the option to put the preference shares to Nedcor three years after the issue date, and
in exchange receive ordinary shares in Nedcor Limited. The number of Nedcor Limited shares to which each funder will be
entitled will be determined with reference to the 10-day weighted average Nedcor Limited share price for the first 10 trading
days in December 2001. This price has been calculated to equal R117,2862846 per share.

Based on the calculated weighted average price and subject to certain cap and floor restrictions, the total number of Nedcor
Limited shares that may be issued, should the funders exercise their options in terms of the above transaction, amounts to
487 253 shares.

The funders have been provided with a further option, failing the choice to exercise the above option, whereby they may put
their preference shares to Nedcor Limited in the event of Peoples Bank shares not being listed on the JSE Securities
Exchange within five years of the preference share issue date. The number of Nedcor Limited shares to which each funder
will be entitled will be determined with reference to the then Nedcor Limited share price.

16.5 Shareholders’ analysis
An analysis of the shareholding of Nedcor is provided on page 197.
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17. Deposits, current accounts and other creditors
17.1 Analysis

Current accounts 36 392 27 307
Savings deposits 10 411 10 046
Other deposits and loan accounts 135 121 143 643
Foreign currency liabilities 10 323 15 734
Negotiable certificates of deposit 31 897 23 134
Provision for onerous contracts 19 41
Provision for leave pay (note 17.2) 390 327
Creditors and other accounts 16 668 8 307
Deposits received under repurchase agreements 9 108 7 987

250 329 236 526

17.2 Provision for leave pay
Balance at beginning of year 327 248
Acquisition of BoE 55
Movement for year 63 24

Balance at end of year 390 327

Deposit products include current accounts, savings accounts, call and notice deposits, 
fixed deposits and negotiable certificates of deposit. Term deposits vary from six months 
to five years in both the wholesale and retail markets. The maturity analysis below is based 
on the remaining period to contractual maturity from year-end.

Foreign currency liabilities are either matched by advances to clients or covered against 
exchange rate fluctuations. Deposits received under repurchase agreements are secured 
by pledge of the assets sold.

17.3 Sectoral analysis
Banks 58 593 30 219
Government and public sector 6 309 8 468
Individuals 79 025 63 476
Business sector 106 402 134 363

250 329 236 526

17.4 Maturity structure
Repayable on demand 136 520 136 182
Three months or less but not repayable on demand 48 401 38 479
One year or less but over three months 47 181 41 341
Five years or less but over one year 13 869 19 649
Over five years 4 358 875

250 329 236 526

17.5 Geographical analysis
South Africa 225 530 212 524
Other African countries 5 005 2 719
Europe 14 359 13 763
Asia 2 032 2 723
USA 372 858
Other 3 031 3 939

250 329 236 526
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18. Insurance funds
18.1 Policy liabilities under investment contracts

BoE Life Limited 4 356 5 584
NIB Life Limited (previously BoE Life Assurance Company Limited) 184 1 759
BoE Life International Limited 612 548

5 152 7 891

18.2 Movements in policy liabilities during year
Market value at beginning of year 7 891 8 681
Outflows (1 565) (757)
Foreign currency translation differences (1 174) (33)

Market value at end of year 5 152 7 891

18.3 Policy liabilities under investment contracts
Market-related business 4 539 7 191
Smooth-bonus business 613 630

5 152 7 821
Contingency and other reserves 70

Total policy liabilities under investment contracts 5 152 7 891

19. Long-term debt instruments
Rand-denominated Instrument terms
R140 million repayable on 15 May 2003 – 14% per annum on R120 million of 
guaranteed by Nedcor Limited nominal value. 17% per annum 

on R20 million of nominal value 139
Compulsorily convertible loans maturing 
on 31 December 2005* 18,12% per annum 87 142
Compulsorily convertible loans maturing 
on 6 November 2005* 13,75% per annum 37 52
R515 million bonds repayable 
on 4 December 2008 13,5% per annum 575 239
R2 billion callable notes repayable 
on 20 September 2011** 11,3% per annum 2 064 2 064
R4 billion callable notes repayable on 9 July 2012** 13,15% per annum 4 254 4 254
R200 million unsecured debentures repayable 16% per annum until 
on 30 November 2029 15 September 2000 – thereafter

interest-free 2 2
Subordinated debt instruments repayable 
at Nedcor’s discretion Interest-free 175 175
R2 billion repayable on 22 December 2008 3-month Jibar 1,65% 2 005
R500 million repayable on 30 September 2009 3-month Jibar 1,3% 500

9 699 7 067

* The debt instruments are convertible into BoE Bank Limited ordinary shares and BoE Bank Holdings has acquired the option to
purchase the ordinary shares in respect of these instruments.

** Callable by the issuer, Nedbank Limited.

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm
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19. Long-term debt instruments (continued)
US dollar-denominated
US$40 million repayable on 17 April 2008 6-month Libor on nominal value 266 345
US$18 million repayable on 31 August 2009 1,5 basis points below 6-month 

Libor on nominal value 120 156

386 501

Namibian-dollar-denominated
N$40 million long-term debenture issue repayable 17% per annum until 15 September
on 15 September 2030 2000 – thereafter interest-free 1

1

Total long-term debt instruments in issue 10 086 7 568

Coupon holders are entitled, in the event of interest default, to put the coupon covering 
such interest payments to Nedcor Limited.

The US dollar subordinated debt instruments are either matched by advances to 
clients or covered against exchange rate fluctuations.

In accordance with the group’s articles of association, the borrowing powers 
of the company are unlimited.

* The debt instruments are convertible into BoE Bank Limited ordinary shares and BoE Bank 
Holdings has acquired the option to purchase the ordinary shares in respect of these instruments.

** Callable by the issuer, Nedbank Limited.

20. Contingent liabilities
20.1 Analysis

Liabilities under guarantees 12 403 11 966
Confirmed letters of credit and discounting transactions 2 358 2 233
Unutilised facilities and other 22 508 14 447

37 269 28 646

The group in the ordinary course of business enters into transactions which expose the 
group to tax, legal and business risks. There are a number of legal or potential claims 
against Nedcor Limited and its subsidiary companies, the outcome of which cannot at 
present be foreseen. Provisions are made for known liabilities which are expected to 
materialise. This is in accordance with AC130: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets.

21. Commitments
21.1 Capital expenditure approved by directors

Contracted 115 143
Not yet contracted 26 89

141 232

Funds to meet capital expenditure commitments will be provided from group resources. In addition, capital expenditure is
incurred in the normal course of business throughout the year.



ANNUAL REPORT 03

167

21. Commitments (continued)
21.2 Operating lease commitments

Companies in the group have entered into leases over fixed property, furniture and other equipment for varying periods. The
charges will increase in future in line with negotiated escalations and expansions.

2008 and thereafter 2007 2006 2005 2004
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Land and buildings 3 373 423 396 369 343
Furniture and equipment 413 185 173 167 170

Total operating lease commitments 3 786 608 569 536 513

21.3 Commitments under derivative instruments
The group enters into option contracts, financial futures contracts, forward rate and interest rate swap agreements and other
financial agreements in the normal course of business (note 34).

2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm

21.4 Other commitments
Fixed-date settlements
Committed purchases 28 106 1 886
Committed sales 26 803 4 864

54 909 6 750

22. Interest income
Mortgage loans 7 815 8 078
Lease and instalment debtors 3 377 2 859
Bills and acceptances 523 379
Overdrafts 2 915 2 617
Term loans and other 10 071 6 608
Government and public sector securities 1 093 1 094
Short-term funds and securities 1 923 1 972
Interest reserve – AC133 adjustment 424

28 141 23 607

23. Interest expense
Deposit and loan accounts 13 046 11 552
Current and savings accounts 1 851 1 436
Negotiable certificates of deposit 4 155 2 069

1 335 2 017

Other liabilities 1 373 2 100
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised (note 14.3 and 15.3) (38) (83)

Subordinated debt 946 578

21 333 17 652

A margin analysis of the interest income and interest expense by asset and liability category is presented on page 205.
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Rm Rm

24. Non-interest revenue
24.1 Analysis

Commission and fees 5 208 4 540
Investment income 396 490

Dividends from other investments 153 173
Surplus on sale of banking investments 243 317

Trading income 1 713 1 199

Securities trading 871 235
Exchange trading 842 964

Other income 636 593

Life assurance (loss)/surplus (83) 24
Sundry income 719 569

7 953 6 822

24.2 Life assurance (loss)/surplus
Premiums received 2 636

Recurring premiums 77
Single premiums 2 566

Gross premiums received 2 643
Less: Reinsurance premiums (7)

Investment returns (307)

Dividend income 63
Interest income 194
Realised (losses)/gains 2
Unrealised gains/(losses) (566)

Benefits paid to policyholders (3 004)

Death and disability (12)
Maturity (33)
Annuities (55)
Surrender and withdrawal (2 904)

Expenses paid (65)

Sales remuneration (22)
Professional fees (10)
Other (33)

Taxation 7
Life fund transfers 757
Loss in respect of investment contracts (83)

Surplus to shareholders transferred to income (note 24.1) (83) 24

Life assurance business conducted by the group consists primarily of policies issued in terms of investment contracts. The
life assurance loss/profit represents the net result of these activities.

The change in disclosure reflected above is as a result of the adoption of accounting statement AC133: Financial Instruments
– Recognition and Measurement.
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25. Operating expenses
25.1 Analysis

Staff 4 949 3 854
Computer processing 1 270 948

Depreciation for computer equipment 262 209
Amortisation of computer software 347 152
Operating lease charges for computer equipment 126 95
Other computer processing expenses 535 492

Communication and travel 473 371
Occupation and accommodation 969 765

Depreciation for freehold land and buildings 107 37
Depreciation for leasehold improvements 8 4
Operating lease charges for land and buildings 264 261
Other occupation and accommodation expenses 590 463

Marketing and public relations 559 445
Fees and insurances 1 046 593

Auditors’ remuneration 93 48

Audit fees – current 52 31
– prior 4

Other services 41 13

Other fees and insurances 953 545

Office equipment and requisites 321 224

Depreciation for furniture and other equipment 173 119
Depreciation for vehicles 5 6
Operating lease charges for furniture and other equipment 50 41
Operating lease charges for vehicles 3 34
Other office equipment and requisites expenses 90 24

Other sundries 363 166

9 950 7 366

25.2 Directors’ remuneration – summary
From the company for services as non-executive directors 6 4
From subsidiary companies for services as executive directors 37 36

Salaries 22 18
Bonuses 15 18

Gains on exercise of share options 72

Total directors’ remuneration 43 112

Additional details regarding individual directors’ remuneration are detailed in the 
remuneration report on pages 86 to 95.

25.3 Subsidiary expenses
Certain expenses incurred by the company on behalf of subsidiary companies are 
recovered from subsidiary companies.

26. Exceptional items
Net loss on investment in Dimension Data (1 080)
Amortisation of goodwill (424) (426)
Impairment of goodwill (1 379) (75)
Profit/(Loss) on sale of subsidiaries, investments and property, plant and equipment 349 (58)
Merger and reorganisation expenses (35)
Impairment of investments (215) (56)
Impairment of property and equipment (24) (63)

(1 693) (1 793)
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Rm Rm

27. Taxation
27.1 Charge for the year

Taxation on income
South African normal taxation
Current 148 150
Deferred 148 (67)
Secondary taxation on companies 101 38
Foreign taxation 67 59

Current and deferred taxation on income 464 180
Prior-year under/(over) provision – current (3)

– deferred (12)

Total taxation on income 464 165

Transaction and other taxation
Regional Services Council levies 74 50
Value-added tax charge 217 186
Stamp duty 26 30
Irrecoverable employees tax 41
Other transaction taxes 1 10

Total transaction and other taxation 359 276

Total taxation, excluding exceptional items 823 441

27.2 Taxation – merger and reorganisation expenses
Current 2
Deferred (74) (25)

Total taxation – merger and reorganisation (74) (23)

27.3 Taxation – exceptional items
Impairment of investments and fixed assets (37) (21)
Loss on sale of subsidiaries, investments and property, plant and equipment (1)
Foreign exchange gains (171)

Total taxation – exceptional items (38) (192)

27.4 Total taxation including exceptional items 711 226

27.5 Taxation rate reconciliation (excluding exceptional items) % %
Standard rate of South African normal taxation 30 30
Dividend income (26) (7)
Differences between foreign tax rates and South African tax rate (5) (6)
Non-taxable investment income (15) (8)
Translation losses 60 11
Recognition of tax loss (12) (10)
Other 23 (5)

Total taxation on income as percentage of profit before taxation 
(excluding transaction taxes and exceptional items) 55 5

Total taxation on income as percentage of profit before taxation (excluding exceptional items) 70 13

27.6 Future taxation relief
The group has estimated taxation losses of R5 433 million (2002: R894 million) that can be set off against future taxable
income, of which R5 233 million (2002: R894 million) has been applied to a deferred taxation balance. Furthermore the group
has accumulated STC credits amounting to R171 million at the year-end (2002: R138 million), which have arisen as a result of
dividends received exceeding dividends paid. A deferred taxation asset of R21 million (2002: R18 million) has been raised on
these STC credits.
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Attributable Headline
Basic Fully diluted Basic Fully diluted

28. Earnings per share
2003
Net (loss)/profit for the year/earnings (1 600) (1 600) 55 55

In issue at end of year 271 518 137 271 518 137 271 518 137 271 518 137
Adjusted for:
Employee incentive schemes’ share options, 
which have a dilutive effect 420 363 420 363

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 271 518 137 271 938 500 271 518 137 271 938 500

(Loss)/Earnings per share (cents) (589) (588) 20 20

2002
Net profit for the year/earnings 875 875 2 476 2 476

In issue at end of year 253 040 763 253 040 763 253 040 763 253 040 763
Adjusted for:
Employee incentive schemes’ share options, 
which have a dilutive effect 1 828 720 1 828 720

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 253 040 763 254 869 483 253 040 763 254 869 483

Earnings per share (cents) 346 343 979 971

Basic earnings and headline earnings per share are calculated by dividing the relevant earnings amount by the weighted
average number of shares in issue. Fully diluted earnings and fully diluted headline earnings per share are calculated by
dividing the relevant earnings by the weighted average number of shares in issue after taking the dilutive impact of potential
ordinary shares to be issued into account.

Last date Millions of Cents per 
to register shares share Rm

29. Dividends
On fully paid shares
Final declared for 2001 – paid 2002 05/04/2002 241 310 747
Interim declared for 2002 06/09/2002 261 205 535

Ordinary dividends paid 2002 515 1 282

Final declared for 2002 – paid 2003 20/03/2003 271 310 839
Interim declared for 2003 29/08/2003 271 205 556

Ordinary dividends paid 2003 515 1 395

Final ordinary dividend declared for 2003 08/04/2004 35

Dividend amounts may be adjusted in the event of significant non-headline events and to allow for active capital management
by the group.
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2002
2003 Restated

Rm Rm

30. Cash flow information
30.1 Reconciliation of profit from operations to cash flow 

from operating activities
Profit from operations (755) 1 142
Adjusted for:
Depreciation (note 25) 555 375
Amortisation: Computer software (note 25) 347 182
Goodwill amortisation and impairment (note 26) 1 803 501
Movement in impairment of advances 2 161 1 143
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 107 56
Net income on investment banking assets (243) (317)
Impairment of long-term investments 1 080
Impairment losses on investments, property and equipment (note 26) 239 119
Other non-cash-flow items (note 26) (349) 58
Foreign currency translation losses 1 416 1 216

Cash flow from operating activities 5 281 5 555

30.2 Cash received from clients
Interest income and dividends from finance facilities (note 22) 28 141 23 607
Commission and fees 5 208 4 540
Trading income 1 713 1 199
Other 637 593

35 699 29 939

30.3 Cash paid to clients, staff and suppliers
Interest expense (note 23) 21 333 17 652
Staff costs 4 949 3 853
Other operating expenses 4 386 3 128

30 668 24 633

30.4 Increase in operating assets
Other short-term securities (4 585) 501
Government and public sector securities 10 657 2 017
Advances and other accounts 7 033 7 793

13 105 10 311

30.5 (Decrease)/Increase in operating liabilities
Current and savings accounts (8 901) 4 117
Other deposit, loan and foreign currency liabilities 18 471 3 135
Negotiable certificates of deposit (8 619) 4 509
Liabilities in respect of repurchase agreements 3 981 3 979
Creditors and other liabilities (5 951) (3 925)

(1 019) 11 815

30.6 Taxation paid
Amounts prepaid/(unpaid) at beginning of year 238 80
Income statement charge (excluding deferred tax) (675) (572)
Other movements 6 22
Acquisition of subsidiaries (40) 8
Portion of transaction taxation on fixed assets acquired to be depreciated in future years (33) (65)
Amounts prepaid at end of year (112) (238)

(616) (765)
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30. Cash flow information (continued)
30.7 Disposal of subsidiaries

Deposits, current accounts and other creditors (1 209)
Property and equipment 6
Cash and short-term funds 56
Advances and other debtors 168
Investments 903 78
Profit/(Loss) on disposal 303
Minority shareholders’ interest (4)
Investments in associate companies (109)

Net assets disposed 114 78
Goodwill 178

Consideration received 292 78
Less: Cash and short-term funds disposed (56)

Net consideration 236 78

30.8 Acquisition of subsidiaries
Cash and short-term funds (111) (1 959)
Other short-term securities (190) (3 114)
Government and other securities (117) (3)
Advances and other debtors (1 826) (44 804)
Other investments (10) (11 285)
Investments in associate companies 243 (65)
Property and equipment (94) (845)
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors 2 930 56 261
Long-term debt instruments 664
Minority shareholders’ interest 17 (587)

Net assets acquired 842 (5 737)
Goodwill (1 207) (3 779)

Consideration paid (365) (9 516)
Less: Cash and short-term funds acquired 111 1 959

Net cash outflow (254) (7 557)

30.9 Dividends paid
Recognised in the statement of changes in equity (note 29) (1 395) (1 282)

31. Managed funds
31.1 Fair value of funds under 

management – by type
Unit trusts 18 765 18 583
Third party 28 482 55 174
Private clients 29 046 25 400
Other financial services 25 797 25 186

102 090 124 343
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31. Managed funds (continued)
31.2 Fair value of funds under 

management – by geography
South Africa 43 393 61 860
Rest of Africa 348
United Kingdom 40 702 43 187
United States 4 281
Rest of world 17 995 14 667

102 090 124 343

Third party Other
and private financial

Unit trusts clients services Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm

31.3 Reconciliation of movement in funds 
under management – by type
Opening balance 18 583 80 574 25 186 124 343
Acquisitions 1 339 1 119 2 171 4 629
Disposals (1 877) (17 806) (19 683)
Inflows 11 276 9 093 13 048 33 417
Outflows (9 994) (13 837) (12 280) (36 111)
Mark-to-market value adjustment 696 2 595 1 275 4 566
Foreign currency translation differences (1 258) (4 210) (3 603) (9 071)

Closing balance 18 765 57 528 25 797 102 090

South Rest of United United Rest of 
Africa Africa Kingdom States world Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

31.4 Reconciliation of movement in funds 
under management – by geography
Opening balance 61 860 348 43 187 4 281 14 667 124 343
Acquisitions 1 339 2 358 932 4 629
Disposals (18 751) (932) (19 683)
Inflows 16 773 8 139 8 505 33 417
Outflows (21 312) (297) (7 396) (3 649) (3 457) (36 111)
Mark-to-market value adjustment 3 484 1 691 (609) 4 566
Foreign currency translation differences (51) (7 277) (632) (1 111) (9 071)

Closing balance 43 393 – 40 702 – 17 995 102 090

The group, through a number of subsidiaries, operates unit trusts, holds and invests funds on behalf of clients and acts as a
trustee in a number of fiduciary capacities.

In addition, companies in the group operate securities and custodial services on behalf of clients. Commissions and fees
earned in respect of trust and management activities performed are included in the income statement as non-interest revenue.
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32. Employee benefits
The group has a number of defined-benefit and defined-contribution plans whereby it provides pension and postretirement
medical benefits to employees and their dependants on retirement or death. All eligible employees and former employees are
members of trustee-administered or underwritten pension schemes within the group, financed by company and employee
contributions. All South African plans are governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. The defined-benefit funds are actuarially
valued using the projected-unit credit method. Any deficits are funded to ensure the ongoing financial soundness of the funds.

The benefits provided for by the defined-benefit schemes are based on years of membership and/or salary levels. These
benefits are provided from contributions by employees, the group, and income from the assets of these schemes. The
benefits provided for by the defined-contribution schemes are determined by the accumulated contributions and investment
earnings. The benefits are provided from contributions by employees, the group, and income from the assets of these
schemes. At the dates of the latest valuations the funds were in sound financial position in terms of section 16 of the Pensions
Funds Act. During 1998 active members in the Nedcor Pension Fund (defined-benefit) were granted a further option to
transfer to one of the defined-contribution funds and approximately three-quarters of the then valuation surplus was allocated
to members and pensioners.

32.1 Group defined-benefit plans
The group has recorded assets of R262 million (2002: R275 million) in advances and a liability of R10 million in deposits,
current and other creditors in respect of pension defined-benefit plans. A liability of R72 million has been recognised in
deposits, current accounts and other creditors in respect of medical defined benefit plans in accordance with the
requirements of AC116: Employee Benefits.

Nedcor
At 31 December 2003, the date of the latest actuarial calculation, the Nedcor Pension Fund had assets totalling R2 322 million
(2002: R2 212 million) and the Nedcor Medical Aid Fund had assets totalling R471 million at market value. The respective
actuarial valuation of the liabilities was R2 106 million (2002: R1 879 million) and R480 million, resulting in a surplus of
R216 million (2002: R333 million) in the pension fund and a shortfall of R7 million in the medical aid fund.

BoE
As a consequence of the acquisition of BoE during 2002, the Nedcor Group now operates three further pension funds,
namely NBS Group Pension Fund, Board of Executors Pension Fund and BoE Bank Division Pension Fund.

At 31 December 2003, the date of the latest actuarial calculation, the three BoE funds had combined assets totalling
R330 million (2002: R354 million) at market value. The actuarial valuation of the combined liabilities was R257 million
(2002: R286 million), resulting in a surplus of R73 million (2002: R68 million).

BoE’s Medical Aid Fund at 31 December 2003, the date of the latest actuarial calculation, had assets totalling R nil at market
value. The actuarial valuation of the liabilities was R72 million.

Nedbank London
At 31 December 2003, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the Nedbank London Pension Fund had assets
totalling R142 million (2002: R158 million) at market value. The actuarial value of the liabilities was R170 million (2002:
R246 million), resulting in a net liability of R28 million (2002: R88 million).

Gerrard Private Bank
At 1 April 2003, the date of the most recent actuarial calculation, the Gerrard Private Bank Pension Fund had assets totalling
R24 million (2002: R17 million) at market value. The actuarial value of the liabilities was R29 million (2002: R21 million), resulting
in a net liability of R5 million (2002: R4 million).

Nedbank Swaziland
At 31 December 2003, the date of the latest actuarial calculation, the Nedbank Swaziland Pension Fund had assets totalling
R22 million (2002: R29 million) at market value. The actuarial valuation of the liabilities was R30 million (2002: R19 million),
resulting in a net liability of R8 million (2002: R10 million surplus).

Nedbank Lesotho
At 31 December 2003, the date of the latest actuarial calculation, the Nedbank Lesotho Pension Fund had assets totalling
R23 million (2002: R27 million) at market value. The actuarial valuation of the liabilities was R23 million (2002: R25 million),
resulting in a surplus of R nil (2002: R2 million).
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Defined-benefit
pension plans

2003 2002
Rm Rm

32. Employee benefits (continued)
32.2 Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Present value of funded obligations 2 615 2 476
Fair value of plan assets (2 863) (2 797)

Funded status (248) (321)
Unrecognised actuarial losses (528) (361)
Unrecognised asset due to application of asset ceiling in paragraph 59 of AC116 524 407

(252) (275)

Asset in balance sheet (262) (275)
Liability in balance sheet 10

32.3 Amounts recognised in the income statement
Current service costs 36 33
Interest on obligation 276 231
Expected return on plan assets (304) (315)
Net actuarial gains recognised during the year 14 (8)
Effect of applying the asset ceiling 34 93

Total included in employee remuneration costs 56 34

32.4 Movements in the net asset recognised in the balance sheet
Net asset at beginning of year (275) (275)
Net expense recognised in the income statement 56 34
Contributions (33) (34)

(252) (275)

Asset recognised (262) (275)
Liability recorded 10

Nedbank All other 
London pension funds

2003 2002 2003 2002

32.5 Principal actuarial assumptions at
balance sheet date
Interest rate used to discount liabilities (%) 5,50 6,50 12,00 11,50
Price inflation (%) 0,00 2,50 7,00 6,50
Salary inflation (%) 3,00 4,00 8,50 8,00
Expected rates of return on plan assets (%) 5,50 6,25 11,50 6,62 – 15,00
Pensions in payment and deferred-pensions’ 
inflation (%) 2,50 3,00 5,66 – 7,50 11,00 – 12,10



ANNUAL REPORT 03

177

Defined-benefit
medical aid fund

2003
Rm

32. Employee benefits (continued)
32.6 Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

Present value of funded obligations 552
Fair value of plan assets (471)

Net liability 81
Balance sheet provision (72)
Effect of applying 10% corridor (9)

Net unrecognised liability –

The unrecognised liability is recognised to the extent that it exceeds 10% of the accrued liabilities.

32.7 Amounts recognised in the income statement
Current service costs 23
Interest on obligations 51
Expected return on plan assets (46)

Total included in employee remuneration costs 28

32.8 Principal actuarial assumptions at balance sheet date
Expected return on plan assets (%) 9,00
Interest rate used to discount liabilities (%) 9,00
Annual increase to medical aid subsidy (%) 6,50
Retirement age (years) 60

33. Acquisition of BoE Limited
Nedcor acquired 100% of the BoE Group on 2 July 2002, and has fully consolidated its results.

1 July 2002
Rm

33.1 Consideration paid 7 697
Satisfied by:
Cash (R2,90 per BoE share acquired) 6 199
Nedcor shares (10,4 million Nedcor shares at R129 per share) 1 339
Other 159
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

Book value Fair value 
at date 2002 2003 to Nedcor 

of acquisition adjustments adjustments at acquisition

33. Acquisition of BoE Limited (continued)
33.2 Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired

Cash and short-term funds 1 810 23 (7) 1 826
Other short-term securities 3 149 (35) 3 114
Advances and other debtors 43 761 (776) (219) 42 766
Insurance assets 8 676 5 8 681
Deferred taxation assets 172 304 10 486
Current taxation prepaid 66 66
Investments:
Investments in associate companies 26 39 65
Other investments 2 629 (52) (3) 2 574
Fixed assets (including property, equipment and 
intangible assets other than goodwill) 811 (39) 51 823
Goodwill 872 (287) (19) 566

Total assets 61 972 (818) (187) 60 967
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors (46 576) (263) (104) (46 943)
Deferred taxation liabilities (74) 17 (568) (625)
Insurance funds (8 676) (5) (8 681)
Long-term debt instruments (664) (664)

Net assets acquired 5 982 (1 069) (859) 4 054

Less: Existing goodwill acquired (872) 287 19 (566)

Net assets acquired, excluding goodwill 5 110 (782) (840) 3 488

1 July 2002
Rm

33.3 Goodwill
At acquisition 3 369

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of BoE 2 784
Fair value of existing goodwill acquired within BoE 585

Since acquisition 840

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of BoE 859
Fair value of existing goodwill acquired within BoE (19)

4 209
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34. Derivative financial instruments
34.1 Derivative financial instruments

These transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and no material losses are anticipated other than
those for which provision has been made in the income statement. There are no commitments or contingent commitments
under derivative instruments that are settled other than with cash.

Gross Gross Gross Gross
carrying carrying Net carrying carrying Net 
value of value of carrying value of value of carrying 

assets liabilities value assets liabilities value
2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

34.2 Summary
Trading contracts (note 34.6) 28 496 28 206 290 29 401 28 672 729
Non-trading contracts (note 34.6) 24 141 24 792 (651)

Total carrying value of derivative 
financial instruments 28 496 28 206 290 53 542 53 464 78
Less: Carrying value of off-
balance-sheet derivatives 2 756 3 231 (475)

Total carrying value of derivative 
financial instruments 28 496 28 206 290 50 786 50 233 553

A detailed breakdown of the notional principal and fair value of the various types of derivative financial instruments held by
the group is presented in the following table. 

34.3 Notional principal
Represents the gross notional amounts of all outstanding contracts at year-end. This gross notional amount is the sum of the
absolute amount of all purchases and sales of derivative instruments. The notional amounts do not represent amounts
exchanged by the parties and therefore represent only the measure of involvement by the group in derivative contracts and
not its exposure to market or credit risks arising from such contracts. The amounts actually exchanged are calculated on the
basis of the notional amounts and other terms of the derivative, which relate to interest rates, exchange rates, securities
prices or financial and other indices.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

Trading contracts Non-trading contracts
Notional Positive Negative Notional Positive Negative
principal fair value fair value principal fair value fair value

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

34. Derivative financial 
instruments (continued)

34.4 Notional principal of derivative 
financial instruments
2003
Exchange rate contracts
Spot 4 861 2 322 2 539
Forwards 31 722 17 039 14 683
Currency swaps 153 735 76 950 76 785
Options purchased 1 305 1 305
Options written 822 41 781

192 445 97 657 94 788

Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps 299 770 134 327 165 443
Forward rate agreements 249 909 122 145 127 764
Options purchased 7 007 6 712 295
Options written 5 850 5 850
Futures 8 187 4 216 3 971
Caps 2 958 2 036 922
Floors 9 9
Credit-linked notes 1 644 1 557 87
Credit default swaps 66 66

575 400 271 059 304 341

Total notional principal 767 845 368 716 399 129

2002
Exchange rate contracts
Spot 3 032 1 023 2 009 221 221
Forwards 73 333 38 116 35 217 94 390 46 259 48 131
Currency swaps 72 090 37 401 34 689
Options purchased 399 399
Options written 382 382

149 236 76 939 72 297 94 611 46 480 48 131

Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps 245 179 127 307 117 872 8 538 8 538
Forward rate agreements 160 286 76 690 83 596
Options purchased 26 708 26 708
Options written 15 072 15 072
Futures 4 469 2 829 1 640
Caps 876 395 481
Floors 18 9 9 9 9
Credit-linked notes 1 436 1 323 113
Credit default swaps 86 86

454 044 235 261 218 783 8 633 86 8 547

Total notional principal 603 280 312 200 291 080 103 244 46 566 56 678
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34. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
34.5 Carrying value of derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities

The amounts disclosed represent the value of all derivative instruments held at 31 December 2003. The fair value of a
derivative financial instrument is the amount at which it could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than a forced liquidation or sale. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and
market-accepted option-pricing models. When it is not practicable, owing to constraints of timeliness or cost, to determine
the fair value of a derivative instrument with sufficient reliability, such derivative is included in the following table at a value
calculated on an accrual basis. In terms of that basis a value is obtained by taking into account the original cost of the
derivative and only the realised gains or losses in respect of the instrument.

Trading contracts
Net Carrying Carrying 

carrying value of value of 
value assets liabilities

Rm Rm Rm

34.6 Carrying value of derivative financial 
instrument assets and liabilities
2003
Exchange rate contracts
Spot 46 328 282
Forwards 636 2 243 1 607
Currency swaps (364) 10 978 11 342
Options purchased 33 33
Options written (18) 18

333 13 582 13 249

Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps (2 854) 9 061 11 915
Forward rate agreements (24) 394 418
Options purchased 1 520 1 520
Options written (1 499) 1 499
Futures 368 1 336 968
Caps 1 2 1
Floors (1) 1
Credit-linked notes 2 379 2 534 155
Credit default swaps 67 67

(43) 14 914 14 957

Total carrying value 290 28 496 28 206
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

Trading contracts Non-trading contracts
Net Carrying Carrying Net Carrying Carrying 

carrying value of value of carrying value of value of 
value assets liabilities value assets liabilities

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

34. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
34.6 Carrying value of derivative financial 

instrument assets and liabilities (continued)
2002
Exchange rate contracts
Spot (14) 10 24 1 1
Forwards 287 10 134 9 847 (222) 24 140 24 362
Currency swaps (1 031) 9 689 10 720
Options purchased 14 14

(744) 19 847 20 591 (221) 24 141 24 362

Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps (655) 6 382 7 037 (429) 429
Forward rate agreements (6) 166 172
Options purchased 295 295
Options written (651) 651
Futures (3) 3 6
Caps 4 4
Collars (1) 1
Floors 1 1
Credit-linked notes 2 493 2 703 210

1 473 9 554 8 081 (430) 430

Total carrying value 729 29 401 28 672 (651) 24 141 24 792

Trading contracts
Exchange Interest 

rate rate
contracts contracts Total

Rm Rm Rm

34.7 Analysis of trading 
derivative instruments
Positive fair value of derivatives
2003
Maturity analysis
Under one year 7 425 2 814 10 239
One to five years 3 694 6 915 10 609
Over five years 2 463 5 185 7 648

13 582 14 914 28 496

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 11 197 13 027 24 224
Non-financial institutions 2 385 1 887 4 272

13 582 14 914 28 496
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Trading contracts Non-trading contracts
Exchange Interest Exchange Interest  

rate rate rate rate 
contracts contracts Total contracts contracts Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

34. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
34.7 Analysis of trading 

derivative instruments (continued)
Positive fair value of derivatives (continued)
2002
Maturity analysis
Under one year 14 719 587 15 306 22 074 22 074
One to five years 2 908 3 330 6 238 2 030 2 030
Over five years 2 220 5 637 7 857 37 37

19 847 9 554 29 401 24 141 24 141

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 19 062 9 477 28 539 24 141 24 141
Non-financial institutions 785 77 862

19 847 9 554 29 401 24 141 24 141

Negative fair value of derivatives
2003
Maturity analysis
Under one year 7 544 3 317 10 861
One to five years 3 401 4 952 8 353
Over five years 2 304 6 688 8 992

13 249 14 957 28 206

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 12 445 13 461 25 906
Non-financial institutions 804 1 496 2 300

13 249 14 957 28 206

2002
Maturity analysis
Under one year 14 685 620 15 305 22 358 38 22 396
One to five years 3 075 2 774 5 849 1 967 144 2 111
Over five years 2 831 4 687 7 518 37 248 285

20 591 8 081 28 672 24 362 430 24 792

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 20 437 8 049 28 486 24 362 340 24 702
Non-financial institutions 154 32 186 90 90

20 591 8 081 28 672 24 362 430 24 792
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

Trading contracts Non-trading contracts
Exchange Interest Exchange Interest  

rate rate rate rate 
contracts contracts Total contracts contracts Total

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

34. Derivative financial instruments
(continued)

34.7 Analysis of trading 
derivative instruments (continued)
Notional principal of derivatives
2003
Maturity analysis
Under one year 178 939 261 408 440 347
One to five years 9 869 234 546 244 415
Over five years 3 637 79 446 83 083

192 445 575 400 767 845

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 172 327 468 149 640 476
Non-financial institutions 20 118 107 251 127 369

192 445 575 400 767 845

2002
Maturity analysis
Under one year 127 462 226 617 354 079 86 066 6 496 92 562
One to five years 17 647 167 968 185 615 8 426 625 9 051
Over five years 4 127 59 459 63 586 119 1 512 1 631

149 236 454 044 603 280 94 611 8 633 103 244

Counterparty analysis
Financial institutions 143 171 450 595 593 766 75 225 5 760 80 985
Non-financial institutions 6 065 3 449 9 514 19 386 2 873 22 259

149 236 454 044 603 280 94 611 8 633 103 244

34.8 Risk monitoring
Details of the group’s risk management structure, policies and methods are noted on pages 96 to 107 and the interest rate
risk analysis is detailed on pages 202 and 203.

35. Foreign currency conversion guide
Monetary figures in these financial statements are expressed to the nearest million South African rands. The approximate
value of the South African rand as at 31 December against the following currencies was:

2003 2002

United States dollar 0,1509 0,1163
Pound sterling 0,0847 0,0722
Euro 0,1196 0,1110
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Associates, joint ventures and other investments

Banking Technology Other Total
Associate investments and joint ventures Rm Rm Rm Rm

Analysis
2003
Listed shares, at cost – net asset value 170 46 372 588

– goodwill 58 78 136
Unlisted shares, at cost – net asset value 35 35 487 557

– goodwill 36 513 20 569
Share of retained earnings since acquisition 370 121 (1) 490
Goodwill written off/impairments (94) (468) (21) (583)
Dividends received (118) (16) (7) (141)
Foreign exchange movements 10 1 11

Net interest in associate companies 467 309 851 1 627

2002
Listed shares, at cost – net asset value 198 46 244

– goodwill 76 78 154
Unlisted shares, at cost – net asset value 150 194 132 476

– goodwill 115 567 84 766
Share of retained earnings since acquisition 435 58 71 564
Goodwill written off (239) (405) (84) (728)
Dividends received (147) (6) (2) (155)
Foreign exchange movements 182 1 183

Net interest in associate companies 770 532 202 1 504

Summarised financial information
2003
Total assets 10 518 1 149 10 110 21 777
Total liabilities 8 888 478 3 027 12 393
Operating results 305 185 868 1 358

2002
Total assets 16 070 1 046 1 739 18 855
Total liabilities 13 868 398 1 481 15 747
Operating results 353 114 34 501

2003 2002
Other investments Rm Rm

Listed
Dimension Data plc 414
Acucap Properties 77
Growthpoint Properties 80
Resilient Property Income Fund 80
Eagles Bond 60
Apexhi 94
Primegro Properties 64
Others* 327 664

624 1 236

Unlisted
Endowment policies 1 323 1 267
NIBI Fund 740 700
NIBH Transformation Fund 144
New Limpopo Bridge 131
Momentum Insurance Policy
Kagiso Investments Trust 67 59
Virgin Active 177
Century City 329
Monex 56 359
World Wide African Investment Holdings 65
Others* 782 1 158

3 164 4 193

Total other investments (note 12) 3 788 5 429

* Less than R50 million
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Analysis of investments in 
associate companies and joint ventures
for the year ended 31 December

Method
used to Percentage

account for holding Acquisition
Name of company and nature of business investment 2003 2002 date Year-end

Listed
Banking
State Bank of Mauritius Ltd Equity 20,1% 20,1% Nov-97 Jun

Technology
Net 1 Applied Technology Holdings Ltd Equity 25,4% 25,7% Jul-00 Jun

Other
SA Retail Equity 38,2% Nov-01 Mar

Unlisted
Banking

Banque SBM Madagascar Equity 20,0% 20,0% Dec-99 Jul
Commercial Bank of Namibia Ltd Equity 47,3% Dec-94 Dec
Nedbank Malawi Equity Jul-99 Dec
HSBC Equator Holdings plc** Equity 40,0% May-94 Dec
Merchant Bank of Central Africa Ltd † Equity 29,3% 29,3% Dec-93 Dec
SBM Nedbank International Ltd Equity 50,0% 50,0% Jul-99 Dec

Technology

Acturis Ltd**** 60,3% Mar-01 Sep
Business Connexion Solutions Holdings (Pty) Ltd** Equity 23,1% Jul-02 Feb
Evolve Internet Incubator (Pty) Ltd** Equity 35,0% Jul-02 Jun
FutureKids SA (Pty) Ltd** Equity 39,6% Jul-02 Mar
Hatch Investments (Mauritius) Ltd Equity 37,5% 37,5% Mar-01 Mar
Miraculum (Pty) Ltd** Equity 31,7% Jul-00 Sep
Internet Solutions (Pty) Ltd/Linx Holdings (Pty) Ltd Equity 20,0% 20,0% Jun-00 Sep
The IQ Business Group (Pty) Ltd Equity 46,1% 23,5% Jul-00 Jun

Other

Aka Capital (Pty) Ltd** Equity 25,0% Jul-02 Sep
Blue Cloud Investments 40 (Pty) Ltd Equity 45,0% 45,0% Jul-02 Dec
BoE (Pty) Ltd****** Equity 50,0% Jan-03 Dec
BoE Life Assurance Company Ltd****** Equity 50,0% Jan-03 Dec
Boness Development Phase 3 (Pty) Ltd Equity 100,0% Jan-92 Dec
Bridgeport Properties (Pty) Ltd Equity 48,0% 40,0% Jul-02 Sep
Capricorn Science and Technology Park (Pty) Ltd Equity 10,4% Nov-98 Sep
Catalyst Holdings (Pty) Ltd Equity 30,0% 30,0% Jan-99 Dec
Corobrik (Pty) Ltd – Aka Capital** Equity 25,0% Jul-02 Jun
Corovest – NIB Property Asset Management Equity 35,0% 50,0% May-00 Dec
Erf 787 Lakefield (Pty) Ltd Equity 50,0% 50,0% Jul-02 Jun
Forecourt Television Network** Equity 17,3% Jul-02 Feb
Franklin Templeton – NIB*** Equity Aug-00 Sep
Good Cape Limited** Equity 50,0% Jul-02
Growthpoint & Toontjiesrivier JV (Longbeach Mall) Equity 49,9% Oct-02 Dec
Inclub Properties (Pty) Ltd Equity 28,0% 28,0% Jul-02 Jun
Linbro Village (Pty) Ltd** Equity 50,0% Jul-02 Mar
Lyric Rose (Pty) Ltd Equity 25,0% 25,0% Jul-02 Feb
NIB Securities (Pty) Ltd*** Equity Jul-99 Dec
Retail Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd Equity 50,0% 49,0% Jul-02 Jun
Robow Investments No 47 (Pty) Ltd Equity 50,0% Dec-02 Feb
Sandton Square Portion 8 (Pty) Ltd Equity 25,0% 25,0% Jul-02 Apr
Steenberg Office Development (Pty) Ltd Equity 25,0% 25,0% Jul-02 Feb
Stowaway Self-Storage South Africa (Pty) Ltd Equity 50,0% 50,0% Jul-02 Dec
Superbia Four (Pty) Ltd Equity 30,0% 30,0% Jul-02 Feb
Tokai Development (Pty) Ltd Equity 25,0% 25,0% Jul-02 Jun
Western Cape Property Company Ltd Equity 23,0% 23,0% Nov-98 Dec
Win Twice Properties (Pty) Ltd** Equity 30,0% Jul-02
Other*****

* Represents an amount less than R1 million
** Disposed of in 2003
*** Disposed of in 2002, but still reflects equity income
**** Consolidated as a subsidiary from 1 January 2003
***** Various other associates with income less than R1 million
****** Joint ventures



ANNUAL REPORT 03

187

Net
Date to which Equity- Market value/ indebtedness of loans 
equity income accounted earnings Carrying amount Directors’ valuation to/(from) associates
accounted for 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Dec-03 61 61 382 482 458 327

Dec-03 35 31 171 157 321 198

Dec-03 372 367

33 43 85 288 85 288 – 17

Dec-03 1 2 8 9 8 9
Dec-03 27 32 93 93 17
Dec-03 3 (1) (1)
Dec-03 (2) 50 50
Dec-03 43 43
Dec-03 5 8 77 94 77 94

5 (5) 138 375 207 430 55 31

139 139 6
Dec-03 1 7 7
Dec-03 (3) 2 2
Dec-03 (2) 5 5
Dec-03 (6) (3) 15 15 6
Jul-03 (1) (3) * *

Dec-03 17 11 105 145 200 200 22 19
Dec-03 (5) (6) 33 62 7 62 33

(2) 32 479 202 464 235 338 154

Dec-03 (1) 4 4
Dec-03 (1) 5 4 5 4 6 5
Dec-03 11 107 107
Dec-03 6 49 20 6
Dec-03 (12) 32 43 32
Dec-03 1 11 5 11 5 11 4
Dec-03 (2) 7 7 10
Dec-03 1 8 32 36 32 36 37 36
Dec-03 5 32 32
Dec-03 6 7 6 7 6
Dec-03 5 5 5 5 5 5
Dec-03 (4) 6 6
Dec-03 4
Dec-03 3 3 3
Dec-03 106 106 106
Dec-03 (2) (1) 4 8 4 8 12 9
Dec-03 * * *
Dec-03 * * 4 4 4 4 4 4
Dec-03 1
Dec-03 5 6 6 6 6
Dec-03 7 7 7
Dec-03 15 13 15 13 15 13
Dec-03 * 1 1 1 1 1 1
Dec-03 (1) * 12 12 12 12 12 12
Dec-03 1 * 1 * 1 *
Dec-03 (5) 5 2 9 2 9 2 5
Dec-03 (3) 2 10 2 10 11 36
Dec-03 * 4 4 4

1 13 65 33 68 66 55 17

132 162 1 627 1 504 1 902 1 478 393 202

† As of 1 July 2001 income from this Zimbabwean associate was no longer accounted for.
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Subsidiary companies

Issued Effective Book value of Net
capital holding investments indebtedness

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
Rm Rm % % Rm Rm Rm Rm

Banking
Commercial Bank of Namibia Ltd 16 93
Nedbank Malawi Ltd 12 20 91 73
Gerrard Private Bank (Jersey) Ltd 5 7 70 78
Imperial Bank Ltd 3 3 50 50
Nedbank Lesotho Ltd 20 20 100 100
Nedbank Ltd 27 23 100 100 10 750 3 360 (2 117) (5 934)
Nedbank (Swaziland) Ltd 12 12 67 67
Nedcor Asia Ltd 156 202 100 100
Peoples Bank Ltd 45 26 100 100
SBM Nedcor Holdings Ltd * * 79 79

Trust and participation bond 
administration
Fairbairn Trust Ltd 1 1 100 75
Nedcor Collective Investments Ltd 6 100
Old Mutual Trust (Pty) Ltd 1 1 100 100
SG International Ltd (Jersey) * * 100 84
Syfrets Participation Bond Managers Ltd 1 1 100 100
Syfrets Trust Ltd * * 100 92
FTNIB Management Company Ltd 2 2 100 100 18

Other companies
BoE Holdings Ltd 2 2 100 100
BoE International Holdings Ltd * * 100 100 37
BoE Life Assurance Company Ltd 15 100
BoE Life International Ltd 174 174 100 100
BoE Life Ltd 1 1 100 100
BoE Ltd 11 11 100 100 7 697 7 697 61
BoE Management Ltd * * 100 100 (4 138)
Cape of Good Hope Financial 
Services Ltd 6 6 100 100 61 61 135 79
BoE (Pty) Ltd 100
FTNIB Nominees Ltd * 100 2
Nedbank Africa Investments Ltd * * 100 100
Nedcor Insurance Company (SA) Ltd * * 100 100 5 5
Nedcor Group Insurance Company Ltd 10 10 100 100
Nedcor Insurance Company Ltd * * 100 100 32 32
Nedcor Investment Holdings 101 Ltd 17 17 100 100 1 353 1 353 (1 981)
Nedcor Investment 102 Ltd 6 6 100 100
Nedcor Investments Ltd 27 27 100 84
Nedcor Securities (Pty) Ltd 32 32 100 100
Nedcor Trade Services Ltd 3 3 100 100
Nedinsurance Company Ltd 5 5 100 100 49 (49)
Taquantu Securities (Pty) Ltd * * 100 100
Tando AG 185 215 100 100 256 253
The Board of Executors 1838 * * 100 100 (39)
Other companies * * 2 2 (13) (13)

20 225 12 763 (8 104) (5 868)

Note 1
Net income after taxation earned by subsidiaries (after eliminating intercompany transactions)
Aggregate headline earnings 528 2 694
Aggregate losses 473 109

Note 2
General information required in terms of the 4th schedule of the Companies Act, 1973, is detailed in respect of only those subsidiaries where
the financial position or results are material to the group. It is considered that the disclosure in these statements of such information in respect
of the remaining subsidiaries would entail expense out of proportion to the value to members. Other subsidiaries consist of nominee,
property-owning and financial holding companies and companies acquired in the course of lending activities. A register detailing information
in respect of all subsidiaries is available for inspection at the registered office.

* Less than R1 million
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Company income statement
for the year ended 31 December

Interest income 59 43
Interest expense (58) (27)

Net interest income 1 16
Dividends from subsidiaries 6 082 1 843
Dividends from other investments 4 2
Foreign currency translation gains 382

Total income 6 469 1 861
Operating expenses (7) (4)

Profit from operations before exceptional items 6 462 1 857
Exceptional items: Loss on sale of subsidiary company (345)

Profit before tax 6 117 1 857
Taxation 8 5

South African normal taxation – current (2) 3
– deferred (1)

Secondary taxation on companies 11 2

Net profit for the year 6 109 1 852

2003 2002
Rm Rm

Company balance sheet
as at 31 December

2003 2002
Notes Rm Rm

Assets
Advances and other debtors 1 6 147
Deferred tax asset 1
Investments in subsidiary companies 20 998 13 323

Shares at cost – unlisted 20 225 12 763
Owing by subsidiaries 773 560

Other investments – unlisted 2 32 32

Total assets 21 037 13 502

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Ordinary share capital 3 275 271
Ordinary share premium 5 754 5 378
Non-distributable reserves 41 41
Distributable reserves 6 086 1 379

Ordinary shareholders’ equity 12 156 7 069

Sundry creditors 4 3 2
Current taxation liabilities 5 1 3
Amounts owing to subsidiaries 8 877 6 428

Total liabilities 8 881 6 433

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 21 037 13 502
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Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the year ended 31 December

Ordinary Ordinary Non-
Number of share share distributable Distributable 

ordinary capital premium reserves reserves Total
shares Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Balance at 31 December 2001 244 306 042 244 2 300 41 820 3 405
Shares issued for options exercised 
under the Nedcor Group (1994) 
Employee Incentive Scheme 3 284 261 3 387 390
Shares issued for clawback 
transaction with minorities 3 269 002 3 418 421
Shares issued to NIB minorities 9 438 942 10 953 963
Shares issued to shareholders of BoE 10 377 073 11 1 328 1 339
Share issue expenses (8) (8)
Net profit for the year 1 852 1 852
Dividends to shareholders (1 293) (1 293)

Balance at 31 December 2002 270 675 320 271 5 378 41 1 379 7 069

Shares issued for options exercised 
under the Nedcor Group (1994) 
Employee Incentive Scheme 4 079 105 4 377 381
Share issue expenses (1) (1)
Net profit for the year 6 109 6 109
Dividends to shareholders (1 402) (1 402)

Balance at 31 December 2003 274 754 425 275 5 754 41 6 086 12 156
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December

2003 2002
Notes Rm Rm

Cash flow from operating activities 6.1 6 080 1 857

Interest income 6.2 1 16
Cash paid to suppliers 6.3 (7) (4)
Dividends received on investments 6 086 1 845

Change in working funds 2 404 6 190

Increase in operating assets 6.4 (46) (154)
Increase in operating liabilities 6.5 2 450 6 344

Cash generated/(utilised) by operating activities before taxation 8 484 8 047

Taxation paid – (2)

Amount unpaid at beginning of year (3)
Income statement charge (excluding deferred tax) 2 (5)
Amount unpaid at end of year 1 3

Net cash generated/(utilised) by operating activities 8 484 8 045

Cash flows from investment activities
Net acquisition of investments in subsidiary companies (7 462) (9 857)
Cash flows from financing activities (1 022) 1 812

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 380 3 105
Dividends paid (1 402) (1 293)

Net increase in cash and short-term funds – –
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Notes to the company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December

2003 2002
Rm Rm

1. Advances and other debtors
Category analysis
Sundry debtors and accrued interest 6 147

Sectoral analysis
Financial services, insurance and real estate
Other services 6 147

6 147

Maturity structure
Repayable on demand or at short notice 6 147

Geographical analysis
South Africa 6 147

2. Other investments
Carrying amount
Unlisted investments 32 32

Valuation
Unlisted at directors’ valuation 32 32

3. Share capital
Ordinary share capital
Authorised
350 000 000 (2002: 350 000 000) ordinary shares of R1 each 350 350

Company issued ordinary share capital
274 754 425 (2002: 270 675 320) fully paid ordinary shares of R1 each 275 271

Subject to the restrictions imposed by the Companies Act of 1973, the unissued shares are under the control of the directors
until the forthcoming annual general meeting. In terms of special resolutions passed in general meeting, the directors were
granted the general authority to buy back up to 10% of the issued share capital of the company until the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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2003 2002
Rm Rm

4. Sundry creditors
Analysis
Creditors and other accounts 3 2

5. Current taxation liabilities
Normal South African taxation
– Current taxation liability 1 3

1 3

6. Cash flow information
6.1 Reconciliation of profit from operations to cash flow from operating activities

Profit from operations 6 117 1 857
Adjusted for:
Foreign exchange translation gain (382)
Exceptional item: Loss on sales of subsidiary company 345

Cash flows from operating activities 6 080 1 857

6.2 Cash receipts from clients
Interest income and dividends from finance facilities 1 16

6.3 Cash payments to clients, staff and suppliers
Other operating expenses 7 4

6.4 Increase in operating assets
Advances and other accounts (46) (154)

6.5 Increase in operating liabilities
Creditors and other liabilities 2 450 6 344
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Group employee incentive scheme
as at 31 December 

Nedcor share NIB share 
incentive trust incentive trust Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Movements
Options outstanding at beginning of period 20 263 081 14 259 497 2 900 907 23 163 988 14 259 497
Granted 3 918 830 9 528 279 3 178 132 3 918 830 12 706 411
Exercised 203 505 3 130 354 98 628 243 100 302 133 3 373 454
Surrendered 1 631 590 394 341 59 256 34 125 1 690 846 428 466

Options outstanding at end of period 22 346 816 20 263 081 2 743 023 2 900 907 25 089 839 23 163 988

Nedcor share incentive trust
The following options granted had not been exercised at 31 December 2003

Issue Issue Issue
Option No of price Option No of price Option No of price

expiry date shares R expiry date shares R expiry date shares R

02 Jan 04 34 883 107,80 b/f 2 958 528 b/f 7 309 561
01 Feb 04 81 500 122,80 22 May 05 250 44,75 01 Oct 06 40 000 155,20
01 Mar 04 8 392 142,00 01 Jun 05 3 233 200 125,00 01 Nov 06 38 000 142,00
01 Mar 04 409 147,00 01 Jul 05 1 700 44,00 20 Nov 06 15 000 155,00
01 Mar 04 1 068 148,80 01 Jul 05 91 900 136,00 01 Mar 07 117 200 157,00
01 Mar 04 26 672 150,00 14 Jul 05 6 500 137,40 01 Mar 07 385 150,00
01 Mar 04 39 900 26,50 26 Aug 05 32 065 120,22 01 Mar 07 98 151,00
01 Mar 04 237 129,00 26 Aug 05 2 234 99,06 31 Mar 07 2 825 229 136,20
01 Mar 04 825 134,00 01 Sep 05 81 320 121,00 01 Jun 07 3 100 132,00
01 Jul 04 3 600 123,50 12 Sep 05 72 933 44,50 28 Sep 07 302 392 130,80

14 Aug 04 2 568 426 98,75 27 Sep 05 401 013 111,80 02 Nov 07 21 347 123,00
01 Oct 04 13 400 95,25 01 Oct 05 133 540 117,60 06 Nov 07 43 000 131,00
05 Nov 04 450 97,00 02 Jan 06 31 426 63,00 19 Nov 07 15 800 125,00
05 Nov 04 280 107,00 01 Mar 06 62 150,00 14 Feb 08 23 700 115,00
05 Nov 04 2 686 120,00 01 Mar 06 533 129,20 15 Apr 08 3 919 388 125,00
08 Nov 04 125 000 35,25 01 Mar 06 368 130,60 15 Oct 08 493 986 102,65
01 Mar 05 789 150,00 01 Mar 06 512 134,00 02 Jul 08 3 257 100 123,60
01 Mar 05 117 151,00 01 Mar 06 313 139,00 27 Nov 08 50 000 123,60
01 Mar 05 558 134,00 01 Apr 06 115 324 133,20 25 Feb 09 151 500 102,19
01 Mar 05 339 146,00 02 May 06 13 420 128,60 01 Apr 09 3 045 000 88,00
01 Mar 05 20 297 146,00 22 Aug 06 129 500 152,00 11 Jun 09 22 500 94,00
31 Mar 05 28 700 137,60 01 Oct 06 2 920 131,45 25 Jun 09 12 800 90,50

01 Oct 09 639 730 69,20

2 958 528 7 309 561 22 346 816

Included in the above are 1 291 800 (2002: 1 706 000) options outstanding that were granted to executive directors.
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NIB share incentive scheme
The following options granted had not been exercised at 31 December 2003

Issue
Option No of price

expiry date shares R

26 Aug 05 1 198 355 79,50
22 Oct 05 14 493 79,50
07 Feb 06 33 335 79,50
21 Jun 06 70 791 79,50
26 Jul 06 58 460 79,50

29 Nov 06 68 333 79,50
08 Feb 07 86 124 96,00
16 May 07 29 762 84,00

24 Jul 07 156 534 89,70
11 Sep 07 17 172 97,50
02 Nov 07 851 332 86,40
01 Dec 07 1 000 86,40
06 Feb 08 15 333 90,90
01 Apr 08 61 666 81,00
01 Apr 08 10 000 90,90
08 Apr 08 2 000 81,00

01 May 08 15 000 81,00
21 Jun 08 6 667 111,00
01 Jul 08 10 000 105,00
01 Jul 08 36 666 111,00

2 743 023

Included in the above are 135 030 (2002: 135 030) options outstanding that were granted to executive directors.
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Shareholders’ analysis

Register date: 19 December 2003
Issued share capital: 274 754 425 shares

No of No
shareholders % of shares %

Shareholder spread
1 – 1 000 shares 17 710 85,21 3 637 912 1,32
1 001 – 5 000 shares 2 071 9,96 4 459 113 1,62
5 001 – 10 000 shares 344 1,66 2 474 759 0,90
10 001 – 50 000 shares 405 1,95 9 172 805 3,34
50 001 – 100 000 shares 111 0,54 7 890 045 2,87
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 119 0,57 34 234 252 12,46
1 000 001 and over 23 0,11 212 885 539 77,49

20 783 100,00 274 754 425 100,00

Distribution of shareholders
Banks 151 0,73 51 856 013 18,87
Close corporations 207 1,00 329 731 0,12
Endowment funds 17 0,08 287 470 0,10
Mutual funds 223 1,07 13 110 096 4,77
Individuals 16 653 80,13 9 079 634 3,30
Insurance companies 47 0,23 92 311 159 33,60
Investment companies 81 0,39 63 754 036 23,20
Limited companies 20 0,10 242 107 0,09
Medical aid schemes 11 0,05 127 136 0,05
Nominees and trusts 2 308 11,11 10 770 894 3,92
Other corporations 120 0,58 100 938 0,04
Pension funds 352 1,69 30 170 336 10,98
Private companies 590 2,83 1 903 147 0,69
Share trusts 3 0,01 711 728 0,27

20 783 100,00 274 754 425 100,00

Public/Non-public shareholders
Non-public shareholders 59 0,28 141 919 137 51,65

Directors and associates of the company 17 0,08 459 869 0,17
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (SA) Ltd and associates 20 0,10 140 175 066 51,02
NES Investments 1 0,00 217 812 0,08
Nedcor pension funds 4 0,02 111 066 0,04
Nedcor Ltd and associates (share trusts)* 3 0,01 711 728 0,26
Nedcor Ltd and associates 13 0,07 243 553 0,08
Nedlend Ltd* 1 0,00 43 0,00

Public shareholders 20 724 99,72 132 835 288 48,35

20 783 100,00 274 754 425 100,00

Shareholders with an interest of 5% or more in shares
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (SA) Ltd and associates 140 175 066 51,02
Public Investment Commissioners 16 008 570 5,83

* These shares were sold prior to 31 December 2003 and accordingly have not been reflected as treasury shares.
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Shareholders’ analysis

Breakdown of non-public holdings
Nedcor ordinary shares held by directors (refer page 128 for details)

No of shares %

CJW Ball 204 0,000
IJ Botha 68 000 0,025
WAM Clewlow 2 000 0,001
RG Cottrell 367 0,000
BJS Hore 98 423 0,036
MM Katz 3 000 0,001
MJ Levett 12 333 0,004
CF Liebenberg 31 462 0,011
JB Magwaza 105 0,000
ME Mkwanazi 103 0,000
SG Morris 23 480 0,009
DGS Muller 139 092 0,051
ML Ndlovu 12 846 0,005
AA Routledge 62 591 0,023
CML Savage 5 863 0,002

459 869 0,168

No of shares %

Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (SA) Ltd and associates
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA 88 157 134 32,09
Old Mutual Portfolio Holdings SA 49 626 858 18,06
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA 530 136 0,19
Old Mutual Global Assets Fund Limited 432 382 0,16
Old Mutual Value Equity Fund 351 581 0,13
Old Mutual Scrip Lending Pool Account 280 118 0,10
Old Mutual Financial Services Fund 179 000 0,07
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA 146 055 0,05
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company Namibia 122 436 0,04
Rodina Investments (Old Mutual) 77 410 0,03
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company SA 62 396 0,02
Galaxy Balanced Fund 39 400 0,02
OMLAC Shareholders Equity Fund 38 068 0,01
Old Mutual Alsi 40 Fund 35 496 0,01
Old Mutual Value Fund 32 000 0,01
SYmmETRY Satellite Equity Fund 30 660 0,01
Omibon No 13 (Pty) Ltd 17 366 0,01
Galaxy Balanced Fund 14 224 0,01
SYmmETRY Defensive Absolute Portfolio 2 300 0,00
Old Mutual Operating Scrip Account 46 0,00

140 175 066 51,02
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No of shares %

Nedcor pension funds
Nedcor Defined-contribution Provident Fund 31 850 0,01
Nedcor Pension Fund 30 147 0,01
NBS Group Pension Fund 28 700 0,01
Nedcor Defined-contribution Pension Fund 20 369 0,01

111 066 0,04

Nedcor Ltd and associates (share trusts)*
Nedcor Employee Share Trust 711 484 0,26
BoE Merchant Employee Incentive Scheme 225 0,00
NIB employee share trust 19 0,00

711 728 0,26

Nedcor Ltd and associates
NIB Community Growth Fund 98 241 0,03
Nedbank Managed Fund 76 836 0,03
Nedbank Growth Fund 40 800 0,01
BoE Life Assurance NBS Managed Fund 4 349 0,00
BoE Life Assurance NBS Corporate Fund 2 533 0,00
Other 20 794 0,01

243 553 0,08

* These shares were sold prior to 31 December 2003 and accordingly have not been reflected as treasury shares.
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Currency-adjusted group income statement
for the year ended 31 December

Restated Restated Restated Restated
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Rm Rm $m $m £m £m €m €m

Interest income 28 141 23 607 3 787 2 283 2 305 1 517 3 324 2 412
Interest expense 21 333 17 652 2 871 1 707 1 747 1 134 2 520 1 804

Net interest income 6 808 5 955 916 576 558 383 804 608
Non-interest revenue 7 953 6 822 1 070 660 651 438 940 697
Foreign currency translation losses (1 416) (1 216) (190) (118) (116) (78) (167) (124)

Total income 13 345 11 561 1 796 1 118 1 093 743 1 577 1 181
Impairment of advances 2 063 278 169 244
Specific and general provisions 1 467 142 94 150
Exceptional general provision reversed (400) (39) (25) (41)

Income after impairment of advances 11 282 10 494 1 518 1 015 924 674 1 333 1 072
Operating expenses 9 950 7 366 1 339 712 815 473 1 175 752
Merger and reorganisation expenses 394 193 53 19 32 12 47 20

Profit from operations 
before exceptional items 938 2 935 126 284 77 189 111 300
Exceptional items (1 693) (1 793) (228) (174) (139) (115) (200) (183)

Capital loss on investment 
in Dimension Data (1 080) (104) (69) (110)
Amortisation of goodwill (424) (426) (57) (41) (35) (27) (50) (44)
Impairment of goodwill (1 379) (75) (186) (8) (113) (5) (163) (8)
Profit/(Loss) on sale of subsidiaries,
investments and operations 349 (58) 47 (6) 29 (4) 41 (6)
Merger and reorganisation expenses (35) (3) (2) (4)
Impairment of investments 
and of property and equipment (239) (119) (32) (12) (20) (8) (28) (11)

(Loss)/Profit from operations (755) 1 142 (102) 110 (62) 74 (89) 117
Attributable earnings of 
associate companies and joint ventures 132 162 18 16 11 10 15 16

(Loss)/Profit before taxation (623) 1 304 (84) 126 (51) 84 (74) 133
Taxation 823 441 111 43 67 28 97 45
Taxation on merger and 
reorganisation expenses (74) (23) (10) (2) (6) (1) (9) (2)
Taxation on exceptional items (38) (192) (5) (19) (3) (12) (4) (20)

(Loss)/Profit after taxation (1 334) 1 078 (180) 104 (109) 69 (158) 110
Minority interest income attributable 
to ordinary shareholders (133) (203) (18) (19) (11) (13) (16) (21)
Minority interest income attributable 
to preference shareholders (133) (18) (11) (16)

Net (loss)/income attributable to 
ordinary shareholders (1 600) 875 (216) 85 (131) 56 (190) 89

Adjusted for:
Exceptional items 1 693 1 793 228 174 139 115 200 183
Taxation on exceptional items (38) (192) (5) (19) (3) (12) (4) (20)

Headline earnings 55 2 476 7 240 5 159 6 252

Average exchange rate for the year 
ended 31 December for R1 1 1 0,1346 0,0967 0,0819 0,0643 0,1181 0,1022
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Currency-adjusted group balance sheet
as at 31 December

Restated Restated Restated Restated
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Rm Rm $m $m £m £m €m €m

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 12 227 16 607 1 845 1 931 1 036 1 199 1 462 1 843
Other short-term securities 10 610 14 987 1 601 1 743 899 1 082 1 269 1 663
Government and other securities 21 333 14 647 3 219 1 703 1 807 1 057 2 551 1 626
Derivative instruments 28 496 50 786 4 300 5 905 2 414 3 666 3 408 5 636
Advances 210 096 194 862 31 703 22 658 17 795 14 067 25 127 21 626
Sundry debtors 6 934 5 684 1 046 661 587 410 829 631
Deferred taxation assets 3 074 1 788 464 208 260 129 368 198
Current taxation prepaid 256 421 39 49 22 30 31 47
Investments:

Investments in associate companies 
and joint ventures 1 627 1 504 246 175 138 109 195 167
Other investments 3 788 5 429 572 631 321 392 453 603

Insurance assets 5 152 7 891 777 918 436 570 616 876
Property and equipment 2 684 2 854 405 332 227 206 321 317
Computer software and capitalised
development costs 1 710 1 730 258 201 145 125 205 192
Goodwill 3 762 4 457 568 518 319 322 450 495
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 835 1 120 126 130 71 81 100 124

Total assets 312 584 324 767 47 169 37 763 26 477 23 445 37 385 36 044

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary share capital 275 271 41 32 23 20 33 30
Ordinary share premium 4 801 4 536 724 527 407 327 574 503
Reserves 6 571 12 239 993 1 423 557 884 786 1 358

Ordinary shareholders’ equity 11 647 17 046 1 758 1 982 987 1 231 1 393 1 891
Minority shareholders’ equity

Attributable to preference shareholders 2 802 1 987 423 231 237 143 335 221
Attributable to ordinary shareholders 652 503 98 58 55 36 78 56

Total shareholders’ equity 
and minority interest 15 101 19 536 2 279 2 271 1 279 1 410 1 806 2 168

Liabilities
Deposits, current accounts 
and other creditors 250 329 236 526 37 775 27 503 21 205 17 076 29 939 26 251
Derivative instruments 28 206 50 233 4 256 5 841 2 389 3 626 3 373 5 575
Deferred taxation liabilities 2 731 1 710 412 199 231 123 327 190
Current taxation liabilities 144 183 22 21 12 13 17 20
Insurance funds 5 152 7 891 777 918 436 570 616 876
Long-term debt instruments 10 086 7 568 1 522 880 854 546 1 207 840
Liabilities under acceptances 835 1 120 126 130 71 81 100 124

Total liabilities 297 483 305 231 44 890 35 492 25 198 22 035 35 579 33 876

312 584 324 767 47 169 37 763 26 477 23 445 37 385 36 044

Guarantees on behalf of customers 
excluded from assets 12 403 11 966 1 872 1 391 1 051 864 1 483 1 328

Exchange rate as at 31 December for R1 1 1 0,1509 0,1163 0,0847 0,0722 0,1196 0,1110
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Interest rate risk analysis
as at 31 December

G r o u p

Interest rate sensitive
3 months 6 months 1 year Non-rate-

< 3 months < 6 months < 1 year < 5 years > 5 years sensitive Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

2003
Cash and short-term funds 12 227 12 227
Other short-term securities 4 170 1 592 570 322 328 3 628 10 610
Government and other securities 4 381 132 286 12 242 2 478 1 814 21 333
Derivative instruments 11 645 471 416 6 152 1 563 8 249 28 496
Advances 176 581 2 088 3 096 18 469 8 529 1 333 210 096
Sundry debtors 6 934 6 934
Deferred taxation assets 3 074 3 074
Current taxation prepaid 256 256
Investments in associate companies 
and joint ventures 1 627 1 627
Other investments 3 788 3 788
Insurance assets 5 152 5 152
Property and equipment 2 684 2 684
Intangible assets 5 472 5 472
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 835 835

Total assets 196 777 4 283 4 368 37 185 12 898 57 073 312 584

Total shareholders’ equity and minority 
shareholders’ equity 15 101 15 101
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors 189 289 14 313 8 389 8 943 1 917 27 478 250 329
Derivative instruments 5 474 617 521 9 261 4 344 7 989 28 206
Deferred taxation liabilities 2 731 2 731
Current taxation liabilities 144 144
Insurance funds 5 152 5 152
Long-term debt instruments 3 002 2 481 4 036 567 10 086
Liabilities under acceptances 835 835

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 197 765 14 930 8 910 20 685 10 297 59 997 312 584

Interest rate sensitivity gap (988) (10 647) (4 542) 16 500 2 601 (2 924)

Cumulative gap (988) (11 635) (16 177) 323 2 924
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G r o u p

Interest rate sensitive
3 months 6 months 1 year Non-rate-

< 3 months < 6 months < 1 year < 5 years > 5 years sensitive Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

2002 (Restated)
Cash and short-term funds 3 489 13 118 16 607
Other short-term securities 11 360 458 577 415 2 177 14 987
Government and other securities 1 964 328 442 6 384 4 731 798 14 647
Derivative instruments 4 287 1 051 866 5 344 4 940 34 298 50 786
Advances 147 394 1 184 3 591 11 180 25 397 6 116 194 862
Sundry debtors 5 684 5 684
Deferred taxation asset 1 788 1 788
Current taxation prepaid 421 421
Investments in associate companies 
and joint ventures 1 504 1 504
Other investments 5 429 5 429
Insurance assets 7 891 7 891
Property and equipment 2 854 2 854
Intangible assets 6 187 6 187
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 1 120 1 120

Total assets 168 494 3 021 5 476 23 323 37 245 87 208 324 767

Total shareholders’ equity and minority 
shareholders’ equity 19 536 19 536
Deposits, current accounts and other creditors 154 290 13 371 17 500 20 599 19 086 11 680 236 526
Derivative instruments 2 868 232 564 4 248 8 089 34 232 50 233
Deferred taxation liability 1 710 1 710
Current taxation liability 183 183
Insurance funds 7 891 7 891
Long-term debt instruments 139 195 7 234 7 568
Liabilities under acceptances 1 120 1 120

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 157 158 13 742 18 064 25 042 34 409 76 352 324 767

Off-balance-sheet items 6 456 1 966 945 (647) (8 720)

Interest rate sensitivity gap 17 792 (8 755) (11 643) (2 366) (5 884) 10 856

Cumulative gap 17 792 9 037 (2 606) (4 972) (10 856)
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Currency representation of the balance sheet
as at 31 December

Rand UK £ US$ Other Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

2003
Total assets 268 011 9 161 24 827 10 585 312 584

Cash and short-term funds 10 464 604 766 393 12 227
Other short-term securities 7 351 1 533 232 1 494 10 610
Government and other securities 17 711 86 1 861 1 675 21 333
Advances and other assets 213 767 4 398 20 761 6 600 245 526
Deferred taxation assets 3 071 3 3 074
Current taxation prepaid 256 256
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 768 1 54 12 835
Other investments 6 695 2 467 1 117 288 10 567
Property, equipment and intangible assets 7 928 72 36 120 8 156

Total liabilities 261 679 6 240 21 437 8 127 297 483

Subordinated debt instruments 9 699 386 1 10 086
Deposits, current accounts and other liabilities 248 434 6 211 20 980 8 062 283 687
Deferred taxation liabilities 2 689 42 2 731
Current taxation liabilities 89 28 17 10 144
Liabilities under acceptances 768 1 54 12 835

Net assets 6 332 2 921 3 390 2 458 15 101
Capital 7 787 2 069 4 582 663 15 101

1 455 (852) 1 192 (1 795) –

2002 (Restated)
Total assets 280 198 10 801 25 919 7 849 324 767

Cash and short-term funds 9 372 1 037 5 681 517 16 607
Other short-term securities 11 306 2 296 427 958 14 987
Government and other securities 9 644 42 3 210 1 751 14 647
Advances and other assets 227 450 4 943 14 761 4 178 251 332
Deferred taxation assets 1 788 1 788
Current taxation prepaid 421 421
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances 1 037 5 72 6 1 120
Other investments 10 389 2 389 1 719 327 14 824
Property, equipment and intangible assets 8 791 89 49 112 9 041

Total liabilities 273 218 8 151 18 027 5 835 305 231

Subordinated debt instruments 7 067 501 7 568
Deposits, current accounts and other liabilities 265 114 8 146 17 454 5 829 296 543
Liabilities under acceptances 1 037 5 72 6 1 120

Net assets 6 980 2 650 7 892 2 014 19 536
Capital 14 346 2 775 2 064 351 19 536

7 366 125 (5 828) (1 663) –

This balance sheet provides a view of the currency in which group balance sheet items are represented, expressed in ZAR.
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Average balance sheet and related interest
as at 31 December

2003 2002
Restated

Average Average
balance % Interest balance % Interest

sheet change Rm sheet change Rm

Assets
Advances and other accounts:
Mortgage loans 60 407 12,9 7 815 55 972 14,4 8 078
Lease and instalment debtors 24 250 13,9 3 377 18 520 15,4 2 859
Bills and acceptances 5 225 10,0 523 3 620 10,5 379
Overdrafts 23 241 12,6 2 915 19 795 13,2 2 617
Term loans and other* 80 134 12,4 10 071 67 045 9,8 6 608
Government stock 11 763 9,3 1 093 11 174 9,8 1 094
Short-term funds and securities 32 183 6,0 1 923 31 287 6,3 1 972
Impairment of advances/doubtful 
debt provisions (6 496) (5 801)
Interest reserve 424

Interest-earning assets 230 707 12,2 28 141 201 612 11,7 23 607
Other non-interest-earning assets
Cash, investments, sundry debtors,
derivatives and fixed assets 60 640 76 954

Total assets*** 291 347 9,7 28 141 278 566 8,5 23 607

Liabilities
Deposit and loan accounts 133 559 9,8 13 046 120 350 9,6 11 552
Current and savings accounts 38 102 4,9 1 851 30 656 4,7 1 436
Negotiable certificates of deposit 35 337 11,8 4 155 18 912 10,9 2 069
Other liabilities** 31 054 4,3 1 335 36 560 5,5 2 017
Subordinated debt 7 604 12,4 946 5 140 11,2 578

Interest-bearing liabilities 245 656 8,7 21 333 211 618 8,3 17 652
Derivatives 28 206 50 233
Share capital, reserves and 
preference shares 17 485 16 715

Total liabilities 291 347 7,3 21 333 278 566 6,3 17 652

Margin on total average assets 2,3 2,1

Net interest to average 
interest-earning assets 230 707 2,95 6 808 201 612 2,95 5 955

Where possible, averages are calculated on daily balances.
* Includes: term loans, preference shares, factoring debtors, other lending-related instruments and customers’ indebtedness for acceptances.
** Includes: foreign currency liabilities, liabilities under acceptances, creditors and other accounts.
*** Total assets and liabilities exclude the derivative gross-up and value shown as net.
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Value-added statement
as at 31 December

2003 2002
Restated

Rm % Rm %

Value added
Value added is the wealth created from providing quality services to clients
Net interest income 6 808 130 5 955 105
Bad-debt charge (2 063) (39) (1 067) (19)

Margin on lending 4 745 91 4 888 86
Non-margin-related income* 4 976 95 3 975 70
Other expenditure (4 493) (86) (3 178) (56)

5 228 100 5 685 100

Value allocated
Employees 4 949 95 3 854 68
Government (taxes)** 711 13 226 4
Shareholders*** 1 661 32 1 485 26
Retentions for growth (2 093) (40) 120 2

Depreciation and amortisation 902 17 527 9
Retained loss (2 995) (57) (407) (7)

5 228 100 5 685 100

* Includes non-interest revenue, attributable earnings of associates and exceptional items (before taxation).
** Taxation due to central and local government as per the above is detailed in note 10 on page 157. In addition, the group was obliged to collect,

on behalf of central government, employees’ tax for the year ended 31 December 2003 of R890 million (2002: R966 million).
*** Value is allocated to shareholders in respect of cash dividends (does not include the underlying value of capitalisation share offers) and income

attributable to minority shareholders.

2003 2002
Capital Capital

Nedcor Group Rm % Rm %

Tier 1 capital 10 593 5,0 14 517 7,0
Tier 2 capital 10 516 4,9 8 468 4,0
Tier 3 capital 480 0,2 0 0

21 589 10,1 22 985 11,0

Risk-weighted assets 212 850 208 656

Gerrard
Peoples Imperial Private

Capital adequacy analysis Nedbank Bank Bank Bank
by bank (solo supervision) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Primary capital 5,7 7,4 23,3 31,5 7,0 7,9 13,8 15,0
Secondary and tertiary capital 5,5 6,4 0,7 3,0 5,0 4,6 1,3 1,3

11,2 13,8 24,0 34,5 12,0 12,5 15,1 16,3

Capital adequacy
as at 31 December
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Definitions

Basel Capital Accord (Basel II)
The New Basel Capital Accord (Basel II) of the Bank for
International Settlements is an improved capital adequacy
framework accomplished by closely aligning banks’ capital
requirements with improved modern risk management practices
and sophisticated risk assessment capabilities. It further ensures
the risk sensitivity of the minimum capital requirements by
including supervisory reviews and market discipline through
enhanced disclosure.

Capital adequacy ratio
The capital adequacy of South African banks is measured in
terms of the South African Banks Act requirements. The ratio is
calculated by dividing the primary (Tier 1), secondary (Tier 2) and
tertiary (Tier 3) capital by the risk-weighted assets. The minimum
South African total capital adequacy ratio for banks is now 10%
of risk-weighted assets. Non-South African banks within the
group have similar requirements.

Primary (Tier 1) capital
Primary capital consists of issued ordinary share capital and
perpetual preference share capital, retained earnings and the
reserves. This amount is then reduced by the portion of capital
that is allocated to trading activities.

Secondary (Tier 2) capital
Secondary capital is made up of compulsorily convertible loans,
the general bad-debt provision and 50% of any revaluation
reserves.

Cash flow
Financing activities
Activities that result in changes to the capital structure of the
group, as well as long-term funding movements.

Investing activities
Activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of
subsidiaries, fixed assets and long-term investments.

Operating activities
Activities that are not financing or investing activities and arise
from the operations conducted by the group.

Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation assets are the amounts of income tax
recoverable in future periods in respect of:
• deductible temporary differences arising due to differences

between the tax and accounting treatment of transactions; and
• the carry forward of unused tax losses.

Deferred taxation liabilities
Deferred taxation liabilities are the amounts of income tax
payable in future periods due to differences between the tax and
accounting treatment of a transaction.

Dividend cover
Earnings per share divided by dividends per share.

Dividend per share
Dividend per share is the actual interim dividend paid and the
final dividend declared for the year under consideration,
expressed as cents per share.

Dividend yield
Dividend per ordinary share as a percentage of the closing share
price of ordinary shares.

Advances impairment
Advances impairments are made where there is objective
evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts
due. The impairment is the difference between the carrying and
recoverable amount.

Earnings per employee
Earnings divided by the number of employees in service at the
year-end.

Earnings per share
Attributable earnings basis
Net profit for the year divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Headline earnings basis
Headline earnings divided by the weighted average number of
shares in issue during the year.

Fully diluted basis
The relevant earnings figure is adjusted for the assumed
adjustments to income that would have been earned on the
issue of shares issued from dilutive instruments. The resultant
earnings are divided by the weighted average number of shares
and other dilutive instruments (ie potential ordinary shares)
outstanding at the year-end, assuming they had been in issue
for the year.

Earnings yield
Headline earnings per share as a percentage of the closing price
of ordinary shares.
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Definitions

Effective interest rate
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the
expected stream of future cash payments through maturity or
the next market-based repricing date to the current net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. That
computation should include all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract. The effective interest rate is the
internal rate of return of the financial asset or financial liability for
that period.

Effective tax rate
The taxation charge in the income statement, excluding taxation
relating to exceptional items, as a percentage of earnings,
excluding the share of earnings of associate companies.

Efficiency ratio (cost-to-income ratio)
Operating expenses as a percentage of income from operations.

Employee benefits
Employee benefits include all forms of consideration given by the
group in exchange for services rendered by employees.

Exceptional items
Are exceptional by value of their nature and amount and comprise:
• surpluses and losses on disposal of long-term investments,

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates;
• amortisation of goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,

joint ventures and associates;
• surpluses and losses on the sale or termination of an operation;
• impairments of investments and property and equipment.

Headline earnings
Headline earnings is not a measure of maintainable earnings.
Headline earnings reflect the trading performance of the group
separated from profits and losses on capital items.

Headline earnings per employee
Headline earnings divided by the number of employees in
service at the year-end.

King II (‘the code’)
The King Report on Corporate Governance 2002, which sets
out principles of good corporate governance for South African
companies and organisations.

Market capitalisation
The group’s closing share price times the number of shares in issue.

Market price premium to net asset value
The extent to which the closing price of ordinary shares exceeds
the net asset value per share (with investments at market value)
expressed as a percentage.

Net asset value per share
Total shareholders’ equity divided by the number of shares in
issue, less any treasury shares held.

Net interest income to interest-earning assets
(net interest margin)
Net interest income expressed as a percentage of average net
interest-earning assets. Net interest-earning assets are used, as
these closely resemble the quantum of interest-bearing assets
earning income, which is included in net margin.

Non-interest revenue to total income
Income from operations, excluding net margin as a percentage
of income from operations.

Off-balance-sheet assets
Assets managed on behalf of third parties on a fully discretionary
basis.

Ordinary shareholders’ funds
Ordinary share capital, share premium and reserves.

Price earnings ratio
The closing price of ordinary shares divided by headline earnings
per share.

Price to book
The group’s closing share price relative to the net asset value.

Properties in possession
Properties acquired through payment defaults on an advance
secured by the property.

Risk-weighted assets
Risk-weighted assets are determined by applying risk weights
to balance sheet assets and off-balance-sheet financial
instruments according to the relative credit risk of the
counterparty. The risk weighting for each balance sheet asset
and off-balance-sheet financial instrument is regulated by the
South African Banks Act or by regulations in the respective
countries of the other banking licences.
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Return on ordinary shareholders’ equity

Headline earnings expressed as a percentage of average

ordinary shareholders’ funds.

Return on total assets

Headline earnings expressed as a percentage of average total

assets.

Segmental reporting

Operational segment

A distinguishable component of the group, based on the

market on which each business area focuses, which is subject

to risks and returns that are different from those of other

operating segments.

Geographical segment

A distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in

providing services within a particular economic environment

and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those

of components operating in other economic environments.

Operational segmental reporting – ratios

Average assets

Daily balances for the year are added and divided by 365 days

to get a daily average asset.

Return on average assets

Headline earnings expressed as a percentage of average assets.

Return on average equity

Headline earnings expressed as a percentage of allocated

capital.

Allocated capital 

Portion of total average shareholders’ equity allocated to each

reporting segment.

Interest margin

Net interest income expressed as a percentage of total average

interest earning assets.

Tangible net asset value per share

Total shareholders’ equity less goodwill, software and capitalised

development cost, divided by the number of shares in issue, less

any treasury shares held.

Total income

Income from operations.

Treasury shares

Ordinary shares in Nedcor Limited acquired by group subsidiary

companies in terms of an approved share repurchase transaction.

Triple bottomline

Triple bottomline refers to sustainability in three dimensions: the

economic, environmental and social aspects of a company’s

activities. This is an approach that has been brought to the

forefront by the second King Report on Corporate Governance.

Weighted average number of shares

The number of shares in issue increased by shares issued during

the year, weighted on a time basis for the period during which

they participated in the income of the group, less treasury shares

held by entities in the group, weighted on a time basis for the

period during which the entities held these shares.

These definitions should be read in conjunction with the

group’s accounting policies, which also clarify certain

terms used.
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Glossary of terms

Term used in this annual report International (UK or US) equivalent or brief description

Advances Lendings

Capital allowances Tax term equivalent to US tax depreciation allowances

Distributable reserve Profit and loss account reserve

Fair value (if listed security) Market value

Financial statements Accounts

Finance lease Capital lease

Freehold Ownership with absolute rights in perpetuity

Gain Surplus or profit

Income Profit

Income statement Profit and loss account

Interest-bearing borrowings Long-term debt or loan capital

Interest expense Interest payable

Interest income Interest receivable

Issued Allotted

Net asset value Book value

Net profit Attributable profit

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid Called-up share capital

Provisions Allowances

Property and equipment Fixed assets

Secondary tax on companies (‘STC’) No direct international equivalent. Tax paid on net difference between dividends

received and paid

Share capital Ordinary shares, capital stock or common stock, issued and fully paid

Share premium Additional paid-up capital or paid-in surplus

Shares in issue Shares outstanding

Short-term deposits and cash Cash

Writeoffs Chargeoffs
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Contact details

CLIENT SERVICES
Nedcor 2003 Annual Report and Sustainability Report
Should you require a copy of the detailed Nedcor 2003
Annual Report please email your address details to Nedcor
Investor Relations at nedcorir@nedcor.co.za or send a fax to
+27 (0) 11 294 6549. It is also available from www.nedcor.com.

If you would like a copy of the Nedcor 2003 Sustainability
Report, please contact the Nedcor Corporate Governance
Department on:
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0238/3593
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0238
Email: JustinS@nedcor.co.za/MelN@nedcor.co.za

Corporate Affairs/Investor Relations
Rob Shuter
Executive: Corporate Affairs and Strategy
Tel: +27 (0) 11 295 9699
Fax: +27 (0) 11 294 9699
Email: robsh@nedcor.co.za

Media Relations, Marketing and Communications
Cecilia de Almeida
Head: Media Relations
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0371
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0371
Email: ceciliad@nedcor.co.za

Greg Garden
Head: Marketing and Communications
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0676
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0676
Email: gregg@nedcor.co.za

Investor Relations
The investor relations and financial media functions at Nedcor
are outsourced. For investor-related information please contact:

Tier 1 Investor Relations
Ground Floor
Grapevine House
Silverwood Close
Steenberg Office Park, Tokai
Cape Town, 7945
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 21 702 3102
Fax: +27 (0) 21 702 3107
Email: ir@tier1ir.co.za

Tip-offs Anonymous
Tip-offs Anonymous is an independently managed hotline
service that offers Nedcor stakeholders the opportunity to report
anonymously any fraudulent activity, unethical behaviour or
dishonesty within the Nedcor Group. It operates nationally,
365 days a year, 24 hours a day.

Tel: Toll-free 0800 000 909 (within South Africa only)
International tel: +27 (0) 31 508 6436

Free postal address (within South Africa only)
Freepost DN 298
Umhlanga Rocks
South Africa, 4320

Fax: Toll-free 0800 00 77 88 (within South Africa only)
International fax: + 27 (0) 31 508 6760

Email: Nedcor@tip-offs.com

Nedbank Client Care Centre
The Nedcor Client Care Centre (NCCC) provides a
comprehensive range of problem resolution services to all
external Nedcor clients, across all brands, products and client
groupings, as well as to all Nedcor employees.

The NCCC uses Best Demonstrated Practice (BDP) technology,
including Avaya, Genesis, Blue Pumpkin and Siebel. Voice
recording and logging systems record all incoming and outgoing
calls made.

Tel: Toll-free 0860 115 060 (within South Africa only)
Nedbank 0860 555 111
Old Mutual Bank 0860 555 222
Peoples Bank 0860 555 333
Go Banking 0860 654 222
Business Banking 0860 100 013

0860 119 007 (Bonds)
Card Lost and Stolen 0800 110 929
Electronic Channel Helpdesk
Corporate 0860 111 055
Retail 0860 11 5060 (06:00 – 22:00)

GROUP ADDRESSES
Nedcor Limited
Reg No 1966/010630/06

Business address and registered office
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196
South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 1144
Johannesburg, 2000
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0999
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0999

Investor Relations email: nedcorir@nedcor.co.za

Website: http://www.nedcor.com
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Contact details

Company secretary
Gawie Nienaber
Group Company Secretary
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 9106
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 9106
Email: Gawien@nedcor.co.za

Nedbank Limited
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196
South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 1144
Johannesburg, 2000
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0999
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0999
Website: http://www.nedbank.com

Nedbank Capital
B Kennedy
Managing Director
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 3103
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 3103
Email: brianke2@nedcor.co.za

Nedbank Corporate
GW Dempster
Managing Director
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 295 8165
Fax: +27 (0) 11 294 8165
Email: grahamd@nedcor.co.za

Nedbank Retail and 
Wealth Management
PWJ Backwell
Managing Director
Nedbank Retail
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 294 0675
Fax: +27 (0) 11 295 0675
Email: peteb@nedcor.co.za

Wealth Management
Nedbank Clock Tower Precinct
V&A Waterfront
Cape Town, 8001
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 21 416 6000
Fax: +27 (0) 21 416 9860
Email: jacqui@boe.co.za

Old Mutual Bank
JJ van Niekerk
Chief Executive Officer
Mutual Park
Jan Smuts Drive
Pinelands, 7405
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 21 503 4267
Fax: +27 (0) 21 503 4281
Email: jjvanniekerk@oldmutual.com
Website: http://www.oldmutual.co.za

Peoples Bank Limited
ML Ndlovu
Chief Executive
13th Floor
100 Main Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 630 7672
Fax: +27 (0) 11 630 6715
Email: lotn@nedcor.co.za
Website: http://www.peoplesbank.co.za

Group Business Innovation
BJS Hore
Managing Director
105 West Street
Sandown, 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 295 9690
Fax: +27 (0) 11 294 9690
Email: barryh@nedcor.co.za

Group Operations
LM de Villiers
Managing Director
Nedcor Park
6 Press Avenue
Extension 15
Selby, 2092
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 495 8911
Fax: +27 (0) 11 495 8278
Email: lend@nedcor.co.za

Imperial Bank Limited
RL (Tak) Hiemstra
Chief Executive Officer
140 Boeing Road East
Elma Park
Edenvale, 1610
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 879 2000
Fax: +27 (0) 11 453 9646
Email: phassim@imperialbank.co.za
Website: http://www.imperialbank.co.za

Foreign branches
London
FA le Roex
General Manager
Nedcor House
20 Abchurch Lane
London, EC4N 7AD
United Kingdom
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7203 4200
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7621 9304
Telex: 886 208/895 6177
Email: ebetts@nedbank.co.uk
Website: http://www.nedbank.co.uk

Isle of Man
M Prinsloo
General Manager
Nedbank Isle of Man
Samuel Harris House
St Georges Street
Douglas
Isle of Man
IM1 1AJ, British Isles
Tel: +44 (0) 1624 61 2893
Fax: +44 (0) 1624 61 2836
Email: nediom@nedbank.co.uk

Foreign subsidiaries 
Gerrard Private Bank Limited
RF (Bob) Wooddisse
Chief Executive Officer
5 Mount Pleasant
Douglas
Isle of Man
British Isles
IM1 2PU, British Isles
Tel: +44 (0) 1624 645 000
Fax:+44 (0) 1624 627 218
Email: iom@gerrardpb.com
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Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited
A Dlamini
Managing Director
Nedbank Centre
Nedbank Plaza
Corner Riverside and Bypass Roads
Mbabane, Swaziland
Tel: +268 404 3351
Fax: +268 404 4060
Email: AMDlamini@nedcor.com

Nedbank (Lesotho) Limited
PD Opperman
Managing Director
1st Floor
Nedbank Building
Kingsway Road
Maseru, 100
Lesotho
Tel: +266 31 2696
Fax: +266 31 0025
Email: nedles@adelfang.co.za

Nedcor Trade Services Limited
CJ Roets
Managing Director
5th Floor
Barkly Wharf
Le Caudan Waterfront Old Pavillion Street
Port Louis, Mauritius
Tel: +230 210 3153
Toll-free: 0800 008 146 (within Mauritius
only)
Fax: +230 210 3154
Email: nedcortrade@intnet.mu

Commercial Bank of Namibia
Limited
MK Shipanga
Managing Director
12 – 20 Dr Frans Indongo Street
Windhoek, Namibia
Tel: +264 61 295 9111
Fax: +264 61 295 2120
Email: service@c-bank.com.na

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Limited
70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
South Africa

Postal address
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
South Africa, 2107
Tel: +27 (0) 11 370 5000
Fax: +27 (0) 11 370 5018

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
The Woodlands
20 Woodlands Drive
Woodmead, 2128
South Africa

Postal address
Private Bag X6 
Gallo Manor, 2052
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 806 5000
Fax: +27 (0) 11 806 5003

KPMG Inc.
KPMG Crescent
85 Empire Road
Parktown, 2193
South Africa

Postal address
Private Bag X9
Parkview, 2122
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0) 11 647 7111
Fax: +27 (0) 11 647 8000
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Annual general meeting
to be held on 6 May 2004 at 17:00

www.nedcor.com

This document is important and requires your immediate attention

If you are in any doubt as to what action to take, please contact your banker, stockbroker, legal adviser,
accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Action required
If you have disposed of all your shares in Nedcor, this document should be handed to the purchaser of such
shares or to the banker, stockbroker or other agent through whom such disposal was effected.
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Chairman’s office

Nedcor Sandton PO Box 1144 Tel: +27 (0)11 294 0999
135 Rivonia Road Johannesburg, 2000 Fax: +27 (0)11 294 3097
Sandown, 2196 South Africa Website: www.nedcor.co.za

Dear Member

I extend a warm invitation to you to attend the 37th annual general meeting (‘AGM’) of Nedcor Limited to be held in the
Auditorium, Retail Place West, Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, on Thursday, 6 May 2004 at 17:00.

Included in this document are the following:
• The notice of the meeting setting out the resolutions to be proposed, together with explanatory notes. There are also guidance

notes, should you wish to attend the meeting (for which purpose an AGM location map is included) or to vote by proxy.
• Form of proxy.

If you are unable to attend, you will be able to exercise your right as a member to take part in the AGM by following the
accompanying instructions and ensuring that your voting instructions are lodged in the form of the completed form of proxy with
the transfer secretaries in good time before the meeting.

I should like to remind members of their right to raise questions, at the appropriate time, at the AGM. As it is not possible to
answer every question raised at the AGM and, to ensure that matters of particular interest to members are covered, I would like
to suggest that members use this form to raise in advance any questions of particular interest to them. From the forms returned
we can assess the most popular topics and I shall endeavour to address these at the AGM, thereby ensuring that they will not
be overlooked. This advance notice of relevant questions will, of course, not prevent any member from raising questions during
the AGM.

The question form can be:
• forwarded to the Company Secretary, GS Nienaber, at A Block, Ground Floor, Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown

(PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000) to be received no later than 17:00 on Wednesday, 5 May 2004; or
• forwarded with the form of proxy to our transfer secretaries, Computershare Limited, PO Box 1053, Johannesburg, 2000 to

be received no later than 17:00 on Wednesday, 5 May 2004; or
• handed in at the time of registering attendance at the AGM, should the above options not have been chosen.

Yours sincerely

CF Liebenberg
Chairman

Sandton
17 March 2004

Nedcor Limited (Reg No 1966/010630/06)
Directors: CF Liebenberg (Chairman) • WAM Clewlow (Deputy Chairman) • Prof MM Katz (Vice-chairman) • TA Boardman (Chief Executive) •
CJW Ball • RG Cottrell • BE Davison • N Dennis† • Prof B Figaji • BJS Hore • MJ Levett • JB Magwaza • ME Mkwanazi • DGS Muller •
ML Ndlovu • PF Nhleko • TH Nyasulu • JVF Roberts† • CML Savage • JH Sutcliffe† (†British)

Company Secretary: GS Nienaber
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Question form for annual general meeting

Name of member

Address

Contact details

Telephone number

Fax number

Email

Questions
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Shareholders’ diary

2003 financial year
Financial year-end 31 December 2003
Dividend payment (final) (Nedbank preference shares) 29 March 2004
Dividend payment (final) (Nedcor ordinary shares) 13 April 2004
Annual general meeting 6 May 2004

2004 financial year
Financial year-end 31 December 2004

Reports
Interim report and announcement of interim dividend on or about 29 July 2004
Annual results and announcement of final dividend during February 2005
Publication of annual financial results during April 2005

Dividend payments
Interim during September 2004
Final during April 2005

Annual general meeting during May 2005

The map below indicates the location of Nedcor Sandton where the AGM will be held.
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Notice of annual general meeting

Nedcor Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Reg No 1966/010630/06)
Share code: NED ISIN: ZAE000004875
(‘Nedcor’ or ‘the company’)

Notice is hereby given that the 37th annual general meeting of members of Nedcor Limited will be held in the Auditorium, Retail
Place West, Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, on Thursday, 6 May 2004, at 17:00.

Agenda
1. To receive and consider the annual financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2003, together with

the reports of the directors and auditors.

2. To confirm the award of capitalisation shares to ordinary shareholders recorded in the register at the close of business
on 8 April 2004.

3. To note and confirm the interim dividend of 205 cents per share declared on 29 July 2003 and the final dividend of 35 cents
per share on 22 February 2004 in favour of those shareholders who elected to receive a cash dividend in lieu of the
capitalisation share award.

4. To reelect the following directors of the company:
4.1 CJW Ball;
4.2 WAM Clewlow;
4.3 BE Davison;
4.4 MM Katz;
4.5 ME Mkwanazi;
4.6 JVF Roberts; and
4.7 JH Sutcliffe
who retire by rotation in terms of the company’s articles of association and, being eligible, make themselves available for
reelection.

5. To consider and put to the vote the appointment of any person proposed as a director in terms of article 18.3 of the
company’s articles of association.

6. To approve the fees and remuneration paid to directors for the past financial year.

7. To reappoint Deloitte & Touche and KPMG Inc as joint auditors.

8. To authorise the directors to determine the remuneration of the company’s auditors.

As special business, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without modification, the following resolutions:

Ordinary resolution
Control of authorised but unissued shares
‘Resolved that an authority be granted by shareholders to the directors to place the authorised, but unissued, ordinary shares
in the share capital of Nedcor under the control of the directors, who are authorised to allot these shares on such terms and
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conditions and at such times as they deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973 (as amended), the
Banks Act, 94 of 1990 (as amended), and the listings requirements of the JSE Securities Exchange South Africa. This authority
is limited to Nedcor’s existing contractual obligations, Nedcor’s requirements for the rights issue announced on 23 February
2004, any scrip dividend and/or capitalisation share award, and shares required to be issued for the purpose of carrying out the
terms of the Nedcor share incentive scheme.’

Special resolution
Approval to repurchase shares
‘Resolved that the company and/or its subsidiaries be authorised, in terms of a general authority contemplated in sections 85(2)
and 85(3) of the Act, to acquire the company’s issued shares from time to time on such terms and conditions and in such
amounts as the directors of the company may from time to time decide, but always subject to the approval to the extent required
by the Registrar of Banks, the provisions of the Act, the Banks Act, 94 of 1990 (as amended), and the JSE listings requirements,
which general approval shall endure until the next annual general meeting of the company (whereupon this approval shall lapse
unless it is renewed at the next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 months from the date of
passing of this special resolution), subject to the following limitations:
(a) the repurchase of securities shall be effected through the main order book operated by the JSE trading system and

done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the company and the counterparty; 
(b) this general authority shall be valid only until the company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it shall not

extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date of passing of this special resolution; 
(c) in determining the price at which the company’s ordinary shares are acquired by the company in terms of this general

authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired shall be 10% (ten per cent) of the weighted
average of the market price at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) trading days
immediately preceding the date of the repurchase of such ordinary shares by the company; 

(d) the acquisitions of ordinary shares in the aggregate in any one financial year shall not exceed 10% (ten per cent)
of the company’s issued ordinary share capital of that class in any one financial year; 

(e) the company and the Nedcor Group are in a position to repay their debt in the ordinary course of business for a period of
12 (twelve) months after the date of passing this resolution; 

(f) the assets of Nedcor and the Nedcor Group, will be in excess of the liabilities of Nedcor and the Nedcor Group, for a
period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the approval of this resolution. For the purpose, the assets and liabilities should
be recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited consolidated annual
financial statements; 

(g) the ordinary capital and reserves of the company and the Nedcor Group are adequate for ordinary business purposes for the
next 12 (twelve) months; 

(h) the available working capital is adequate to continue the operations of the company and the group for a period of 12 (twelve)
months after the date of passing this resolution; 

(i) after such repurchase the company shall still comply with paragraphs 3.37 to 3.41 of the JSE listings requirements
concerning shareholder spread requirements;

(j) the company or its subsidiaries shall not repurchase securities during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the
JSE listings requirements; 

(k) when the company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three per cent) of the initial number of the relevant class of securities,
and for each 3% (three per cent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, an announcement shall
be made; and

(l) the company appoints only one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on its behalf.’

In terms of the proposed special resolution, the maximum number of Nedcor shares that may be repurchased during the
financial year ending 31 December 2004 amounts to 27 475 443 shares (10% of 274 754 425 shares currently in issue).
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Notice of annual general meeting

Other disclosures in terms of section 11.26 of the JSE listings requirements

The JSE listings requirements require the following disclosures, which are disclosed in the annual report of which this notice
forms part, as set out below:
Directors – pages 78 to 81;
Major shareholders of Nedcor – page 197;
Directors’ interests in securities – page 198;
Share capital of Nedcor – page 162.

1.1 Material change 
Other than the facts and developments, as referred to on page 128 of the annual report, there have been no material changes in
the affairs or financial position of Nedcor and its subsidiaries since 31 December 2003.

1.2 Directors’ responsibility statement 
The directors, whose names are given on pages 78 to 81 of the annual report, collectively and individually accept full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to the special resolution and certify that to the best of their
knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted, which would make any statement false or misleading, and that
all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that this resolution and additional disclosure in terms of
section 11.26 of the JSE listings requirements pertaining thereto contains all such information required by law and the JSE
listings requirements.

1.3 Litigation statement
In terms of section 11.26 of the JSE listings requirements, the directors, whose names are given on pages 78 to 81 of the annual
report, are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings, including proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may
have or have had in the recent past, being at least the previous 12 months, a material effect on the group’s financial position.

1.4 Reason for and effect of special resolution
The reason for the special resolution is to authorise the company and/or its subsidiaries by way of a general authority to acquire
its own issued shares on such terms and conditions and in such amounts as determined from time to time by the directors of
the company, subject to the limitations set out above.

The effect of the special resolution is to enable the company to acquire its own issued shares from time to time on such terms
and conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the company may from time to time decide, subject to the limitations
set out above.

The directors of the company have no specific intention to effect the provisions of the special resolution but will, however,
continually review the company’s position, having regard to prevailing circumstances and market conditions, in considering
whether to effect the provisions of this special resolution.
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A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.
A proxy need not be a member of the company. Completed proxy forms should be received at the office of the transfer
secretaries no later than 24 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

By order of the board

GS Nienaber
Company Secretary

Sandton
17 March 2004

Registered office Transfer secretaries
Nedcor Limited Computershare Limited
(Reg No 1966/010630/06) 70 Marshall Street
Nedcor Sandton Johannesburg, 2001
135 Rivonia Road PO Box 1053
Sandown, 2196 Johannesburg, 2000
PO Box 1144 Tel: +27 (0) 11 370 5000
Johannesburg, 2000
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Explanatory notes to the notice of annual general meeting

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, speak and vote in his/her
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. The appointment of a proxy will not preclude a member from
attending and/or voting at the meeting. A form of proxy for use at the meeting is enclosed.

2. To be valid, the form of proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a duly certified
copy thereof, should be lodged at the address stated thereon no later than 17:00 on Wednesday, 5 May 2004.

3. The attention of members is directed to the additional notes contained in the form of proxy relating to the completion
of the form, which should be completed only by registered holders of certificated Nedcor ordinary shares and holders of
dematerialised Nedcor ordinary shares in their own name.

4. Holders of Nedcor ordinary shares (whether certificated or dematerialised) through a nominee should timeously make the
necessary arrangements with that nominee or, if applicable, a central securities depository participant (‘CSDP’) or broker to
furnish them with the necessary authority to attend the annual general meeting or they should instruct their nominee, CSDP
or broker (as the case may be) as to how they wish their votes to be cast at the annual general meeting on their behalf.

5. Members attending the annual general meeting will be afforded the opportunity of putting questions to the directors and
management. A perforated form is included for this purpose.

Explanatory notes to resolutions for annual general meeting
Receipt and consideration of annual financial statements and reports
In terms of the Companies Act the directors are required to present to members at the annual general meeting the annual
financial statements, incorporating the report of the directors, for the year ended 31 December 2003, together with the report
of the auditors contained in this annual report.

Award of capitalisation shares and payment of dividends
An interim dividend of 205 cents per share was declared on 29 July 2003 and paid on 8 September 2003. A final dividend, in the
form of a capitalisation share award, was declared on 22 February 2004 and the cash dividend of 35 cents per share will be paid
on 13 April 2004 to members who elected to receive a cash dividend in lieu of the capitalisation share award and who are
recorded on the register at the close of business on 8 April 2004. Members are asked to note and confirm the dividends
paid/payable.

Reelection of directors
In terms of the company’s articles of association (‘articles’), one third of the directors are required to retire at each annual general
meeting and may offer themselves for reelection. In addition, any person appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the board of
directors, or as an addition thereto, since the last annual general meeting is similarly required to retire and is eligible for reelection
at the annual general meeting. Biographical details of the directors of the company are set out on pages 78 to 81 of the 2003
Nedcor Annual Report. Voting will be conducted in respect of each director individually. Article 18.3 of the company’s articles
of association makes provision for a member to propose a person for election as a director. Any nominations received by the
company and which comply with the requirements of the company’s articles, will be considered by members and put to the vote.

Remuneration of directors
In terms of article 17.7 of the company’s articles, remuneration shall be payable to the directors and determined by the
company in general meeting. Full particulars of all fees and remuneration are contained on pages 86 to 95 of the 2003 Nedcor
Annual Report. The Nedcor Board has recommended that there be no increase in the non-executive directors’ fees for the 2004
financial year.
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Reappointment of auditors
This resolution proposes the reappointment of the company’s existing joint auditors, Deloitte & Touche and KPMG Inc, until the
next annual general meeting. The appointments are recommended by the directors of the company following the review by the
Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

Remuneration of auditors
This resolution gives authority to the directors to fix the remuneration of the auditors (proposed to be reappointed in terms of the
above resolution). The aggregate auditors’ remuneration for audit and other services paid to the auditors for the financial year
ended 31 December 2003 amounted to R93 million (2002: R48 million). Particulars of the auditors’ remuneration can be found
in note 25.1 on page 169 of the 2003 Nedcor Annual Report.

Placing of unissued ordinary shares under the control of the directors
Ordinary resolution number 1
In terms of sections 221 and 222 of the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, as amended, the members of the company have to approve
the placement of the unissued shares under the control of the directors. The authority is being limited to shares being issued
for purposes of Nedcor’s existing contractual obligations, the rights issue announced on 23 February 2004, capitalisation share
awards, scrip dividends and for purposes of the Nedcor share incentive scheme.

Special resolution
The company’s articles contain a provision allowing the company or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase (acquire) the
company’s issued shares. This is subject to the approval of the members in terms of the company’s articles, the Companies
Act, the Banks Act and the JSE listings requirements. The existing general authorities, granted by the members at the last annual
general meeting on 30 April 2003, are due to expire, unless renewed.

The directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best interests of the company to extend such general authorities and
thereby allow the company to be in a position to purchase its own shares on the open market, should market conditions and
price justify such action. The proposed authorities would enable the company to purchase up to a maximum of 27 475 443
ordinary shares in the capital of the company with a stated upper limit on the price payable, which reflects the JSE listings
requirements. Purchases would be made, only after the most careful consideration, in cases where the directors believed that
an increase in earnings or net assets per share would result and where purchases were, in the opinion of the directors, in the
best interests of the company and its members.

No shares were repurchased during the financial year ended 31 December 2003.
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Appendix to the notice of annual general meeting

Important notes about the annual general meeting (‘AGM’)

Date: Thursday, 6 May 2004, at 17:00.

Venue: The Auditorium, Retail Place West, Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown.

Time: The AGM will start promptly at 17:00. Shareholders wishing to attend are advised to be in the auditorium no later
than 16:45. The reception area will be open from 16:30, from which time refreshments will be served.

Travel information: The map indicates the location of Nedcor Sandton.

Admission: Shareholders and others attending the AGM are asked to register at the registration desk in the auditorium reception
area at the venue. Shareholders, shareholder representatives and proxies may be required to provide proof of identity.

Security: Secure parking is provided at the venue. Attendees are asked not to bring cameras, laptop computers or tape
recorders. Cellphones should be switched off for the duration of proceedings.

Enquiries and questions: Shareholders intending to ask questions relating to the business of the AGM or on other related
matters who have not lodged their question forms with either the Company Secretary of the transfer secretaries are asked
to register their names and addresses and hand in their question forms at the question registration desk. A question form is
enclosed on page 216 for this purpose. Staff will be on hand to provide any advice and assistance required.

Please note
1. Certificated shareholders and own-name dematerialised registration
Holders of certificated Nedcor ordinary shares wishing to attend the AGM should ensure beforehand with the transfer secretaries
of the company that their shares are in fact registered in their name and check the number of shares so registered.

Should their shares not be registered in their own name but in any other name or form, shareholders wishing to attend and/or vote
at the AGM should follow the instructions and explanatory notes that accompany the notice of the annual general meeting.

Similarly, shareholders who are holding dematerialised Nedcor ordinary shares and believe these to be held in their own name
should check likewise with the transfer secretaries and take the appropriate action in accordance with the instructions and
guidance contained herein or obtain assistance from the transfer secretaries, if necessary.

2. CSDP or nominee holdings
Holders of Nedcor ordinary shares (whether certificated or dematerialised) through a nominee should timeously make the
necessary arrangements with that nominee or, if applicable, central securities depository participant (‘CSDP’) or broker to furnish
them with the necessary authority to attend the AGM or they should instruct their nominee, CSDP or broker (as the case may be)
as to how they wish their votes to be cast at the AGM on their behalf. As far as holdings in a CSDP is concerned, this will be
guided by the terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholders and their CSDP or broker.

3. Proxies
Shareholders completing a proxy form (see note 1 above) should ensure that their proxy form reaches the address, as indicated
in note 9 on page 226, no later than 17:00 on Wednesday, 5 May 2004.

4. Enquiries
Any shareholders having difficulties or queries in regard to the AGM or the above are invited to contact the Company Secretary’s
office on +27 (0) 11 294 9105/6/7.
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Form of proxy

Nedcor Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Reg No 1966/010630/06)
Share code: NED ISIN: ZAE000004875)
(‘Nedcor’ or ‘the company’)

For use by members and registered holders of certificated Nedcor ordinary shares and the holders of dematerialised Nedcor
ordinary shares registered in their own name at the annual general meeting to be held in the Auditorium, Retail Place West,
Nedcor Sandton, 135 Rivonia Road, Sandown, on Thursday, 6 May 2004, at 17:00 and at any adjournment thereof.

Holders of Nedcor ordinary shares (whether certificated or dematerialised) through a nominee should not complete this form of
proxy but should timeously make the necessary arrangements with that nominee or, if applicable, central securities depository
participant (‘CSDP’) or broker (as the case may be) to furnish them with the necessary authority to attend the annual general
meeting or they should instruct their nominee, CSDP or broker (as the case may be) as to how they wish their votes to be cast
at the annual general meeting on their behalf.

I/We

of (address)

being the holder(s) of ordinary shares in the company, appoint (see note 1):
1. or failing him/her,
2. or failing him/her,
3. the chairman of the annual general meeting
as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting that will be held for the purpose of
considering and, if deemed fit, passing with or without modification ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and
at any adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or to abstain from voting in respect of the
ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following instructions (see note 3):

Number of votes
(one vote per ordinary share)

Resolutions For Against Abstain
1. Receipt and consideration of annual financial statements and reports
2. Award of capitalisation shares
3. Payment of dividends
4. Reelection of directors
4.1 To reelect as director CJW Ball, who is retiring by rotation
4.2 To reelect as director WAM Clewlow, who is retiring by rotation
4.3 To reelect as director BE Davison, who is retiring by rotation
4.4 To reelect as director MM Katz, who is retiring by rotation
4.5 To reelect as director ME Mkwanazi, who is retiring by rotation 
4.6 To reelect as director JVF Roberts, who is retiring by rotation
4.7 To reelect as director JH Sutcliffe, who is retiring by rotation 
5. To consider and put to the vote the appointment of any person 

proposed as director in terms of article 18.3 of the company’s 
articles of association

6. Fees and remuneration payable to directors
7. Reappointment of auditors
8. Remuneration of auditors
Ordinary resolution – Placing of unissued ordinary shares 
under the control of the directors
Special resolution – Approval to facilitate the repurchase of the 
company’s shares by the company and its subsidiaries

Signed at (place) on (date) 2004

Signature

Assisted by me
(where applicable)
Please read the notes on page 226.

Contact details

Tel:

Fax:

Email:
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Notes to proxy form

1. Each member is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the company) to attend, speak and
vote in place of that member at the annual general meeting.

2. A member may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space
provided, with or without deleting ‘the chairman of the annual general meeting’. The person whose name stands first on
the form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting shall be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of
the persons whose names follow.

3. A member’s instructions to the proxy have to be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable
by that member in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with this shall be deemed to authorise the chairman
of the annual general meeting, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, to vote in favour of the ordinary and special
resolutions at the annual general meeting or the appointed proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general
meeting, as he/she deems fit, in respect of all the member’s votes exercisable thereat.

4. A member or his/her proxy is not obliged to vote in respect of all the ordinary shares held by such member or represented
by such proxy, but the total number of votes for or against the ordinary and special resolutions and in respect of which any
abstention is recorded may not exceed the total number of votes to which the member or his/her proxy is entitled.

5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity has
to be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the
chairman of the annual general meeting.

6. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy that is completed and/or received other
than in accordance with these instructions and notes.

7. Any alterations or corrections to this form of proxy shall be initialled by the signatory(ies).

8. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant member from attending the annual general
meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such
member wish to do so.

9. Forms of proxy have to be lodged with or posted to the company, c/o Computershare Limited, 70 Marshall Street,
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 1053, Johannesburg, 2000), to be received no later than 17:00 on Wednesday, 5 May 2004.
A proxy submitted by fax will be accepted, subject to it meeting all other criteria.

10. This proxy form is to be completed only by those members who are:
• holding shares in a certificated form; or
• recorded in the subregister in electronic form in their own name.

11. Holders of Nedcor ordinary shares (whether certificated or dematerialised) through a nominee should timeously make
the necessary arrangements with that nominee or, if applicable, central securities depository participant (‘CSDP’) or broker
(as the case may be) as to how they wish their votes to be cast at the AGM on their behalf. As far as holdings in a CSDP is
concerned, this will be guided by the terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholders and their CSDP or broker.
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